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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY (MUHA) BOARD OF TRUSTEES
REGULAR AGENDA
December 9, 2022
101 Colcock Hall

Members of the Board of Trustees

Dr. James Lemon, Chairman Dr. Richard M. Christian, Jr.
Mr. Charles Schulze, Vice-Chairman Dr. Paul T. Davis

Ms. Terri R. Barnes Dr. Donald R. Johnson I

The Honorable James A. Battle, Jr. Ms. Barbara Johnson-Williams
Mr. William H. Bingham, Sr. Dr. G. Murrell Smith, Sr.

Dr. W. Melvin Brown Il Mr. Michael E. Stavrinakis

Dr. Henry F. Butehorn Il Thomas L. Stephenson, Esq.
Dr. C. Guy Castles llI Dr. Bartlett J. Witherspoon, Jr.

Trustees Emeriti

Mr. Allan E. Stalvey Dr. Charles B. Thomas, Jr. Dr. James E. Wiseman, Jr.

(01| I o T 0 e 1T SRR Dr. James Lemon
Chairman

20 ] | 6| USSPt Katherine Haltiwanger
Board Secretary

Date of Next Meeting — February 10, 2023........cooooiiiiiiiiieiee e Katherine Haltiwanger
Board Secretary

AppProval of MeEeting MINUEES .......vvveiiiieiiiiiiieiee ettt e e e eeeetrree e e e e esesanrreeeeeeesennannns Dr. James Lemon
Chairman

Recommendations and Informational Report of the President: Dr. David Cole

General Informational Report of the President .........ccceeeiveeiiiiieiieec e, Dr. David Cole
President
(@1 =Y = TU T 1 0T Dr. David Cole
President

Authority Operations, Quality, and Finance Committee: Dr. Murrell Smith, Chair

MUSC Health Status REPOIT ..cccei ittt e e e e e e eee e e e s Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health
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Request to Apply for Certificate for Need Applications .......ccccccovveeevciiieeicciiee e, Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health

Dr. Patrick Cawley, CEO, MUSC Health, will present for approval a request for the
Medical University Hospital Authority to apply for Certificate of Need (CON) Applications
for the following:

*  MUSC Health Charleston Division — Construction of a replacement ambulatory
clinical services building for Rutledge Tower on the northwest area of MUSC Medical
Center Campus. The new replacement building will include ambulatory clinics,
imaging center (X-Ray, US, CT, MRI), and ambulatory surgery with 3 additional
operating rooms for a total of 12 operating rooms.

*  MUSC Health Charleston Division — 2 additional endoscopy procedure rooms at
MUSC Health West Ashley Medical Pavilion.

*  MUSC Health Florence Division — 3 additional inpatient behavioral health Beds for
the Pee Dee region.

MUHA FINANCIal REPOIT....uiiiiieii it ctrr e e e e e s s rbrer e e e e e e s e s snbeareeeeeeeesannnnnns Lisa Goodlett
Chief Financial Officer, MUSC Health

Capital Reprioritization Request for Approval ........cceeccieiiiiiiiiiccee e Lisa Goodlett
Chief Financial Officer, MUSC Health

Approval of the Plan of Finance for Charleston Campus Ambulatory
Y =Yo NTor= @ i ol = TUT [ 11 Y= PR Lisa Goodlett
Chief Financial Officer, MUSC Health

Lisa Goodlett, CFO, MUSC Health, will request approval to move forward with the
financing plan for the new ambulatory medical office building for the Charleston

Campus.
MUSC Governmental Affairs REPOIt .....ccee it e e e Mark Sweatman
Chief, Governmental Affairs
MUSC PhySICIaNS REPOIT ..uvvveieeeeiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeceirereeeeeeeeettrereeeeeeestnreeeeeeeeeesannreees Dr. Jonathan Edwards
President, MUSC Physicians
Other COMMILLEE BUSINESS ....uvviiieiieiieciiiiiee e e e e eccrere e e e e ectrtee e e e e e e s e sabaae e e e e e e e e ennreaneeas Dr. Murrell Smith

Committee Chair

MUHA and MUSC Physical Facilities Committee: Bill Bingham, Chair

MUSC Lease Renewal for APProval.........iiiiiiee ettt e e e e e e e Jessica Paul
Chief Real Estate Officer, MUSC Health

MUSC Project Scope Changes for Approval:
College of Medicine Office and Academic BUilding .......cccooveeciiiiiiieie i, David Attard
Chief Facilities Officer, MUSC



Item 17.

Item 18.

Item 19.

Item 20.

Item 21.

Item 22.

Item 23.

Item 24.

MUSC Established Project for Approval: President St., Ashley Rutledge, McClennan
Banks, & Jonathan Lucas Parking Garages Maintenance Repairs, Phase 1 ............cccuuuuieee. David Attard
Chief Facilities Officer, MUSC

Other COMMILLEE BUSINESS ...uuvviiiieieieiiiiiiieeee e e e ccrttreee e e e e s ssarree e e e e e e s esabaaeeeeeeesesnnnseseeeeeeeenas Bill Bingham
Committee Chair

MUHA and MUSC Audit Committee: Tom Stephenson, Chair

KPMG EXit CONTEIENCE .coeveiiiiiiiiieieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt e et e et e et e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeerseeeeees Jennifer Hall
Senior Partner, KPMG

Other COMMITEEE BUSINESS ...uvvieeiiiiiieiiiieieeeitteeescireeeesite e e s sateeesssaeeessssraeesssasaeeesnnsaeeas Tom Stephenson
Committee Chair

Other Business for the Board of Trustees

Approval of CoNSENt AZENA ......uuiiieiiiiiiiciireee e e e e e e e e s s seerrere e e e e s ennnnes Dr. James Lemon
Chairman
o Lo U VSIS YT [0 o TP Dr. James Lemon
Chairman

Upon proper motion and vote, the Board may convene a closed session pursuant to SC
Code Ann. §30-4-70. Although the Board will not vote on any items discussed in closed
session, the Board may return to public session to vote on items discussed.

New Business for the Board Of TrUSTEES ......ciiieieieieieii e Dr. James Lemon
Chairman
Report from the ChairMan ...t e e e e e et rreeeeeeeean Dr. James Lemon

Chairman



MUSC Health - Board Package
MUHA - Medical University Hospital Authority
Interim Financial Statements
October 31, 2022

Medical University Hospital Authority (MUHA)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets
Consolidated 2-3

Statements of Net Position
Consolidated 5-10

Statements of Cash Flows
Consolidated 12

MUHA FASB to GASB Report 14
Consolidated

Note:

1) MUHA has recognized CARES stimulus funding related to COVID expenditures as non-operating
revenue per GASB guidance.

2) In FY2018, the internal financial statement format was changed to a FASB basis report to

appropriately match the income stream of state appropriations and expenses incurred in addition to a
presentation format that matches HUD and the credit market expectations.
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Operating Revenues
Net Patient Service Revenue
Prior Year Settlements
DSH
Other Revenue
Retail Pharmacy Revenue
State Appropriations
Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses
Salaries Wages

Benefits

Noncash Pension Expense
Noncash Other Post Employment Benefits
Purchased Services
Physician Services
Pharmaceuticals

Retail Pharmaceuticals
Medical Supplies

Other Supplies

Utilities

Insurance

Leases

Other

Physician Clinic Expense
Total Operating Expenses

EBIDA

Depreciation
Interest

Operating Income (Loss)
Operating Margin

NonOperating Revenue (Expenses)
Gifts and Grants

Medical University Hospital Authority - Consolidated
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Change in Net Position
For the 4 Month Period Ending - October 31, 2022
Modified FASB Basis (in thousands)

Current Month

Fiscal Year To Date

Noncash Pension OPEB Noemployer Contribution -

Investment Income
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets
Covid Funding
Other NonOperating Revenues (Expenses)
Debt Issuance Costs
Total NonOperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income (Loss) before NonOperating Payments to MUSC Affiliates

Non Operating Payments to MUSC Affiliates
Change in Net Position
Total Margin

Operating Cash Flow Margin

Actual Fixed Budget Variance Var % Actual Fixed Budget Variance Var % YTD Prior Year
231,510 224,172 7,338 3.27% 897,584 888,098 9,485 1.07% 796,128
$231, $224, $7, $897, $888, $9, $796,
3,598 - 3,598 0.00% 7,196 - 7,196 0.00% -
5,669 5,641 28 0.50% 21,641 22,565 (924) -4.10% 21,658
7,045 8,025 (980) -12.21% 26,186 31,068 (4,882) -15.71% 33,152
45,708 33,779 11,929 35.31% 170,572 134,027 36,545 27.27% 119,034
2,381 2,381 - 0.00% 14,339 9,522 4,817 50.58% 9,196
$295,911 $273,997 $21,913 8.00% $1,137,518 $1,085,280 $52,238 4.81% $979,168
$86,534 $85,515 $1,019 1.19% $356,212 $332,521 $23,691 7.12% $278,736
26,294 29,519 (3,225) -10.93% 114,234 114,722 (488) -0.43% 95,388
6,409 6,474 (65) -1.01% 25,635 25,892 (257) -0.99% 24,885
8,189 8,189 - 0.00% 32,754 32,754 - 0.00% 22,584
45,933 40,821 5,111 12.52% 156,653 158,765 (2,111) -1.33% 128,298
12,224 17,274 (5,050) -29.24% 51,327 67,767 (16,440) -24.26% 56,279
16,644 17,062 (418) -2.45% 67,984 68,682 (699) -1.02% 67,278
20,736 16,607 4,129 24.87% 76,053 65,888 10,164 15.43% 55,917
41,320 39,607 1,713 4.33% 155,955 156,695 (740) -0.47% 139,579
4,337 4,693 (356) -7.59% 18,569 17,424 1,145 6.57% 19,919
2,897 2,741 156 5.69% 12,603 11,098 1,505 13.56% 10,765
1,200 1,062 139 13.05% 4,687 4,239 448 10.57% 4,290
4,204 3,621 583 16.10% 16,940 14,487 2,453 16.93% 14,719
3,974 4,299 (326) -7.57% 14,392 16,698 (2,306) -13.81% 12,282
(890) - (890)  0.00% - - - 0.00% 8,834
$280,003 $277,482 $2,521 0.91% $1,103,998 $1,087,633 $16,366 1.50% $939,753
-556.48% - .96%
$15,908 ($3,485) $19,393 -556.48% $33,520 ($2,352) $35,872 -1524.96% $39,415
$9,270 $10,155 (5885) -8.71% $39,455 $40,619 ($1,164) -2.87% $37,091
3,387 3,337 50 1.50% 13,181 13,423 ($242) -1.17% 12,955
$3,251 ($16,976) $20,227 -119.15% ($19,116) ($56,394) $37,278  -66.10% ($10,631)
1.10% -6.20% -1.68% -5.20% -1.09%
$54 $1,161 ($1,106) -95.33% $2,835 $4,643 ($1,808) -38.94% $1,175
- - 0.00% - - - 0.00% 2,157
(685) (92) (593) 645.07% (4,584) (368) (4,216) 1146.28% (1,251)
- 0 (0) -100.00% 14 1 13 1321.32% 1
- - - 0.00% - - - 0.00% 469.79
- - - 0.00% - - - 0.00% (284)
(10) - (10)  0.00% (20) - (20) 0.00% (168)
($641) $1,069 ($1,710) -159.96% ($1,755) $4,276 ($6,031) -141.04% $2,099
$2,610 ($15,907) $18,517 -116.41% ($20,871) ($52,118) $31,247 -59.96% ($8,532)
- - - 0.00% - - - 0.00% -
$2,610 ($15,907) $18,517 -116.41% (520,871) (552,118) $31,247 -59.96% (58,532)
0.88% -5.81% -1.83% -4.80% -0.87%
8.95% 3.25% 6.77% 4.34% 7.54%
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Medical University Hospital Authority — Consolidated
Notes to the Interim Financial Statements

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets: YTD October 31, 2022 (Unaudited)
Actuals Compared to Fixed Budget

Revenue Explanation: October year-to-date net patient service revenues were favorable to budget by 1.1%, or $9.5M.
Prior year settlements from third party payors totaled $7.2M year-to-date. Inpatient and outpatient surgeries were
unfavorable to budget by 6.5% and 3.7%, respectively. Transplant procedures were unfavorable to budget by 6.4%.
Case Mix Index was unfavorable $2.5M and Payor Mix shift was favorable $3.2M. Retail pharmacy revenues were
favorable by $36.5M. Other Revenues were $4.8M unfavorable to budget.

Expense Explanation: The salary rate variance was unfavorable to budget by $23.7M due to clinical staff vacancies
driving the utilization of premium and contract labor. Benefits were favorable to budget by $0.5M.

Purchased Services were favorable to budget $2.1M.
Physician Services were favorable to budget $16.4M due to timing of expenses associated with College of Medicine.

Pharmaceuticals, not explained by volume, were favorable to budget by $1.6M. Retail pharmacy revenues, net of
expenses, were favorable to budget by $26.4M.

Medical and Other Supplies, not explained by volume, were $9.8M unfavorable to budget.
Utilities were unfavorable to budget by $1.5M due to increase in electric rates and fuel costs.
Insurance was unfavorable to budget by $0.5M.

Leases and Other were unfavorable to budget by $S0.1M due to increase in equipment rentals.

Unaudited — For Management Use
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Medical University Hospital Authority - Consolidated

Statements of Net Position (in thousands)
October 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022

Assets and Deferred Outflows

Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash Restricted for Capital Projects and Major Programs
Cash Restricted for COVID-19 Stimulus Funding
Investments Unrestricted
Investments Restricted for Capital Projects and Major Programs
Patient Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowance for Uncollectible

Accounts of approximately $396,900 and $353,600
Due from Related Parties

Due from Third-Party Payors
Other Current Assets

Total Current Assets

Investments Held by Trustees Under Indenture Agreements
Investments in Joint Ventures and Partnerships

Other Non-Current Assets
Capital Assets, Net

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Net Position

Current Liabilities:
Current Installments of Long-Term Debt
Current Installments of Capital Lease Obligations
Current Installments of Notes Payable
Short-Term Debt
Advance Medicare Funding
Due to Related Parties
Due to Joint Ventures and Partnerships
Accounts Payable
Accrued Payroll, Withholdings and Benefits
Other Accrued Expenses
Unearned Revenue

Total Current Liabilities

Long-Term Debt

Capital Lease Obligations
Notes Payable

Net Pension Liability

Net OPEB Liability

Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows
Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted:
Under Indenture Agreements
Expendable for:
Capital Projects
Major Programs
COVID-19 Stimulus Funding
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total Net Position

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Net Position

As of 10/31/2022
(unaudited)

As of 6/30/2022
(unaudited)

S 320,863 $ 386,580
102,062 74,373
1,328 8,913
295,770 263,439
- 35,163
564,378 396,432
- 7,878
6,031 6,416
209,175 230,621
$ 1,499,608 $ 1,409,815
$ 69,629 $ 70,449
33,880 32,844
2,927 6,479
1,169,137 1,175,595
$ 2,775,181 $ 2,695,182
$ 857,100 $ 857,341
$ 3,632,281 $ 3,552,523
$ 69,191 $ 35,442
34,986 40,161
8,833 1,169
80,000 80,000
26,260 76,980
6,046 -
803 2,705
216,987 188,010
171,897 148,448
19,452 14,269
47,725 -
$ 682,180 $ 587,184
$ 699,066 $ 774,389
210,300 207,375

20,494 -
1,053,215 1,027,557
1,360,541 1,327,515
$ 4,025,796 $ 3,924,020
$ 225,160 $ 224,190
$ 4,250,956 $ 4,148,210
S 135,127 $ 128,890
69,629 70,449
19,645 25,760
39,225 33,776
1,328 8,913
(883,629) (863,475)
$ (618,675)  $ (595,687)
$ 3,632,281 $ 3,552,523

Unaudited - For Management Use
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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY - Consolidated
Balance Sheet: As of 10/31/2022 (Unaudited) and 06/30/2022 (Unaudited) - (in thousands)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents decreased by $65.7M from June 30, 2022. Significant FY2023 events decreasing cash
include a $25M payment to reduce accrued accounts payable, $35M payroll processing ahead of schedule due to ERP
implementation, and patient collections were $53M less than forecasted.

10/31/2022
Bank Balance: Balance
Carrying Amount (cash and cash equivalents) S 320,863
Investment Unrestricted (cash and cash equivalents) 295,770
Total S 616,633
10/31/2022
Investment Income comprises the following: Balance
Dividend and interest income S 2,425
Realized and unrealized loss on investments (7,009)
S (4,584)

Net Accounts Receivable
Net patient accounts receivable increased $163.7M from June 30, 2022 due to slower collections from payors. October 2022
net accounts receivable days were 64 compared to June 30, 2022 at 50.

10/31/2022 6/30/2022
Balance Balance
Charleston Market S 333,820 S 270,610
Florence Market 72,230 46,268
Midlands Market 81,933 36,148
MUSC Community Physicians 38,626 23,367
Lancaster Market 33,430 17,580
MUHA Rural Health Clinics 4,339 2,459
S 564,378 S 396,432

Unaudited — For Management Use
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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY - Consolidated
Balance Sheet: As of 10/31/2022 (Unaudited) and 06/30/2022 (Unaudited) - (in thousands)

Other Current Assets
The composition of other current assets is as follows:

Inventory

Other Prepayments

Non-Patient Accounts Receivable
Lease Receivable

Health Insurance Prepayments
Workers' Compensation Prepayments
Dental Prepayments

Unemployment Prepayments
Accrued Interest

Lease Prepaid Rent

Medicare and Medicaid owes MUHA $6.0M, an decrease of $0.4M due to prior year Medicare cost adjustments.

Medicare/Medicaid Accounts Receivable

The total net payable to MSV, MHI, Mainsail, Edgewater and MHP is reflected as a component of due from joint
ventures and partnerships, net on the Statement of Net Position.

MUSC Health Partners (MHP)
Edgewater Surgery Center
MUSC Health Initiatives (MHI)
Mainsail Health Partners

MUSC Strategic Ventures (MSV)

10/31/2022 6/30/2022
Balance Balance
S 89,565 86,728
78,154 70,348
26,119 66,853
7,642 6,677
5,679 -
4,759 -
131 -
32
22 19
(1) (5)
S 212,102 230,621
10/31/2022 6/30/2022
Balance Balance
S 6,031 6,416
10/31/2022 6/30/2022
Balance Balance
S (186) (385)
2,036 1,159
241 207
1,111 494
(4,005) (4,181)
S (803) (2,705)

Unaudited — For Management Use
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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY — Consolidated

Balance Sheet: As of 10/31/2022 (Unaudited) and 06/30/2022 (Unaudited) - (in thousands)

Advanced Medicare Funding

The Authority received $182.8M in requested Accelerated Medicare Payments in September 2020. The payback provision
amount of accelerated Medicare payment requests due within one year are recorded in the Statement of Net Position

as Advanced Medicare funding, with a current portion due $26.3M as of October 31, 2022.

Accounts Payable
Accounts Payable increased by $29.0M from June 30, 2022.

Other Accrued Expenses
The composition of other accrued expenses is as follows:

10/31/2022 6/30/2022
Balance Balance
Accrued Interest S 5,228 5,222
Amounts due to contractors 2,253 1,660
Other 11,972 7,387
S 19,453 14,269

Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue increased $47.7M from June 30, 2022 due to prior year settlement, state appropriations and DSH Revenue

6/30/2022
Balance

deferral.
10/31/2022
Balance
Cost Settlement S 28,785
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) 11,338
MUSC Solutions 5,933
Telehealth 1,669
$ 47,725

Unaudited — For Management Use
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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY - Consolidated
Balance Sheet: As of 10/31/2022 (Unaudited) and 06/30/2022 (Unaudited) - (in thousands)

Long Term Debt
As of October 31, 2022, Current Installments of Long-Term Debt relates to HUD debt for Ashley River Tower (ART), Shawn

Jenkins Children’s Hospital (SJCH) and the Central Energy Plant (CEP). Current Installments of Notes Payable relate to
the Sabin Street Energy Plant. A table of outstanding balances by major issuance is listed below:

10/31/2022 6/30/2022
Project (mo/yr issued) Balance Balance

SJCH (06/2019) S 289,442 S 292,351
ART (12/2012) 214,898 220,589
Capital Leases (various - see below) 245,286 247,535
CHS Acquisition (03/2019) 117,072 118,285
Lifepoint Acquisition (07/2021) 78,814 79,510
Nexton and Consolidated Service Center (10/2018) 34,052 34,398
CEP (12/2013) 27,929 28,799
Imaging Equipment (01/2019) 17,887 17,887
Edgewater (03/2019) 6,054 6,117
Patient Monitors (07/2016) 5,552 6,617
1 Poston Road (10/2021) 5,118 5,278
Sabin Street (04/2013) 767 1,169

$ 1,042,870 S 1,058,535

As of October 31, 2022, capital leases relate to various pieces of equipment and properties. A table of outstanding
balances by equipment description is listed below:

10/31/2022 6/30/2022
Project (month/year issued) Balance Balance

Charleston Property Lease S 100,784 S 100,192
Summey Medical Pavilion (04/2019) 39,896 46,277
Charleston Equipment Lease 28,480 28,555
Equipment Financing Lease - Charleston (12/2021) 17,359 18,247
Equipment Financing Lease - Midlands (12/2021) 15,623 16,422
Equipment Financing Lease - Regional Health (12/2021) 12,000 12,000
RHN & Midlands Property Lease 11,671 8,112
Medical Malls (02/2019) 9,340 9,424
RHN & Midlands Equipment Lease 8,985 6,823
Cardiovascular Equipment (03/2020) 863 967
Ultrasound (03/2019) 184 234
Computer software (09/2019) 100 118
Midlands Property Lease (08/2021) - 165

S 245,286 S 247,535

Unaudited — For Management Use
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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY — Consolidated

Balance Sheet: As of 10/31/2022 (Unaudited) and 06/30/2022 (Unaudited) - (in thousands)

Annual debt service costs for FY2022 totaled $156M. A table of debt service by major issuance is listed below, as well

as by equipment description as it relates to capital leases:

Monthly
Project (month/year issued) Debt Service

Capital Leases (various - see below) S 34,986
Nexton and CSC (10/2018) 34,052
ART (12/2012) 17,410
SICH (06/2019) 8,947
CHS Acquisition (03/2019) 3,757
Patient Monitors (07/2016) 3,285
Imaging Equipment (01/2019) 2,846
CEP (12/2013) 2,677
Lifepoint Acquisition (07/2021) 2,134
1 Poston Road (10/2021) 1,932
Sabin Street (04/2013) 770
Edgewater (03/2019) 194

S 112,990

Monthly
Project (month/year issued) Debt Service

Charleston Property Lease (various) S 11,169
Charleston Equipment Lease (various) 8,735
RHN & Midlands Property Lease (various) 3,774
RHN & Midlands Equipment Lease (various) 2,326
Equipment Financing Lease - Charleston (12/2021) 2,710
Equipment Financing Lease - Midlands (12/2021) 2,439
Equipment Financing Lease - Regional Health (12/2021) 1,873
Summey Medical Pavilion (04/2019) 1,213
Cardiovascular Equipment (03/2020) 249
Medical Malls (02/2019) 297
Ultrasound (03/2019) 147
Computer Software (09/2019) 54

$ 34,986

Pension and Other Post Employment Benefit (OPEB) Liabilities
As of October 31, 2022, the net pension liability increased by $25.7M from June 30, 2022.
As of October 31, 2022, the net other post-employment benefit liability increased $33.0M from June 30, 2022.

Unaudited — For Management Use
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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY - Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows - (in thousands)
October 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022

As of 10/31/2022 As of 6/30/2022
(unaudited) (unaudited)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts received from patients and third-party payors S 884,079 S 2,813,096
Other cash receipts 66,294 101,186
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,000,066) (2,869,139)
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities S (49,692) S 45,142
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
State appropriations S 14,251 S 30,967
Proceeds from CARES Funding 45,720 87,938
Proceeds from noncapital grants and gifts 800 2,631
Proceeds from revenue anticipation notes - 80,000
Nonoperating expenditures - (4,467)
Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities S 60,771 S 197,069
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital expenditures S (37,173) S (93,775)
Capital grants and gifts received 2,135 4,561
Proceeds from disposal of capital assets 14 2
Payments of principal on long-term debt (13,881) (123,786)
Proceeds from financing debt - 143,146
Payments of bond issuance cost (20) (1,680)
Payments of mortgage insurance premium 557 (975)
Payments on lease obligations (2,237) (37,015)
Proceeds on equipment replacement obligations 476 901
Interest payments (6,648) (38,900)
Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities S (56,776) S (147,521)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments S 100,000 S 242,922
Investment income received 2,441 3,286
Distributions from joint ventures and partnerships - 1,498
Purchases of investments (114,584) (309,880)
Contributions to joint ventures and partnerships - (26,733)
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities S (12,143) S (88,907)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (57,841) 5,782
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 484,799 479,017
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year S 426,958 S 484,799

Unaudited - For Management Use
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Crosswalk of Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Income Statement Presentation to Government Accounting
Standards Board (GASB)



Crosswalk from FASB to GASB

Operating Revenues:
Net Patient Service Revenues
Prior Year Settlements
Other Revenues - DHS Revenue
Retail Pharmacy Revenue
Other Revenues
State Appropriations

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Salaries Wages
Benefits
Noncash Pension Expense
Noncash Other Post Employment Benefits
Purchased Services
Physician Services
Pharmaceuticals
Retail Pharmaceuticals
Medical Supplies
Other Supplies
Utilities
Insurance
Leases
Other

Total Operating Expenses
EBIDA

Depreciation
Interest Expense

Operating Income (Loss)

Operating Margin

NonO

Gifts and Grants
Pension OPEB Nonemployer Contribution
Investment Income

Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets
Other NonOperating Expenses

Debt Issuance Costs

Total NonOperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income (Loss) Before NonOperating Payments

to MUSC Entities
NonOperating Payments to MUSC Entities
Change in Net Position

Total Margin

Medical University Hospital Authority - Consolidated

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position
For the 4 Month Period Ending - October 31, 2022

Modified FASB Basis (in thousands)

FASB
Fiscal Year To Date

Actual Budget Variance
$ 897,584 $ 888,098 1.07%
7,196 - 100%
21,641 22,565 -4.09%
26,186 31,068 -15.71%
170,572 134,027 27.27%
14,339 9,522 50.59%
$ 1,137,518 $ 1,085,280 4.81%
$ 356,212 S 332,521 7.12%
114,234 114,722 -0.43%
25,635 25,892 -0.99%
32,754 32,754 0.00%
156,653 158,765 -1.33%
51,327 67,767 -24.26%
67,984 68,682 -1.02%
76,053 65,888 15.43%
155,955 156,695 -0.47%
18,569 17,424 6.57%
12,603 11,098 13.56%
4,687 4,239 10.57%
16,940 14,487 16.93%
14,392 16,698 -13.81%
$ 1,103,998 $ 1,087,633 1.50%
$ 33,520 $ (2,352) -1525.17%
$ 39,455 $ 40,619 -2.87%
S 13,181 $ 13,423 -1.80%
$ (19,116) $ (56,394) -66.10%
-1.68% -5.20% -67.66%
$ 2,835 $ 4,643 -38.94%
- - 100%
(4,584) (368) 1145.65%
14 1 -1300.00%
- - -100.00%
(20) - -100.00%
$ (1,755) $ 4,276 -141.04%
$ (20,871) (52,118) -59.95%
- - -100.00%
S (20,871) S (52,118) -59.95%

-1.83% -4.80%

Operating Revenues:

Net Patient Service Revenues
Prior Year Settlements

Other Revenues - DSH Revenue
Retail Pharmacy Revenue
Other Revenues

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:

Salaries Wages

Benefits

Noncash Pension Expense
Noncash Other Postemployment Benefits
Purchased Services
Physician Services
Pharmaceuticals

Retail Pharmaceuticals
Medical Supplies

Other Supplies

Utilities

Insurance

Leases

Other

Total Operating Expenses
EBIDA

Depreciation

Operating Income (Loss)

Operating Margin

NonO|

State Appropriations

Gifts and Grants

Pension OPEB Nonemployer Contribution
Investment Income

Interest Expense

Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets

Other NonOperating Expenses

Debt Issuance Costs

Total NonOperating Revenues (Expenses)

Income (Loss) Before NonOperating Payments

to MUSC Entities
NonOperating Payments to MUSC Entities
Change in Net Position

Total Margin

Unaudited - For Management Use
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Fiscal Year To Date

Actual Budget Variance
897,584 S 888,098 1.07%
7,196 - 0.00%
21,641 22,565 -4.09%
26,186 31,068 -15.71%
170,572 134,027 27.27%
100.00%
1,123,180 $ 1,075,758 4.41%
356,212 $ 332,521 7.12%
114,234 114,722 -0.43%
25,635 25,892 -0.99%
32,754 32,754 0.00%
156,653 158,765 -1.33%
51,327 67,767 -24.26%
67,984 68,682 -1.02%
76,053 65,888 15.43%
155,955 156,695 -0.47%
18,569 17,424 6.57%
12,603 11,098 13.56%
4,687 4,239 10.57%
16,940 14,487 16.93%
14,392 16,698 -13.81%
1,103,998 $ 1,087,631 1.50%
19,182 § (11,873) -261.56%
39,455 S 40,619 -2.87%
(20,273) ¢ (52,492) -61.38%
-1.80% -4.88% -63.01%
14,339 S 9,522 50.59%
2,835 4,643 -38.94%
- - 0.00%
(4,584) (368) 1145.65%
(13,181) (13,423) -1.80%
14 1 -1300.00%
- - 0.00%
(20) - -100.00%
(597) $ 375 -259.20%
(20,871) $ (52,118) -59.95%
- - -100.00%
(20,871) $ (52,118) -59.95%
-1.85% -4.84%



FACILITIES - ACADEMIC
LEASE RENEWAL
FOR APPROVAL

DECEMBER 9, 2022

DESCRIPTION OF LEASE RENEWAL.: This lease renewal is for 4,574 square feet of office
space located at 56 Courtenay Drive, Charleston. The purpose of this lease renewal is to continue
to provide office space for MUSC Engineering and Facilities. The cost per square foot is $19.24.
The total monthly rental payment will be $7,333.33, resulting in an annual lease amount of
$88,000.00.

This property is owned by the Medical University of South Carolina Foundation and leased in its
entirety to the Medical University of South Carolina.

NEW LEASE AGREEMENT
RENEWAL LEASE AGREEMENT _X

LANDLORD: The Medical University of South Carolina Foundation
LANDLORD CONTACT: Stuart Ames, Chief Executive Officer

TENANT NAME AND CONTACT: Medical University of South Carolina, Rick Anderson,
Executive Vice President

SOURCE OF FUNDS: General Operating Funds

LEASE TERMS:
TERM: Five (5) years: [2/1/2023 — 1/31/2028]
TOTAL AMOUNT PER SQUARE FOOT: $19.24
TOTAL ANNUALIZED LEASE AMOUNT: $88,000.00

TOTAL TERM RENT AMOUNT: $440,000.00
EXTENDED TERM(S): 1 term, 5 years
OPERATING COSTS:

FULL SERVICE
NET _ X



FACILITIES
ACADEMIC/RESEARCH

PROJECT SCOPE CHANGES
FOR APPROVAL
December 9, 2022
PROJECT TITLE: MUSC College of Medicine Office & Academic Building
PROJECT NUMBER: H51-9855

TOTAL ORIGINAL ESTIMATED BUDGET: $172 million
FUNDS RE-DIRECTED: $18.5 million

SOURCE(S) OF FUNDS: $6.5 million FY22 State Capital Reserve Fund Appropriations
$7.1 million FY2023 University Capital Renewal Funds
$3.5 million (COM capital project reserves/other sources)
$1.4 million (CoHP capital project reserves/other sources)

SCOPE OF PROJECT:  The College of Medicine (COM) Office and Academic Building project was approved by
the MUSC Board of Trustees on December 10, 2021, for a total estimated budget of $172 million. The initial
programming for the COM was estimated at 249,000 square feet. After approval and more detailed site and
program planning meetings with the COM by the selected Architect and Engineering firm, the net usable
square footage was reduced to approximately 200,000 square feet, with a revised pre-bid cost estimate of
$153.5 million.

This request is for approval to modify the scope of the College of Medicine Building to include an expansion of
the Mechanical Room building that currently provides chilled water supply (CWS) to the Basic Sciences Building
(BSB) adjacent to the proposed location for the new COM building. In addition to serving the BSB and COM
locations, this expansion will provide CWS to the College of Health Professionals (CHP) Academic Building
project that was approved by the MUSC Board of Trustees on August 12, 2022. The Mechanical Room
Expansion (MRE) will utilize the funding sources identified above. This request does not increase the overall
$172 million authorization approved in December 2021 for the College of Medicine Building nor the $50
million authorization approved in August 2022 for the College of Health Professions Building. This project
adjustment will construct a thirty (30) foot addition on the north side of the existing MRE Building. The project
will install 2 new 1350-ton chillers, 2 new cooling towers, electrical switchgear, condenser water pumps,
primary and secondary chill water pumps, and piping to supply the chill water needs for the new College of
Health Professions and College of Medicine buildings. Underground chill water piping will connect the existing
MRE system to the new buildings. The project would provide N+1 chill water redundancy for the entire MRE
system which serves the Children’s Research Institute, Basic Science Building, Drug Discovery Building, Bio-
Engineering Building, Colcock Hall, Colbert Library, etc. in addition to the two new buildings. This project will
also replace four (4) existing MRE cooling towers. These existing cooling towers are approximately 20 years
old, deteriorated, near their end of useful life, and require replacement.

JUSTIFICATION: The initial scope for chilled water supply (CWS) for these two buildings was to provide
penthouse specific chilled water plants for each building. This option is not optimal in design or efficiency for
supporting maintenance costs to operate two new plants independently.

A secondary option evaluated was to install a larger, single new plant on the CHP building to supply chilled
water to both buildings. This second option requires a very large penthouse that the City of Charleston Board



of Architectural Review (BAR) and Charleston Historic groups have expressed concern about a large penthouse
on the CHP building. It is our opinion the most cost-effective and efficient long-term maintenance and
operating option is to expand the existing Mechanical Room serving the BSB and other campus buildings.

This third option provides significant benefits: it is the most operationally efficient, allows for sizing the chillers
more appropriately to serve both buildings, will provide CWS redundancy to the new buildings and the existing
BSB by leveraging existing mechanical room CWS equipment, and will reduce the scope and size of the
required penthouses serving both new buildings.

There are four major benefits to the expansion of the MRE building versus other chill water options for the
new College of Health Professions and College of Medicine buildings:

1. MRE expansion allows Facilities to maintain/operate one chill water plant serving CHP and COM vs
having to maintain/operate two by adding a second plant. A second plant would require additional
maintenance personnel and increase operating costs.

2. The expansion allows MUSC to establish N+1 chill water capacity for the BSB building which supports
most of the University’s academic, research, and animal space. This will create a more resilient chill
water system.

3. The installation of a second chill water plant at the College of Health Professions Building would
require a significantly larger penthouse. Initial discussions with the Charleston historic societies
pending submittal to the City of Charleston Board of Architectural Review (BAR) for conceptual (height,
scale, mass) approval identified early concerns about the height and scale of the penthouse. The
current design shows space for cooling towers & chillers to serve the College of Health Professions
building.

4. MRE expansion also would allow a reduction of the penthouse size for the new College of Medicine
Building. Any reduction to the size of the penthouse will help with BAR approval.



PROJECT TITLE:

PROJECT NUMBER:
TOTAL ESTIMATED BUDGET:
SOURCE(S) OF FUNDS:

SCOPE OF WORK:

JUSTIFICATION:

FACILITIES
ACADEMIC/RESEARCH
ESTABLISH PROJECT FOR APPROVAL
December 9, 2022

President Street, Ashley Rutledge, McClennan Banks, & Jonathan Lucas
Parking Garages Structural Maintenance Repairs, Phase 1

TBD

$2,275,000.00

Parking Revenue

This project will make miscellaneous concrete, steel, and waterproofing
repairs in the President Street, Ashley Rutledge, McClennan Banks, and
Jonathan Lucas Parking Garages to correct deficiencies identified in the

2019 Campus Wide Parking Garages Structural Review (updated 2022).

Structural deficiencies must be corrected to maintain the long-term
viability of the President Street, Ashley Rutledge, McClennan Banks, and
Jonathan Lucas parking garages.
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MEDICAL UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA (MUSC) BOARD OF TRUSTEES
REGULAR AGENDA
December 9, 2022
101 Colcock Hall

Members of the Board of Trustees

Dr. James Lemon, Chairman Dr. Richard M. Christian, Jr.
Mr. Charles Schulze, Vice-Chairman Dr. Paul T. Davis

Ms. Terri R. Barnes Dr. Donald R. Johnson Il
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Mr. William H. Bingham, Sr. Dr. G. Murrell Smith, Sr.

Dr. W. Melvin Brown llI Mr. Michael E. Stavrinakis

Dr. Henry F. Butehorn IlI Thomas L. Stephenson, Esq.
Dr. C. Guy Castles Il Dr. Bartlett J. Witherspoon, Jr.

Trustees Emeriti
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Chairman

[20e] | = | RPN Katherine Haltiwanger
Board Secretary

Date of Next Meeting — February 10, 2023 ......cocooviiiiiiieeee e Katherine Haltiwanger
Board Secretary

Approval of Meeting MINULES .......ccuviii ittt et e et e e senreeeeeaes Dr. James Lemon
Chairman

Recommendations and Informational Report of the President: Dr. David Cole

General Informational Report of the President........cccccuvveiiiieieciiiee e, Dr. David Cole
President
(01 o T gl = TV T T =R Dr. David Cole
President

Research and Institutional Advancement Committee: Terri Barnes, Chair

Office 0f RESEAICh UPAAte ....uvieiiiieeiiiiieee ettt et e e e eerare e e e e e eeannns Dr. Lori McMahon
Vice President for Research

2023-2024 Board of Visitors for APProval ........ccueeeeeiieeeeiiiee e Terri Barnes
Committee Chair
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Item 11.

Item 12.

Item 13.
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Item 15.

Item 16.
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Item 18.

Item 19.

Item 20.

Item 21.

Other COMMITEEE BUSINESS ..vvvvvviiieiiiieieieeiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeteeeeeaeesesaeeseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesnens Terri Barnes
Committee Chair

Education, Faculty & Student Affairs Committee: Barbara Johnson-Williams, Chair

Annual Graduate Medical Education (GME) Update ........cccocevveeeiiieeeciieec e Dr. Ben Clyburn
Associate Dean for Graduate Medical Education

PrOVOST REPOIT .ooiieeiiiitiieee ettt et e e e e e et e e e e e e et tbreeeeeeeeetsbaeeeeeesensstraeeeeessaaeeeenas Dr. Lisa Saladin
Executive Vice President for Academic Affairs and Provost

New Program Proposal: Master’s in Public Health Generalist Online for Approval........ Dr. Lisa Saladin
Executive Vice President for Academic Affairs and Provost

2023 Commencement Speaker and Honorary Degree Recipient for Approval............... Dr. Lisa Saladin
Executive Vice President for Academic Affairs and Provost

Other COMMITEEE BUSINESS .uvvuueeeeieiiiiitiiee e eeetttteee e e e e et eerarasesseeeeeessssanaaans Barbara Johnson-Williams
Committee Chair

Finance and Administration Committee: Jim Battle, Chair

MUSC FINaNCial REPOIT ....ovvieiiiiie ettt ettt e e e e ee e s e b e e e e eabaeaeen s Patrick Wamsley
Chief Financial Officer, MUSC

MUSC Physicians Financial REPOIt......ccccuiiiiieii it Jonathan Boone
Interim Chief Financial Officer, MUSC Physicians
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Chairman

Upon proper motion and vote, the Board may convene a closed session pursuant to SC
Code Ann. §30-4-70. Although the Board will not vote on any items discussed in closed
session, the Board may return to public session to vote on items discussed.

New Business for the Board Of TrUSTEES ....u..iii ittt e et e e e eeeeees Dr. James Lemon
Chairman
Report from the ChairmMan ..........oooiiiic e err e e e raee e Dr. James Lemon

Chairman



NEW PROGRAM PROPOSAL FORM
Name of Institution: Medical University of South Carolina

Name of Program (include degree designation and all concentrations, options, or tracks):
MPH-Generalist

Program Designation:

[ ] Associate’s Degree X] Master’'s Degree
[] Bachelor’s Degree: 4 Year [] Specialist
[] Bachelor’s Degree: 5 Year [] Doctoral Degree: Research/Scholarship (e.g.,

Ph.D. and DMA)

[ ] Doctoral Degree: Professional Practice (e.g., Ed.D., D.N.P., J.D., Pharm.D., and
M.D.)

Consider the program for supplemental Palmetto Fellows and LIFE Scholarship awards?

[ ]Yes
X] No

Proposed Date of Implementation: Fall 2023
CIP Code: 51.2201

Delivery Site(s): 85750

Delivery Mode:
[ ] Traditional/face-to-face [X] Distance Education
*select if less than 25% online X] 100% online

[] Blended/hybrid (50% or more online)
[] Blended/hybrid (25-49% online)

[] Other distance education (explain if
selected)

Program Contact Information (name, title, telephone number, and email address):

Institutional Approvals and Dates of Approval (include department through Provost/Chief
Academic Officer, President, and Board of Trustees approval):

DPHS Curriculum Committee/Faculty: 05/02/2022
Education Advisory Committee: 09/06/2022
Provost Council: 09/12/2022

MUSC Board of Trustees:



Background Information

State the nature and purpose of the proposed program, including target audience,
centrality to institutional mission, and relation to the strategic plan.

The Department of Public Health Sciences (DPHS) at the Medical University of South Carolina
(MUSC) evolved from what used to be the Department of Biostatistics, Bioinformatics and
Epidemiology, which was founded in 1968. Under the leadership of the Dean of the College of
Medicine, in 2012, as part of the goals of a strategic plan DPHS was established and a public
health program offering Master of Public Health degrees was added.

The MPH program at MUSC is approved by the CHE to offer the MPH degree in three areas
(approved as three separate academic programs), namely, Health behavior and health
promotion, Biostatistics, and Epidemiology. The first cohort of students began their respective
programs in fall 2015. In December 2022 we will have a total of 91 MPH graduates from our
program. In March 2022, our MPH program was fully accredited by the Council on Education for
Public Health (CEPH).

Encouraged by our success, we are proposing to expand to offer a fourth MPH, an online
Generalist MPH degree, which will be a 45-credit degree that can be completed in five
semesters. This program will address an unmet training need in South Carolina by providing an
MPH degree that is targeted to those currently working in the public health field and clinicians in
South Carolina and beyond. MUSC confirms that the value of this program and its long-
term viability are not adversely impacted by the COVID pandemic.

Graduates from the MPH Generalist program will have general competency in the evaluation of
status of health of diverse populations and in the development of rigorous plans and strategies
to implement them to fulfill the primary objective of DPHS, namely to improve population health
in and around the Lowcountry and across the state and globe. This program will strive to
educate a diverse public health workforce, including working adults and students who may have
difficulty with the logistics of attending a graduate degree program taught with inperson
requirements, to be experts in innovative research, leadership and serve as advocates for
improved and equitable population and community health across South Carolina and beyond.
These goals align with MUSC's missions in disease prevention, patient and community
wellness, and population health. The program will provide graduates marketable skills for
careers in public health agencies, health departments, hospitals and other health care
organizations, government regulatory agencies, not-for profit agencies, academic institutions,
and industry.

MUSC is uniquely positioned to deliver this degree program, as it is expected that a
substantial portion of the students in this program will be current healthcare providers
and those working in the public health field interested in expanding their knowledge and
skills in public health practice. It is also anticipated that with the approval of this online
Generalist MPH degree, MUSC can request CHE approval for a host of “dual degree” programs,
where our current healthcare students (in nursing, medicine, pharmacy, etc.) can work toward
their professional practice degree and their public health degree concurrently.

In compliance with professional accreditation standards, the curriculum includes core courses
(relevant for all MPH degrees) and elective courses in areas such as global health and chronic
disease epidemiology. As of the date of preparation of this proposal, 31% of graduates from our
current MPH program have been family medicine and pediatric clinicians at MUSC, and 34% of
graduates have either become employed or continued their education at MUSC after
graduation. This online MPH-Generalist degree will further afford current practicing clinicians
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and public health practitioners the opportunity to receive training in public health to improve their
impact.

Assessment of Need

Provide an assessment of the need for the program for the institution, the state, the
region, and beyond, if applicable.

The proposed MPH Generalist degree will provide an in-depth education in the field of public
health, giving students an opportunity to gain expertise within the following areas of core
competency: evidence-based approaches to public health, public health and health care
systems, planning and management to promote health, policy in public health, leadership,
communication, interprofessional teams, and systems thinking. Having the generalist focus
allows for concepts that are relevant to the field as a whole to be applied with management
positions, policy development, or applied research. The MPH Generalist degree is the most
widely offered online MPH degree in the United States, according to 2020 IPEDS data.

The proposed MPH Generalist will help fill a growing need for qualified public health
professionals in the state and the nation, as shown in the following table. There is an expanding
pool of working professionals at MUSC and across the globe who want to extend their education
to include public health. Here at MUSC and in our state, there is a need for this new degree
program to serve our own MUSC clinicians, public health practitioners and future students who
may wish to earn a dual degree in response to the changing healthcare environment. This
would give them a broad-based perspective about healthcare needs in the community.

MPH programs at medical schools typically enroll a significant number of students from health
professionals employed at their institution (e.g., physicians, nurses, allied health providers), as
they appreciate that the next era of health care will place greater emphasis on wellness and
population health.

In fact, there is a growing number of medical professionals pursuing a Master of Public Health
degree to further contribute to their practice, population health research, and epidemiological
skills. Between 2010 and 2018, there was a 434% increase of MD-MPH graduates from 149 in
2010 to 796 in 2018.¢ With the shift of the health care system to emphasizing public health
initiatives such as telemedicine, social determinants of health, access to health care, etc., there
is an increased need of MD-MPH practitioners in the nation, other MPH-trained healthcare
providers (e.g., nurse practitioners and physician assistants) and MPH-trained public health
workers.

Transfer and Articulation
Identify any special articulation agreements for the proposed program. Provide the articulation
agreement or Memorandum of Agreement/Understanding.

No articulation agreements exist for the proposed program.



State National
Number of | Employment | Number Employment
Jobs Projection of Jobs in Projection
Occupation 2020
Mathematicians and 240 (2020)a 44,8002 15,000 (33%
Statisticians increase 2020-
2030)
US: Medical Scientists, 340 (2020) 133,9002 22,600 (17%
Except Epidemiologists increase 2020-
2030)
Epidemiologists 7,8002 2,300 (30%
increase 2020-
2030)a
Health Education 960 (2020)a 125,2002 21,100 (17%
Specialists and increase 2020-
Community Health 2030)2
Workers
Environmental Scientists | 340 (2020)a 87,1002 7,300 (8% increase
2020-2030)a

Supporting Evidence of Anticipated Employment Opportunities

Provide supporting evidence of anticipated employment opportunities for graduates.

According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, there is an expected increase for all public
health positions listed in the table above. Mathematicians and Statisticians are predicted to have
the greatest increase (33%) out of the careers in the table, with an additional 15,000 positions
expected through 2030. The number of Medical Scientists positions is expected to increase
17% over ten years, with a projection of 156,500 positions by 2030. Epidemiologist positions
throughout the United States in 2020 was 7,800 and that number is projected to increase by
30% through 2030. Health Education Specialists and Community Health Workers are expected
to see a 17% increase, with a total of 146,300 estimated employment opportunities by 2030.
Lastly, Environmental Scientists had an estimated 87,100 jobs in 2020, with that number
expected to increase by 8% by 2030.

Description of the Program

Projected Enrollment
Year Spring Summer Fall
Headcount | Headcount Headcount

2023 25
2024-25 25 (24) 25 (24) 50 (49)
2025-26 50 (48) 25 (24) 50 (49)
2026-27 50 (48) 25 (24) 50 (49)
2027-28 50 (48) 25 (24) 50 (49)

*() indicates an estimated attrition of 1 student per cohort
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Explain how the enrollment projections were calculated.

Currently, the three residential MPH degree programs at MUSC enroll a combined 20-24 new
students every year. We believe that with the online delivery option, we can attract more
students (because it will make enrollment by our current degree-seeking students possible, and
our current healthcare providers at MUSC—working professionals—uwill be able to enroll in the
program). Therefore, our projection for the online program is 25 new students per year. The only
other online MPH program in South Carolina (at USC’s Arnold School of Public Health) enrolls
approximately 30 students per year, so we believe our enrollment projection is reasonable.

Besides the general institutional admission requirements, are there any separate or additional
admission requirements for the proposed program? If yes, explain.

XYes
[ INo

The MPH Generalist degree is designed for working professionals wanting to gain additional
knowledge and skillsets to address current and future public health challenges.

To be eligible, applicants must:

1. Hold a bachelor’s degree with at least 2 years of post-baccalaureate experience in a
relevant health related field, or hold a doctoral degree in a health profession or academic
are related to public health.

2. A minimum cumulative GPA of 3.0 on a 4.0 scale will be necessary to be competitive.
The applicant will be required to provide official transcripts.

3. Applicants may have a background in public health, social sciences, basic sciences, or
physical sciences including computing, mathematics, and engineering.

4. Three letters of recommendation from instructors or supervisors who have had close
contact with the applicant during their undergraduate, graduate, clinical, or research
training will be required.

5. Applicants will include a personal statement describing how the MPH degree will
enhance their professional career as a public health practitioner, research interests, and
future professional goals.

Curriculum
New Courses
List and provide course descriptions for new courses.
Topics in Public Health (3 credits)
This course will focus on topics such as budgeting, negotiating, and effective communications

that are used for public health programs. Additionally, this course will prepare students for the
Applied Practice Experience (APE or Internship) and the Integrated Learning Experience (ILE or
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Capstone) during their final semester of the MPH Program. The APE is a 180-hour practicum
which students complete to gain experience in the public health workforce. The ILE, is the
culminating experience of the MPH Program, requires students to synthesize and integrate
knowledge acquired in coursework and other learning experiences, and apply that knowledge to
analyzing and addressing a public health practice and/or research challenge.

Applied Research Methods (3 credits)

The overall purpose of this course is to introduce students to the design and evaluation of
research protocols in public health. Students will also learn methods for designing and writing
measurable goals and objectives. Specifically, this course will cover concepts and provide skills
required for research design, grant proposal development, quantitative and qualitative data
analysis, and reporting results. The goal is to enable students to conduct original research and
critically review published research, giving them the necessary tools to succeed as public health
professionals.

Public Health Ethics & Leadership (3 credits)

The overall purpose of this course is to introduce students to a broad range of issues in public
health ethics. Students will be provided an introduction to key frameworks and concepts
relevant to public health ethics and describes the overlap and distinctions between public health
and medical ethics. The course will also address ethical dilemmas across the following
domains: 1) resource allocation and distributive justice; 2) conflicts between individual rights and
the common good; and 3) research involving human subjects.

Program Planning, Development, and Evaluation (3 credits)

In this course, students will examine models and procedures for use in the systematic planning
of public health interventions in a variety of settings (e.g., medical, community,

schools). Students will obtain skills in conducting a needs assessment and using theory to
guide the selection and development of public health intervention strategies. Students will also
identify appropriate methods for selecting appropriate evaluation designs, data collection
strategies and measures to conduct rigorous program evaluations.

Introduction to Global Health (3 credits)

The overall purpose of this course is to introduce students to critical global health issues and
ways to address or solve them. The curriculum focuses on the following global health topics:
infectious and chronic diseases, maternal/child health, immigrant and refugee health, the
relationship between political and cultural processes and health, and factors contributing to
disparate health outcomes in population groups. It provides essential methodological skills
based on public health principles in a global setting and translate data to support policy.

Chronic Disease Epidemiology (3 credits)

This course designed for graduate students to provide a broad and comprehensive
understanding of NCDs and their risk factors. The course will focus on the global and national
determinants as well as distribution of NCD risk factors, prevention strategies to reduce the
incidence and prevalence, and advancement of epidemiologic research for NCD prevention.



Total Credit Hours Required: 45 credit hours

Curriculum by Year

Course Name Credit Course Name Credit Course Name Credit
Hours Hours Hours
Year 1
Fall Spring Summer
Introduction to Public Health 2 Biostatistics Methods | 4 Applied Research Methods 3
Principles of Environmental Public Health Ethics & 3
Foundations of Epidemiology | 3 Health 3 Leadership
Introduction to Health Program Planning, 3
Social and Behavioral Sciences | 3 Systems and Policy 3 Development, and Evaluation
Total Semester Hours 8 Total Semester Hours 10 Total Semester Hours 9
Year 2
Fall Spring Summer
Topics in Public Health 3 Applied Practice Experience | 6
Integrative Learning
Health Disparities Epidemiology | 3 Experience 3
Elective 3
Total Semester Hours 9 Total Semester Hours 9




Similar Programs in South Carolina offered by Public and Independent Institutions

Identify the similar programs offered and describe the similarities and differences for each program.

Program Name and
Designation

Total
Credit
Hours

Institution

Similarities

Differences

MPH Health
Promotion, Education,
and Behavior

45 credits

University of South Carolina

Program is offered online

USC'’s online MPH in Health
Promotion, Education, and
Behavior is designed with a focus
of health education providing
training in leadership and
advocacy, program development,
and program evaluation. Our
proposed MPH Generalist
program will have focus of
general public health
competencies.




Faculty

Rank and Full-
or Part-time

Courses Taught for
the Program

Academic Degrees
and Coursework
Relevant to Courses
Taught, Including
Institution and Major

Other Qualifications and Relevant
Professional Experience
(e.g., licensures, certifications, years
in industry, etc.)

Professor, Full-
Time

Biostatistics Methods
Il & ILE Planning

PhD, Biostatistics,
University of Southern
California

Professor, Full-
Time

Health Behavior
Theory

PhD, Social Work and
Psychology,
University of Michigan

This faculty member has over 30 years
of public health experience with
extensive public health research
experience. The faculty member is
currently is the Director of the Office of
Community Outreach and Engagement,
and Associate Director of Population
Sciences and Cancer Disparities. This
faculty has taught Health Behavior
Theory within the current residential
MPH programs since 2016.

Professor, Full-
Time

Foundations of
Epidemiology |

PhD, Epidemiology,
University of North
Carolina-Chapel Hill

Associate, Full-
Time

Epidemiology Il &
Field Epidemiology

PhD, Epidemiology,
University of North
Carolina-Chapel Hill

Professor, Full-
Time

Biostatistics Methods |

PhD, Biostatistics
Medical University of
South Carolina

Assistant, Full-
Time

Environmental Health
Sciences

PhD, Geography &
Environmental Sciences
Monash University,
Australia

Assistant, Full-
Time

Health Psychology

PhD, Psychology,
University of Florida

This faculty member has over 10 years
of experience, including a post-doctoral
fellowship at Yale School of Medicine.
This faculty member has taught Social
and Behavioral Sciences within the
current MPH program since 2020 and is
an Associate Director for MUSC Health
Tobacco Treatment and Associate
Research Member with Hollings Cancer
Center Cancer Control Program.

Associate, Full-
Time

Health Behavior
Intervention Planning

PhD, MPH, Health
Behavior and Health
Education,
University of North
Carolina-Chapel Hill

Associate, Full-
Time

Epidemiology Il &
Cancer Epidemiology

PhD, Epidemiology,
Dartmouth College

Assistant, Part-
Time

Health Policy

PhD, Economics,
University of Tennessee

This faculty member has over 20 years
of experience as an economist related to
public health policy, including years of
experience working on the Joint
Committee of Taxation with the US
Congress. This faculty member has




taught health policy within the current
MPH program'’s curriculum since 2020.

Total FTE needed to support the proposed program:

Faculty: Need 3 additional faculty FTE
Staff: 3
Administration: 1

Faculty, Staff, and Administrative Personnel
Discuss the Faculty, Staff, and Administrative Personnel needs of the program.

Currently, we have 20 faculty for the residential MPH programs. We anticipate half (N=10) will
be involved in teaching in the new online MPH. We will need to hire additional full-time or part-
time teaching faculty to the equivalent of 3 FTE. The efforts of faculty will be dedicated to this
program without need for additional compensation and so their employment costs are not
included in the budget table.

We will hire one new staff member to serve as a second Program Coordinator | for the program.
The individual will have both program administration experience and instructional design
experience. This person will be tasked with designing courses in the LMS Brightspace,
developing training materials, and working with faculty to develop online content. We will also
hire a new IT specialist to oversee the IT infrastructure and provide IT support; this IT specialist
will serve the online MPH program for 0.5 FTE.

Our current MPH Program Coordinator will manage recruitment and marketing of the online
program as well as continue to provide internship coordination for our online students. The
current Program Director will provide leadership and oversight of the day-to-day operations of
the online program as well as supervision of staff. Same as with faculty, the efforts of the
Program Director and current MPH Program Coordinator will be dedicated to this program
without need for additional compensation and so their employment costs are not included in the
budget table.

Resources

Library and Learning Resources

Explain how current library/learning collections, databases, resources, and services
specific to the discipline, including those provided by PASCAL, can support the
proposed program. Identify additional library resources needed.

The MUSC Libraries provide access to resources that support the University’s tripartite mission
of education, research, and clinical care. The Library serves as an instructional unit, a learning
space, a database and knowledge center, academic computing support unit, and a leader in
information planning. The Library's collections and resources are extensive and sufficient to
support degrees awarded by the Department of Public Health Sciences. Pertinent online
resources include nearly 50,000 electronic journals, over 350,000 electronic books, and 150
biomedical and health-related databases (e.g., Academic Search Premier, AccessMedicine,
AnatomyTv, CINAHL, Cochrane Library, Lexicomp, NetAnatomy, PsycINFO, PubMed,
SciFinder and UpToDate). A portal highlighting resources specific to public health is available
on the Public Health Resources Libguide [https://musc.libguides.com/publichealth#loaded].
Access to the library’s collections and resources is available 24/7/365 to students off campus
and to distance learners through their MUSC NetID. In addition, the library’s Interlibrary Loan
(ILL) service enables MUSC students, faculty, and staff to borrow from other libraries materials
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that are not currently owned by MUSC. Further, through membership in the Partnership among
South Carolina Academic Libraries (PASCAL), MUSC users may borrow books from any South
Carolina academic library either in-person or delivered via courier to MUSC.

The library employs 44 faculty and staff, including 16 librarians, to support faculty and students in
all programs. All librarians hold master's degrees in Library and Information Science from
programs accredited by the American Library Association. Our department has two identified
liaison librarians assigned to support the MPH program, each holding a secondary Master’s
degree in Public Health and has a secondary faculty appointment within the department. In this
role, they work with faculty to schedule library instruction sessions tailored to specific courses and
assignments within the department, and creates a customized instruction plan based on particular
information needs. They also offer private consultations to assist students with the use of the
Library's resources. Students may request assistance via email, phone, or via web conferencing.

Student Support Services
Explain how current academic support services will support the proposed program. Identify new
services needed and provide any estimated costs associated with these services.

This program does not require new university support services. The university-wide support
services such as Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS), Center for Academic
Excellence, and the Writing Center will be offered for online students. Additionally, students will
have the ability to engage in student support groups and organizations available through the
Office of Student Engagement. We currently have the Public Health Society, which is a student-
led organization within our department that provides community engagement, service, and
professional development for all students within our department; our online students will also
have the ability to be engaged with this support organization.

Physical Resources/Facilities
Identify the physical facilities needed to support the program and the institution’s plan
for meeting the requirements.

No new physical facilities are required to meet the proposed program’s needs.

Equipment
Identify new instructional equipment needed for the proposed program.

No new equipment is needed to meet the proposed program’s needs.

Impact on Existing Programs
Will the proposed program impact existing degree programs or services at the institution (e.g.,
course offerings or enroliment)? If yes, explain.

XYes
[ INo

We anticipate with the approval of the online MPH degree, students will be attracted to
traditional degree programs at MUSC (MD, DNP, PA, etc) because they will be able to study for
a dual degree (e.g., MD-MPH) more readily, once such dual degree offerings are approved by
the CHE. Thus, we expect an overall positive impact on existing programs should the online
MPH be approved.
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Financial Support

Sources of Financing for the Program by Year

Category

1St

2nd

3rd

4th

5th

Grand Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

Tuition
Funding

583,875

583,875

973,125

973,125

973,125

973,125

973,125

973,125

973,125

973,125

4,445,235

4,445,235

Program-
Specific Fees

73,125

73,125

114,375

114,375

114,375

114,375

114,375

114,375

114,375

114,375

527,845

527,845

Special State
Appropriation

Reallocation
of Existing
Funds

Federal,
Grant, or
Other
Funding

Total

657,000

657,000

1,087,5000

1,087,5000

1,087,5000

1,087,500

1,087,500

1,087,500

1,087,500

1,087,500

5,007,000

5,007,000

Estimated Costs Associated with Implementing the Program by Year

Category

1St

2nd

3rd

4th

5th

Grand Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

New

Total

Program
Administratio
n and
Faculty/Staff
Salaries

508,586

508,586

597,206

597,206

552,587

552,587

569,164

569,164

586,239

586,239

2,813,782

2,813,782

Facilities,
Equipment,
Supplies, and
Materials

14,170

14,170

14,595

14,595

15,033

15,033

15,484

15,484

15,948

15,948

75,230

75,230

Library
Resources

Other
(specify)

Total

522,756

522,756

611,802

611,802

567,620

567,620

584,648

584,648

602,188

602,188

2,889,013

2,889,013

Net Total
(Sources of
Financing

134,244

134,244

475,698

475,698

519,880

519,880

502,852

502,852

485,312

485,312

2,117,987

2,117,987
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Minus
Estimated
Costs)

Note: New costs - costs incurred solely as a result of implementing this program. Total costs - new costs; program’s share of costs of existing
resources used to support the program; and any other costs redirected to the program.
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Budget Justification

Provide an explanation for all costs and sources of financing identified in the Financial Support table.
Include an analysis of cost-effectiveness and return on investment and address any impacts to tuition,
other programs, services, facilities, and the institution overall.

The tuition and fees for the Online MPH Generalist program have been modeled after similar programs
currently at MUSC, including the active MPH residential program. The anticipated credit hour rate is $865
which is the same for both In-State and Out-of-State given this is an online program. The application ($95),
matriculation ($485), exam and technical support ($260), and part-time ($861) fees are consistent with the
current MPH residential program. The only additional fee specific to the online program is the semester fee
($695) which is applicable to all students enrolled each semester.

New faculty costs total the equivalent of 3.0 faculty FTE. These efforts will be delineated among required
efforts for the development of the new courses, teaching of the online specific classes, and mentorship of
the online student body. The new estimated staff personnel costs include salary and fringe for a new
Program Coordinator | and 0.5 FTE of an IT specialist. These administrative roles are necessary to provide
support to faculty and students given the entirety of the program will be online and instructional materials
will need to be converted to accommodate the user platform. Additional new costs include recruitment
expenses, particularly travel. It is expected the recruiter will need to attend college and career fair events
across the country to promote and recruit for the online program. Personnel resources that will be
reallocated as needed include effort of the current residential MPH program coordinator. It is anticipated
that current faculty efforts will be reallocated to the online program for development and instruction of the
courses along with mentoring efforts. Lastly, MUSC already has in place a platform that can be utilized for
instruction; therefore, there will be no upfront cost for this.

To best serve students and the educational community, MUSC intends to hold tuition and fees flat at the
initial stated rates throughout all years. After required taxes and fees are covered, if there is a positive
margin it would be reinvested directly back into the program to expand offerings, hire additional teaching
faculty, etc. It is anticipated there will be a 5% attrition rate across the cohorts.

Evaluation and Assessment

Student Learning Outcomes
Aligned to Program
Program Objectives Objectives Methods of Assessment
Outcome 1: The program
performs well on dashboard

indices of quality.

Percentage of students who
graduate within 150% of
1.1 program length Graduation data

The graduation survey is

1.2

Percent of students who
obtain full-time employment in
a relevant field OR who
pursue full-time graduate
education in a relevant field
within one year of graduating.

administered to each student
at the end of the program prior
to graduation. Each student is
to report whether they have
been hired or continuing
education after graduation,
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including the location of job or
graduate program.

Outcome 2: The program
performs well on dashboard
indices of satisfaction.

Percent of graduating
students who agreed that they
would recommend the
program to other prospective

The graduation survey is
administered to each student
at the end of the program prior
to graduation. Each student is
asked to report whether they
would recommend the
program to prospective
students using the rating scale
(strongly agree, agree,

neutral, disagree, or strongly

2.1 students. disagree)
The graduation survey is
administered to each student
at the end of the program prior
to graduation. Each student is
asked to report whether the
program met their
Percent of graduating expectations using the rating
students who agreed that the | scale (strongly agree, agree,
program met their neutral, disagree, or strongly
2.2 expectations. disagree)

Outcome 3: The program
fosters increased diversity in
the profession.

3.1

Percent of students in the
incoming class from under-
represented minorities.

Recruitment and admissions
data

3.2

Percent of students who
agree the program values
diversity in people and ideas.

Using the graduation survey
that is administered to each
student at the end of the
program prior to graduation,
and the alumni survey which
is administered 6-9 months
post-graduation, students are
asked to report whether the
program values diversity in
people and ideas using the
rating scale (strongly agree,
agree, neutral, disagree, or
strongly disagree)

Outcome 4: Evidence of ability
to apply public health
knowledge to practice

4.1

Percentage of students
demonstrating mastery of

For the capstone, each
student completes a final
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interdisciplinary/cross-cutting
core competencies of the
capstone grading rubric

paper and poster that
demonstrates proficiency
among the foundational and
concentration specific
competencies. The advisor
uses a rubric to grade the
paper and poster regarding
the competencies addressed,
oral and written presentation
of the capstone project.

4.2

Percentage of students
demonstrating mastery of
interdisciplinary/cross-cutting
core competencies of the
internship grading rubric

For the internship, each
student identifies an internship
opportunity within a public
health setting to apply public
health knowledge to field
practice experience. During
the internship, each student is
producing two products (i.e.
strategic plan, needs
assessment, educational
material, data collection, data
analysis, etc.) that is
beneficial to the public health
organization they are
completing the internship. The
internship addresses
foundational and
concentration specific
competencies. The advisor of
each student uses a rubric to
grade the two deliverables.

Outcome 5: Apply principles
of leadership, governance and
management, which include
creating a vision, empowering
others, fostering collaboration
and guiding decision making.

Percentage of students who
agree the program taught core
competencies of public health

A course evaluation is
administered to each student
at the end of each semester.
Students are asked to report
their confidence in
understanding the public
health ethics and leadership

5.1 ethics and leadership competencies.
For the capstone, each
Percentage of students student completes a final
demonstrating mastery of poster that includes an oral
leadership skills through oral presentation of capstone
5.2 presentation. project, research background,
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methods, results, and public
health competencies. The
advisor uses a rubric to grade
the poster presentation
regarding the oral
presentation of the capstone
project.

Outcome 6: Perform
effectively on interprofessional

teams.
The final evaluation of the
Percentage of students who internship completed by each
agree program taught core student as part of the
competencies of internship assess students’
interprofessional team knowledge of interprofessional
6.1 collaboration. competencies.
The grading rubric used by
the advisor and internship
Percentage of students preceptor for the internship
demonstrating mastery of evaluates student’s ability to
skills of interprofessional team | perform on interprofessional
6.2 collaboration. teams.

Explain how the proposed program, including all program objectives, will be evaluated, along with
plans to track employment. Describe how assessment data will be used.

The MPH program regularly assess how well students learning needs are met with the use of grading
rubrics and course evaluations. For the Capstone paper, a rubric is used by the advisor to evaluate all
parts of the final capstone paper, including the introduction, learning objectives, methods, and results and
discussion. For the poster oral presentation, two faculty judges from the student’s concentration use a
rubric during the presentation to evaluate the content and structure, the overall oral presentation, and the
connectedness of the public health and concentration competencies. Similarly, for the Internship, each
student’s deliverables are graded using a rubric by the advisor and the internship preceptor to assess
whether the deliverables (i.e. strategic plan, data collection, data analysis report, educational curriculum,
etc.) produced during the internship met the learning objectives and public health competencies, the
student’s onsite performance (ability to work independently, reliable, attending meetings), and
professionalism (effective communication, punctuality, professional attire). In addition to the grading rubric,
the preceptor of each student completes an evaluation at the midpoint of the internship opportunity and at
the end of the internship providing information regarding the student’s ability throughout the course of the
internship. At the conclusion of the internship, each student completes an overall evaluation of the
internship opportunity to assess their overall experience with the internship.

To assess students’ overall learning experience, course evaluations are administered to each student at
the end of each semester. Additionally, a graduation survey is administered to each student prior to
graduation to gather information regarding the student’s learning experience in the overall program as well
as future employment. Approximately 6-9 months post-graduation an Alumni Survey is administered to
each graduate to assess their preparedness for the role they have with their employer.

Overall, as a program the MPH program continually assesses and evaluates program goals and how they
relate to the advancement of the field of public health as well as student success. Assessment data from
course evaluations, internship preceptor evaluations, graduation surveys, and Alumni Surveys are used to
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improve the MPH program. For example, changes to courses or instructors, or provision of additional
professional development opportunities for students.

As a secondary assessment, the MPH program assess how well faculty are teaching courses using the same
course evaluations that are conducted at the end of each semester. The Assistant Academic Program
Director compiles the results and disseminates them to each of the faculty members that were evaluated.
The compiled report is discussed during MPH Program Committee meeting to devise a plan of action for any
courses or faculty that need additional support or a corrective action plan.

Accreditation and Licensure/Certification

Will the institution seek program-specific accreditation (e.g., CAEP, ABET, NASM, etc.)? If yes, describe
the institution’s plans to seek accreditation, including the expected timeline.

XYes
[ INo

The accrediting body for all schools and programs of public health is the Council on Education for Public
Health. The current MPH program (as reflected by the three MPH degrees we offer) at MUSC received full
accreditation status March 2022 for the residential program; thereby being eligible to submit a change
request to include the online MPH degree. The process will include the submission of a ‘Substantive
Change’ form to CEPH that outlines the purpose and goals of the online program, course list, faculty and
staff resources, schedule of courses, and new competencies for the new courses added to the curriculum.
The approval of this form is done on a rolling basis; therefore, we will submit our Substantive request after
approval by the Commission on Higher Education.

Will the proposed program lead to licensure or certification? If yes, identify the licensure or certification.

XYes
[ INo

Explain how the program will prepare students for this licensure or certification.

The Certified in Public Health (CPH) certification is the only credential of its kind for public health that
demonstrates not only knowledge of key public health sciences, but also commitment to the field through
continuing education. Becoming certified in public health solidifies the dedication to meeting and
maintaining national standards, adhering to professional values, and following a core standard body of
knowledge. Due to our accreditation status, all graduates of the MPH program are eligible to take the
certification exam. The exam covers 10 domain areas which are covered in courses within our curriculum;
these domains include: Evidence-based Approaches to Public Health, Communication, Leadership, Law
and Ethics, Public Health Biology and Human Disease Risk, Collaboration and Partnership, Program
Planning and Evaluation, Program Management, Policy in Public Health, and Health Equity and Social
Justice.

While this certification is not a requirement, we will highly recommend it to our students and prepare them
to be able to take it. The public health workforce is increasing job opportunities that are preferring or
requiring applicants to have this certification, so as professional development, we want our students to take
advantage of the opportunity to becoming certified.

18



If the program is an Educator Preparation Program, does the proposed certification area require national
recognition from a Specialized Professional Association (SPA)? If yes, describe the institution’s plans to
seek national recognition, including the expected timeline.

[ JYes
XINo
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The Medical University of South Carolina and Affiliated Organizations
Statement of Net Position
As of October 31, 2022

Area Health CHS
Education Development
University Consortium Company
Assets & Deferred Outflows

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 456,951,761 $ 11,629,510 $ -
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Restricted 28,818,968 - 702,363
State Appropriation Receivable 113,146,593 6,261,610 -
Student Tuition and Fees Receivable 3,552,864 - -
Student Loan Receivable 11,766,406 - -
Grants and Contracts Receivable 81,287,066 118,124 -
Capital Improvement Bond Proceeds Receivable - - -
Lease Receivable 14,290,867 - 4,157,637
Other Receivables 3,959,620 - -
Investments - - 1,506,116
Prepaid Items 14,185,802 - 186,948
Capital Assets, net of Accumulated Depreciation 442,927,533 - -
Due from Hospital Authority 3,307,914 - -
Due from Other Funds 116,312,541 - -
Bond Issue Costs - - -
Derivative Instruments Fair Value / Deferred Outflows - - -
Deferred loss on Debt Refinancing 10,135 - 33,819
Deferred Outflows-Pensions 80,637,846 - -
Deferred Outflows-OPEB 194,148,465
Other Assets - - -

Total Assets & Deferred Outflows $ 1565304381 $ 18,009,244  $ 6,586,883

Liabilities & Deferred Inflows

Accounts Payable $ 19,347,415 $ - $ -
Accrued Payroll and Other Payroll Liabilities 45,614,594 - -
Accrued Compensated Absences 31,431,216 181,586 -
Deferred Revenue 130,437,040 9,207,674 -
Retainages Payable - - -
Long-Term Debt 93,666,077 - 5,450,000
Lease Liability 93,958,461
Interest Payable 630,246 - 40,875
Deposits Held for Others 1,883,332 21,605 -
Due to Hospital Authority - - -
Due to Other Funds 8,385,121 - -
Federal Loan Program Liability 11,418,021 - -
Derivative Instruments Fair Value / Deferred Inflows - - -
Net Pension Liability 449,308,492 - -
Net OPEB Liability 698,474,500
Deferred Inflows-Leases 14,971,268
Deferred Inflows-Pensions 96,579,440 - -
Deferred Inflows-OPEB 42,996,146
Other Liabilities 30,069,541 - -

Total Liabilities & Deferred Inflows $ 1,769,170,910 $ 9,410,865 $ 5,490,875
Net Position (203,866,529) 8,598,379 1,096,008

Total Liabilities & Deferred Inflows and Net Position $ 1,565,304,381 $ 18,009,244 $ 6,586,883




The Medical University of South Carolina
Budgeted Funds Comparison to Budget (Expenses Classified by Category)
For the period ending October 31, 2022

Revenues

Federal Grants & Contracts

Federal Grants Indirect Cost Recoveries

State Grants & Contracts
Private Grants & Contracts

Private Grants Indirect Cost Recoveries

Total Grants & Contracts

State Appropriations
Tuition and Fees

Pass-Through Revenues
Gifts

Transfers from (to) MUSC Physicians

Sales and Services of Educational Departments
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises
Interest and Investment Income

Endowment Income
Miscellaneous
Miscellaneous - Residents
Authority Revenue

Authority Revenue - Residents

Intra-Institutional Sales
Total Other

Expenditures
Salaries

Total Revenues

Miscellaneous Personnel Expenditures

Fringe Benefits
Total Personnel

Contractual Services
Pass-through Expenditures
Supplies
Fixed Charges
Equipment
Travel
Trainee / Scholarships
Other Expenses
Debt Service

Total Other

Other Additions (Deductions)

Total Expenditures

Transfers from(to) Plant Funds

Other Transfers

Prior Year Fund Balance Usage

Total Other Additions (Deductions)

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) in Fund Balance

Non-Budgeted ltems

Net Unfunded Pension Expense
Net Unfunded OPEB Expense

Net Lease Activity - GASB 87
Depreciation
Endowment Gains/Losses

Gain (Loss) on Disposition of Property

Other Non-Budgeted ltems
SRECNP Bottom Line

Prorated Budget

Budget (Note) Actual Variance

$ 143,729,464 $ 47,909,821 $ 53,363,633 $ 5,453,812 F
41,203,063 13,734,354 14,081,884 347,530 F
8,921,887 2,973,962 2,789,989 (183,973) U
36,319,143 12,106,381 9,935,180 (2,171,201) U
6,546,261 2,182,087 1,954,872 (227,215) U
236,719,818 78,906,605 82,125,558 3,218,953 F
123,183,540 41,061,180 41,587,195 526,015 F
115,504,693 38,501,564 37,183,465 (1,318,099) u
116,347,979 38,782,660 38,753,534 (29,126) U
26,406,705 8,802,235 4,543,486 (4,258,749) U
102,291,145 34,097,048 33,165,104 (931,944) U
17,136,923 5,712,308 5,266,533 (445,775) U
14,285,172 4,761,724 4,256,456 (505,268) U
3,041 1,014 (26,151) (27,165) U
4,545,442 1,615,147 769,823 (745,324) U
15,778,117 5,259,372 5,452,483 193,111 F
8,000,000 2,666,667 2,666,667 - F
97,308,141 32,436,047 36,514,167 4,078,120 F
74,583,968 24,861,323 24,861,323 - F
41,582,808 13,860,936 10,535,046 (3,325,890) U
756,957,674 252,319,225 245,529,131 (6,790,094) U
993,677,492 331,225,830 327,654,689 (3,571,141) U
$ 366,599,538 $ 122,199,846 $ 120,180,500 $ 2,019,346 F
5,197,950 1,732,650 - 1,732,650 F
142,367,731 47,455,910 43,908,622 3,547,288 F
514,165,219 171,388,406 164,089,122 7,299,284 F
180,625,308 60,208,436 58,804,722 1,403,714 F
116,347,979 38,782,660 38,753,534 29,126 F
61,717,312 20,572,437 19,594,688 977,749 F
55,792,105 18,597,368 17,559,744 1,037,624 F
9,760,068 3,253,356 2,726,038 527,318 F
3,981,829 1,327,276 1,045,178 282,098 F
24,559,596 8,186,532 7,314,276 872,256 F
6,105,086 2,035,029 239,480 1,795,549 F
9,680,387 3,226,796 3,396,463 (169,667) U
$ 468,569,670 $ 156,189,890 $ 149,434,123 6,755,767 F
$ 982,734,889 $ 327,578,296 $ 313,523,245 14,055,051 F
(42,293,869) (14,097,956) (18,172,493) (4,074,537) U
33,413 11,138 (134,882) (146,020) U
38,162,857 12,720,952 10,337,104 (2,383,848) U
$ (4,097,599) $ (1,365,866) $ (7,970,271) $ (6,604,405) U
$ 6,845,004 $ 2,281,668 $ 6,161,173 $ 3,879,505 F

574,050

(12,313,571)

(12,098,560)

1,419,689

(10,277)

14,404,165

(1,863,330)



THE MEDICAL UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
October 31, 2022

Note 1. Basis of Presentation
This financial statement provides summarized information for The Medical University of South
Carolina (MUSC) and its affiliated organizations in discrete columns on the same page. The
purpose of this financial report is to provide information that will be helpful to those who must
make decisions about MUSC.

Note 2. State Appropriations
State appropriations revenue is prorated evenly over the twelve month period for which the funds
are to be spent.

Note 3. Cash and Cash Equivalents - Restricted
Cash and cash equivalents - restricted include bond proceeds, the debt service reserve accounts,
and the debt service fund accounts.

Note 4. Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation
The University's capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation consists of the following:

Construction in progress $ 50,460,359
Projects in progress 3,622,699
Land/Bldgs/Equipment/Accumulated depreciation 388,844,475

Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation $ 442,927,533

Note 5. Construction in Progress
The itemized construction-in-progress will be updated in November.

Note 6. Deferred Revenue
The University's deferred revenue consists of the following:

State appropriations $ 90,783,343
Grants and contracts 19,564,354
Student tuition and fees 17,491,772
Other 2,597,571

Total Deferred Revenue $ 130,437,040



THE MEDICAL UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH CAROLINA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
October 31, 2022

Note 7. Long Term Liabilities and Leases
The University's long term liabilities and leases consist of the following:

Lease Liability $ 93,958,460
Higher Ed Refunded Revenue bond payable 16,255,000
State Institution bonds payable 41,985,000
Energy Performance Note Payable 28,174,298
Premium on State Institution bonds payable 6,426,826
Premium on Refunding Revenue Bonds 814,818

Total Long Term Liabilities and Leases $ 187,614,402

Note 8. Summary of Net Position

The University implemented GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions in fiscal year 2015

and GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Post Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)
in fiscal year 2018. These statements require participating employers to report their proportionate share of the plans'

net pension liability and OPEB liabilities, pension and OPEB expense and deferred outflows and inflows. In fiscal year 2022,
excluding the GASB 68 and GASB 75 impact, the University's unrestricted net position increased $39.6 million for a total of
$200.2 million. In fiscal year 2021, excluding the GASB 68 and GASB 75 impact, the University's net position increased

$2.3 million for a total of $160.6 million. In fiscal year 2020, excluding the GASB 68 and GASB 75 impact, the University's
unrestricted net position decreased $7.1 million for at total of $158.3 million. In fiscal year 2019, excluding the GASB 68

and GASB 75 impact, the University's unrestricted net position increased $28.2 million for a total of $165.4 million.

Per annual CAFR

FY2022 FY2021 FY2020 FY2019
Net investment in capital assets $ 264,898,753 $ 256,273,784 $ 273,745,547 $ 290,960,785
Restricted
Nonexpendable 94,737,549 93,450,804 92,884,333 91,997,286
Expendable 204,093,027 172,064,021 119,736,905 113,211,622
Unrestricted (exclusive of GASB 68 and 75 liabilities) 200,247,718 160,633,515 158,323,021 165,423,830
Unrestricted (including GASB 68 and 75 liabilities) (961,299,272)  (908,652,076)  (868,396,874)  (841,631,771)

Total net position $ (197,322,225) § (226,229,952) $ (223,707,068) $ (180,038,248)




Medical University of South Carolina
Summary of Current Debt Obligations

($$ in thousands)

Outstanding &

Original Authorized as of
Issue Purpose 31-Oct-2022
State Institution Bonds (SIB)
SIB 2011D 18,950 Deferred maintenance projects -
SIB 2012B refunding 12,645 Refunding SIB 2001C, 2003D, & 2003J 1,645
SIB 2016D 30,095 Refunding SIB 2001C, 2003D, & 2003J 18,135
Refunding SIB 2011D & to fund construction
SIB 2021D 23,415 of capital projects 22,205
$ 146,150
Current SIB Debt Authorized and Issued 41,985
Construction of College Health
Notes Payable - JEDA $ 32,985 Health Profession facilities 5,450
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2017
2017 $ 25,115 Refunding of Higher Ed Revenue Bonds 16,255
Energy Performance Note Payable
Energy Savings 28,174

EPNP 02-27-19 $ 30,000



MUSC Affiliated Organizations
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Four (4) Month Period Ending October 31, 2022

Area Health CHS
Education Development
Consortium Company
Operating Revenues
Student Tuition and Fees $ - 38 -
Federal Grants and Contracts 328,986 -
State Grants and Contracts 1,016,849 -
Local Government Grants and Contracts - -
Nongovernmental Grants and Contracts 50,000 -
Sales and Services to Hospital Authority - -
Sales and Services of Educational and Other Activities - -
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises - -
Interest Income - 75,140
Other Operating Revenues - -
Total Operating Revenues 1,395,835 75,140
Operating Expenses
Compensation and Employee Benefits 762,042 -
Pension Benefits
OPEB Expense
Services and Supplies 796,306 -
Utilities - -
Scholarships and Fellowships 12,700 -
Refunds to Grantors - -
Interest Expense - 45,042
Depreciation and Amortization - 52,116
Total Operating Expenses 1,571,048 97,158
Operating Income (Loss) (175,213) (22,018)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
State Appropriations 4,092,300 -
State Appropriations - MUHA - -
Gifts and Grants Received - -
Investment Income - -
Interest Expense - -
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets - -
Transfers From (To) Other State Agencies - -
Other Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses), net - -
Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 4,092,300 -

Income (Loss) Before Other Revenues, Expenses,

Gains, Losses and Transfers 3,917,087 (22,018)
Capital Appropriations - -
Capital Grants and Gifts - -
Additions to Permanent Endowments - -
Transfers From (To) MUSC Physicians (UMA) - -
Transfers From (To) AHEC 319 -
Transfers From (To) CHS Development - 3,436
Transfers From (To) Facilities Corporation - -

Increase (Decrease) In Net Position $ 3,917,406 $ (18,582)




The MUSC Affiliated Organizations
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the Three (3) Month Period Ending September 30, 2022

Area Health CHS
Education Development
Consortium Ccompany
Operating Revenues
Student Tuition and Fees $ - $ -
Federal Grants and Contracts 257,592 -
State Grants and Contracts 1,016,849 -
Local Government Grants and Contracts - -
Nongovernmental Grants and Contracts 50,000 -
Sales and Services to Hospital Authority - -
Sales and Services of Educational and Other Activities - -
Sales and Services of Auxiliary Enterprises - -
Interest Income - 71,388
Other Operating Revenues - -
Total Operating Revenues 1,324,441 71,388
Operating Expenses
Compensation and Employee Benefits 762,042 -
Pension Benefits
OPEB Expense
Services and Supplies 387,428 -
Utilities - -
Scholarships and Fellowships 12,700 -
Refunds to Grantors - -
Interest Expense - 32,922
Depreciation and Amortization - 39,087
Total Operating Expenses 1,162,170 72,009
Operating Income (Loss) 162,271 (621)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
State Appropriations 3,069,225 -
State Appropriations - MUHA - -
Gifts and Grants Received - -
Investment Income - -
Interest Expense - -
Gain (Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets - -
Transfers From (To) Other State Agencies - -
Other Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses), net - -

Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 3,069,225 -

Income (Loss) Before Other Revenues, Expenses,

Gains, Losses and Transfers 3,231,496 (621)
Capital Appropriations - -
Capital Grants and Gifts - -
Additions to Permanent Endowments - -
Transfers From (To) MUSC Physicians (UMA) - -
Transfers From (To) AHEC 319 -
Transfers From (To) CHS Development - 2,577
Transfers From (To) Facilities Corporation - -

Increase (Decrease) In Net Position $ 3,231,815 $ 1,956

7of7



MUSC Physicians and
Carolina Family Care

Interim Financial Statements For
the four month period ending
October 31, 2022

Consolidated Actual to Budget Variance

MUSCP Executive Summary

MUSCP Actual to Budget Variance

MUSCP Statement of Net Position

CFC Executive Summary

CFC Actual to Budget Variance

CFC Statement of Net Position

CFC Statement of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Net Position — detailed

Consolidated Due to and Due From

Listing of Approved Unbudgeted Expenses

Unaudited — For Management Use

8-9

10

11

12



Operating revenues:
Net clinical service revenue
Supplemental medicaid
Other operating revenue
Intercompany transfers
Purchased services
Grant salary reimb. from MUSC

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits

MUSCP reimb. for education and research

Supplies

Contractual services

Facility cost and equipment

Professional liability insurance

Depreciation

Meals and travel

Other expenses

Faculty and staff recruitment

MUSCP corporate shared services
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)
Operating margin

Nonoperating revenue (expenses):
Investment income
Interest expense
Rental income
Rent expense
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets

Total Nonoperating revenue (expenses)

Change in net position
Net margin

Notes:

MUSC Physicians and Carolina Family Care, Inc.
(A Component Unit of MUSC)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

For the 4 Month Period Ending - October 31, 2022

MUSC Physicians Carolina Family Care, Inc. Total
College Carolina Family
of Medicine Corporate  Ambulatory Care Other Care Primary Care Other Total Total Total
Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Fixed Budget Variance
150,312,947 - - 787,151 8,606,811 766,679 160,473,588 156,018,090 4,455,498
15,574,952 - - - 1,066,667 - 16,641,619 16,641,619 -
1,525,613 896,908 705 95,547 1,448,004 - 4,575,324 5,652,288 (1,076,964)
(39,611,258) 11,196,587 27,416,863 997,808 - - - - -
36,192,668 260,193 (944,825) 1,249,150 135,626 1,986,933 39,343,900 40,137,530 (793,630)
5,585,688 - - 22,889 - - 5,608,577 6,377,224 (768,647)
169,580,611 12,353,688 26,472,743 3,152,546 11,257,108 2,753,612 226,643,008 224,826,751 1,816,258
122,764,654 11,210,533 10,606,636 2,519,145 7,641,783 1,873,333 156,718,989 153,461,792 (3,257,197)
33,985,406 - - - - - 33,985,406 33,985,406 -
3,188,900 95,059 13,211,896 9,603 1,022,334 37,999 17,611,522 16,396,174 (1,215,348)
1,225,547 2,356,124 401,842 412,369 348,923 606,237 5,701,627 7,098,644 1,397,017
20,305 345,409 2,929,204 56,189 726,206 88,808 4,198,999 4,761,496 562,497
2,668,083 10,873 1,410 167 134,147 18,864 2,833,543 3,033,065 199,522
- 49,845 1,224,190 170,216 104,007 - 1,870,814 2,151,612 280,798
479,507 95,395 6,610 74,243 4,347 5,127 665,228 1,295,492 630,264
148,265 250,429 67,276 65,071 (9,180) 23,539 545,399 732,955 187,557
118,364 146,060 4,139 38,052 2,342 5,030 313,986 450,623 136,637
- - - - 806,620 9,438 816,058 869,805 53,747
164,599,029 14,559,727 28,453,202 3,345,056 10,781,529 2,668,375 225,261,571 224,237,064 (1,024,507)
4,981,581 (2,206,039) (1,980,459) (192,510) 475,579 85,238 1,381,437 589,687 791,751
2.9% (17.9%) (7.5%) (6.1%) 42% 3.1% 0.6% 0.3%
398,875 1,457,041 - (5,716,074) 31 162 (3,859,965) 2,083,708 (5,943,673)
- (111,555) - (583,177) - (15,108) (1,059,039) (852,286) (206,754)
- 74,384 166,743 2,231,325 13,333 49 2,485,834 2,489,457 (3,623)
- - - (494,011) - - (494,011) (494,011) -
- (1,540) - - - - (1,540) - (1,540)
398,875 1,418,330 166,743 (4,561,938) 13,363 (14,897) (2,928,721) 3,226,868 (6,155,590)
5,380,456 S (787,709) $ (1,813,716) § (4,754,447) § 488,942 70,341  $  (1,547,284) 3,816,555 (5,363,839)
3.2% (6.4%) (6.9%) (150.8%) 43% 2.6% (0.7%) 1.7%

MUSC Physicians Other includes other Colleges (Nursing CoHP, Dental), Presidents Fund, Rental Properties and Investment Accour,
Carolina Family Care, Inc. Other includes Grace Internal Medlicine, Institutional Advancement, and MHA Participant Distributioi



Medical University of South Carolina Physicians
Executive Summary
For the four-month period ending October 31, 2022

Charges:
e YTD: 5% over budget and 8% over last year
e Month of October: 1% under budget and 4% over last year
e Top 5 clinical departments: Infusion, Orthopedics, Anesthesiology, Radiology with Contracts,
Radiation Oncology

e Bottom 5 clinical departments: Pathology & Lab Medicine, Otolaryngology, Ophthalmology,
Urology, Medicine

Payments:
e YTD: 1% over budget and 4% over last year
e Month of October: 1% under budget and 7% over last year
e 36.4 Daysin AR and $84 per wRVU

Income/(Loss):
e $0.8M Operating Income; 0.4% Operating Margin
0 S$1.2M favorable variance to fixed budget

= S$5.1M favorable net clinical service revenue

= ($2.5M) unfavorable other revenue categories: grant salary reimbursement,
salary reimbursement, miscellaneous income - OurDay conversion

= ($3.5M) unfavorable salaries, wages, and benefits — ($2.0M) for OurDay salary
accrual and ($1.2M) College of Medicine staff salaries

= (S1.1M) unfavorable vaccines and injectables — surplus/bulk ordering

= $3.2M favorability in various expense categories: Purchased outside services,
Meals and travel, Collection fees, Faculty cost and equipment

e ($2.1M) Net Loss; (1.0%) Net Margin
O ($5.0M) unfavorable variance to fixed budget
= ($5.8M) unrealized/realized gain on investments

Balance Sheet:
e Days cash on hand: 246 days
e Currentratio: 7.1
e Net Position: $422.4M; decreased by $2.1M compared to June 2022

Pension:
e YTD expense: $16.7M; increased by 11.3% compared to YTD June 2022



MUSC Physicians
(A Component Unit of MUSC)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the 4 Month Period Ending - October 31, 2022

Prior Year To Date
Variance Var % Actual

Fiscal Year To Date
Actual Fixed Budget

Operating revenues:
Net clinical service revenue

$ 151,100,098 $ 145,999,259 $

5,100,838

3%

$ 145,492,346

Supplemental medicaid 15,574,952 15,574,952 - 0% 19,765,798
Other operating revenue 3,277,320 4,048,863 (771,543) (19%) 4,598,280
Purchased services 37,071,341 38,066,698 (995,357) (3%) 33,944,923
Grant salary reimb. from MUSC 5,608,577 6,377,224 (768,647) (12%) 4,838,654
Total operating revenues 212,632,288 210,066,997 2,565,291 1% 208,640,001
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 147,203,873 143,730,768 (3,473,105) (2%) 135,569,923
MUSCP reimb. for education and research 33,985,406 33,985,406 - 0% 30,271,299
Supplies 16,551,190 15,413,361 (1,137,829) (7%) 14,026,111
Contractual services 4,746,467 6,057,514 1,311,047 22% 4,486,906
Facility cost and equipment 3,383,984 3,892,987 509,003 13% 3,100,240
Professional liability insurance 2,680,532 2,873,272 192,740 7% 2,601,567
Depreciation 1,766,806 2,033,045 266,239 13% 1,723,621
Meals and travel 655,754 1,285,520 629,766 49% 412,051
Other expenses 531,040 687,889 156,849 23% 580,633
Faculty and staff recruitment 306,615 445,191 138,577 31% 511,680
Donations - transfer to MUSCF - - - 0% 100
Total operating expenses 211,811,667 210,404,953 (1,406,715) (1%) 193,284,131
Operating income (loss) 820,620 (337,956) 1,158,576 343% 15,355,870
Operating margin 0.4% (0.2%) 7.4%
Nonoperating revenue (expenses):
Investment income (3,860,158) 2,083,708 (5,943,866) (285%) 2,275,005
Interest expense (1,043,931) (851,983) (191,948) (23%) (1,004,001)
Rental income 2,472,452 2,478,488 (6,036) (0%) 2,427,754
Rent expense (494,011) (494,011) - 0% (501,088)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets (1,540) - (1,540) (100%) -
Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) (2,927,188) 3,216,202 (6,143,390) (191%) 3,197,669
Change in net position S (2,106,567) 2,878,246 (4,984,813) (173%) S 18,553,540
Net margin (1.0%) 1.4% 8.9%
Notes:

Other operating revenue (50.8M) for OurDay implementation delay in billings
Purchased services: (S1M) College of Medicine underbudget - timing of hospital bill reconciliation
Salary, wages and benefits: approximately (52M) for OurDay implementation change in accrual and (S1.2M) College of Medicine staff salaries
Supplies: Vaccines and injectibles (S1.2M) overbudget due to surplus ordering during September
Contractual services underbudget: Purchased outside services $738K, Collection fees $584K and Outside Physician Services $173K

Investment income includes unrealized/realized loss on investment of (55.8M) and interest income of $1.9M



MUSC Physicians

(A Component Unit of the Medical University of South Carolina)

Statement of Net Position

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and investments
Receivables:
Patient services - net of allowances for

contractual adjustments and bad debt of $184,944,257
Due from the Medical University of South Carolina

Due from the Medical University Hospital Authority
Due from the Medical University Foundation

Due from Carolina Family Care, Inc.
Note receivable from CFC/MHP

Investment / Advancements consolidated CFC
Due from Comprehensive Psychiatric Services

Due from MCP
Due from MUSC Health Alliance
Due from MSV

Lease receivable

Other current assets

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Land
Buildings
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Rental buildings under capital lease
Computer software
Right of use assets

Accumulated depreciation and amortization

Lease receivable
Other assets
Investment in partnerships

Total noncurrent assets
Total Assets

Deferred outflows of resources:
Deferred refunding cost
Deferred outflows-OPEB

Total deferred outflows

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows

Notes:

Cash and Investments: FY22 year-end incentive payments (S38.2M); FY23 Y incentive (salary + fringe) payments (512.6M);
Q3 Supplemental Medicaid $10.3M; Loss on investments (55.8M)

October 31, 2022

June 30, 2022

Variance

$ 282,650,735 $ 336,177,799 (53,527,065)
55,451,276 49,788,996 5,662,280
16,067,398 26,362,895 (10,295,497)

4,163,802 6,042,402 (1,878,600)
691,969 747,471 (55,502)
5,666,695 6,922,849 (1,256,154)
756,003 756,003 -
32,270,000 32,270,000 -
3,499 (2,659) 6,157
868,653 478,651 390,001
481,196 416,422 64,774
207,184 - 207,184
2,946,249 2,946,249 -
19,636,676 5,477,686 14,158,990
421,861,333 468,384,765 (46,523,432)
17,034,537 17,034,537 -
51,903,396 51,903,396 -
31,465,951 31,172,656 293,295
65,974,273 64,305,580 1,668,693
13,989,600 13,989,600 -
14,207,950 14,207,950 -
21,443,860 21,443,860 -
(102,538,407) (99,497,004) (3,041,403)
5,037,665 5,866,028 (828,362)
100,000 1,240,000 (1,140,000)
6,595,269 6,595,269 -
125,214,094 128,261,871 (3,047,777)
547,075,427 596,646,636 (49,571,209)
6,040,604 6,476,238 (435,634)
780,785 780,785 -
6,821,389 7,257,023 (435,634)
$ 553,896,816 S 603,903,659 (50,006,843)

Due from MUSC variance is due to receipt of 510.3M Q3 FY22 Supplemental Medicaid payments received in FY23
Other current assets variance is due to FY23 Supplemental Medicaid accrual $15.6M; (51.1M) other income accruals: cash received in FY23

but recorded in FY22

Leasehold Improvements include ongoing projects: ERP (FY23 balance increase of S1.1M) and Nexton (FY23 balance increase of S0.5M)
Other Assets - (Noncurrent) decrease in collateral deposit for Swap. Swap valued at 50.9M



MUSC Physicians
(A Component Unit of the Medical University of South Carolina)

Statement of Net Position

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Accrued payroll
Accrued payroll withholdings
Accrued pension contribution
Unapplied cash - patient services
Other accrued liabilities
Due to Medical University of South Carolina
Due to Medical University Hospital Authority
Accrued compensated absences
Lease liability
Bonds payable

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Lease liability
Bonds payable
Deferred inflows-leases
Deferred inflows-OPEB
Net OPEB liability
Fair value of derivative instruments

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
NET POSITION

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total Net Position
Total Liabilities, Inflows & Net Position

Notes:

Accounts payable change in balance is due to the removal of FY22 AP accruals of $5.2M; change in credit card payable balance

October 31, 2022 June 30, 2022 Variance
S 367,889 S 7,239,840 6,871,951
141,098 142,165 1,066
15,055,093 42,569,084 27,513,990
5,789,008 10,291,887 4,502,879
936,861 1,886,233 949,372
8,117,120 6,777,393 (1,339,727)
9,376,532 5,297,863 (4,078,668)
683,561 409,401 (274,160)
8,716,103 16,453,454 7,737,351
3,361,533 3,182,431 (179,102)
2,610,546 2,610,546 -
4,160,000 4,160,000 -
59,315,344 101,020,296 41,704,952
2,763,815 2,763,815 -
11,868,978 12,576,285 707,307
48,880,000 51,980,000 3,100,000
7,913,214 8,747,699 834,484
643,300 643,300 -
1,019,759 1,019,759 -
(893,424) 660,108 1,553,533
72,195,642 78,390,966 6,195,324
131,510,986 179,411,262 47,900,276
79,754,058 79,754,058 -
342,631,772 344,738,339 2,106,567
422,385,831 424,492,397 2,106,567
S 553,896,816 S 603,903,659 50,006,843

Accrued payroll FY23 balance includes Y incentive (salary + fringe) accrual of (56.4M); (58.6M) for staff accrual; reversal of $41.1M FY22

year end accruals

Accrued payroll withholding balances FY23 & FY22 includes FICA employer withholding being deferred (S3.2M, which is 1/2 of original balance,
Other accrued liabilities change in balance due to FY23 (52.4M) Infusion accrual and (50.9M) R transfers accrual; (S0.6M) PLI accrual
Due to MUHA balance reduction due to 54.6M Epic Cash transfer, S1.5M IS Shared services and S1.2M East MRI

Rutledge Tower JEDA Bond Balance is approximately $48.8M.



Carolina Family Care, Inc.

Including Carolina Primary Care Physicians & MUSC Health Partners
Executive Summary

For the four-month period ending October 31, 2022

Charges-CFC:
e YTD: 1% over budget and 14% over last year
e Month of October: 2% over budget and 2% over last year

Payment-CFC:
e YTD: 12% under budget and 9% over last year
e Month of October: 17% under budget and 1% over last year
e 26.3 Daysin AR and $99 per wRVU

Income/(Loss):
e $0.6M Operating Income; 4.0% Operating Margin
0 ($0.4M) unfavorable variance to fixed budget
= ($645K) unfavorable net clinical service revenue
= ($156K) unfavorable miscellaneous income
= $216K favorable salaries at MUSCP Primary Care
- S574K favorable physician salaries due to vacancies
- ($355K) OurDay implementation — change in salary accrual
= $200K favorable various expense categories
e $0.6M Net Income; 4.0% Net Margin
0 ($0.4M) unfavorable variance to fixed budget

Balance Sheet:
e Currentratio: 0.7
e Net Position: ($2.1M); increased by $0.6M compared to June 2022
e Assets increased by $1.0M compared to June 2022
0 ($1.2M) decrease in cash and cash equivalents (payments to UMA)
0 $0.6M increase in Due from MCP (MCP leadership employed by CPCP)
0 $0.5M increase in Due from MSV
0 S1.2Mincrease in Other current assets (Supplemental Medicaid accrual)
e Liabilities increased by $0.4M compared to June 2022
0 S0.7M decrease in accounts payable
0 ($1.6M) increase in Unapplied cash — patient services
0 $1.3M decrease in Due to UMA



Carolina Family Care, Inc.
(Including Carolina Primary Care Physicians and MUSC Health Partners)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the 4 Month Period Ending - October 31, 2022

Fiscal Year To Date Prior Year To Date
Actual Fixed Budget Variance Var % Actual

Operating revenues:
Net clinical service revenue $ 9,373,490 $ 10,018,830 $ (645,340) (6%) S 8,379,368
Supplemental medicaid 1,066,667 1,066,667 - 0% 1,066,667
Other operating revenue 1,448,004 1,603,425 (155,421) (10%) 1,322,185
Purchased services 2,122,559 2,070,832 51,727 2% 1,083,187
Total operating revenues 14,010,720 14,759,754 (749,034) (5%) 11,851,407

Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 9,515,116 9,731,024 215,908 2% 7,178,005
Supplies 1,060,332 982,813 (77,519) (8%) 835,917
Contractual services 955,160 1,041,130 85,970 8% 714,371
Depreciation 104,007 118,567 14,559 12% 80,101
Facility cost and equipment 815,015 868,509 53,494 6% 713,221
Professional liability insurance 153,011 159,793 6,782 4% 157,040
Meals and travel 9,474 9,972 498 5% 5,310
Faculty and staff recruitment 7,372 5,432 (1,940) (36%) 6,186
MUSCP corporate shared services 816,058 869,805 53,747 6% 741,730
Other expenses 14,358 45,067 30,708 68% 8,359
Total operating expenses 13,449,903 13,832,111 382,208 3% 10,440,241
Operating income (loss) 560,817 927,643 (366,826) (40%) 1,411,166
Operating margin 4.0% 6.3% 11.9%

Nonoperating revenue (expenses):

Investment income 193 - 193 100% 1,245
Interest expense (15,108) (303) (14,806) (4890%) (852)
Rental income 13,382 10,969 2,413 22% 10,506
Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) (1,533) 10,666 12,200 114% 10,899
Change in net position S 559,284 $ 938,309 $ (379,025) (40%) S 1,422,064
Net margin 4.0% 6.4% 12.0%

Notes:

Net clinical service revenue: (5497K) CFC Primary Care underbudget and (S183K) Grace Internal Medicine underbudget

Other operating revenue: (565K) PCMH underbudget, (S36K) New provider support underbudget, and
(S27K) SC Ports Authority underbudget

Purchased services: 5217K Modern Minds over budget (100% funded by MSV), (S197K) MCP Funded Leadership underbudget
(100% funded by MCP)

Salaries and benefits: 574K CFC Primary Care faculty salaries underbudget (physician vacancies); ($355K) OurDay implementation: change in
salary accrual method

Supplies: overbudget due to bulk/surplus ordering during September



Carolina Family Care, Inc.
Including Carolina Primary Care Physicians and MUSC Health Partners

Statement of Net Position

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables:
Patient services - net of allowances for
contractual adjustments and bad debt of $9,143,587
Due from the Medical University Hospital Authority
Due from MCP
Due from MUSC Health Alliance
Due from MSV

Lease receivable

Other current assets

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:
Furniture and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Computer software
Right of use assets
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Lease receivable
Investment in partnerships

Total noncurrent assets
Total Assets

Notes:
Other current assets variance due to Supplemental Medicaid accrual

October 31, 2022 June 30, 2022 Variance
2,963,601 S 4,144,560 S (1,180,959)
2,775,242 2,744,362 30,880

545,238 491,124 54,114
1,147,893 593,319 554,574
652,044 524,839 127,204
1,009,467 512,573 496,894
20,127 20,127 -
1,541,121 333,534 1,207,587
10,654,733 9,364,439 1,290,294
1,608,959 1,608,959 -
2,659,221 2,584,733 74,488
46,563 46,563 -
7,660,637 7,660,637 -
(4,221,977) (3,825,545) (396,432)
60,752 65,725 (4,973)
209,000 209,000 -
8,023,155 8,350,072 (326,917)
18,677,889 S 17,714,511 § 963,377




Carolina Family Care, Inc.
Including Carolina Primary Care Physicians and MUSC Health Partners

Statement of Net Position

LIABILITIES

October 31, 2022 June 30, 2022 Variance
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable S 614,189 S 1,292,139 S 677,949
Accrued interest payable 4,395 4,538 144
Accrued payroll 1,115,689 830,227 (285,463)
Accrued payroll withholdings 1,366,497 957,998 (408,499)
Unapplied cash - patient services 2,020,508 407,201 (1,613,307)
Other accrued liabilities 810,939 448,795 (362,144)
Due to Medical University of South Carolina 33,932 30,397 (3,536)
Due to Medical University Hospital Authority 263,421 309,135 45,714
Due to MUHA - RHN / RHN Settlement 823,625 823,625 -
Due to UMA 5,666,695 6,922,849 1,256,154
Note Payable to UMA 756,003 756,003 -
Note Payable to MSV 415,386 408,169 (7,217)
Accrued compensated absences 455,271 460,956 5,685
Lease liability 1,285,664 1,285,664 -
Total current liabilities 15,632,214 14,937,694 (694,520)
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences 384,152 384,152 -
Lease liability 4,729,325 5,014,563 285,239
Deferred inflows-leases 79,546 84,734 5,188
Total noncurrent liabilities 5,193,023 5,483,449 290,427
Total liabilities 20,825,237 20,421,143 (404,093)
NET POSITION (2,147,348) (2,706,632) (559,284)
Total Liabilities, Inflows & Net Position S 18,677,889 S 17,714,511  §$ (963,377)
Notes:

Accounts payable change in balance is due to the reversal of FY22 AP accruals of 5341K

Accrued payroll FY23 includes S800K staff accrual; reversal of 654K in FY22 year end accruals
Accrued payroll withholding FY23 & FY22 balances includes FICA Employer Withholding being deferred (S762K, which is 1/2 of original balance)

Other accrued liabilities change in balance includes FY23 medical supply accrual of (511

1K)



Carolina Family Care, Inc.
(Including Carolina Primary Care Physicians and MUSC Health Partners)
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
For the 4 Month Period Ending - October 31, 2022

Grace Internal Other Carolina CFC
Medicine Entities Family Care Total
(1) (2) (3) Sum of (1)-(3)
Operating revenues:
Net clinical service revenue 471,887 294,792 8,606,811 9,373,490
Supplemental medicaid - - 1,066,667 1,066,667
Other operating revenue - - 1,448,004 1,448,004
Purchased services - 1,986,933 135,626 2,122,559
Total operating revenues 471,887 2,281,725 11,257,108 14,010,720
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits - 1,873,333 7,641,783 9,515,116
Supplies - 37,999 1,022,334 1,060,332
Contractual services 415,860 190,377 348,923 955,160
Depreciation - - 104,007 104,007
Facility cost and equipment 34,717 54,091 726,206 815,015
Professional liability insurance - 18,864 134,147 153,011
Meals and travel - 5,127 4,347 9,474
Faculty and staff recruitment - 5,030 2,342 7,372
MUSCP corporate shared services 9,438 - 806,620 816,058
Other expenses - 23,539 (9,180) 14,358
Total operating expenses 460,015 2,208,360 10,781,529 13,449,903
Operating income (loss) 11,873 73,365 475,579 560,817
Operating margin 2.5% 3.2% 4.2% 4.0%
Nonoperating revenue (expenses):
Investment income - 162 31 193
Interest expense - (15,108) - (15,108)
Rental income - 49 13,333 13,382
Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) - (14,897) 13,363 (2,533)
Change in net position S 11,873 § 58,469 S 488,942 S 559,284
Net margin 2.5% 2.6% 4.3% 4.0%

Notes:
(1) Funding from MSV Line of credit in the amount of S0.4M has been received in FY21 and FY22;
accumulated fund balance of (S457K)

(2) Other non-Primary Care entities:

- §190K Group Health Insurance

- (5158K) Mt Pleasant Community PM&R operating loss

- Other column also includes the following entities which are fully funded: Tidelands Multispecialty, Hampton Regional,

Modern Minds, Charleston Cardiology, Centerspace, MCP Leadership, MHA Staffing and MUHA Midlands
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FY2022 MUSCP Due to/Due From
As of 10/31/22

. MUSCP/MUHA

MUSCP due from MUHA

MUSCP due to MUHA

Outstanding
Balance Notes
$4,163,802 October recurring: $2.4M Epic Collections; $.6M Leadership costs; $.1M
Ambulatory; $.3M Revenue Cycle
($8,716,103) October recurring: $4.8M Epic Collections; $.7M IS costs; $1M Ambulatory;
$.6M Billing agreements; .2M Telehealth RVU Transfer

Net Amount Due

. MUSCP/MUSC

Net Amount Due

. CFC/MUHA

CFC due from MUHA
CFC due to MUHA

($4,552,301)

$15,383,837 Balance consists of $13.8M remaining FY22 STP accrual; $1.6M Grant
salary reimbursement

$545,238 Balance consists of monthly recurring activity
($263,421) Balance consists of monthly recurring activity

Net Amount Due

CFC/MUHA - RHN

Total RHN accounts-Due from (to) MUHA

. CFC/MUSC

Net Amount Due

MHP/MUHA
Net Amount Due

MHP/MUSC
Net Amount Due

. MSV

Net Amount Due

. MCP

Net Amount Due

$281,817 Balance consists of monthly recurring activity

($823,625) Net Advance from MUHA for RHN expenses:

($33,932) Balance consists of monthly recurring activity

S0

S0

$1,009,460 Modern Minds billing

$2,016,545 Billing for MCP employees, Compliance services, Physician Recruitment
services



FY2023 MUSCP Consolidated Approved Unbudgeted Expenses
As of 10/31/22

Unbudgeted Capital Projects

Concierge Medicine

Nexton Opthalmalogy

Park West Family Medicine Relocation
Total

Unbudgeted Operating Expenses

Concierge Medicine
Northwoods Peditratrics Expansion
Total

Total FY23 Approved Unbudgeted Expenses

Amount

S 800,000
568,250
999,888

$ 2,368,138

Amount
S 100,000
186,000
S 286,000

$ 2,654,138




MEDICAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY (MUHA) BOARD OF TRUSTEES
CONSENT AGENDA
December 9, 2022
101 Colcock Hall

Authority Operations, Quality, and Finance Committee: Dr. Murrell Smith, Chair

Consent Agenda for Approval

Item 25.

Item 26.

Item 27.

Item 28.

Item 29.

Item 30.

Item 31.

Item 32.

Item 33.

Item 34.

MUSC Health Black River Medical Center Board of Trustee Bylaws for Approval....... Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health

MUSC Health Black River Medical Center Medical Staff Bylaws for Approval............. Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health

RHN Unified Medical Staff Bylaws for Approval .......ccccccovciieiiiiiiiniiciiee e Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health

RHN Unified Medical Staff Credentialing Policy Manual for Approval. ..........cccuuee..... Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health

RHN Unified Medical Staff Rules and Regulations for Approval. .........cccceevvveeivcieeenns Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health

RHN Unified Fair Hearing Plan for Approval ... Dr. Patrick Cawley
Chief Executive Officer, MUSC Health

Revised MUSC Health-Charleston Medical Staff Bylaws for Approval.........c.cccueeen...e. Dr. Carrie Herzke
Chief Medical Officer, MUHA

Revised MUSC Health-Charleston Credentialing Policy Manual for Approval.............. Dr. Carrie Herzke
Chief Medical Officer, MUHA

Revised MUSC Health-Charleston Rules & Regulations for Approval........ccccceevcuvveennee Dr. Carrie Herzke
Chief Medical Officer, MUHA

Appointments, Reappointments, and Delineation of Privileges......cccccceecivieeeeeiiinnns Dr. Carrie Herzke
Chief Medical Officer, MUHA

Consent Agenda for Information

Item 35.

Item 36.

1Y 1 S O\, [T o TV L (TR Dr. Carrie Herzke
Chief Medical Officer, MUHA

Contracts anNd AZIrEEMENTS ....uiviiiiiiiiiiiiieeee e eesrree e e e e e s srrrrre e e e e s essaerrreeeesesssarrnneees Annette Drachman
General Counsel



MUHA and MUSC Physical Facilities Committee: Mr. Bill Bingham, Chair

Consent Agenda for Information

Iltem 37. MUSC FY2023 Active Projects >5250,000 .........ccceeeveeereeereenreenreeeteeeeeeveenseesseesseesseesseeseenne David Attard

Chief Facilities Officer, MUSC
Item 38. MUSC Facilities CoNtracts AWarded ..........eeeiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeetee et e e e e et e e e e e eeeaaas David Attard
Chief Facilities Officer, MUSC
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10.

11.

12.

DRAFT 11/18/22
DEFINITIONS

"Allied Health Professional” (AHP) means an individual, other than a licensed physician or dentist,
whose authority to perform specified patient care services is established by the Medical Staff based
on his/her qualifications and whose functions are supervised by members of the Medical Staff. The
qualifications, functions, responsibilities, and prerogatives of AHPs, including physician assistants,
are defined in the Medical Staff Bylaws.

"Auxiliary Organization” means volunteers, auxiliaries, and other affiliated organizations
composed of members of the local communities.

"Board” or “Board of Trustees" means the local governing authority appointed by MUHA

exercising those prerogatives and authorities specified herein and subject to the limitations
delineated herein.

“Executive Director” means the individual appointed by MUHA to provide for the overall on-site
management of the Medical Center.

“Medical Center” means MUSC Health Black River Medical Center.

“Medical Staff” means the formal organization of practitioners who have been granted privileges
by the MUHA Board to attend patients in the Medical Center.

“Medical Staff Bylaws” means the Bylaws of the Medical Staff and the accompanying Rules and
Regulations, Fair Hearing Plan, Credentials Manual, and such other policies as may be adopted by
the Medical Staff subject to the recommendation of the Board and the approval of the MUHA
Board.

"MUHA" means the Medical University Hospital Authority, an authority of the State of South
Carolina, which owns and operates the Medical Center.

“MUHA Board” means the Board of Trustees of MUHA.
"National Practitioner Data Bank™, means the entity established pursuant to the Health Care Quality
Improvement Act of 1986, for the purposes of reporting adverse actions and Medical Staff

malpractice information.

“Practitioner” means a physician, psychologist, or dentist who has been granted clinical privileges
at the Medical Center.

“Trustee” means a member of the Board of Trustees.

“Days” are defined as calendar days.
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DRAFT 11/18/22
ARTICLE |
GENERAL SCOPE

Be it resolved by the Board of Trustees of MUSC Health Black River Medical Center that the
bylaws set out below shall govern the transaction of the business and affairs of the Medical Center.

11 PURPOSE

The purposes, goals and objectives of the Board of Trustees of MUSC Health Black River Medical
Center shall be to support MUHA and the Medical Center with their goals to:

1.1(a)

1.1(b)

1.1(c)

1.1(d)

1.1(e)

1.1(f)

1.1(9)

1.1(h)

1.1(i)

BOT Bylaws

Support, manage, and furnish facilities, personnel, and services; provide diagnosis,
medical, surgical, and hospital care, outpatient care and other Medical Center and
medically related services to sick, injured or disabled person; provide well-care programs
as appropriate and feasible, without regard to race, color, sex, national origin, disability or
other legally protected classification;

Provide appropriate facilities and necessary services to best serve the needs of patients;
Improve the standards of health care in the communities served by the Medical Center;

Establish and promote cost-effective health care delivery including timely adaptations to
meet evolving Medicare and other regulations mandating data accumulation and cost
control;

Encourage educational activities related to tendering care to the sick and injured or to the
promotion of health, as may be justified by the facilities, personnel, funds, or other
resources that are available;

Manage, or participate in, so far as Medical Center policy, circumstances, and available
funds may permit, any activities designed to promote the general health of the communities
it serves;

Guard against any activity in or on behalf of the Medical Center having, or tending to have,
an undesirable effect upon the Medical Center or the services it renders;

Provide for overall institutional planning, with the participation of the Medical Staff,
nursing department, and such other individuals as MUHA deems appropriate; and

Maintain a commitment to continued comprehensive quality assurance and quality

improvement in all aspects of health care provided by the Medical Center in cooperation
with the Medical Staff, Executive Director, and Medical Center personnel.
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DRAFT 11/18/22
ARTICLE II
FISCAL YEAR

The Medical Center's fiscal year shall end Jun 30 and begin July 1, of each subsequent year.

ARTICLE Il
MEMBERSHIP & MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

All meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held in conformance with the Freedom of Information
Act as amended, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10, et seq.

3.1

MEMBERSHIP & QUORUM

MUHA shall appoint the Board of Trustees (Board) which shall consist of nine (9) voting members.
MUHA shall in any event select two (2) members each from the communities of Lake City and
Kingstree and ensure that at least one (1) member of the Board shall be a member of the Medical
Center's active Medical Staff chosen from a list of three (3) nominees submitted by the Medical
Center's Active Medical Staff who must be a current member in good standing thereof. The
Executive Director (who shall serve as Secretary to the Board), the Medical Center Chief of the
Medical Staff, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Florence Division of MUSC Health or their
respective designee will be ex-officio non-voting members of the Board.

A majority of voting members of the Board shall constitute a quorum at any regular or special
meeting. After a quorum has been established, the subsequent withdrawal of Trustees present to
fewer than the number required for a quorum shall not affect the validity of any action taken. A
Trustee shall be deemed present at a meeting if he/she participated by conference telephone,
speaker telephone, or other method by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear one
another at the same time. If a quorum is not present at any meeting, those present may adjourn the
meeting until such date and hour as a quorum may be had, and no further notice of the adjourned
meeting shall be required.

With the exception of ex-officio members, Board members appointed at the initial meeting shall
serve either a one (1) year term or two (2) year term as determined by MUHA. Upon the expiration
of the terms established at the December 2024 Board meeting, all members shall serve for terms of
two (2) years. Members may serve until their successors shall have been appointed or until their
removal or resignation.
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3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

DRAFT 11/18/22

QUALIFICATIONS

Selection of Trustees shall be based on the individual's abilities and experience, without regard to
race, color, sex, national origin, disability, or other legally protected classification (except as such
disability may impair the Trustees’ ability to discharge the responsibilities herein). Willingness to
give as much time as is reasonably requested is critical. Experience in community activities and
the arts of managing people, money, and property also are important considerations in the selection
of Trustees.

REGULAR MEETINGS

The Board shall hold six (6) regular meetings per year at a time and place designated by the
Chairman of the Board. December shall be designated as the month for the Medical Center's annual
Board meeting.

SPECIAL MEETINGS

The Chairman or any member of the Board may call a special meeting on his/her own initiative and
shall call a special meeting at the written request of two (2) members of the Board. The Chairman
shall give written notice (delivered either personally, by mail, email, or telefax) of a special meeting
to each member of the Board at least two (2) days before the date of the meeting, giving the time
and place of the meeting. This notice shall state the business for which the special meeting has
been called, and no business other than that stated in the notice shall be transacted. Meetings may
be held at any time upon waiver of notice signed by all Board members. Attendance at any meeting
without protest of lack of notice shall be deemed a waiver of notice.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The best interest of the communities and the Medical Center are served by Board members who
are objective in the pursuit of their duties as Board members, and who exhibit that objectivity at all
times. The decision-making process of the Board may be altered by interests or relationships which
might in any instance, either intentionally or coincidentally, bear on that member's opinion or
decision. Therefore, itis considered to be in the best interest of the Medical Center for relationships
of any Board member which may influence decisions related in any way to the Medical Center to
be disclosed to all other members of the Board on a regular and contemporaneous basis.

No Board member shall use his/her position to obtain or accrue any benefit. All Board members
shall at all times avoid even the appearance of influencing the actions of any employee of the
Medical Center or MUHA, except through his/her vote, and the acknowledgment of that vote, as a
Board member for or against opinions or actions to be stated or taken by or for the Board as a
whole. Each Board member is expected to be familiar with, and abide by, the MUSC/MUHA
Conflict of Interest Policy https://web.musc.edu/-/sm/enterprise/about/coi/f/musc-muha-coi-
policy.ashx and the MUSC/MUHA Industry Relations Policy https://web.musc.edu/-
[sm/enterprise/about/coi/f/bot-approved-industry-relations-policy.ashx ; failure to do so is grounds
for termination as provided below.
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3.6

3.7

3.8

DRAFT 11/18/22

Annually in accordance with a schedule adopted by MUHA” s Conflict of Interest Office (“COI
Office”) and in such form as the COI Office shall require, each Board member shall submit a written
statement describing each actual or proposed relationship of that member, whether economic or
otherwise, other than the member's status as a Board member and/or a member of the applicable
community, which in any way and to any degree may impact on the finances or operations of
MUHA, the Medical Center or its staff, or the Medical Center's relationship to the communities it
serves. A new Board member shall file the written statement immediately upon being appointed
to the Board. This disclosure requirement is to be construed broadly, and a Board member should
finally determine the need for all possible disclosures of which he/she is uncertain on the side of
disclosure, including ownership and control of any health care delivery organization that is
corporately and/or functionally related to the Medical Center.

Between annual disclosure dates, any new relationship of the type described, whether actual or
proposed, shall be disclosed in writing to the COIl Office by the next regularly scheduled Board
meeting.

The COI Office will maintain the Conflict of Interest statements and will disclose any relationship
to the Board Chair which they, in their discretion, believe will create a conflict to Board members
only as necessary and only as the need arises.

A Trustee shall abstain from voting on any issue in which the Trustee has an interest other than as
a Trustee of the Medical Center.

A breach of these provisions is deemed sufficient grounds for removal of a breaching member by
the remaining members of the Board on majority vote.

VACANCIES

Vacancies on the Board shall be filled by MUHA after consideration of recommendations of the
Board. Thereafter the Executive Director shall notify the Board of MUHA'’s selection to fill the
vacancy. A Trustee appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of his/her
predecessor.

RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF TRUSTEE

A Trustee may resign at any time by tendering his/her resignation in writing to the Board. Any
Trustee who has failed to attend two-thirds (2/3) of the regular meetings of the Board during the
calendar year, except for good cause as determined by MUHA, may be removed from the Board.
Resignation or removal of a Trustee also shall constitute resignation or removal as an officer or as
a member of any committee of the Board. A Trustee may be removed at any time by MUHA, with
or without cause.

COMPENSATION OF TRUSTEES & COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Trustees and members of all committees of the Board shall receive no compensation for any service
rendered in their capacities as Board or committee members.
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3.9 RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board shall provide recommendations to the MUHA Board with respect to the matters
enumerated below, and related functions, subject to MUHA policies, these bylaws, and directives
from the MUHA Board.

MUHA also reserves the right to intervene and participate in all matters entrusted to the Board and
to amend or replace these bylaws as further provided in Article X herein.

3.9(a)

3.9(b)

3.9(c)

3.9(d)

3.9(e)

3.9(f)

3.9(9)

3.9(h)

3.9(i)

BOT Bylaws

Assuming responsibility for Medical Staff oversight and quality care evaluation as
described in Section 7.2 and 8.1 of these bylaws.

Requiring a process designed to assure that all individuals who provide patient care
services, but who are not subject to the Medical Staff privileges delineation process, are
competent to provide such services, and receiving reports of quality assurance information
regarding competency of care providers not subject to the privilege delineation process;

Overseeing quality of professional services as described in Article 1l and VIII of these
Bylaws.

Establishing, maintaining, and supporting, through the Executive Director, the Medical
Staff and its designated committees, a comprehensive, Medical Center-wide program for
quality assessment and improvement; receiving reports or performance improvement
information on a regular basis from the Medical Staff, and assuring that all aspects of the
program are performed appropriately and that administrative assistance is available to the
Medical Staff.

In consultation with the Medical Staff, MUHA and the Executive Director, formulating
programs for efficient delivery of care, compliance with applicable law (including
Medicare regulations and other applicable regulations) and development, review, and
revision of policies and procedures;

Approving bylaws for Medical Center auxiliary organizations or for any other similar
organizations;

Making recommendations to the Executive Director and MUHA regarding the kinds and
quality of service to be made available at the Medical Center when appropriate;

Reviewing and consulting with the Executive Director Executive concerning the long-
range plan for the Medical Center;

Overseeing of programs for continuing medical education for Medical Staff members and

appropriate in-service education programs for Medical Center employees, for the purpose
of improving clinical and employee performance;
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3.9(K)

3.9(1)

3.9(m)

3.9(n)

3.9(0)

3.9(p)

3.9(q)

3.9()

3.9(s)

3.9(t)

DRAFT 11/18/22
Acting as liaison with MUHA, as well as the governing bodies and management of any
health care delivery organizations that are related to the Medical Center, generally through
the Executive Director, and being available for consultation with MUHA,;

Assisting in the accreditation process, including participation in the summation conference.
Assisting in maintaining compliance with current accreditation standards set by the Joint
Commission, in conjunction with the Executive Director and the Medical Staff;

Assisting the Executive Director in establishing medical record policies respecting
composition, retention, confidentiality and other aspects of record keeping. Maintaining
confidentiality with respect to the records and affairs of the Medical Center, except as
disclosure is authorized by MUHA or required by law;

Protecting the economic viability of the Medical Center, while ensuring that ethical
principles guide the Medical Center’s business practices;

Conducting an annual evaluation of its own activities and performance; and an annual
evaluation of the Executive Director; and communicating same to the appropriate MUHA
corporate officer;

Establishing mechanisms to assure that all patients with the same health care problem are
receiving the same level of care in the Medical Center;

Designating particular individuals or departments responsible for evaluating and
monitoring quality of care in particular patient services, and fostering communication
between such individuals or departments through establishing timeframes for discussion of
these issues. When the Medical Center provides a patient care service for which there is
no designated department, establishing of an appropriate monitoring and evaluation
process;

Performing any other functions designated listed in these bylaws but not specifically
referred to in this Section;

Ensuring that leaders of the Medical Staff have access to information and training in the
areas where they need additional skills or expertise;

Ensuring that new or modified processes are well defined and that clinical practice
guidelines are considered when such processes are promulgated; and

It will be the responsibility of each board member to participate in board development
activities.

3.10 MINUTES OF MEETINGS

The Secretary or his/her designee shall keep regular minutes of Board proceedings and such
minutes shall be placed in the minute book of the Board. The minutes shall be available to all
members of the Board. Committees of the Board shall maintain separate minutes of their
proceedings. All such minutes shall be confidential to the extent permitted by law.

BOT Bylaws
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PARLIAMENTARY PROCEEDINGS

All meetings will be conducted using parliamentary procedures. When there is doubt or dispute,
reference will be made to the most recent edition of Roberts' Rules of Order.

ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS OF THE BOARD

OFFICERS

The officers of the Board shall be a Chairman, a Vice-Chairman and a Secretary. The Chairman
and Vice-Chairman shall be appointed by MUHA at the regular December Board meeting after
consideration of the recommendations of the Board. The Executive Director shall serve as
Secretary for as long as he/she holds such position. The Chairperson shall hold office for one two-
year term. The Vice Chair shall also hold office for one two-year term and shall assume the
Chairperson role at anytime during the term if needed or at the completion of the Chairperson’s
term. The Chairperson and Vice Chairperson shall hold office until their successors are appointed.

CHAIRMAN'S DUTIES

The Chairman shall call and preside at all regular and special meetings and shall be, ex-officio, a
member of all committees with voting privileges. He/she shall have such duties and responsibilities
as shall be delegated to him/her by these bylaws and by MUHA, from time to time.

VICE-CHAIRMAN'S DUTIES

The Vice-Chairman shall act as Chairman in the absence of the Chairman. He/She shall perform
such additional duties as may be assigned to him/her by the Chairman or the Board.

SECRETARY'S DUTIES

The duties of the Secretary shall be to:

4.4(a) Act as custodian of all records and reports of the Board and shall be responsible for the
preparation and keeping of the minutes of all meetings of the Board,;

4.4(b) Give proper notice of all Board meetings according to the provisions of these bylaws;
4.4(c) Assure that an answer is rendered to all official Board correspondence; and

4.4(d) Perform such other duties as ordinarily pertains to the office.

VACANCIES

A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, or removal shall be filled by MUHA for the
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unexpired term of such office in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.6 and 3.7.

RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF OFFICER

An officer may resign at any time by tendering his/her resignation in writing to the Chairman. The
resignation will become effective immediately upon receipt. An officer may be removed at any
time with or without cause by MUHA or by a vote of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of the whole
number of Trustees at any meeting of the Board.

ARTICLE V
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES

The Chairman of the Board, after consultation with MUHA or its designee, may appoint and
authorize any standing or special committees as he/she deems necessary, consistent with these
bylaws. At a minimum, the standing committees shall include a Conflict Resolution Committee,
whose functions shall be as outlined in Section 5.2, below. The Board shall have the authority to
designate ad hoc committees as it deems necessary to address specific issues. At any time, such
additional committee is designated, such committee shall consist of at least three (3) members of
the Board including the Executive Director. In addition, if a quality of care issue is involved, at
least one (1) member of the Medical Staff shall serve on such special committee.

CONFLICT RESOLUTION COMMITTEE

The Conflict Resolution Committee shall provide an ongoing process for managing conflict among
leadership groups. Said Committee shall consist of two (2) members of the Medical Staff who are
selected by its Medical Staff Operations Committee (and may or may not be members of the Board),
two (2) non-physician Board members who are selected by the Board Chair and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Florence Division of MUSC Health. The Committee shall meet as needed,
specifically when a conflict arises that, if not managed, could adversely affect patient safety or
quality of care. When such a conflict arises, the Committee shall meet with the involved parties as
early as possible to resolve the conflict, gather information regarding the conflict, work with the
parties to manage and when possible, to resolve the conflict, and to protect the safety and quality
of care.

TERM OF OFFICE

Each member of a committee shall continue in office until the next annual meeting of the Board
and until his/her successor is appointed, unless the committee of which he/she is a member shall be
sooner terminated by the Board or until the sooner of death, resignation, or removal of such member
as a committee member or Trustee.

COMMITTEE MEETINGS & MINUTES

Meetings of any committee of the Board may be called by the Chairman of such committee by
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giving notice of such meeting, setting forth its time and place and delivered personally or by mail,
facsimile, email or telefax to the residence or place of business of each member at least two (2)
days prior to such meeting. Unless otherwise provided in these bylaws, a majority of the members
of any committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. After a quorum has
been established at a committee meeting, the subsequent withdrawal of committee members present
to fewer than the number required for a quorum shall not affect the validity of any action taken.
The committee shall maintain written minutes that reflect business conducted by the committee.
The minutes shall be available for review by the Board.

RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS

A member of any committee of the Board may resign at any time by tendering his/her resignation
in writing to the Chairman of the Board. Resignation as a Trustee shall also constitute resignation
as a member of any committee of the Board. The Board by a majority vote may remove any
member from a committee of the Board, with or without cause.

ARTICLE VI
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Executive Director shall be selected and employed by MUHA, after consultation with the
Board, and shall be its direct executive representative in the management of the Medical Center.
The Executive Director shall have the authority to, and be held responsible for, administering the
Medical Center in all its activities and departments, subject only to such policies as may be adopted
and such orders as may be issued by MUHA and the MUHA Board. He/she shall act as the
authorized representative of the Board and MUHA Board if they have not formally designated some
other person for that specific purpose. MUHA, through the Executive Director, shall be solely
responsible for the selection of key management personnel for the operation of the Medical Center.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR PERFORMANCE

As provided in Section 3.9(n) above, the Board of Trustees shall provide to MUHA, an annual
evaluation of the Executive Director's performance. The evaluation shall be submitted in such form
as may be designated by MUHA.

ARTICLE VII
CREDENTIALED PRACTITIONERS

MEDICAL STAFF APPOINTMENTS AND CLINICAL PRIVILEGES

7.1(a) The Board shall initially recommend to the MUHA Board a Medical Staff, and shall see
that the staff is organized into a responsible administrative unit and adopts such bylaws,
rules, and regulations for government of their practice in the Medical Center as the MUHA
Board deems to be the greatest benefit to the care of patients within the Medical Center.
In the case of the individual patients, those appointed to the Medical Staff shall have full
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authority and responsibility for the care of patients subject only to such limitations as the
MUHA Board may formally impose and to the bylaws and rules and regulations for the
Medical Staff as initially recommended by the Board and thereafter approved by the
MUHA Board. The Medical Staff shall adhere to the highest ethical principles of the
medical profession.

All applications for appointment to the Medical Staff shall be in writing and addressed to
the Executive Director in such form as determined by the Medical Center and more
specifically described in the Medical Staff bylaws. The application shall be complete and
with required information relating to education, licensure, practice, previous hospital
experience, professional liability coverage, and any history relative to licensure,
malpractice experience, and/or Medical Center privileges.

At its next regular meeting after receipt of a completed application and a recommendation
from the Medical Staff concerning an applicant for Medical Staff appointment, the MUHA
Board shall act in the matter unless further investigation requires that action be postponed
to a later meeting, as provided in the following paragraph.

In order to expedite the credentialing process, the MUHA Board may appoint a committee
consisting of at least two (2) MUHA Board members to review the recommendations
received from the Medical Staff. If the committee returns a positive decision concerning
the practitioner’s clinical privileges, the privileges shall be granted and the full Board shall
ratify that decision at its next regular meeting. If the committee returns a negative decision
concerning the practitioner’s clinical privileges, the matter shall be returned to the Medical
Staff for further recommendation prior to final action by the MUHA Board.

The expedited process may not be used in the following circumstances:

(1) The applicant submits an incomplete application; or

(2) The Medical Staff makes a recommendation that is adverse or with limitation; or

(3) There is a current challenge or a previously successful challenge to licensure or
registration; or

(4) The applicant has received an involuntary termination of Medical Staff
membership at another organization; or

(5) The applicant has received involuntary limitation, reduction, denial or loss of
clinical privileges; or

(6) There has been a final judgment adverse to the applicant in a professional liability
action.

The above circumstances shall require action by the full MUHA Board.

At any time in its consideration of such recommendation, the MUHA Board may, in its
absolute discretion, defer final determination by referring the matter to a committee of its
choice for further consideration. Any such referral shall state the reasons therefore, shall
set a time limit within which a subsequent recommendation to the MUHA Board shall be
made, and may include a directive that an additional meeting be conducted to clarify issues
which are in doubt. At its next regular meeting after receipt of such subsequent
recommendation, the MUHA Board shall act in the matter.
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Appointments to the Medical Staff shall not exceed two (2) years, renewable by the MUHA
Board before the end of the appointment upon formal application.

The MUHA Board shall delegate to the Medical Staff the responsibility and authority to
investigate and evaluate all matters relating to Medical Staff and AHP membership status,
clinical privileges and corrective action, and shall require that the Medical Staff adopt and
forward to it specific written recommendations with appropriate supporting documentation
that will allow the MUHA Board to take informed action. Such delegation, however, does
not relieve the MUHA Board of its responsibilities in appointing members of the Medical
Staff and overseeing the MEC in the appointment and delineation of functions,
responsibilities and prerogatives of AHPs.

Final action on all such Medical Staff matters shall be taken after considering the Medical
Staff recommendation, except that the MUHA Board shall act on its own initiative if the
Medical Staff fails to adopt and submit recommendations within the time periods required
by the Medical Staff Bylaws. MUHA Board action without a staff recommendation shall
be based on the same kind of documented investigation and evaluation of current ability,
judgment, and character as is required for Medical Staff recommendations.

The Executive Director shall make available to the applicant for staff membership a copy
of the Medical Staff Bylaws, including the Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, Fair
Hearing Plan, and Credential Manual. The applicant shall sign a statement on the
application form declaring that he/she has received and reviewed those documents and that
he/she specifically agrees:

M to obligate himself/herself, as an appointee to the Medical Staff, to provide
continuous care and supervision as needed to all Medical Center patients for whom
he/she has responsibility;

(i) to abide by all such bylaws, policies, and directives of the Medical Center and its
Medical Staff as shall be in force during the time he/she is appointed to the Medical
Staff of the Medical Center; and

(iii)  toaccept committee assignments and such other duties and responsibilities as shall
be assigned to him/her by the MUHA Board and the Medical Staff.

No appointment or reappointment shall take effect until such a statement has been signed
by the individual concerned.

The terms and conditions of membership status and clinical privileges and the procedure
to be followed in acting on same, shall be as specified in the Medical Staff Bylaws or as
more specifically defined in the notice of individual appointment;

The MUHA Board shall make final decisions on all requests for corrective action, and shall

otherwise participate in the corrective action process as described in the Medical Staff
Bylaws.
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7.1(K) No aspect of membership status nor specific clinical privileges shall be limited or denied

to a practitioner on the basis of sex, race, creed, color, or national origin, or on the basis of

any other criterion unrelated to quality patient care at the Medical Center, to professional

qualifications, to the Medical Center's purposes, needs and capabilities, or to community

needs. Members of the Medical Staff who also have Medical Center administrative

responsibilities shall be required to meet the same requirements and qualifications for

membership on the Medical Staff as do practitioners who do not have an administrative
relationship to the Medical Center.

All administrative relationships with members of the Medical Staff and others who are not
members of the Medical Staff shall be reduced to written agreement between the individual
practitioner and the Medical Center. These administrative relationships may be terminated
by the Executive Director following the same procedures utilized for other Medical Center
employees, unless the written agreement provides another method of termination. Should
the written agreements provision for termination conflict with the general procedures
utilized for other employees, the written agreement shall control.

MEDICAL STAFF GOVERNANCE

The Board shall recommend to the MUHA Board bylaws and rules and regulations establishing the
organization and government of the Medical Staff. The bylaws and rules and regulations shall be
developed by the Medical Staff, but shall be effective only upon approval by the MUHA Board.
The power of MUHA Board to adopt or amend Medical Staff Bylaws, and Rules and Regulations
shall be conditioned upon the Medical Staff's failure to keep current, update or make necessary
modifications to its bylaws in a manner that will allow for the maximum possible achievement of
the purposes and objectives of the Medical Staff.

The MUHA Board retains the right to rescind any authority or procedures delegated to the Medical
Staff, and to recommend amendment or replacement of the Medical Staff Bylaws as necessary for
the operation of the Medical Center.

The Medical Staff shall review and revise all Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, and, as
applicable, departmental policies and procedures, when warranted, provided that such review shall
occur at least every two (2) years. The Medical Staff shall recommend changes in such policies
and procedures for the Board’s review and recommendation for approval of the MUHA Board.

CATEGORIES OF STAFF MEMBERSHIP

The Medical Staff shall be organized into the categories as outlined in the Medical Staff Bylaws.
The prerogatives and responsibilities of each staff category shall be outlined in the Medical Staff
Bylaws.

ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONAL (AHP)

The MUHA Board may approve specific clinical privileges for individuals who are not part of the
Medical Staff, but who may render patient care services within the Medical Center setting.
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Each person afforded AHP status shall be assigned and made accountable to the appropriate clinical
section of the Medical Staff, although such assignment will not constitute membership on the
Medical Staff.

All applications for appointment to AHP status shall be in writing in such form as specified by the
Medical Center. The application shall be processed in the same manner as Medical Staff
applications.

The terms and conditions of AHP status, and of the exercise of clinical privileges, shall be as
specified in the appropriate section of Medical Staff Bylaws or as more specifically defined in their
scope of practice. AHPs shall not be entitled to the procedures set forth in the Fair Hearing Plan.
They shall, however, be entitled to an appearance before a Medical Staff committee designated
within the Medical Staff Bylaws, as well as a written appeal to the MUHA Board in the event of
an adverse action.

ARTICLE VIII
MEDICAL CARE EVALUATION

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE QUALITY OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

After considering the recommendations of the Medical Staff and the other health care professional
providing patient care services, the Board may recommend to the MUHA Board specific review
and evaluation activities to assess, preserve, and improve the overall quality and efficiency of
patient care in the Medical Center. The Board, through the Executive Director, shall provide
whatever administrative assistance is reasonably necessary to support and facilitate activities
contributing to continuous quality assessment and improvement.

PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTABILITY TO THE BOARDS

The Medical Staff and the other health care professional staffs providing patient care services shall
conduct, and be accountable to the Board and the MUHA Board for conducting, activities that
contribute to the preservation and improvement of the quality and efficiency of patient care
provided in the Medical Center. These activities shall include these functions:

8.2(a) Providing effective mechanisms to monitor and evaluate the quality of patient care and the
clinical performance of individuals with delineated clinical privileges within the Medical
Center;

8.2(b) Ongoing review, evaluation, and monitoring of patient care practices through a systematic
process of overall quality assessment and improvement;

8.2(c) Delineation of clinical privileges for Medical Staff members, commensurate with
individual credentials and demonstrated ability and judgment, and assignment of patient
care responsibilities to other health care professionals consistent with individual
qualification and demonstrated ability;

8.2(d) Establishing a process designed to assure that all individuals responsible for the
assessment, treatment, or care of patients are competent in the following, as appropriate to
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the ages of the patients served:

(i) the ability to obtain information and interpret information in terms of the patients'
needs;

(i) a knowledge of cognitive, physical, and emotional growth and development in the
particular age group treated; and

(iii)  anunderstanding of the range of treatment needed by the patients.

8.2(e) Providing continuing professional education, shaped primarily by the needs identified
through the review and evaluation activities;

8.2(f) Reviewing utilization of the Medical Center's resources to provide for their allocation to
patients in need of them;

8.2(g) Reviewing the competency of care providers who are not subject to the Medical Staff
privilege delineation process; and reporting to the Board and the MUHA Board findings
with regard to such care providers;

8.2(h) Establishing a process to support the efficient flow of patients, such as a plan concerning
the care of admitted patients who are in temporary bed locations; and

8.2(1) Such other measures as the MUHA Board may, after receiving and considering the advice
of the Board and the Medical Staff, the other professional services, and the Executive
Director, deem necessary for the preservation and improvement of the quality and
efficiency of patient care.

DOCUMENTATION

The Board shall consider the findings and recommendations from its required review, evaluation,
and monitoring activities and make recommendations to the MUHA Board, which shall be in
writing, signed by the persons responsible for conducting the review activities, and supported and
accompanied by documentation upon which the MUHA Board can take informed action.

ARTICLE IX
AUXILIARY ORGANIZATIONS

ORGANIZATION

The Board shall authorize and approve the formation of volunteers, auxiliaries, and other affiliated
organizations composed of members of the local communities. For purposes of these bylaws, the
term "auxiliary"” shall be used in reference to such organizations.

PURPOSE

The general purpose of such auxiliaries shall be to render volunteer services in the form of comfort
and welfare to Medical Center patients, and to conduct community service projects and related
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activities enabling the accomplishment of these purposes.

9.3 RATIFICATION OF BYLAWS

An auxiliary shall adopt bylaws which shall be ratified and approved by the Board and MUHA.
Such auxiliary's bylaws shall delineate its purposes and functions.

ARTICLE X
REVIEW, AMENDMENT & REPLACEMENT

These bylaws shall be reviewed by the Board and MUHA as needed, but at least every two (2)
years and shall be dated to indicate the time of the last review.

These bylaws may be amended by affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) majority of the members of
the Board, providing a full presentation of such proposed amendment shall have been published in the
notice of meeting, and provided the amendments are approved in writing by the MUHA Board. The MUHA
Board reserves the right to amend or replace these bylaws as necessary for the operation of the Medical
Center in the event of a change in circumstances or emergency so dictating. The MUHA Board thereafter
promptly will consult with the Board on permanent amendments to these bylaws (if any) necessary to meet
the change of conditions, policy, or continuing emergency.

R R R R T R R R e e R e
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ARTICLE XI
ADOPTION & EXECUTION

These bylaws shall not be effective until they have been approved by the MUHA Board. The
signatures set forth below signify that the foregoing bylaws are the duly adopted Board of Trustees
Bylaws of the Medical Center.

APPROVED:

MUSC HEALTH BLACK RIVER MEDICAL CENTER
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

By:

Chairman of the Board Date

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

By:
Legal Counsel for MUHA Date
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MEDICAL STAFF BYLAWS

OF

MUSC HEALTH BLACK RIVER MEDICAL CENTERMUSC HEALTH
BLACK RIVER MEDICAL CENTER

PREAMBLE

WHEREAS, MUSC Health Black River Medical, hereinafter referred to as "Hospital™ or “Hospital
System”, is operated by the Medical University Hospital Authority hereinafter referred to as "MUHA", a state
authority organized and existing pursuant to statute at S.C. Code Ann. 8 59-123-60 and is lawfully doing
business in South Carolina; and

WHEREAS, no Practitioner is entitled to Medical Staff membership and privileges at this Hospital
solely by reason of education or licensure, or membership on the Medical Staff of another Hospital; and

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Hospital is to serve as a general short-term, acute care Hospital,
providing patient care and education; and

WHEREAS, the Hospital must ensure that such services are delivered efficiently and with concern for
keeping medical costs within reasonable bounds and meeting the evolving regulatory requirements applicable to
functions within the Hospital; and

WHEREAS, the Medical Staff must cooperate with and is subject to the ultimate authority and direction
of the Board; and

WHEREAS, the cooperative efforts of the Medical Staff, Hospital administration, and the Board are
necessary to fulfill these goals.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Practitioners practicing at MUSC Health Black River Medical Center hereby
organize themselves into a Medical Staff conforming to these Bylaws.

June 2018 1
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DEFINITIONS

"Active Staff" members shall be those physicians (D.O.'s and M.D.'s) licensed in the state of South
Carolina that has the privilege of admitting patients, holding office and voting.

"Affiliated Health Professional” or “AHP” means a credentialed individual, other than a physician,
dentist, or podiatrist, who is qualified to render direct or indirect medical or surgical care in
collaboration with a physician who has been afforded privileges to provide such care in the Hospital.
For such purposes as these Medical Staff Bylaws, “AHP” shall be deemed to refer only to advanced
practice professionals who are credentialed as AHPs pursuant to the Medical Staff credentialing process.
Such AHPs shall include, without limitation, Physician Assistants (“PA-C”), Advanced Practice Nurse
Practitioners (“APRN”), Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetists (“CRNA"), Psychologists and other
such professionals. For purposes of these Bylaws, “Allied Health Professional” shall not be deemed to
include those non-credentialed individuals (“Clinical Assistants” pursuant to the Hospital policy) whose
appointment and competencies are handled outside the Medical Staff process. The authority of an AHP
to provide specified patient care services is established by the Medical Staff based on the professional's
qualifications, licensure, and approved written practice agreement for APRNs or written scope of
practice guidelines for PA-Cs.

"Board" means the Board of Trustees of MUSC Health Black River Medical Center.

"Board Certification" shall mean certification in a member board of the American Board of Medical
Specialties, the American Board of Osteopathic Specialists, or other applicable specialty boards.

“Campus” means each separately licensed Hospital within the Hospital System that has a unified and
integrated Medical Staff.

"Chief Executive Officer" or “Executive Director” means the individual appointed by the Corporation to
provide for the overall management of the Hospital or his/her designee.

"Chief of Staff" means the member of the Active Medical Staff who is duly elected in accordance with
these Bylaws to serve as chief officer of the Medical Staff of this Hospital or his/her designee.

"Clinical Privileges" means the Board's recognition of Practitioners' competence and qualifications to
render specific diagnostic, therapeutic, medical, dental, podiatric or surgical services.

"MUHA" means Medical University Hospital Authority.

"Data Bank" means the National Practitioner Data Bank, (or any state designee thereof), established
pursuant to the Health Care Quality Improvement Act of 1986, for the purposes of reporting of adverse
actions and Medical Staff malpractice information.

“Designee” means one selected by the Executive Director, Chief of Staff or other officer to act on
his/her behalf with regard to a particular responsibility or activity as permitted by these Bylaws.

"Ex-Officio" means service as a member of a body by virtue of an office or position held, and unless
otherwise expressly provided, means without voting rights.

"Fair Hearing Plan" means the procedure adopted by the Medical Staff with the approval of the Board to
provide for an evidentiary hearing and appeals procedure when a Practitioner's clinical privileges are
adversely affected by a determination based on the Practitioner's professional conduct or competence.
The Fair Hearing Plan is incorporated into these Bylaws and is contained in Appendix “A” hereto.
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“Hospital” means MUSC Health Black River Medical Center

“Hospital System” means the Hospital and such other Hospital facilities that may be operated, acquired
or removed by MUHA.

“Licensed Independent Practitioner” or “LIP” means any individual permitted by law and by the
Medical Staff and Board to provide care and services without direction or supervision, within the scope
of the individual’s license and consistent with individually granted clinical privileges.

“Medical Executive Committee" or “MEC” means the Executive Committee of the Medical Staff.

"Medical Staff" means the formal organization of Practitioners who have been granted privileges by the
Board to attend patients in the Hospital.

"Medical Staff Bylaws" or “Bylaws” means the Bylaws of the Medical Staff and the accompanying
Rules & Regulations, Fair Hearing Plan and such other rules and regulations as may be adopted by the
Medical Staff subject to the approval of the Board.

"Medical Staff Year" means October 1st through September 30th.

"Member" means a Practitioner who has been granted Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges
pursuant to these Bylaws.

“Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeon” means an individual who has successfully completed a post-graduate
program in oral and maxillofacial surgery accredited by a nationally recognized accrediting body
approved by the U.S. Department of Education. As determined by the Medical Staff, the individual
must be currently competent to perform a complete history and physical examination in order to assess
the medical, surgical and anesthetic risks of the proposed operative and other procedure(s).

“Peer Review Policy” means the policy and procedure adopted by the Medical Staff with the approval
of the Board to provide evidence of objective monitoring of quality concerns for clinical management
and evaluation of outcomes, provide oversight of the professional performance of all Practitioners with
delineated clinical privileges, evaluate the competence of Practitioner performance, establish guidelines
and triggers for referring cases identified or suspected as variations from quality indicators, and
facilitate delivery of quality services that meet professionally recognized standards. This policy is
incorporated into these Bylaws and is contained in Appendix “D” hereto.

"Physician™ means an individual with a D.O. or M.D. degree who is properly licensed to practice
medicine in South Carolina.

"Practitioner” means an appropriately licensed physician, dentist, or podiatrist, Affiliated Health
Professional, including APRN, PA-C and CRNA, or any other individual who exercises independent
judgment within areas of his professional judgment and applicable state practice who has been granted
clinical privileges at the Hospital.

"Prerogative" means a participatory right granted by the Medical Staff and exercised subject to the
conditions imposed in these Bylaws and in other Hospital and Medical Staff policies.

"Special Notice" means a written notice sent by mail with a return receipt requested or delivered by
hand with a written acknowledgment of receipt.

“Telemedicine” means the use of electronic communication or other communication technologies to
provide or support clinical care at a location remote from Hospital.



29. “Unified and Integrated Medical Staff” means a single Medical Staff formed from a recommendation by
the Board and acceptance by a majority vote of the members of the Medical Staffs at each Campus
within the Hospital System.
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ARTICLE I
NAME

The name of this organization shall be the Medical Staff of MUSC Health Black River Medical Center

ARTICLE I1
PURPOSES & RESPONSIBILITIES

PURPOSE

The purposes of the Medical Staff are:

2.1(a)

2.1(b)

2.1(c)

2.1(d)

2.1(e)

2.1(f)

2.1(9)

2.1(h)

2.1(i)

2.1(j)

2.1(k)

To be the organization through which the benefits of membership on the Medical Staff (mutual
education, consultation and professional support) may be obtained and the obligations of
Medical Staff membership may be fulfilled;

To foster cooperation with Hospital administration and the Board while allowing Medical Staff
members to function with relative freedom in the evaluation, care and treatment of their
patients;

To provide a mechanism to ensure that all patients admitted to or treated in any of the facilities
or services of the Hospital shall receive a uniform level of appropriate quality care, treatment
and services commensurate with community resources during the length of stay at the Hospital,
by accounting for and reporting regularly to the Board on patient care evaluation, including
monitoring and other performance improvement activities in accordance with the Hospital's
performance improvement program;

To serve as a primary means for accountability to the Board to ensure high quality professional
performance of all Practitioners authorized to practice in the Hospital through delineation of
clinical privileges, on-going review and evaluation of each Practitioner's performance in the
Hospital, and where applicable, collaboration with, supervision, review, evaluation and
delineation of duties and prerogative of AHPs;

To work with the Board and Hospital administration to develop a strategy to maintain medical
costs within reasonable bounds and meet evolving regulatory requirements;

To provide an appropriate educational setting that will promote continuous advancement in
professional knowledge and skill;

To promulgate, maintain and enforce Bylaws and Rules and Regulations for the proper
functioning of the Medical Staff;

To provide a means by which issues concerning the Medical Staff and the Hospital may be
discussed with the Board and/or the Executive Director;

To participate in educational activities and scientific research with the Medical University of
South Carolina and such other approved colleges of medicine and dentistry as may be justified
by the facilities, personnel, funds or other equipment that are or can be made available;

To assist the Board in identifying changing community health needs and preferences and
implement programs to meet those needs and preferences; and

To accomplish its goals through appropriate committees and departments.
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RESPONSIBILITIES

The responsibilities of the Medical Staff include:

2.2(a) Ensuring that Practitioners cooperate with each other in caring for patients in the Hospital;

2.2(b) Accounting for the quality, appropriateness and cost effectiveness of patient care rendered by all
Practitioners authorized to practice in the Hospital, by taking action to:

)

)

)

(4)

Q)

(6)
(")

(8)

(9)

Assist the Board and Executive Director and their designees in data compilation, medical
record administration, review and evaluation of cost effectiveness and other such functions
necessary to meet accreditation and licensure standards, as well as federal and state law
requirements;

Define and implement credentialing procedures, including a mechanism for appointment
and reappointment and the delineation of clinical privileges and assurance that all
individuals with clinical privileges provide services within the scope of individual clinical
privileges granted,;

Provide a continuing medical education program addressing issues of performance
improvement and including the types of care offered by the Hospital, and require
documentation of individual participation in such programs by all individuals with clinical
privileges;

Implement a utilization review program, based on the requirements of the Hospital's
Utilization Review Plan;

Develop an organizational structure that provides continuous monitoring of patient care
practices and appropriate supervision of/collaboration with AHPs;

Initiate and pursue corrective action with respect to Practitioners, when warranted;

Develop, administer and enforce these Bylaws, the rules and regulations of the Medical
Staff and other Hospital policies related to medical care;

Review and evaluate the quality of patient care through a valid and reliable patient care
monitoring procedure, including identification and resolution of important problems in
patient care and treatment;

Implement a process to identify and manage matters of individual physician health that is
separate from the Medical Staff disciplinary function in accordance with the Practitioner
Wellness Policy, which is incorporated herein and attached as Appendix “B” hereto.

2.2(c) Assisting the Board in maintaining the accreditation status of the Hospital,

2.2(d) Participating and cooperating in implementation of the policies of federal and state regulatory
agencies, including the requirements of the Data Bank; and

2.2(e) Maintaining confidentiality with respect to the records and affairs of the Hospital, except as
disclosure is authorized by the Board or required by law.

PARTICIPATION IN ORGANIZED HEALTH CARE ARRANGEMENT
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Patient information will be collected, stored and maintained so that privacy and confidentiality are
preserved. The Hospital and each member of the Medical Staff will be part of an Organized Health
Care Arrangement (“OHCA”), which is defined as a clinically-integrated care setting in which
individuals typically receive healthcare from more than one healthcare provider. The OHCA allows the
Hospital and the Medical Staff members to share information for purposes of treatment, payment and
health care operations. Under the OHCA, at the time of admission, a patient will receive the Hospital’s
Notice of Privacy Practices, which will include information about the Organized Health Care
Arrangement between the Hospital and the Medical Staff.

UNIFIED AND INTEGRATED MEDICAL STAFF

2.4(a) The members of the active Medical Staff holding clinical privileges at each separate Campus
may choose by a majority vote of the members eligible to vote, who are present and voting at a
meeting at which a quorum is present, to participate in a unified and integrated Medical Staff
structure. Written notice shall be provided stating the place, day and hour of the meeting,
delivered either personally or by mail, to each person entitled to be present there at not less than
five (5) days before the date of the meeting. Personal attendance at the meeting shall constitute
a waiver of notice of such meeting.

2.4(b) The unified and integrated Medical Staff must be established in a manner that takes into account
the unique circumstances and significant differences in patient populations and services offered
at each Campus. The unified and integrated Medical Staff gives due consideration to the needs
and concerns of its members, regardless of practice or location, and the Hospital System shall
provide mechanisms to assure that issues localized to particular Campuses are duly considered
and addressed.

2.4(c) The members of the Active Medical Staff holding clinical privileges at each Campus shall
continually hold the right to determine whether to continue participation in the unified and
integrated Medical Staff structure or to opt out of such structure, and to operate a Campus-
specific separate and distinct Medical Staff for their respective Campus. A majority vote of the
members of the Active Medical Staff holding clinical privileges at the separate and distinct
Campus is also required to opt out of the unified and integrated Medical Staff structure. The
members of the Active Medical Staff holding clinical privileges at a particular Campus shall
obtain the signatures of ten percent (10%) of the Campus membership in order to call a vote to
opt out. The vote to opt out shall take place at the annual MEC meeting. The Secretary of the
MEC shall give written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting, delivered either
personally or by mail, to each person entitled to be present there at not less than five (5) days
before the date of the meeting. Personal attendance at the meeting shall constitute a waiver of
notice of such meeting.

2.4(d) All Practitioners shall be provided with a copy of these rights related to opting in and
opting out of a unified Medical Staff at the time of initial appointment and reappointment.
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ARTICLE Il
MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERSHIP

NATURE OF MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERSHIP

Medical Staff membership is a privilege extended by the Hospital, and is not a right of any person.
Membership on the Medical Staff or the exercise of temporary privileges shall be extended only to
professionally competent physicians, dentists, or podiatrists who continuously meet the qualifications,
standards and requirements set forth in these Bylaws. Membership on the Medical Staff shall confer on
the Practitioner only such clinical privileges and prerogatives as have been granted by the Board in
accordance with these Bylaws. No person shall admit patients to, or provide services to patients in the
Hospital, unless he/she is a member of the Medical Staff with appropriate privileges, or has been
granted temporary, one-case, locum tenens, or proctoring privileges as provided herein.

BASIC QUALIFICATIONS/CONDITIONS OF STAFF MEMBERSHIP

3.2(a) Basic Qualifications

The only people who shall qualify for membership on the Medical Staff are those physicians,
dentists, or podiatrists legally licensed in South Carolina, who:

)

(2)

®3)

(4)
()
(6)

(")

(8)

Document their professional experience, background, education, training, demonstrated
ability, current competence, professional clinical judgment and physical and mental health
status with sufficient adequacy to demonstrate to the Medical Staff and the Board that any
patient treated by them will receive quality care and that they are qualified to provide
medically needed services within the Hospital;

Are determined, on the basis of documented references, to adhere strictly to the ethics of
their respective professions, to work cooperatively with others and to be willing to
participate in the discharge of Medical Staff responsibilities;

Comply and have complied with federal, state and local requirements, if any, for their
medical practice, are not and have not been subject to any liability claims, challenges to
licensure, or loss of Medical Staff membership or privileges which will adversely affect
their services to the Hospital;

Have professional liability insurance that meets the requirements of Section 14.2;
Are graduates of an approved college holding appropriate degrees;

Have successfully completed an approved internship program or the equivalent where
applicable;

Maintain a good reputation in his/her professional community; have the ability to work
successfully with other professionals and have the physical and mental health to adequately
practice his/her profession;

Certify ongoing continuing medical education (CME) that fulfills current South Carolina
state requirement for licensure

(9) Meet one of the following requirements, in addition to those listed above:

(i) Board certification; or
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3.2(b)

3.2(c)

3.2(d)

(ii) eligibility at the time of application for Board certification and become Board-
certified within three (3) years of Practitioner completing a medical Residency or
Fellowship program or six (6) years of Practitioner completing a surgical
Residency or Fellowship program

(iii) demonstrate to the satisfaction of the MEC and the Board of competency and
training equal or equivalent to that required for Board certification.

Any Medical Staff Member appointed prior to the effective date of this Section is not
required to comply with the Board certification requirements of this Section, but must
comply with any applicable Board certification criteria applicable to the Practitioner’s
Clinical Privileges in effect at the time of their initial appointment.

(9) Have skills and training to fulfill a patient care need existing within the Hospital, and be
able to adequately provide those services with the facilities and support services available
at the Hospital; and

(10) Practice in such a manner as not to interfere with orderly and efficient rendering of services
by the Hospital or by other Practitioners within the Hospital.

Effects of Other Affiliations

No person shall be automatically entitled to membership on the Medical Staff or to exercise the
particular clinical privileges merely because he/she is licensed to practice in this or any other
state, or because he/she is a member of any professional organization, or because he/she is
certified by any clinical board, or because he/she had, or presently has, Medical Staff
membership at this Hospital or at another health care facility or in another practice setting.

Non-Discrimination

No aspect of Medical Staff membership or particular clinical privileges shall be denied on the
basis of race, color, sex, national origin, or disability (except as such may impair the
Practitioner's ability to provide quality patient care or fulfill his/her duties under these Bylaws),
or on the basis of any other criteria unrelated to the delivery of quality patient care in the
Hospital, to professional ability and judgment, or to community need.

Ethics

The burden shall be on the applicant to establish that he/she is professionally competent and
worthy in character, professional ethics and conduct. Acceptance of membership on the
Medical Staff shall constitute the member's certification that he/she has in the past, and agrees
that he/she will in the future; abide by the lawful principles of Medical Ethics of the American
Osteopathic Association, or the American Medical Association, or other applicable codes of
ethics.

BASIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF STAFF MEMBERSHIP

Each member of the Medical Staff shall:

3.3(a)

Provide his/her patients with continuous care at the generally recognized professional level of
quality;
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3.3(b)

3.3(c)

3.3(d)

3.3(e)

3.3(f)

3.3(9)

3.3(h)

3.3(i)

3.3())
3.3(K)

3.3(1)

Consistent with generally recognized quality standards, deliver patient care in an efficient and
financially prudent manner, and adhere to Hospital medical review policies with regard to
utilization;

Abide by the Medical Staff Bylaws and other lawful standards, policies (including Practitioner
Wellness and Behavior that Undermines a Culture of Safety policies, Appendices “B” and “C”
hereto), and Rules & Regulations of the Medical Staff;

Discharge the Medical Staff, department, committee and Hospital functions for which he/she is
responsible by Medical Staff category assignment, appointment, election or otherwise;

Cooperate with other members of the Medical Staff, Hospital administration, the Board and
employees of the Hospital,

Adequately prepare and complete in a timely fashion the medical and other required records for
all patients he/she admits or, in any way provides care to, in the Hospital;

Be encouraged to be a member in good standing of respective professional societies and to
participate in educational programs as contemplated by these Bylaws;

Attest that he/she suffers from no health problems which could affect ability to perform the
functions of Medical Staff membership and exercise the privileges requested prior to initial
exercise of privileges, and participate in the Hospital drug testing program;

Abide by the ethical principles of his/her profession and specialty;

Refuse to engage in improper inducements for patient referral;

Refrain from engaging in business practices which are predatory or harmful to the Hospital or
the community;

Notify the Executive Director and Chief of Staff within seven (7) days if:

(1) His/Her professional licensure in any state is suspended or revoked, or of any investigation,
sanction or notice of intent to sanction or to revoke, suspend or modify his/her license;

(2) His/hers professional liability insurance is modified or terminated;

(3) He/She is named as a defendant, or is subject to a final judgment or settlement, in any court
proceeding alleging that he/she committed professional negligence or fraud;

(4) Any criminal charges, other than minor traffic violations, are brought/initiated against
him/her; and any guilty pleas or convictions entered

(5) She/he has been excluded debarred, suspended, or otherwise declared ineligible from any
federal or state health care or procurement program, including Medicare and Medicaid, has
been convicted of a crime that meets the criteria for mandatory exclusion, debarment,
suspension or ineligibility from such programs, or is under investigation by any such
program

(6) He/She has either voluntarily or involuntarily participating in any rehabilitation or

impairment program, or has ceased participation in such a program without successful
completion; and/or

10
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3.3(m)

(7) There has been voluntary or involuntary limitation, reduction or loss of clinical privileges
on any medical Staff (including relinquishment of such medical staff membership or
clinical privileges after an investigation of competence, professional conduct, or patient care
activities has commenced or to avoid such investigation; or receipt of a sanction or notice of
intent to sanction from any peer review or professional review body).

Failure to provide any such notice, as required above, shall result in immediate loss of Medical
Staff membership and clinical privileges, without right of fair hearing procedures.

Comply with all state and federal requirements for maintaining confidentiality of patient
identifying medical information, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act of 1996, as amended, and its associated regulations, and execute a health information
confidentiality agreement with the Hospital.

3.3 (n) Admission History

Each patient admitted for inpatient care shall have complete admission history and physical
examination recorded by a qualified physician or other licensed Practitioner, including an
APRN or PA-C, who has been credentialed and granted privileges to perform a history and
physical examination) within twenty-four (24) hours of admission and prior to any surgical
procedure or invasive diagnostic procedure requiring anesthesia. A written admission note shall
be entered by the Attending Physician, APRN, or PA-C at the time of admission, documenting
the diagnosis and reason for admission. Oral/maxillofacial surgeons may be granted privileges
to perform part or all of the history and physical examination, including assessment of the
medical, surgical and anesthetic risks of the proposed operation or other procedure. This report
shall include an age-specific assessment of the patient and shall include all pertinent findings
documenting the need for the admission. In the case of infants, children or adolescents, the
report shall include immunization status and other pertinent age-specific information. If the
admission follows within twenty-four (24) hours of a discharge from an acute care facility, the
history and physical shall specifically document the circumstances surrounding the need for
additional acute care. Should the physician fail to ensure that the patient's history and physical is
written or dictated in time to be transcribed and on the chart within twenty-four (24) hours after
admission and prior to any surgical procedure or invasive diagnostic procedure requiring
anesthesia, the record shall be considered delinquent and the Chief of Staff or his/her designee
or the Executive Directoror his designee may take appropriate steps to enforce compliance. If
the history and physical is completed by a licensed Practitioner who is not a physician, oral and
maxillofacial surgeon, APRN, or PA-C, the findings, conclusions and assessment of risk must
be endorsed by a qualified physician prior to surgery, invasive diagnostic or therapeutic
interventions, induction of anesthesia, or other major high risk procedures.

At a minimum, the medical history and physical examination must contain an age specific
assessment of the patient including (a) the chief complaint, which is a statement that establishes
medical necessity in concise manner based upon the patient’s own words; (b) a history of the
present illness outlining the location, quality, severity, duration, timing, context and modifying
factors of the complaints; (c) medications, including both prescribed and over-the-counter
remedies; (d) allergies and intolerances, including a description of the effects caused by each
agent; (e) past medical and surgical history; (f) health maintenance/immunization history; (g)
family history and social history, including socioeconomic factors, sexual and substances
use/abuse issues, advance directives and potential discharge or disposition challenges; (h)
comprehensive physical examination, including vital signs, general appearance, mental status
and abnormal and pertinent normal findings from each body system; (i) diagnostic data that is
either available or pending at the time of admission; (j) clinical impression outlining the
provisional diagnoses and/or differential diagnoses for the patient’s symptoms; and (k) the plan
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outlining the evaluation and treatment strategy, any limitations including patient and/or family
requests and discharge planning initiation.

A history and physical performed within thirty (30) days prior to Hospital admission may be
used, as long as the medical record contains durable, legible practitioner documentation
indicating the H&P was reviewed and the patient was examined, and noting any changes in the
patient’s condition not consistent or otherwise reflected in the H&P. If there have been any
changes in the patient’s condition that are not consistent with or noted in the history and
physical, those must be documented within twenty-four (24) hours of admission and prior to
any surgical procedure or invasive diagnostic procedure requiring anesthesia.

History and Physical Documentation for Outpatient Procedures.

Outpatient procedures requiring history and physical documentation shall include the following:
Outpatient Surgery procedures,

Lithotripsy procedures,

Cardiovascular procedures as defined in departmental policy,

Radiographic procedures as defined in departmental policy, and

All other invasive procedures and procedures requiring conscious sedation.

The individual Practitioner performing the procedure shall document history and physical
information specific to the procedure prior to starting the outpatient surgery/procedure. Where
required, a history and physical must be completed and documented in accordance with the
timeframes described above.

DURATION OF APPOINTMENT

3.4(a)

3.4(b)

3.4(c)

3.4(d)

Duration of Initial Appointments

All initial appointments to the Medical Staff shall be for a period not to exceed two (2) years. In
no case shall the Board take action on an application, refuse to renew an appointment, or cancel
an appointment, except as provided for herein. Appointment to the Medical Staff shall confer to
the appointee only such privileges as may hereinafter be provided.

Declaration of Moratorium

The Board may from time to time declare moratoriums in the granting of Medical Staff
privileges when the Board, in its discretion, deems such a moratorium to be in the best interest
of this Hospital and in the best interest of the health and patient care capable of being provided
by the Hospital and its Medical Staff. The aforementioned moratoriums may apply to
individual medical specialty groups, or any combination thereof. Prior to declaring a
moratorium, the Board will seek the input of the Medical Staff regarding the needs of the
Hospital and the patient community.

Reappointments

Reappointment to the Medical Staff shall be for a period not to exceed two (2) years.

Modification in Staff Category & Clinical Privileges

The MEC may recommend to the Board that a change in Medical Staff category of a current
Medical Staff member or the granting of additional privileges to a current Medical Staff

12
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member to be made in accordance with the procedures for initial appointment as outlined
herein.

LEAVE OF ABSENCE

3.5(a) Leave Status

3.5(b)

A Medical Staff member may obtain a voluntary leave of absence from the Medical Staff by
submitting a written request to the MEC stating the reason for the leave and the time period of
the leave, which may not exceed one (1) year. If the leave is granted, all rights and privileges of
Medical Staff membership shall be suspended from the beginning of the leave period until
reinstatement. If the Medical Staff member’s period of appointment ends while the member is
on leave, he/she must reapply for Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges. Any such
application must be submitted and shall be processed in the manner specified in these Bylaws
for applications for initial appointment.

Termination of Leave

@)

(2)

®3)

(4)

At least sixty (60) days prior to the termination of leave, or at any earlier time, the Medical
Staff member may request reinstatement of his/her privileges by submitting a written
notice to that effect to the Executive Director or his/her designee for transmittal to the
MEC. The Medical Staff member shall submit a written summary of his/her relevant
activities during the leave. The MEC shall make a recommendation to the Board
concerning the reinstatement of the member's privileges. Failure to request reinstatement
in a timely manner shall result in automatic termination of Medical Staff membership,
privileges and prerogatives without right of hearing or appellate review. Termination of
Medical Staff membership, privileges and prerogatives pursuant to this section shall not be
considered an adverse action, and shall not be reported to the Data Bank. A request for
Medical Staff membership subsequently received from a Medical Staff member so
terminated shall be submitted and processed in the manner specified for application for
initial appointments.

If a Medical Staff member requests leave of absence for the purpose of obtaining further
medical training, reinstatement will ordinarily become automatic upon request for same,
but only after the MEC has satisfied itself as to the continuing competency of the returning
Medical Staff member.

Any new privileges requested will be acted upon and monitored in similar fashion as if the
Medical Staff member were a new applicant.

Reinstatement will ordinarily be automatic if a leave of absence is for an armed services
commitment. However, if such a leave of absence occurs with no medical activity for
twelve (12) or more months, the MEC may require proof of competency by further
education, such as a refresher course, or appropriate monitoring for a period of time, or
both, to insure continuing competence.

If a Medical Staff member requests leave of absence for reasons other than further medical
training or an armed services commitment, the MEC may, prior to reinstatement, require
proof of competency by further education, such as a refresher course, or appropriate
monitoring for a period of time, or both, to insure continuing competence.
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ARTICLE IV
CATEGORIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFFE

CATEGORIES

The Medical Staff shall include Active, Courtesy, Consulting and Honorary categories. Qualifications,
prerogatives and responsibilities are outlined below. Failure to carry out the responsibilities or meet the
qualifications as enumerated shall be grounds for corrective action, including, but not limited to,
termination of Medical Staff membership.

ACTIVE STAFF

4.2(a) Qualifications

4.2(b)

The Active Staff shall consist of physicians, dentists, or podiatrists who:

)
(2)

©)

Meet the basic qualifications set forth in these Bylaws;

Have an office and/or residence located within 30 miles of the Hospital in order to be
continuously available for provision of care to his/her patients, with the exception of the
hospitalist, as determined by the Board unless requesting membership without privileges
or “refer and follow” privileges only; and

Regularly admit to, or are otherwise regularly involved in the care of at least 30 patients in
the Hospital in a calendar year. For purposes of determining whether a Practitioner is
"regularly involved" in the care of the requisite number of patients, a patient encounter or
contact shall be deemed to include any of the following: admission; consultation with
active participation in the patient's care; provision of direct patient care or intervention in
the Hospital setting; performance of any outpatient or inpatient surgical or diagnostic
procedure; interpretation of any inpatient or outpatient diagnostic procedure or test; or
admission or referral of a patient for inpatient care by a Hospitalist or other Practitioner.
When a patient has more than one procedure or diagnostic test performed or interpreted by
the same Practitioner during a single Hospital stay, the multiple tests for that patient shall
count as one patient contact.

Prerogatives

The prerogatives of an Active Staff member shall be:

@)

()

®3)
(4)

()

To admit patients without limitation unless seeking membership without privileges or
“refer and follow” privileges only, or unless otherwise provided in the Medical Staff
Bylaws and Rules & Regulations;

To exercise only such delineated clinical privileges as are granted to him/her pursuant to
Article VII;

To vote on all matters presented at general and special meetings of the Medical Staff;

To vote and hold office in the Medical Staff organization and departments and on
committees to which he/she is appointed; and

To vote in all Medical Staff elections.
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member.

4.2(c) Responsibilities

Each member of the Active Staff shall:
(1) Meet the basic responsibilities set forth in Section 3.3;

(2) Within

his/her area of professional competence, retain responsibility for the continuous

care and supervision of each patient in the Hospital for whom he/she is providing services,
or arrange a suitable alternative for such care and supervision; including an initial
assessment of all patients within twenty-four (24) hours of admission, and an initial
assessment of all patients in the intensive care/critical care unit no later than _12 hours
after admission or sooner if warranted by the patient’s condition;

(3) Actively participate*:

(i)

(i)
(iii)

(iv)

(v)

in the performance improvement program and other patient care evaluation and
monitoring activities required of the Medical Staff, and possess the requisite skill
and training for the oversight of care, treatment and services in the Hospital,

in supervision of other appointees where appropriate;

in the emergency department on-call rotation, as more specifically described in the
Medical Staff Rules & Regulations and as recommended by the MEC and ,
approved by the Board unless he/she holds membership without delineated
privileges or “refer and follow” privileges only, including personal appearance to
assess patients in the emergency department when deemed appropriate by the
emergency department physician; (Each Active Staff member must establish
current competence in and maintain a sufficient breadth of clinical privileges in
his/her specialty to meaningfully participate in emergency department
unassigned call as required in the Rules & Regulations of the Medical Staff.)

in promoting effective utilization of resources consistent with delivery of quality
patient care; and

in discharging such other Medical Staff functions as may be required from time-to-
time.

(4) Serve on at least one (1) Medical Staff committee, if appointed by the Chief of Staff; and

(5) Satisfy the requirements set forth in these Bylaws for attendance at meetings of the Medical
Staff and of the department and committees of which he/she is a member.

*Upon attaining the age of 65 and having served on the Active Medical Staff of a Hospital for a minimum of 20
years, including any years served on the active medical staff of any acute care hospital purchased, leased or
otherwise acquired by MUHA, or having served a minimum of 30 years on the active medical staff of a hospital
regardless of age, including any years served on the active medical staff of any acute care hospital purchased,
leased or otherwise acquired by MUHA, an Active Staff member may elect to become a Senior Active Staff
Senior Active Staff members shall retain all Active Staff privileges, but are not required to take
compulsory emergency call or serve on committees except by mutual agreement of a majority of the Active
Medical Staff and the Senior Active Staff member.
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COURTESY STAFFE

4.3(a) Qualifications

The Courtesy Staff shall consist of physicians, dentists, or podiatrists, who:

)
(2)

®3)

(4)

Meet the basic qualifications for Medical Staff membership set forth in these Bylaws;

Have an office and/or residence located within _45  miles of the Hospital in order to
provide continuous care for a hospitalized patient or arrange to have continuous coverage
of these patients by another member of the Medical Staff with privileges appropriate to the
treatment provided unless requesting membership without delineated privileges or “refer
and follow” privileges only;

Do not admit or regularly participate in the care of more than _30_patients in a calendar
year (the limitation on patient contacts shall not apply to contracted emergency department
physicians who reside outside the community); and

Are members of the Active Staff of another Joint Commission accredited hospital where
he/she actively participates in the performance improvement program, with the exception
of emergency room physicians who will participate in the Hospital Performance
Improvement Program.

4.3(b) Prerogatives

4.3(c)

The prerogatives of a Courtesy Staff member shall be to:

)

(2)
©)

(4)

Admit patients to the Hospital (excluding Emergency Room Physicians) within the
limitations provided in Section 4.3(a) unless requesting membership without delineated
privileges or “refer and follow” privileges only;

Exercise such clinical privileges as are granted to him/her pursuant to Article VII;

Attend meetings of the Medical Staff and any Medical Staff or Hospital education
programs; and

Serve on any of the standing committees as a voting member on matters of policies and
procedure, except that he/she shall be entitled to vote for Chairperson of any department,
and shall vote at a general Medical Staff meeting.

Responsibilities

Each member of the Courtesy Staff shall:

)
(2)

Discharge the basic responsibilities specified in Section 3.3;

Retain responsibility within his/her area of professional competence for the care and
supervision of each patient in the Hospital for who he/she is providing service; and
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(3) Satisfy the requirements set forth in these Bylaws for attendance at meetings of the
Medical Staff and of the committees of which he/she is a member.

CONSULTING STAFF

4.4(a) Qualifications

Consulting Staff shall consist of a special category of physicians each of whom is, because of

board certification, training and experience, recognized by the medical community as an

authority within his/her specialty.
4.4(b) Prerogatives

(1) Prerogatives of a Consulting Staff member shall be to:

(i) consult on patients within his/her specialty to the extent he/she holds delineated
clinical privileges to do so; and

(ii) attend all meetings of the Medical Staff and the applicable department that he/she
may wish to attend as a non-voting visitor.

(2) Consulting Staff members shall not hold office nor be eligible to vote in the Medical Staff
organization.

(3) Consulting Staff members with appropriate delineated clinical privileges may provide an
unlimited number of consultation reports/recommendations (without managing the direct
patient care) during a calendar year. Except where otherwise provided, Consulting Staff
members shall not admit patients to the Hospital, transfer patients from the Hospital, or act
as the physician of primary care or responsibility for any patient within the Hospital.

4.4(c) Responsibilities
Each member of the Consulting Staff shall assume responsibility for consultation, treatment and
appropriate documentation thereof with regard to his/her patients.

HONORARY STAFF

45(a) Qualifications

The Honorary and Retired Staff shall consist of physicians, dentists, or podiatrists who are not
active in the Hospital and who are honored by emeritus positions. These may be:

(1) Physicians who have retired from active Hospital services, but continue to demonstrate a
genuine concern for the Hospital; or

(2) Physicians of outstanding reputation in a particular specialty, whether or not a resident in
the community.

Honorary Staff members shall not be required to meet the qualifications set forth in Section
3.2(a) of these Bylaws.

4.5(b) Prerogatives

@ Prerogatives of an Honorary Staff member shall be:
(i) attending by invitation any such Medical Staff meetings that he/she may wish to
attend as a non-voting visitor.

2 Honorary Staff members shall not in any circumstances admit patients to the Hospital
or be the physician of primary care or responsibility for any patient within the Hospital.
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Honorary Staff members shall not hold office nor be eligible to vote in the Medical
Staff organization.

4.6 MODIFICATION IN STAFF CATEGORIES AND CLINICAL PRIVILEGES

The MEC may recommend to the Board that a change in Medical Staff category of a current Medical Staff
member be made in accordance with Article 4. In the event the Practitioner is not eligible for any other
category, his/her Medical Staff membership shall automatically terminate. No such transfer or termination shall
be subject to the provisions of the Fair Hearing Process.

June 2018 18
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ARTICLE V
AFFILIATED HEALTH PROFESSIONALS (AHP)

CATEGORIES

This article shall pertain only to Advanced Practice Affiliated Health Professionals (“AHPs”), that is,
those who are credentialed pursuant to the Medical Staff process as outlined in the definition of
“Affiliated Health Professional” herein. Clinical Assistants who are not Advanced Practice Allied
Health Professionals and who are not credentialed pursuant to the Medical Staff process shall be
governed by the applicable human resource policies of the Hospital. Affiliated Health Professionals
may be employed by physicians on the Medical Staff; but whether or not so employed, must be engaged
in practice under the direct supervision of or in collaboration with a Medical Staff physician who
maintains clinical privileges to perform procedures in the same specialty area as the AHP (with the
exception of CRNAs, who may be supervised by an anesthesiologist or other physician deemed
competent to supervise the administration of anesthesia as defined in the Medical Staff Rules and
Regulations).

QUALIFICATIONS

Only AHPs holding a license, certificate or other official credential as provided under South Carolina
state law, shall be eligible to provide specified services in the Hospital as delineated by the MEC and
reviewed and approved by the Board.

5.2(a) AHPs must:

(1) Document their professional experience, background, education, training, demonstrated
ability, current competence and physical and mental health status with sufficient adequacy
to demonstrate to the Medical Staff and the Board that any patient treated by them will
receive quality care and that they are qualified to provide needed services within the
Hospital,

(2) Establish, on the basis of documented references, that they adhere strictly to the ethics of
their respective profession, work cooperatively with others and are willing to participate in
the discharge of AHP Staff responsibilities;

(3) Have professional liability insurance in the amount required by these Bylaws;
(4) Provide a needed service within the Hospital; and

(5) Unless permitted by law and by the Hospital to practice independently, provide written
documentation that a Medical Staff appointee has assumed responsibility for the acts and
omissions of the AHP and responsibility for directing, collaborating with, and/or
supervising the AHP in the form of approved written scope of practice guidelines for PA-
Cs or written practice agreement for APRNSs, in accordance with the applicable scope of
professional practice authorized by state law.

PREROGATIVES

Upon establishing experience, training and current competence, AHPs, as identified in Section 5.1, shall
have the following prerogatives:
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5.3(a)

5.3(b)

To exercise independent professional judgment within the AHP’s area of competence and
applicable state practice, providing that a physician member of the Medical Staff has the
ultimate responsibility for patient care;

To perform those medical acts, tasks, or functions as provided for in SC state law and as
documented in the written practice agreements for APRNs or written scope of practice
guidelines for PA-Cs under physician supervision/collaboration;

5.3(c) To participate directly, including writing orders to the extent permitted by law, in the

5.3(d)

5.3(e)

management of patients in collaboration with and under the supervision or direction of an
attending physician member of the Medical Staff; and

To participate as appropriate in patient care evaluation and other quality assessment and
monitoring activities required of the Medical Staff and to discharge such other Medical Staff
functions as may be required from time-to-time.

Attend/ Participate, without voting rights, on Medical Staff committees and Medical Staff
meetings.

CONDITIONS OF APPOINTMENT

5.4(a)

5.4(b)

5.4(c)

AHPs shall be credentialed in the same manner as outlined in Article VI of the Medical Staff
Bylaws for credentialing of Practitioners. Each AHP shall be assigned to one (1) of the clinical
departments and shall be granted clinical privileges relevant to the care provided in that
department. The Board in consultation with the MEC shall determine the scope of the activities
which each AHP may undertake. Such determinations shall be furnished in writing to the AHP
and shall be final and non-appealable, except as specifically and expressly provided in these
Bylaws.

Appointment of AHP’s must be approved by the Board and may be terminated by the Board or
the Executive Director. Adverse actions or recommendations affecting AHP privileges and
their reduction or termination shall not be covered by the provisions of the Fair Hearing Plan.
However, the affected AHP shall have the right to request an appearance before the Credentials
Committee with an opportunity to rebut the basis for termination. Upon receipt of a written
request, the Credentials Committee shall afford the AHP an opportunity for an interview
concerning the AHP’s grievance. Before the interview, the AHP shall be informed of the
general nature and circumstances giving rise to the action, and the AHP may present
information relevant thereto at the interview. A record of the interview shall be made. The
Credentials Committee shall, after conclusion of the investigation, submit a written decision
simultaneously to the MEC and to the AHP.

The AHP shall have a right to appeal to the Board any decision rendered by the Credentials
Committee. Any request for appeal shall be required to be made within fifteen (15) days after
the date of the receipt of the Credentials Committee decision. The written request shall be
delivered to the Chief of Staff and shall include a brief statement of the reasons for the appeal.
If appellate review is not requested within such period, the AHP shall be deemed to have
accepted the action involved which shall thereupon become final and effective immediately
upon affirmation by the MEC and the Board. If appellate review is requested the Board shall,
within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of such an appeal notice, schedule and arrange for
appellate review. The Board shall give the AHP notice of the time, place and date of the
appellate review which shall not be less than fifteen (15) days nor more than ninety (90) days
from the date of the request for the appellate review. The appeal shall be in writing only, and
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5.4(d)

5.4(e)

the AHP’s written statement must be submitted at least five (5) days before the review. New
evidence and oral testimony will not be permitted. The Board shall thereafter decide the matter
by a majority vote of those Board members present during the appellate proceedings. A record
of the appellate proceedings shall be maintained.

AHP privileges shall automatically terminate upon revocation of the privileges of the AHP's
supervising/collaborative attending physician Medical Staff member, unless another qualified
attending physician indicates his/her willingness to supervise/collaborate with the AHP and
complies with all requirements hereunder for undertaking such supervision/collaboration. In the
event that an AHP's supervising/collaborating attending physician Medical Staff member's
privileges are significantly reduced or restricted, the AHP must obtain supervision/collaboration
agreement from another fully qualified and credentialed attending physician following relevant
Board of Medical Examiners and/or Board of Nursing requirements for the change in
supervising/collaborating physician, subject to review and approval of the MEC. Such actions
shall not be covered by the provisions of the Fair Hearing Plan. In the case of CRNAs who are
supervised by the operating surgeon, the CRNA’s privileges shall be unaffected by the
termination of a given surgeon’s privileges so long as other surgeons remain willing to
supervise the CRNA for purposes of their cases.

If the supervising/collaborating Practitioner employs or directly contracts with the AHP for
services, the Practitioner shall indemnify the Hospital and hold the Hospital harmless from and
against all actions, cause of actions, claims, damages, costs and expenses, including reasonable
attorney fees, resulting from, caused by or arising from improper or inadequate supervision of
and collaboration with the AHP, negligence of such AHP, the failure such AHP to satisfy the
standards of proper care of patients, or any action by such AHP beyond the scope of his/her
license or clinical privileges. If the supervising/collaborating Practitioner does not employ or
directly contract with the AHP, the Practitioner shall indemnify the Hospital and hold the
Hospital harmless from and against all actions, causes of action, claims, damages, costs and
expenses, including reasonable attorney fees, resulting from, caused by or arising from
improper or inadequate supervision of and collaboration with the AHP by the Practitioner in
question.

RESPONSIBILITIES

Each AHP shall:

5.5(a) Provide his/her patients with continuous care at the generally recognized professional level of
quality;

5.5(b) Abide by the Medical Staff Bylaws and other lawful standards, policies and Rules &
Regulations of the Medical Staff, and personnel policies of the Hospital, if applicable;

5.5(c) Discharge any committee functions for which he/she is responsible;

5.5(d) Cooperate with members of the Medical Staff and AHPs, Hospital administration, the Board,
and employees of the Hospital;

5.5(e) Adequately prepare and complete in a timely fashion the medical and other required records for
which he/she is responsible;

5.5(f) Participate in performance improvement activities and in continuing professional education;

5.5(g) Abide by the ethical principles of his/her profession and specialty; and
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5.5(h)

5.5(i)

5.5())

5.5(k)

5.5(1)

5.5(m)

Notify the Executive Director and the Chief of Staff within seven (7) days if:

(1) His/hers professional license or certification in any state is suspended or revoked, or if any
investigation, sanction or notice of intent to sanction or to revoke, suspend or modify
his/her license or certification;

(2) His/Her professional liability insurance is modified or terminated;

(3) He/She is named as a defendant, or is subject to a final judgment or settlement, in any court
proceeding alleging that he/she committed professional negligence or fraud; or

(4) Any criminal charges, other than minor traffic violations, are brought/initiated against
he/she; and any guilty pleas or convictions entered;

(5) He/she has been excluded, debarred, suspended, or otherwise declared ineligible from any
federal or state health care or procurement program, including Medicare and Medicaid, has
been convicted of a crime that meets the criteria for mandatory exclusion, debarment,
suspension or ineligibility from such programs, or is under investigation by any such
program;

(6) He/she is currently either voluntarily or involuntarily participating in any rehabilitation or
impairment program, or has ceased participation in such a program without successful
completion; and/or

(7) There has been a voluntary or involuntary limitation, reduction or loss of clinical privileges
on any medical staff (including relinquishment of such medical staff membership or clinical
privileges after an investigation of competence, professional conduct, or patient care
activities has commenced or to avoid such investigation; or receipt of sanction or notice of
intent to sanction from any peer review or professional review body).

Failure to provide any such notice, as required above, shall result in immediate loss of
Allied Health membership and clinical privileges, without right of fair hearing procedures.

Comply with all state and federal requirements for maintaining confidentiality of patient
identifying medical information, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act of 1996, as amended, and its associated regulations, and execute a health information
confidentiality agreement with the Hospital.

Consistent with generally recognized quality standards, deliver patient care in an efficient and
financially prudent manner, and adhere to local medical review policies with regard to
utilization;

Attest that he/she suffers from no health problems which could affect ability to perform the
functions of Allied Health membership and exercise the privileges requested prior to initial
exercise of privileges, and participate in the Hospital drug testing program;

Refuse to engage in improper inducements for patient referral; and

Refrain from engaging in business practices which are predatory or harmful to the Hospital or
the community.
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ARTICLE VI
PROCEDURES FOR APPOINTMENT & REAPPOINTMENT

GENERAL PROCEDURES

The Medical Staff through its designated committees and departments shall investigate and consider
each application for appointment or reappointment to the Medical Staff and each request for
modification of Medical Staff membership status and shall adopt and transmit recommendations thereon
to the Board which shall be the final authority on granting, extending, terminating or reducing Medical
Staff privileges. The Board shall be responsible for the final decision as to Medical Staff appointments.
A separate, confidential record shall be maintained for each individual requesting Medical Staff
membership or clinical privileges.

CONTENT OF APPLICATION FOR INITIAL APPOINTMENT

Each application for appointment to the Medical Staff shall be in writing, submitted on the prescribed
form approved by the Board, and signed by the applicant. A copy of all active state licenses, current
DEA registration/controlled substance certificate (for all Practitioners except pathologists and non-
invasive radiologists), a signed Medicare penalty statement and a certificate of insurance must be
submitted with the application. No application fee or Medical Staff dues shall be assessed. Applicants
shall supply the Hospital with all information requested on the application.

The application form shall include, at a minimum, the following:

(@ Acknowledgment & Agreement: A statement that the applicant has received and read the Bylaws,
Rules & Regulations and Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff and that he/she agrees:

(i) to be bound by the terms thereof if he/she is granted membership and/or clinical privileges;
and

(i) to be bound by the terms thereof in all matters relating to consideration of his/her
application, without regard to whether or not he/she is granted membership and/or clinical
privileges.

(b) Administrative Remedies: A statement indicating that the applicant agrees that he/she will exhaust
the administrative remedies afforded by these Bylaws before resorting to formal legal action,
should an adverse ruling be made with respect to his/her Medical Staff membership, Medical Staff
status, and/or clinical privileges;

(c) Criminal Charges: Any current criminal charges, except minor traffic violations, pending against
the applicant and any past convictions or pleas. The Practitioner shall acknowledge the Hospital’s
right to perform a background check at appointment, reappointment and any interim time when
reasonable suspicion has been shown;

(d) Fraud and Civil Judgments related to Medical Practice: Any allegations of civil or criminal fraud
pending against any applicant and any past allegations including their resolution and any
investigations by any private, federal or state agency concerning participation in any health
insurance program, including Medicare or Medicaid; and any civil judgments or settlements related
to the delivery of health care;

(e) Health Status: Evidence of current physical and mental health status only to the extent necessary to
demonstrate that the applicant is capable of performing the functions of Medical Staff membership
and exercising the privileges requested. In instances where there is doubt about an applicants’
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()

(9)

(h)
(i)

)

(k)

ability to perform privileges requested, an evaluation by an external or internal source may be
requested by the MEC or the Board,;

Program Participation: Information concerning the applicant’s current and/or previous
participation in any rehabilitation or impairment program, or termination of participation in such a
program without successful completion. In addition, the Practitioner shall have a continuing duty
to notify the MEC through the Executive Director or his/her designee of the initiation of
participation in any rehabilitation or impairment program. The Executive Director or his/her
designee shall be responsible for notifying the MEC of all such actions;

Information on Malpractice Experience: All information concerning malpractice cases against the
applicant either filed, pending, settled, or pursued to final judgment.

Education: Detailed information concerning the applicant’s education and training.

Insurance: Information as to whether the applicant has currently in force professional liability
coverage meeting the requirements of these Bylaws, together with a letter from the insurer stating
that the Hospital will be notified should the applicant's coverage change at any time.

Notification of Release and Immunity Provisions: Statements notifying the applicant of the scope
and extent of authorization, confidentiality, immunity and release provisions of Section 6.3(b) and

(©);

Professional Sanctions: Information as to previously successful or currently pending challenges to,
or the voluntary relinquishment of, any of the following:

(i) membership/fellowship in local, state or national professional organizations;
(ii) specialty board certifications;
(iii) license to practice any profession in any jurisdiction;

(iv) Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) number/controlled substance license (except
pathologists) Including any sanction or notice of intent to sanction or to revoke, suspend or
modify his/her DEA number/controlled substance license);

(v) Medical Staff membership or voluntary or involuntary limitation, reduction or loss of
clinical privileges (including relinquishment of such medical staff membership or clinical
privileges after an investigation of his competence, professional conduct, or patient care
activities has commenced or to avoid such investigation; and receipt of a sanction or notice
of intent to sanction from any peer review or professional review body); or

(vi) the applicant management of patients which may have given rise to investigation by the
state medical board and/or state nursing board, whichever is applicable; or

(vii) participation in any private, federal or state health care or procurement program, including
Medicare or Medicaid, including conviction of a crime that meets the criteria for
mandatory exclusion from such program, regardless of whether such exclusion has yet
become effective.

If any such actions were taken, the particulars thereof shall be obtained before the application is
considered complete.
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(1)

(m)

(n)

(0)

(p)
(@)

(r)
(s)

(t)

Qualifications: Detailed information concerning the applicant's experience and qualifications for
the requested Medical Staff category, including information in satisfaction of the basic
qualifications specified in Section 3.2(a), and the applicant's current professional license and
federal drug registration numbers;

References: The names of at least three (3) Practitioners (excluding partners, associates in practice,
employers, employees or relatives), who have worked with the applicant within the past three (3)
years and personally observed his/her professional performance and who are able to provide
knowledgeable peer recommendations as to the applicant's education, relevant training, experience,
clinical ability and current competence, ethical character and ability to exercise the privileges
requested and to work with others;

Request: Specific requests stating the Medical Staff category and specific clinical privileges for
which the applicant wishes to be considered,;

Practice Affiliations: The name and address of all other Hospitals, health care organizations or
practice settings with whom the applicant is or has previously been affiliated;

Photograph: A recent, wallet sized photograph of the applicant;

Managed Care Affiliations: The names of all HMQO’s, PPO’s and other managed care organizations
in which the applicant has participated in the past three (3) years;

Citizenship Status: Proof of United States citizenship or legal residency; and

Professional Practice Review Data: For all new applicants, AHPs, and Practitioners requesting new
or additional privileges, evidence of the applicant’s, AHPs, or Practitioner’s professional practice
review, volumes and outcomes from organization(s) that current privilege the applicant.

Continuing Education and Training: Evidence of satisfactory completion of continuing education
requirements and other MEC directed education or safety training as required by this Hospital,
which should be related to the physician’s specialty and to the provision of quality patient care in
the Hospital.

The applicant has a continuing duty to keep all of the above information updated and current.
Failure to update anything on the above list within forty-five (45) days of any change or action
while the application is pending shall result in a refusal to process the application, without Fair
Hearing Rights. Failure to update within forty-five (45) days during any period of appointment or
reappointment shall result in immediate loss of Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges at
the decree of the MEC, without right of fair hearing procedures.

PROCESSING THE APPLICATION

6.3(a) Request for Application

An applicant wishing to be considered for appointment or reappointment and clinical privileges
may obtain an application form therefore by submitting his/her written request for an
application form to the Executive Director or his/her designee.

6.3(b) Applicant’'s Burden

By submitting the application, the applicant:
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6.3(c)

(1) Signifies his/her willingness to appear for interviews and acknowledges that he/she shall
have the burden of producing adequate information for a proper evaluation of his/her
qualifications for Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges;

(2) Authorizes Hospital representatives to consult with others who have been associated with
him/her and/or who may have information bearing on his/her current competence and
qualifications;

(3) Consents to the inspection by Hospital representatives of all records and documents that
may be material to an evaluation of his/her licensure, specific training, experience, current
competence, health status and ability to carry out the clinical privileges he/she requests as
well as of his/her professional ethical qualifications for Medical Staff membership;

(4) Represents and warrants that all information provided by him/her is true, correct and
complete in all material respects, and agrees to notify the Hospital of any change in any of
the information furnished in the application;

(5) Acknowledges that provision of false or misleading information, or omission of
information, whether intentional or not, shall be grounds for immediate rejection of his/her
application without fair hearing rights;

(6) Acknowledges that, if he/she is determined to have knowingly made a misstatement,
misrepresentation, or omission in connection with an application and such misstatement,
misrepresentation, or omission is discovered after appointment and/or the granting of
clinical privileges, he/she shall be deemed to have immediately relinquished his/her
appointment and clinical privileges, without fair hearing rights;

(7) Pledges to provide continuous care for his/her patients treated in the Hospital; and

(8) Agrees to be bound by the statements described in Section 6.3(c).

Statement of Release & Immunity from Liability

The following are express conditions applicable to any applicant and to any person appointed to
the Medical Staff and to anyone having or seeking privileges to practice his/her profession in
the Hospital during his/her term of appointment or reappointment. In addition, these statements
shall be included on the application form, and by applying for appointment, reappointment or
clinical privileges the applicant expressly accepts these conditions during the processing and
consideration of his/her application, and at all times thereafter, regardless of whether or not
he/she is granted appointment or clinical privileges.

I hereby apply for Medical Staff appointment as requested in this application and, whether or
not my application is accepted; | acknowledge, consent and agree as follows:

As an applicant for appointment, | have the burden for producing adequate information for
proper evaluation of my qualifications. | also agree to update the Hospital with current
information regarding all questions contained in this application as such information becomes
available and any additional information as may be requested by the Hospital or its authorized
representatives. Failure to produce any such information will prevent my application for
appointment from being evaluated and acted upon. | hereby signify my willingness to appear
for the interview, if requested, in regard to my application.
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)

Information given in or attached to this application is accurate and complete to the best of my
knowledge. | fully understand and agree that as a condition to making this application, any
misrepresentations or misstatement in, or omission from it, whether intentional or not, shall
constitute cause for automatic and immediate rejection of this application, resulting in denial of
appointment and clinical privileges without fair hearing rights. | further acknowledge that if |
am reasonably determined to have knowingly made a misstatement, misrepresentation, or
omission in connection with an application that is discovered after appointment and/or the
granting of clinical privileges, | shall be deemed to have immediately relinquished my
appointment and clinical privileges without fair hearing rights.

If granted appointment, | accept the following conditions:

(1) I extend immunity to, and release from any and all liability, the Hospital, its authorized
representatives and any third parties, as defined in subsection (3) below, for any acts,
communications, recommendations or disclosures performed without intentional fraud or
malice involving me; performed, made, requested or received by this Hospital and its
authorized representatives to, from or by any third party, including otherwise privileged or
confidential information, relating, but not limited to, the following:

(i) applications for appointment or clinical privileges, including temporary privileges;
(ii) periodic reappraisals;

(iii) proceedings for suspension or reduction of clinical privileges or for denial or
revocation of appointment, or any other disciplinary action;

(iv) summary suspension;

(v) hearings and appellate reviews;

(vi) medical care evaluations;

(vii) utilization reviews;

(viii) any other Hospital, Medical Staff, department, service or committee activities;

(ix) inquiries concerning my professional qualifications, credentials, clinical
competence, character, mental or emotional stability, physical condition, criminal

history, ethics or behavior; and

(X) any other matter that might directly or indirectly impact or reflect on my
competence, on patient care or on the orderly operation of this or Hospital.

I specifically authorize the Hospital and its authorized representatives to consult with any third
party who may have information, including otherwise privileged or confidential information,
bearing on my professional qualifications, credentials, clinical competence, character, mental or
emotional stability, physical condition, criminal history, ethics, behavior or other matter bearing on
my satisfaction of the criteria for continued appointment to the Medical Staff, as well as to inspect
or obtain any all communications, reports, records, statements, documents, recommendations
and/or disclosure of said third parties relating to such questions. | also specifically authorize said
third parties to release said information to the Hospital and its authorized representatives upon
request.
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(3) The term “Hospital” and “its authorized representatives” means MUHA, the Hospital to which I am

applying and any of the following individuals who have any responsibility for obtaining or
evaluating my credentials, or acting upon my application or conduct in the Hospital: the members of
the Board and their appointed representatives, the Executive Director or his/her designees, other
Hospital employees, consultants to the Hospital, the Hospital’s attorney and his/her partners,
associates or designees, and all appointees to the Medical Staff. The term “third parties” means all
individuals, including appointees to the Medical Staff, and appointees to the Medical Staffs of other
Hospitals or other physicians or health practitioners, nurses or other government agencies,
organizations, associations, partnerships and corporations, whether Hospitals, health care facilities
or not, from whom information has been requested by the Hospital or its authorized representatives
or who have requested such information from the Hospital and its authorized representatives.

I acknowledge that: (1) Medical Staff appointments at this Hospital are not a right; (2) my request
will be evaluated in accordance with prescribed procedures defined in these Bylaws and Rules &
Regulations; (3) all Medical Staff recommendations relative to my application are subject to the
ultimate action of the Board whose decision shall be final; (4) I have the responsibility to keep this
application current by informing the Hospital through the Executive Director, of any change in the
areas of inquiry contained herein; and (5) appointment and continued clinical privileges remain
contingent upon my continued demonstration of professional competence and cooperation, my
general support of the acceptable performance of all responsibilities related thereto, as well as other
factors that are relevant to the effective and efficient operation of the Hospital. Appointment and
continued clinical privileges shall be granted only on formal application, according to the Hospital
and these Bylaws and Rules & Regulations, and upon final approval of the Board.

I understand that before this application will be processed that: (1) | will be provided a copy of the
Medical Staff Bylaws and such Hospital policies and directives as are applicable to appointees to
the Medical Staff, including these Bylaws and Rules & Regulations of the Medical Staff presently
in force; and (2) | must sign a statement acknowledging receipt and an opportunity to read the
copies and agreement to abide by all such Bylaws, policies, directives and rules and regulations as
are in force, and as they may thereafter be amended, during the time | am appointed to the Medical
Staff or exercise clinical privileges at the Hospital.

If appointed or granted clinical privileges, | specifically agree to: (1) refrain from fee-splitting or
other inducements relating to patient referral; (2) refrain from delegating responsibility for
diagnosis or care of hospitalized patient to any other practitioner or AHP who is not qualified to
undertake this responsibility or who is not adequately supervised; (3) refrain from deceiving
patients as to the identity of any practitioner or AHP providing treatment or services; (4) seek
consultation whenever necessary; (5) abide by generally recognized ethical principles applicable to
my profession; (6) provide continuous care and supervision as needed to all patients in the Hospital
for whom | have responsibility; and (7) accept committee assignment and such other duties and
responsibilities as shall be assigned to me by the Board and Medical Staff.

6.3(d) Submission of Application & Verification of Information

Upon completion of the application form and attachment of all required information, the
Applicant shall submit the form to the Executive Director or his/her designee. The application
shall be returned to the applicant and shall not be processed further if one (1) or more of the
following applies:

(1) Not Licensed. The applicant is not licensed in this state to practice in a field of health care
eligible for appointment to the Medical Staff; or
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(2) Privileges Denied or Terminated. Within one (1) year immediately preceding the request,
the applicant has had his/her application for Medical Staff appointment at this Hospital
denied, has resigned his/her Medical Staff appointment at this Hospital during the
pendency of an active investigation which could have led to revocation of his/her
appointment, or has had his/her appointment revoked or terminated at this Hospital; or had
an application rejected as a result of fraudulent conduct, misrepresentations in the
application process, or other basis involving dishonesty; or

(3) Exclusive Contract or Moratorium. The applicant practices a specialty which is the subject
of a current written exclusive contract for coverage with the Hospital or a moratorium has
been imposed by the Board upon acceptance of applications within the applicant’s
specialty; or

(4) Inadequate Insurance. The practitioner does not meet the liability insurance coverage
requirements of these Bylaws; or

(5) Ineligible for Medicare Provider Status. The practitioner has been excluded, suspended or
debarred, or otherwise declared ineligible from any state or federal health care program or
procurement program, or is currently the subject of a pending investigation by any such
program or has been convicted of a crime that meets the criteria for mandatory exclusion
(regardless of whether the provider has yet been excluded, debarred, suspended or
otherwise declared ineligible; or

(6) No DEA number. The practitioner’s DEA number/controlled substance license has been
revoked or voluntarily relinquished (this section shall not apply to pathologists or non-
invasive radiologists); or

(8) Continuous Care Requirement. For applicants to Active or Courtesy Staff, failure to
maintain an office or residence within 30/45 miles of the Hospital.

(9) Application Incomplete. The applicant as failed to provide any information required by
these Bylaws or requested on the application or has failed to execute an acknowledgment,
agreement or release required by these Bylaws or included in the application; or

(9) Electronic Health Record Education/Training: The applicant has failed to complete
education in accordance with a facility approved curriculum related to electronic clinical
information systems, or fails to appropriately utilize the Electronic Health Record as
outlined in more detail in the Electronic Health Record Policy of this Hospital.

The refusal to further process an application form for any of the above reasons shall not entitle
the applicant to any further procedural rights under these Bylaws.

In the event that none of the above apply to the application, the Executive Director or his/her
designee shall promptly seek to collect or verify the references, licensure and other evidence
submitted. The Executive Director or his/her designee shall promptly notify the applicant, via
special notice, of any problems in obtaining the information required and it shall then be the
applicant's obligation to ensure that the required information is provided within two (2) weeks
of receipt of such notification. Verification shall be obtained from primary sources whenever
feasible. Licensure shall be verified with the primary source at the time of appointment and
initial granting of privileges, at reappointment or renewal or revision of clinical privileges, and
at the time of expiration by a letter or computer printout obtained from the appropriate licensing
board. Verification of current licensure through the primary source internet site or by telephone
is also acceptable so long as verification is documented. When collection and verification are
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6.3(e)

6.3(f)

6.3(9)

6.3(h)

accomplished, the application and all supporting materials shall be transmitted to the
Chairperson of the applicable department. An application shall not be deemed complete nor
shall final action on the application be taken until verification of all information, including
query of the Data Bank, is complete.

Description of Initial Clinical Privileges

Medical Staff appointments or reappointments shall not confer any clinical privileges or rights
to practice in the Hospital. Each Practitioner who is appointed to the Medical Staff of the
Hospital shall be entitled to exercise only those clinical privileges specifically granted by the
Board. The clinical privileges recommended to the Board shall be based upon the applicant's
education, training, experience, past performance, demonstrated competence and judgment,
references and other relevant information. The applicant shall have the burden of establishing
his/her qualifications for, and competence to exercise the clinical privileges he/she requests.

Credentials Committee Action

Within thirty (30) days of receiving the completed application, the members of the Credentials
Committee shall review the application, the supporting documentation and other information
available as may be relevant to consideration of the applicant’s qualifications for the Medical
Staff category and clinical privileges requested. The Credentials Committee shall transmit to
the MEC on the prescribed form a written report and recommendation as to Medical Staff
appointment and, if appointment is recommended, clinical privileges to be granted and any
special conditions to be attached to the appointment. The Credentials Committee also may
recommend that the MEC defer action on the application. The reason for each recommendation
shall be stated and supported by references to the completed application and all other
information considered by the committee. Documentation shall be transmitted with the report.
Any minority views shall also be in writing, supported by explanation, references and
documents, and transmitted with the majority report.

Medical Executive Committee Action

At its next regular meeting after receipt of the Credentials Committee recommendation, but no
later than thirty (30) days, the MEC shall consider the recommendation and other relevant
information available to it. Where there is doubt about an applicant’s ability to perform the
privileges requested, the MEC may request an additional evaluation. The MEC shall make
specific findings as to the applicant’s satisfaction of the requirements of experience, ability, and
current competence as set forth in Section 6.3(0). The MEC shall then forward to the Board a
written report on the prescribed form concerning Medical Staff recommendations and, if
appointment is recommended, Medical Staff category and clinical privileges to be granted and
any special conditions to be attached to the appointment. The MEC also may defer action on
the application. The reasons for each recommendation shall be stated and supported by
reference to the completed application and other information considered by the committee.
Documentation shall be transmitted with the report. Any minority views shall also be reduced
to writing, supported by reasons, references and documents, and transmitted with the majority
report.

Effect of Medical Executive Committee Action

(1) Deferral: Action by the MEC to defer the application for further consideration must be
followed up within ninety (90) days with a recommendation for appointment with specified
clinical privileges or for rejection of the application. An MEC decision to defer an
application shall include specific reference to the reasons therefore and shall describe any
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additional information needed. If additional information is required from the applicant,
he/she shall be so notified, and he/she shall then bear the burden of providing same.

(2) Favorable Recommendation: When the recommendation of the MEC is favorable to the
applicant, the Executive Director or his/her designee shall promptly forward it, together
with all supporting documentation, to the Board. For purposes of this section, "all
supporting documentation” generally shall include the application form and its
accompanying information and the report and recommendation of the Department
Chairperson.

(3) Adverse Recommendation: When the recommendation of the MEC is adverse to the
applicant, the Executive Director or his/her designee shall immediately inform the
applicant by special notice which shall specify the reason or reasons for denial and the
applicant then shall be entitled to the procedural rights as provided in the Fair Hearing
Plan, or for AHPs the procedure outlined in 5.4(b). The applicant shall have an
opportunity to exercise his/her procedural rights prior to submission of the adverse
recommendation to the Board. For the purpose of this section, an "adverse
recommendation” by the MEC is defined as denial of appointment, or denial or restriction
of requested clinical privileges. Upon completion of the Fair Hearing process, the Board
shall act in the matter as provided in the Fair Hearing Plan, or for AHPs the procedure
outlined in 5.4(b).

6.3(i) Board Action

(1) Decision; Deadline. The Board shall act upon the recommendation at its next scheduled
meeting, or may defer action if additional information or clarification of existing
information is needed, or if verification is not yet complete.

The Board may accept, reject or modify the MEC recommendation. The Board may
appoint a committee consisting of at least two (2) Board members to review the
recommendations received from the MEC. If the committee returns a positive decision
concerning the application, the full Board shall ratify that decision at its next regular
meeting. If the committee returns a negative decision concerning the application, the
application shall be returned to the MEC for further recommendation prior to a final action
by the Board.

The expedited process may not be used in the following circumstances:

Q) the applicant submits an incomplete application;

(i) the MEC makes a recommendation that is adverse or with limitation;

(i) there is a current challenge or a previously successful challenge to licensure or
registration;

(iv) the applicant has received an involuntary termination of medical staff
membership at another organization;

(V) the applicant has received involuntary limitation, reduction, denial or loss of
clinical privileges; or

(vi) there has been a final judgment adverse to the applicant in a professional
liability action.

Any of the above circumstances will require review and consideration by the full Board.

In either case, and in situations in which no committee has been appointed, the Secretary of
the Board shall reduce full Board’s the decision to writing and shall set forth therein the
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6.3(j)

6.3(k)

6.3(1)

reasons for the decision. The Board shall make specific findings as to the applicant’s
satisfaction of the requirements of experience, ability, and current competence as set forth
in Section 6.3(0). The written decision shall not disclose any information which is or may
be protected from disclosure to the applicant under applicable laws. The Board shall make
every reasonable effort to render its decision within sixty (60) days following receipt of the
MEC’s recommendation.

(2) Favorable Action. In the event that the Board’s decision is favorable to the applicant, such
decision shall constitute final action on the application. The Executive Director or his/her
designee shall promptly inform the applicant that his/her application has been granted. The
decision to grant Medical Staff appointment or reappointment, together with all requested
clinical privileges, shall constitute a favorable action even if the exercise of clinical
privileges is made contingent upon monitoring, proctoring, periodic drug testing, additional
education concurrent with the exercise of clinical privileges, or any similar form of
performance improvement that does not materially restrict the applicant’s ability to
exercise the requested clinical privileges.

(3) Adverse Action. In the event that the MEC’s recommendation was favorable to the
applicant, but the Board’s action is adverse, the applicant shall be entitled to the procedural
rights specified in the Fair Hearing Plan, or for AHPs, the procedure outlined in 5.4(b).
The Executive Director or his/her designee shall immediately deliver to the applicant by
special notice, a letter enclosing the Board’s written decision and containing a summary of
the applicant’s rights as specified in the Fair Hearing Plan, or for AHPs, the procedure
outlined in 5.4(b).

Under no circumstances shall any applicant be entitled to more than one (1) evidentiary
hearing under the Fair Hearing Plan based upon an adverse action.

Interview
An interview may be scheduled with the applicant during any of the steps set out in Section
6.3(f) - 6.3(j). Failure to appear for a requested interview without good cause may be grounds

for denial of the application.

Reapplication After Adverse Appointment Decision

An applicant who has received a final adverse decision regarding appointment shall not be
considered for appointment to the Medical Staff for a period of one (1) year after notice of such
decision is sent, or until the defect constituting the grounds for the adverse decision is corrected,
whichever is later. An applicant who has received a final adverse decision as a result of
fraudulent conduct, misrepresentations in the application process, or other basis involving
dishonesty shall not be permitted to reapply for a period of five (5) years after notice of the final
adverse decision is sent. Any reapplication shall be processed as an initial application and the
applicant shall submit such additional information as the Medical Staff or the Board may
require. For purposes of this section, “final adverse decision” shall include denial after exercise
or waiver of fair hearing rights and/or rejection or refusal to further process an application (or
relinquishment of privileges) due to the applicant’s provision of false or misleading information
on, or the omission of information from, the application materials.

Time Periods for Processing

Applications for Medical Staff appointments shall be considered in a timely and good faith
manner by all individuals and groups required by these Bylaws to act thereon and, except for
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6.3(m)

6.3(n)

good cause, shall be processed within the time periods specified in this section. The Executive
Director or his/her designee shall transmit a completed application to the credentials committee
upon completing his/her verification tasks, but in any event within ninety (90) days after
receiving the completed application, unless the applicant has failed to provide requested
information needed to complete the verification process.

Denial for Hospital's Inability to Accommodate Applicant

A decision by the Board to deny Medical Staff membership, Medical Staff category assignment
or particular clinical privileges based on any of the following criteria shall not be deemed to be
adverse and shall not entitle the applicant to the procedural rights provided in the Fair Hearing
Plan:

(1) On the basis of the Hospital's present inability to provide adequate facilities or supportive
services for the applicant and his/her patients as supported by documented evidence; or

(2) On the basis of inconsistency with the Hospital's current services plan, including duly
approved privileging criteria and mix of patient services to be provided; or

(3) On the basis of professional contracts the Hospital has entered into for the rendition of
services within various specialties.

However, upon written request of the applicant, the application shall be kept in a pending status
for the next succeeding two (2) years. If during this period, the Hospital finds it possible to
accept applications for Medical Staff positions for which the applicant is eligible, and the
Hospital has no obligation to applicants with prior pending status, the Executive Director or
his/her designee shall promptly so inform the applicant of the opportunity by special notice.

Within thirty (30) days of receipt of such notice, the applicant shall provide, in writing on the
prescribed form, such supplemental information as is required to update all elements of his/her
original application. Thereafter, the procedure provided in Section 6.2 for initial appointment
shall apply.

Appointment Considerations

Each recommendation concerning the appointment of a Medical Staff member and/or for
clinical privileges to be granted shall be based upon an evidence-based assessment of the
applicant’s experience, ability, and current competence by the Credentials Committee, MEC
and Board, including assessment of the applicant’s proficiency in areas such as the following:

@ Patient Care with the expectation that applicant provide patient care that is
compassionate, appropriate and effective;

(2 Medical/Clinical Knowledge of established and evolving biomedical clinical and
social sciences, and the application of the same to patient care and educating others;

3 Practice-Based Learning and Improvement through demonstrated use and reliance
on scientific evidence, adherence to practice guidelines, and evolving use of science,
evidence and experience to improve patient care practices;

4) Interpersonal and Communication Skills that enable establishment and maintenance

of professional working relationships with patients, patient’s families, members of the
Medical Staff, Hospital Administration and employees, and others;
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(5) Professional behaviors that reflect a commitment to continuous professional
development, ethical practice, an understanding and sensitivity to diversity, and a
responsible attitude to patients, the medical profession and society; and

(6) Systems-Based Practice reflecting an understanding of the context and systems in
which health care is provided.

REAPPOINTMENT PROCESS

6.4(a)

6.4(b)

Information Form for Reappointment

At least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration date of an applicant’s present Medical Staff
appointment, the Executive Director or his/her designee shall provide the applicant a
reapplication form for use in considering reappointment.  The Medical Staff member who
desires reappointment shall, at least sixty (60) days prior to such expiration date, complete the
reapplication form by providing updated information with regard to his/her practice during the
previous appointment period, and shall forward his/her reapplication form to the Executive
Director or his/her designee. Returned reappointment forms shall include payment of biannual
dues in such amount as established by the Active Medical Staff from time to time. Failure to
return a completed application form shall result in automatic termination of membership at the
expiration of the Medical Staff member's current term.

Content of Reapplication Form

The Reapplication Form shall include, at a minimum, updated information regarding the
following:

(1) Education: Continuing training, education, and experience during the preceding
appointment period that qualifies the Medical Staff member for the privileges sought on
reappointment;

(2) License: Current licensure;

(3) Health Status: Current physical and mental health status only to the extent necessary to
determine the applicant’s ability to perform the functions of Medical Staff membership or
to exercise the privileges requested,

(4) Program Participation: Information concerning the applicant’s current and /or previous
participation in any rehabilitation or impairment program, or termination of participation
in such program without successful completion.

(5) Previous Affiliations: The name and address of any other health care organization or
practice setting where the Medical Staff member provided clinical services during the
preceding appointment period;

(6) Professional Recognition: Memberships, awards or other recognitions conferred or granted
by any professional health care societies, institutions or organizations during the preceding
appointment period;

(7) Professional Sanctions: Information as to previously successful or currently pending
challenges to, or the voluntary relinquishment of, any of the following during the preceding
appointment period:
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(i) membership/fellowship in local, state or national professional organizations; or
(ii) specialty board certification; or
(iii) license to practice any profession in any jurisdiction; or

(iv) Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA) number/controlled substance license (including
any sanction or notice of intent to sanction or to revoke, suspend or modify his/her
DEA number/controlled substance license); or

(v) Medical Staff membership or voluntary or involuntary limitation, reduction or loss
of clinical privileges (including relinquishment of such Medical Staff membership
or clinical privileges after an investigation of competence, professional conduct, or
patient care activities has commenced or to avoid such investigation; or receipt of a
sanction or notice of intent to sanction from any peer review or professional review
body); or

(vi) the applicant’s management of patients which may have been given rise to
investigation by the state board; or

(vii) participation in any private, federal or state health care or procurement program,
including Medicare or Medicaid, including conviction of a crime that meets the
criteria for mandatory exclusion from such program, regardless of whether such
exclusion has yet become effective.

If any such actions were taken, the particulars thereof shall be obtained before the application is
considered complete.

(8) Information on Malpractice Experience: All information concerning malpractice cases
against the applicant either filed, pending, or pursued to final judgment.

(9) Criminal Charges: Any current criminal charges pending against the applicant, including
any federal and/or state criminal convictions related to the delivery of health care, and any
convictions or pleas during the preceding appointment period. This includes any arrests
related to the use, misuse or abuse of drugs or alcohol including DUIs and DWIs;

(10) Fraud and Civil Judgments related to Medical Practice: Any allegations of civil or
criminal fraud pending against any applicant and any allegations resolved during the
preceding appointment period, as well as any investigations during the preceding
appointment period by any private, federal or state agency concerning participation in any
health insurance program, including Medicare or Medicaid during the preceding
appointment period and any civil judgments or settlements related to the delivery of health
care;

(11) Managed Care Affiliations: The names of all HMO’s, PPO’s and other managed care
organizations in which the applicant has participated in the past three (3) years during the
preceding appointment period,;

(12) Insurance: Information as to whether the applicant has currently in force professional
liability coverage meeting the requirements of these Bylaws, together with a letter from the
insurer stating that the Hospital will be notified should the applicant’s coverage change at
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(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

any time. Each Practitioner must, at all times, keep the Executive Director informed of
changes in his/her professional liability coverage;

Current Competency: Objective evidence of the individual's clinical performance,
competence, and judgment, based on the findings of departmental evaluations of care,
including, but not limited to an evaluation by one (1) other Medical Staff member who is
not a partner, employer, employee or relative of the applicant or two (2) Medical Staff
members who are not partners, employers or employees, or relatives, and results from the
performance improvement process of the Medical Staff. Such evidence shall include as the
results of the applicant’s ongoing practice review, including data comparison to peers, core
measures, outcomes, and focused review outcomes during the prior period of appointment.
Applicants who have not actively practiced in this Hospital during the prior appointment
period will have the burden of providing evidence of the applicant professional practice
review, volumes and outcomes from organizations that currently privilege the applicant
and where the applicant has actively practiced during the prior period of appointment.

Applicant who refer their patients to a Hospitalist for inpatient treatment may satisfy this
requirement by producing the above information in the form of quality profiles from other
facilities where the applicant has actively practiced during the prior appointment period;
quality profiles from managed care organizations with whom the applicant has been
associated during the prior appointment period, or by submitting relevant medical record
documentation from his/her office or other practice locations that demonstrates current
competency for the privileges he/she is seeking  applicants who refer their patients to a
Hospitalist for inpatient treatment shall have a written evaluation from the Hospitalist or
Hospitalists treating their patients. The Hospitalist must complete the Physician
Reappointment Profile Hospitalist Addendum. The Hospitalist shall provide his/her
evaluation of the applicant’s care based upon consultation and interaction with the
applicant with regard to the applicant Hospitalized patients. The Hospitalist shall provide
his/her opinion as to the applicant’s current competency based upon the condition of the
Practitioner's patients upon admission or readmission to the Hospital, with particular
emphasis on any readmission related to complications of a previous admission;

Notification of Release & Immunity Provisions: The acknowledgments and statement of
release set forth in Sections 6.3(b) and (c);

Information on Ethics/Qualifications: Such other specific information about the Medical
Staff member's professional ethics and qualifications that may bear on his/her ability to
provide patient care in the Hospital; and

References: At the request of the Credentials Committee, the MEC, or the Board, when
based on the opinion of the same, there is insufficient data concerning the applicant’s
exercise of privileges in this Hospital during the preceding term of appointment to base a
reasonable evaluation, the names of at least three (3) Practitioners (excluding partners,
associates in practice, employers, employees or relatives), who have worked with the
applicant within the past two (2) years and personally observed his/her professional
performance and who are able to provide knowledgeable peer recommendations as to the
applicant's education, relevant training and experience, clinical ability and current
competence, ethical character and ability to exercise the privileges requested and to work
with others.

Continuing Education and Training: Evidence of satisfactory completion of continuing
education requirements and other MEC directed education or safety training as required
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6.4(c)

6.4(d)

6.4(e)

by this Hospital, which should be related to the physician’s specialty and to the provision
of quality patient care in the Hospital.

The applicant has a continuing duty to keep all of the above information updated and current.
Failure to update anything on the above list within seven (7) days of any change or action while
the application is pending shall result in a refusal to process the application, without Fair
Hearing Rights. Failure to update within seven (7) days during any period of appointment or
reappointment shall result in immediate loss of medical Medical Staff membership and clinical
privileges, without right of fair hearing procedures.

Verification of Information

The Executive Director or his/her designee shall, in timely fashion, verify the additional
information made available on each Reapplication Form and collect any other materials or
information deemed pertinent, including information regarding the Medical Staff member's
professional activities, performance and conduct in the Hospital and the query of the Data Bank.
Peer recommendations will be collected and considered in the reappointment process. When
collection and verification are accomplished, the Executive Director or his/her designee shall
transmit the Reapplication Form and supporting materials to the Chairperson of the appropriate
department. An application shall not be deemed complete nor shall final action on the
application be taken until verification of all information, including query of the Data Bank, is
complete.

Action on Application

The application for reappointment shall thereafter be processed as set forth as described in
Section 6.3(f) - 6.3(m) for initial appointment; except that an individual whose application for
reappointment is denied shall not be permitted to reapply for a period of five (5) years or until
the defect constituting the basis for the adverse action is corrected, whichever is later. Any
reapplication shall be processed as an initial application and the applicant shall submit such
additional information as the Medical Staff or the Board may require.

Basis for Recommendations

Each recommendation concerning the reappointment of a Medical Staff member and the clinical
privileges to be granted upon reappointment shall be based upon an evaluation of the
considerations described in Section 6.3(0) as they impact upon determinations regarding the
member's professional performance, ability and clinical judgment in the treatment of patients,
his/her discharge of Medical Staff obligations, including participation in continuing medical
education, his/her compliance with the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules & Regulations, his/her
cooperation with other Practitioners and AHPs and with patients, results of the Hospital
monitoring and evaluation process, including Practitioner and AHPs -specific information
compared to aggregate information from Performance Improvement activities which consider
criteria directly related to quality of care, and other matters bearing on his/her ability and
willingness to contribute to quality patient care in the Hospital.

REQUEST FOR MODIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT

A Medical Staff member may, either in connection with reappointment or at any other time, request

modification of his/her Medical Staff category or clinical privileges, by submitting the request in writing
to the Executive Director. Such request shall be processed in substantially the same manner as provided
in Section 6.4 for reappointment. No Medical Staff member may seek modification of privileges or
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Medical Staff category previously denied on initial appointment or reappointment unless supported by
documentation of additional training and experience.

PRACTITIONERS PROVIDING CONTRACTUAL PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

6.6(a)

6.6(b)

Qualifications & Processing

A Practitioner, including an AHP, who is providing contract services to the Hospital must meet
the same qualifications for membership; must be processed for appointment, reappointment, and
clinical privilege delineation in the same manner; must abide by the Medical Staff Bylaws and
Rules & Regulations and must fulfill all of the obligations for his/her membership category as
any other applicant or Medical Staff member.

Requirements for Service

In approving any such Practitioners or AHPs for Medical Staff membership, the Medical Staff
must require that the services provided meet Joint Commission requirements, are subject to
appropriate quality controls, and are evaluated as part of the overall Hospital quality assessment
and improvement program.

6.6 (c) Terminations

Unless otherwise provided in the contract for services, expiration or termination of any
exclusive contract for services pursuant to this Section 6.6 shall automatically result in
concurrent termination of Medical Staff membership and clinical privileges. The Fair Hearing
does not apply in this case.
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ARTICLE VII
DETERMINATION OF CLINICAL PRIVILEGES

EXERCISE OF PRIVILEGES

Every Practitioner providing direct clinical services at this Hospital shall, in connection with such
practice and except as provided in Section 7.5, be entitled to exercise only those clinical privileges or
services specifically granted to him/her by the Board. Said privileges must be within the scope of the
license authorizing the Practitioner to practice in this state and consistent with any restrictions thereon.
The Board shall approve the list of specific privileges and limitations for each category of Practitioner,
and each Practitioner shall bear the burden of establishing his/her qualifications to exercise each
individual privilege granted.

DELINEATION OF PRIVILEGES IN GENERAL

7.2(a)

7.2(b)

7.2(c)

Requests

Each application for appointment and reappointment to the Medical Staff must contain a request
for the specific clinical privileges desired by the applicant. The request for specific privileges
must be supported by documentation demonstrating the Practitioner’s qualifications to exercise
the privileges requested. In addition to meeting the general requirements of these Bylaws for
Medical Staff membership, each Practitioner must provide documentation establishing that
he/she meets the requirements for training, education and current competence set forth in any
specific credentialing criteria applicable to the privileges requested. A request by a Medical
Staff member for a modification of privileges must be supported by documentation supportive
of the request, including at least one (1) peer reference.

Basis for Privileges Determination

Granting of clinical privileges shall be based upon community and Hospital need, available
facilities, equipment and number of qualified support personnel and resources as well as on the
Practitioner's education, training, current competence, including documented experience
treatment areas or procedures; the results of treatment; and the conclusions drawn from
performance improvement activities, when available. For Practitioners who have not actively
practiced in the Hospital within the prior appointment period, information regarding current
competence shall be obtained in the manner outlined in Section 6.4(b) (12) herein. In addition,
those Practitioners seeking new, additional or renewed clinical privileges (except those seeking
emergency privileges) must meet all criteria for Medical Staff membership as described in
Article VI of these Bylaws, including a query of the National Practitioner Data Bank, if
applicable. When privilege delineation is based primarily on experience, the individual's
credentials record should reflect the specific experience and successful results that form the
basis for granting of privileges, including information pertinent to judgment, professional
performance and clinical or technical skills. Clinical privileges granted or modified on pertinent
information concerning clinical performance obtained from other health care institutions or
practice settings shall be added to and maintained in the Medical Staff file established for a
Medical Staff member or AHP.

Procedure
All requests for clinical privileges shall be evaluated and granted, modified or denied pursuant

to the procedures outlined in Article VI and shall be granted for a period not to exceed two (2)
years. The Data Bank shall be queried each time new privileges are requested.
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7.2(d) Limitations on Privileges

The delineation of an individual's clinical privileges shall include the limitations, if any, on an
individual's prerogatives to admit and treat patients or direct the course of treatment for the
conditions for which the patients were admitted.

7.2(e) Initial and Additional Grants of Privileges

All initial appointments and grants of new or additional privileges to existing members of the
Medical Staff shall be subject to a period of focused professional practice evaluation for a
period of not less than six (6) months. The period of review may be renewed for additional
periods up to the conclusion of the member’s period of initial appointment or initial grant of
new or additional privileges. Results of the focused professional practice evaluation conducted
during the period of focused review shall be incorporated into the Practitioner’s evaluation for
reappointment.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS FOR DENTAL PRIVILEGES

Requests for clinical privileges from dentists and oral surgeons shall be processed, evaluated and
granted in the manner specified in Article VI. Surgical procedures performed by dentists and oral
surgeons shall be under the overall supervision of the Chief of Surgery, however, other dentists and/or
oral surgeons shall participate in the review of the Practitioner through the performance improvement
process. All dental patients shall receive the same basic medical appraisal as patients admitted for other
surgical services. A physician member of the Medical Staff shall be responsible for admission
evaluation, history and physical, and for the care of any medical problem that may be present at the time
of admission or that may be discovered during hospitalization, and shall determine the risk and effect of
the proposed surgical procedure on the total health status of the patient.

CLINICAL PRIVILEGES HELD BY NON-MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERS

7.4(a) Temporary Privileges — Important Patient Care need — Pending Application

Temporary privileges may be granted when there is an important patient care, treatment, or
service need that mandates an immediate authorization to practice, for a limited period of time,
to a new applicant with a fully completed, fully verified application that raises no concerns
following review and recommendation by the Chief of Staff and pending MEC review and
Board approval. “New applicant” includes an individual applying for clinical privileges at the
Hospital for the first time and an individual currently holding clinical privileges who is
requesting one or more additional privileges.

In these cases only, the Executive Director or his/her designee, upon recommendation of the
Chief of Staff may grant such privileges upon establishment of current competence for the
privileges requested, completion of the appropriate application, consent, and release, proof of
current licensure, DEA certificate, appropriate malpractice insurance, and completion of the
required Data Bank query, and upon verification that there are no current or prior successful
challenges to licensure or registration, that the Practitioner has not been subject to involuntary
termination of Medical Staff membership at another facility, and likewise has not been subject
to involuntary limitation, reduction, denial, or loss of clinical privileges at another facility. Such
privileges may be granted for no more than one hundred and twenty (120) days of service.
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7.4(b)

The letter approving temporary privileges shall identify the specific privileges granted. Except
as provided above, temporary privileges may not be granted pending processing of applications
for appointment or reappointment.

Temporary Privileges — Important Patient Care Need — No Pending Application

Temporary privileges may be granted by the Executive Director upon recommendation of the
Chief of Staff when there isan important patient care, treatment or service need that mandates an
immediate authorization to practice, for a limited period of time, when no application for
Medical Staff membership or clinical privileges is pending. An example would be situations
in which a physician is involved in an accident or becomes suddenly ill, and a practitioner is
needed to cover his/her practice immediately. Upon receipt of a written request, an
appropriately licensed person who is serving as a substitute for a member of the Medical Staff
during a period of absence for any reason, or a practitioner temporarily providing services to
cover an important patient care, treatment or service need (which may include care of one (1)
specific patient), may, without applying for membership on the Medical Staff, be granted
temporary privileges for an initial period not to exceed thirty (30) days. Such privileges may be
renewed for one (1) successive consecutive period not to exceed thirty (30) days (for no more
than sixty (60) consecutive days), but only upon the practitioner establishing his/her
qualifications to the satisfaction of the MEC and the Board and in no event to exceed one
hundred and twenty (120) days of service within a calendar year. All practitioners providing
coverage for other Practitioners must ensure that all legal requirements, including billing and
reimbursement regulations, are met. The Data Bank query must be completed prior to any
award of temporary privileges pursuant to this section. Further, prior to award of temporary
privileges, due to important patient care need, the applicant must submit a written request for
specific privileges and evidence of current competence to perform them, a photograph, proof of
appropriate malpractice insurance, the consent and release required by these Bylaws, copies of
the practitioner’s license to practice medicine, DEA certificate and telephone confirmation of
privileges at the practitioner’s primary hospital. The letter approving temporary privileges shall
identify the specific privileges granted.

Members of the Medical Staff seeking to facilitate coverage for their practice via a substitute
practitioner shall, where possible, advise the Hospital at least thirty (30) days in advance of the
identity of the practitioner and the dates during which the services will be utilized in order to
allow adequate time for appropriate verification to be completed. Failure to do so without good
cause shall be grounds for corrective action.

7.4(c) Proctoring Privileges

Upon receipt of a written request, an appropriately licensed person who is serving as a proctor
for a member of the Medical Staff may, without applying for membership on the Medical Staff,
be granted temporary privileges for an initial period not to exceed thirty (30) days. Such
privileges may be renewed for successive periods not to exceed thirty (30) days, but only upon
the Practitioner establishing his/her qualifications to the satisfaction of the MEC and the Board
and in no event to exceed the period of proctorship, or a maximum of one hundred twenty (120)
days. The Data Bank query must be completed prior to any award of proctoring privileges
pursuant to this section. Further, prior to award of proctoring privileges, the applicant must
submit a completed application, a photograph, proof of appropriate malpractice insurance, the
consent and release required by these Bylaws, copies of the Practitioner’s license to practice
medicine, DEA certificate and confirmation of privileges at the Practitioner’s primary hospital.
The letter approving proctoring privileges shall identify the specific privileges granted. In these
cases only, the Executive Director or his/her designee, upon recommendation of the President of
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the Medical Staff, Chairperson of the Credentials Committee and Chairperson of the applicable
department, may grant such privileges upon receipt of the required information.

7.4(d) Conditions

Temporary, one-case and locum tenens privileges shall be granted only when the information
available reasonably supports a favorable determination regarding the requesting applicant's
qualifications, ability and judgment to exercise the privileges granted. Special requirements of
consultation and reporting may be imposed by the Chief of Staff, including a requirement that
the patients of such applicant be admitted upon dual admission with a member of the Active
Staff. Before temporary or locum tenens privileges are granted, the applicant must
acknowledge in writing that he/she has received and read the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules &
Regulations, and that he/she agrees to be bound by the terms thereof in all matters relating to
his/her privileges.

7.4(e) Termination

On the discovery of any information or the occurrence of any event of a professionally
questionable nature concerning a Practitioner's qualifications or ability to exercise any or all of
the privileges granted, the Executive Director may, after consultation with the Chief of Staff
terminate any or all of such Practitioner's temporary privileges. Where the life or well-being of
a patient is endangered by continued treatment by the Practitioner, the termination may be
effected by any person entitled to impose summary suspensions under Article VIII, Section
8.2(a). In the event of any such termination, the Practitioner's patients then in the Hospital shall
be assigned to another Practitioner by the Chief of Staff. The wishes of the patient shall be
considered, if feasible, in choosing a substitute Practitioner.

7.4(f) Rights of the Practitioner

A Practitioner shall not be entitled to the procedural rights afforded by these Bylaws because of
his/her inability to obtain temporary or proctoring privileges or because of any termination or
suspension of such privileges.

7.4(g) Term

No term of temporary or proctoring privileges shall exceed a total of one hundred and twenty
(120) days.

EMERGENCY & DISASTER PRIVILEGES

For the purpose of this section, an “emergency” is defined as a condition in which serious or permanent
harm to a specific patient is imminent, or in which the life of a specific patient is in immediate danger,
delay in administering treatment immediately would add to that danger and no appropriately
credentialed individual can be available in the time required to respond. A “disaster” for purposes of
this section is defined as a community-wide disaster or mass injury situation in which the number of
existing, available Medical Staff members is not adequate to provide all clinical services required by the
citizens served by this facility. In the case of an emergency, or disaster as defined herein, any
practitioner, or Licensed Independent Practitioner, to the degree permitted by his/her license and
regardless of Medical Staff status or clinical privileges, shall, as approved by the Executive Director or
his/her designee or the Chief of Staff, be permitted to do, and be assisted by Hospital personnel in doing
everything reasonable and necessary to save the life of a patient or to prevent imminent harm to the
patient.
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Disaster privileges may be granted by the Executive Director or Chief of Staff when, and for so long as,
the Hospital’s emergency management plan has been activated and the Hospital is unable to handle the
immediate patient needs. Prior to granting any disaster privileges the volunteer practitioner, or Licensed
Independent Practitioner, shall be required to present a valid photo ID issued by a state, federal or
regulatory agency, and at least one of the following: a current hospital picture ID which clearly
identifies professional designation; a current license, certification or registration; primary source
verification of licensure, certification or registration (if required by law to practice a profession); ID
indicating the individual is a member of a Disaster Medical Assistance Team (DMAT), or the Medical
Reserve Corps (MRC), the Emergency System for Advance Registration of Volunteer Health
Professionals (ESAR-VHP); ID indicating the individual has been granted authority to render patient
care, treatment, and services in a disaster; or ID of a current Medical Staff member who possesses
personal knowledge regarding the volunteer practitioner’s qualifications. The Executive Director and/or
Chief of Staff are not required to grant such privileges to any individual and shall make such decisions
only on a case-by-case basis.

As soon as possible after disaster privileges are granted, but not later than seventy-two (72) hours
thereafter, the practitioner shall undergo the same verification process outlined in Section 7.4(a) for
temporary privileges when required to address an emergency patient care need. In extraordinary
circumstances in which primary source verification of licensure, certification or registration cannot be
completed within seventy-two (72) hours it shall be done as soon as possible, and the Hospital shall
document in the emergency/disaster volunteer’s credentialing file why primary source verification
cannot be performed in the required time frame, the efforts of the practitioner to continue to provide
adequate care, treatment and services, and all attempts to rectify the situation and obtain primary source
verification as soon as possible. In all cases, whether or not primary source verification could be
obtained within seventy-two (72) hours following the grant of disaster privileges, the Chief of Staff, or
his or her designee, shall review the decision to grant the practitioner disaster privileges, and shall,
based on information obtained regarding the professional practice of the practitioner, make a decision
concerning the continuation of the practitioner’s disaster privileges.

In addition, each practitioner granted disaster privileges shall be issued a Hospital ID (or if not
practicable by time or other circumstances to issue official Hospital ID, then another form of
identification) that clearly indicates the identity of the practitioner, and the scope of the practitioner’s
disaster responsibilities and/or privileges. A member of the Medical Staff shall be assigned to each
disaster volunteer practitioner for purposes of overseeing the professional performance of the volunteer
practitioner through such mechanisms as direct observation of care, concurrent or retrospective clinical
record review, mentoring, or as otherwise provided in the grant of privileges.

TELEMEDICINE

7.6(a) Scope of Privileges

The Medical Staff shall make recommendations to the Board regarding which clinical services
are appropriately delivered through the medium of telemedicine, and the scope of such services.
Clinical services offered through this means shall be provided consistent with commonly
accepted quality standards.

7.6(b) Telemedicine Practitioners

Any Practitioner who prescribes, renders a diagnosis, or otherwise provides clinical treatment to
a patient at the Hospital through a telemedicine procedure (the “Telemedicine Practitioner”),
must be credentialed and privileged through the Medical Staff pursuant to the credentialing and
privileging procedures described in these Medical Staff Bylaws. An exception is outlined below
for those circumstances in which the Telemedicine Practitioner’s distant-site entity or distant-
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site hospital is Joint Commission accredited and the Hospital places in the Practitioner’s
credentialing file a copy of written documentation confirming such accreditation.

In circumstances in which the distant-site entity or hospital is Joint Commission accredited, the
Medical Staff and Board may rely on the Telemedicine Practitioner’s credentialing information
from the distant-site entity or distant-hospital to credential and privilege the Telemedicine
Practitioner ONLY if the Hospital has ensured through a written agreement with the distant-site
entity or distant-site hospital that all of the following provisions are met:

(1) The distant-site entity or distant-site hospital meets the requirements of 42 CFR 8§
482.12(a)(1)-(7), with regard to the distant-site entity’s or distant-site hospital’s physicians
and practitioners providing telemedicine services;

(2) The distant-site entity, if not a distant-site hospital, is a contractor of services to the Hospital
and as such, in accordance with 42 CFR § 482.12(e), furnishes the contracted services in a
manner that permits the Hospital to comply with all applicable federal regulations for the
contracted services;

(3) The distant-site organization is either a Medicare-participating hospital or a distant-site
telemedicine entity with medical staff credentialing and privileging processes and standards
that at least meet the standards set forth in the CMS Hospital Conditions of Participation;

(4) The Telemedicine Practitioner is privileged at the distant-site entity or distant-site hospital
providing the telemedicine services, and the distant-site entity or distant-site hospital
provides the Hospital with a current list of the Telemedicine Practitioner’s privileges at the
distant-site entity or distant-site hospital;

(5) The Telemedicine Practitioner holds a license issued or recognized by the state in which the
Hospital is located; and

(6) The Hospital has evidence, or will collect evidence, of an internal review of the
Telemedicine Practitioner’s performance of telemedicine privileges at the Hospital and shall
send the distant-site entity or distant-site hospital such performance information (including,
at a minimum, all adverse events that result from telemedicine services provided by the
Telemedicine Practitioner and all complaints the Hospital has received about the
Telemedicine Practitioner) for use in the periodic appraisal of the Telemedicine Practitioner
by the distant-site entity or distant-site hospital.

For the purposes of this Section 7.6, the term “distant-site entity” shall mean an entity that: (1)
provides telemedicine services; (2) is not a Medicare-participating hospital; and (3) provides
contracted services in a manner that enables a hospital using its services to meet all applicable
CMS Hospital Conditions of Participation, particularly those related to the credentialing and
privileging of practitioners providing telemedicine services. For the purposes of this Section
7.6, the term “distant-site hospital” shall mean a Medicare-participating hospital that provides
telemedicine services.

If the Telemedicine Practitioner’s site is also accredited by Joint Commission, and the
Telemedicine Practitioner is privileged to perform the services and procedures for which
privileges are being sought in the Hospital, then the Telemedicine Practitioner’s credentialing
information from that site may be relied upon to credential the Telemedicine Practitioner in the
Hospital. However, this Hospital will remain responsible for primary source verification of
licensure, professional liability insurance, Medicare/Medicaid eligibility and for the query of the
Data Bank.
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MEMBERSHIP WITHOUT DELINEATED CLINICAL PRIVILEGES

7.7 (a) Membership Only

7.7(b)

Practitioners who meet the basic qualifications set forth in Section 3.2(a) of these Medical Staff
Bylaws and do not provide patient care in this Hospital may apply for Medical Staff
membership without delineated clinical privileges. Practitioners who apply for Medical Staff
membership only may apply for appointment in Active, Courtesy, Consulting or Honorary
Staff.

Membership with “Refer & Follow” Privileges Only

Practitioners who do not wish to actively treat patients within the Hospital may seek “refer and
follow” privileges only. These will permit the Practitioner to refer patients to the Hospital for
outpatient testing and refer patients to Medical Staff members or Hospitalists for procedures or
treatment within the facility. If the admitting/attending physician agrees, a Practitioner with
“refer and follow” privileges may visit his/her patients in the Hospital, review patient medical
records and receive information concerning the patient’s medical condition and treatment.
However, under no circumstances shall a Practitioner with “refer and follow” privileges
participate in any treatment or procedure, make any entries in the medical record, or admit a
patient to the Hospital. Practitioners who apply for “refer and follow” privileges only may
apply for Active, Courtesy, Consulting or Honorary Staff category.
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ARTICLE VI
CORRECTIVE ACTION

ROUTINE CORRECTIVE ACTION

8.1(a)

8.1(b)

8.1(c)

8.1(d)

Criteria for Initiation

Whenever activities, omissions, or any professional conduct of a Practitioner with clinical
privileges are detrimental to patient safety, to the delivery of quality patient care, are disruptive,
undermine a culture of safety or interfere with Hospital operations, or violate the provisions of
these Bylaws, the Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, or duly adopted policies and
procedures; corrective action against such Practitioner may be initiated by any officer of the
Medical Staff, by the Chairperson of the Department of which the Practitioner is a member, by
the Executive Director, or the Board. Procedural guidelines from the Health Care Quality
Improvement Act shall be followed and all corrective action shall be taken in good faith in the
interest of quality patient care.

Request & Notices

All requests for corrective action under this Section 8.1 shall be submitted in writing to the
MEC, and supported by reference to the specific activities or conduct which constitutes the
grounds for the request. The Chief of Staff shall promptly notify the Executive Director or
his/her designee in writing of all requests for corrective action received by the committee and
shall continue to keep the Executive Director or his/her designee fully informed of all action
taken in conjunction therewith.

Investigation by the Medical Executive Committee

The MEC shall begin to investigate the matter within forty-five (45) days or at its next regular
meeting whichever is sooner, or shall appoint an ad hoc committee to investigate it. When the
investigation involves an issue of Practitioner impairment, the MEC shall assign the matter to
an ad hoc committee of three (3) members who shall operate apart from this corrective action
process, pursuant to the provisions of the Hospital’s Practitioner Wellness Policy. Within thirty
(30) days after the investigation begins, a written report of the investigation shall be completed.

Medical Executive Committee Action

Within sixty (60) days following receipt of the report, the MEC shall take action upon the
request. Its action shall be reported in writing and may include, but is not limited to:

(1) Rejecting the request for corrective action;

(2) Recusing itself from the matter and referring same to the Board without recommendation,
together with a statement of its reasons for recusing itself from the matter, which reasons
may include but are not limited to a conflict of interest due to direct economic competition
or economic interdependence with the affected Practitioner;

(3) Issuing a warning or a reprimand to which the Practitioner may write a rebuttal, if he/she
so desires;

(4) Recommending terms of probation or required consultation;

(5) Recommending reduction, suspension or revocation of clinical privileges;
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8.1(e)

8.1(f)

8.1(9)

(6) Recommending reduction of Medical Staff category or limitation of any Medical Staff
prerogatives; or

(7) Recommending suspension or revocation of Medical Staff membership.

Procedural Rights

Any action by the MEC pursuant to Section 8.1(d) (4), (5), (6), or (7) (where such action
materially restricts a Practitioner's exercise of privileges) or any combination of such actions,
shall entitle the Practitioner to the procedural rights as specified in the provisions of Article 1X
and the Fair Hearing Plan. The Board may be informed of the recommendation, but shall take
no action until the member has either waived his/her right to a hearing or completed the hearing.

Other Action

If the MEC's recommended action is as provided in Section 8.1(d)(1), (2), (3) or (d)(4) (where
such action does not materially restrict a Practitioner's exercise of privileges), such
recommendation, together with all supporting documentation, shall be transmitted to the Board.
The Fair Hearing Plan shall not apply to such actions.

Board Action

When routine corrective action is initiated by the Board pursuant to Section 1.2(2) or (3) of the
Fair Hearing Plan, the functions assigned to the MEC under this Section 8.1 shall be performed
by the Board, and shall entitle the Practitioner to the procedural rights as specified in the Fair
Hearing Plan.

SUMMARY SUSPENSION

8.2(a)

8.2(b)

Criteria & Initiation

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.1 above, whenever a Practitioner willfully
disregards these Bylaws or other Hospital policies, or his/her conduct may require that
immediate action be taken to protect the life, well-being, health or safety of any patient,
employee or other person, then any two (2) of the following, that is, the Chief of Staff, the
Executive Director, or a member of the MEC shall have the authority to summarily suspend the
Medical Staff membership status or all or any portion of the clinical privileges immediately
upon imposition. Subsequently, the Executive Director or his/her designee shall, on behalf of
the imposer of such suspension, promptly give special notice of the suspension to the
Practitioner.

Immediately upon the imposition of summary suspension, the Chief of Staff shall designate a
physician with appropriate clinical privileges to provide continued medical care for the
suspended Practitioner's patients still in the Hospital. The wishes of the patient shall be
considered, if feasible, in the selection of the assigned physician.

It shall be the duty of all Medical Staff members to cooperate with the Chief of Staff and the
Executive Director in enforcing all suspensions and in caring for the suspended Practitioner's
patients.

Medical Executive Committee Action
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8.2(c)

Within seventy-two (72) hours after such summary suspension, a meeting of the MEC shall be
convened to review and consider the action taken. The MEC may recommend modification,
ratification, continuation with further investigation or termination of the summary suspension.

Procedural Rights

If the summary suspension is terminated or modified such that the Practitioner's privileges are
not materially restricted, the matter shall be closed and no further action shall be required.

If the summary suspension is continued for purposes of further investigation the MEC shall
reconvene within fourteen (14) days of the original imposition of the summary suspension and
shall modify, ratify or terminate the summary suspension.

Upon ratification of the summary suspension or modification which materially restricts the
Practitioner's clinical privileges, the Practitioner shall be entitled to the procedural rights
provided in Article IX and the Fair Hearing Plan. The terms of the summary suspension as
sustained or as modified by the MEC shall remain in effect pending a final decision by the
Board.

ADMINISTRATIVE CORRECTIVE ACTION

8.3(a)

8.3(b)

Criteria for Initiation

Whenever a Practitioner violates Hospital policies, rules or regulations, exhibits behavior that
undermines a culture of safety, or acts in a manner disruptive to Hospital operations, or in such
a manner as to endanger the assets of the Hospital because of financially imprudent actions not
justified by patient care considerations, administrative corrective action may be initiated
pursuant to the Hospital Policy Regarding Behavior that Undermines a Culture of Safety. Such
action shall be taken pursuant to this section, in conjunction with the above policy, rather than
Section 8.1 or 8.2, only in those instances in which disruptive or inappropriate conduct, rather
than clinical competency is in question. Such instances may include, but are not limited to,
abusive treatment of Hospital employees, refusal to discharge Medical Staff duties unrelated to
patient care, violation of policies, rules or regulations, or harassment.

Corrective Action by the MEC and/or Board

If collegial intervention and progressive discipline pursuant to the Policy Regarding Behavior
that Undermines a Culture of Safety is not successful in remediating the issue, the MEC and/or
Board may take action as provided herein. If the MEC addresses the issue, the procedure in
Section 8.1 shall apply. If the MEC elects to refer the matter directly to the Board, or the Board
takes action on its own initiative, the Board may commerce an investigation. The Executive
Director shall be responsible for presenting the history of conduct to the Board. The Board
shall be fully apprised of the previous meetings and warnings, if any, so that it may pursue
whatever action is necessary to terminate the unacceptable conduct. Should the Board
determine that further investigation is necessary; the Board Chairperson shall appoint an
individual or an ad hoc committee to investigate and report back to the Board at its next regular
meeting. Within thirty (30) days after the investigation begins, a written report of the
investigation shall be completed.

8.3 (c) Board Actions
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8.3(d)

8.3(e)

Within sixty (60) days following receipt of the report, the Board shall take action upon the
request. Its action shall be reported in writing and may include, but is not limited to:

(1) Rejecting the request for corrective action;

(2) Issuing a warning or a reprimand to which the Practitioner may write a rebuttal, if he/she
so desires;

(3) Requiring terms of probation or required consultation;

(4) Reducing, suspending or revoking clinical privileges;

(5) Reducing Medical Staff category or limiting prerogatives; or
(6) Suspending or revoking Medical Staff membership.

Procedural Rights

Any action by the Board pursuant to Section 8.3(c)(4), (5) or (6), or (f)(3) (where such action
materially restricts a Practitioner's exercise of privileges) or any combination of such actions,
shall entitle the Practitioner to the procedural rights as specified in the provisions of Article 1X
and the Fair Hearing Plan. The action will not become final until the Practitioner has either
waived his/her right to a hearing or completed the hearing.

Other Action

If the Board’s action is as provided in Section 8.3(c) (1) and (2), or (f) (3) (where such action
does not materially restrict a Practitioner's exercise of privileges), such action shall become the
final action of the Board, and the Practitioner shall not be entitled to the rights enumerated in
the Fair Hearing Plan.

AUTOMATIC SUSPENSION

8.4(a)

8.4(b)

8.4(c)

License

A Medical Staff member or AHP whose license, certificate, or other legal credential authorizing
him/her to practice in South Carolina is revoked, relinquished, suspended or restricted shall
immediately and automatically be suspended from the Medical Staff and practicing in the
Hospital.

Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) Registration Number

Any Practitioner (except a pathologist) whose DEA registration number/controlled substance
certificate or equivalent state credential is revoked, suspended or relinquished shall immediately
and automatically be suspended from the Medical Staff and practicing in the Hospital until such
time as the registration is reinstated.

Medical Records
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8.4(d)

8.4(e)

8.4(F)

8.4(g)

(1) Automatic suspension of a Practitioner or AHP’s privileges shall be imposed for failure to
complete medical records as required by the Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules &
Regulations. The suspension shall continue until such records are completed unless the
Practitioner satisfies the Chief of Staff that he/she has a justifiable excuse for such
omissions.

(2) Medical Records- Expulsion: Notwithstanding the provision of Section 8.4(c)(1), any
Medical Staff member who accumulates forty-five (45) or more CONSECUTIVE days of
automatic suspension under said subsection 8.4(c)(1) shall automatically be expelled from
the Medical Staff. Such expulsion shall be effective as of the first day after the forty-fifth
(45th) consecutive day of such automatic suspension.

Malpractice Insurance Coverage

Any Practitioner unable to provide proof of current medical malpractice coverage in the
amounts prescribed in these Bylaws will be automatically suspended until proof of such
coverage is provided to the MEC and Executive Director.

Exclusions/Suspension from Medicare

Any Practitioner who is excluded, debarred, suspended, or otherwise declared ineligible from
any state or federal government health care program or procurement program or has been
convicted of a crime that meets the criteria for mandatory exclusion (regardless of whether the
provider has yet been excluded, debarred, suspended or otherwise declared ineligible) will be
automatically suspended.

Automatic Suspension - Fair Hearing Plan Not Applicable

No Medical Staff member, whose privileges are automatically suspended under this Section 8.4,
shall have the right of hearing or appeal as provided under Article 1X of these Bylaws. The
Chief of Staff shall designate a physician to provide continued medical care for any suspended
Practitioner's patients.

Chief of Staff

It shall be the duty of the Chief of Staff to cooperate with the Executive Director in enforcing all
automatic suspensions and expulsions and in making necessary reports of same. The Executive
Director or his/her designee shall periodically keep the Chief of Staff informed of the names of
Medical Staff members who have been suspended or expelled under Section 8.4.

CONFIDENTIALITY

To maintain confidentiality, participants in the corrective action process shall limit their discussion of
the matters involved to the formal avenues provided in these Bylaws for peer review and corrective

action.

SUMMARY SUPERVISION

Whenever criteria exist for initiating corrective action pursuant to this Article, the Practitioner may be
summarily placed under supervision concurrently with the initiation of professional review activities
until such time as a final determination is made regarding the Practitioner’s privileges. Any of the
following shall have the right to impose supervision: Chief of Staff, the Executive Director, or the

Board.
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PROTECTION FROM LIABILITY

All members of the Board, the Medical Staff and Hospital personnel assisting in Medical Staff peer
review shall have immunity from any civil liability to the fullest extent permitted by state and federal
law when participating in any activity described in Section 6.3(c) of these Bylaws.

REAPPLICATION AFTER ADVERSE ACTION

An applicant who has received a final adverse decision pursuant to Section 8.1, 8.2 or 8.3 shall not be
considered for appointment to the Medical Staff for a period of five (5) years after notice of such
decision is sent or until the defect constituting the grounds for the adverse decision is corrected,
whichever is later. Any reapplication shall be processed as an initial application and the applicant shall
submit such additional information as the Medical Staff or the Board may require.

FALSE INFORMATION ON APPLICATION

Any Practitioner who, after being granted appointment and/or clinical privileges, is determined to have
knowingly made a misstatement, misrepresentation, or omission in connection with an application shall
be deemed to have immediately relinquished his/her appointment and clinical privileges. No Practitioner
or AHP who is deemed to have relinquished his/her appointment and clinical privileges pursuant to this
Section 8.9 shall be entitled to the procedural rights under these Bylaws and the Fair Hearing Plan,
except that the MEC may, upon written request from the Practitioner or AHP, permit the Practitioner or
AHP to appear before it and present information solely as to the issue of whether the Practitioner or
AHP knowingly made a misstatement, misrepresentation, or omission in connection with his/her
application. If such appearance is permitted by the MEC, the MEC shall review the material presented
by the Practitioner or AHP and render a decision as to whether the finding that he/she knowingly made a
misstatement, misrepresentation, or omission was reasonable, which MEC decision shall be subject to
the approval of the Board.
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ARTICLE IX
INTERVIEWS & HEARINGS

INTERVIEWS

When the MEC or Board is considering initiating an adverse action concerning a Practitioner, it may in
its discretion give the Practitioner an interview. The interview shall not constitute a hearing, shall be
preliminary in nature and shall not be conducted according to the procedural rules provided with respect
to hearings. The Practitioner shall be informed of the general nature of the proposed action and may
present information relevant thereto. A summary record of such interview shall be made. No legal or
other outside representative shall be permitted to participate for any party.

HEARINGS
9.2(a) Procedure

Whenever a Practitioner requests a hearing based upon or concerning a specific adverse action
as defined in Article | of the Fair Hearing Plan, the hearing shall be conducted in accordance
with the procedures set forth in the Fair Hearing Plan and the Health Care Quality Improvement
Act.

9.2(b) Exceptions

Neither the issuance of a warning, a request to appear before a committee, a letter of
admonition, a letter of reprimand, a recommendation for concurrent monitoring, a denial,
termination or reduction of temporary privileges, terms of probation, nor any other actions
which do not materially restrict the Practitioner’s exercise of clinical privileges, shall give rise
to any right to a hearing.

ADVERSE ACTION AFFECTING AHPS

Any adverse actions affecting AHPs shall be accomplished in accordance with Section 5.4 of these
Bylaws.
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ARTICLE X
OFFICERS

OFFICERS OF THE STAFF

10.1(a) Identification

The officers of the Medical Staff shall be:

(1) Chief of Staff;
2 Chief of Staff Elect/Vice Chief of Staff and
3 Immediate Past Chief of Staff.

10.1(b) Qualifications

10.1(c)

10.1(d)

10.1(e)

Officers must be members of the Active Staff at the time of homination and election and must
remain members in good standing during their term of office. Failure of an officer to maintain
such status shall immediately create a vacancy in the office.

Nominations

(1) The Nominating Committee shall consist of the Chief of Staff and the two (2) most recent
Past-Chiefs of Staff of the Medical Staff. This committee shall offer one (1) or more
nominees for each office (with the exception of the office of Immediate Past Chief of Staff)
to the Medical Staff thirty (30) days before the annual meeting.

(2) Nominations may also be made from the floor at the time of the annual meeting or by
petition filed prior to the annual meeting signed by at least ten percent (10%) of the
appointees of the Active Staff, with a signed statement of willingness to serve by the
nominee, filed with the Chief of Staff at least thirty (30) days before the annual meeting.

Election

Officers shall be elected at the annual meeting of the Medical Staff and when otherwise
necessary to fill vacancies. Only members of the Active Staff who are present at the annual
meeting shall be eligible to vote. Voting may be open or by secret written ballot, as determined
by the members present and voting at the meeting. Voting by proxy shall not be permitted. A
nominee shall be elected upon receiving a majority of all the valid ballots cast, subject to
approval by the Board, which approval may be withheld only for good cause.

Removal

Whenever the activities, professional conduct or leadership abilities of a Medical Staff officer
are believed to be below the standards established by the Medical Staff, undermining a culture
of safety, or to be disruptive to or interfering with the operations of the Hospital, the officer may
be removed by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the Active Medical Staff. Reasons for removal
may include, but shall not be limited to violation of these Bylaws, breaches of confidentiality or
unethical behavior. Such removal shall not affect the officer’s Medical Staff membership or
clinical privileges and shall not be considered an adverse action.
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10.1(f) Term of Elected Officers

Each officer shall serve a two (2) year term, commencing on the first day of the Medical Staff
year following his/her election. Each officer shall serve until the end of his/her term and until a
successor is elected, unless he/she shall sooner resign or be removed from office.

10.1(g) Vacancies in Elected Office

Vacancies in office, other than Chief of Staff, shall be filled by the MEC until such time as an
election can be held. If there is a vacancy in the office of Chief of Staff, the Vice-Chief of Staff
shall serve out the remaining term.

10.1(h) Duties of Elected Officers

(1) Chief of Staff. The Chief of Staff shall serve as the Chief Medical Officer and principal
official of the Medical Staff. As such he/she will:

(i)
(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

appoint multi-disciplinary Medical Staff committees;

aid in coordinating the activities of the Hospital administration and of nursing and
other non-physician patient care services with those of the Medical Staff;

be responsible to the Board, in conjunction with the MEC, for the quality and
efficiency of clinical services and professional performance within the Hospital
and for the effectiveness of patient care evaluations and maintenance functions
delegated to the Medical Staff; work with the Board in implementation of the
Board's quality, performance, efficiency and other standards;

in concert with the MEC and clinical departments, develop and implement
methods for credentials review and for delineation of privileges; along with the
continuing medical education programs, utilization review, monitoring functions
and patient care evaluation studies;

participate in the selection (or appointment) of Medical Staff representatives to
Medical Staff and Hospital administration committees;

report to the Board and the Executive Director concerning the opinions, policies,
needs and grievances of the Medical Staff;

(vii) be responsible for enforcement and clarification of Medical Staff Bylaws and

Rules & Regulations, for the implementation of sanctions where indicated, and for
the Medical Staff's compliance with procedural safeguards in all instances where
corrective action has been requested against a Practitioner;

(viii) call, preside and be responsible for the agenda of all general meetings of the

(ix)

)

Medical Staff;

serve as a voting member of the MEC and an ex-officio member of all other
Medical Staff committees or functions;

assist in coordinating the educational activities of the Medical Staff;
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10.1(i)

(xi) serve as liaison for the Medical Staff in its external professional and public
relations;

(xii)  confer with the Executive Director, CFO, CNO and Department or Service
Chief on at least a quarterly basis as to whether there exists sufficient space,
equipment, Medical Staffing, and financial resources or that the same will be
available within a reasonable time to support each privilege requested by
applicants to the Medical Staff; and report on the same to the MEC and to the
Board; and

(xiii)  assist the Service Chief as to the types and amounts of data to be collected and
compared in determining and informing the Medical Staff of the professional
practice of its members.

(2) Vice-Chief of Staff: The Vice-Chief of Staff shall be a member of the MEC. In the
absence of the Chief of Staff, he/she shall assume all the duties and have the authority of
the Chief of Staff. He/She shall perform such additional duties as may be assigned to
him/her by the Chief of Staff, the MEC or the Board.

(3) Immediate Past Chief of Staff shall be a member of the MEC and perform such additional
duties as may be assigned to him/her by the Chief of Staff, the MEC or the Board.

Conflict of Interest of Medical Staff Members

The best interests of the community, Medical Staff and the Hospital are served by Medical Staff
members who are objective in the pursuit of their duties, and who exhibit that objectivity at all
times. The decision making process of the Medical Staff may be altered by interests or
relationships which might in any instance, either intentionally or coincidentally bear on that
member’s opinions or decision. Therefore, it is considered to be in the best interest of the
Hospital and the Medical Staff for relationships of any Medical Staff member which may
influence the decisions related to the Hospital to be disclosed on a regular and contemporaneous
basis.

No Medical Staff member shall use his/her position to obtain or accrue any improper benefit.
All Medical Staff members shall at all times avoid even the appearance of influencing the
actions of any other Medical Staff member or employee of the Hospital or Corporation, except
through his/her vote, and the acknowledgment of that vote, for or against opinions or actions to
be stated or taken by or for the Medical Staff as a whole or as a member of any committee of
the Medical Staff.

Upon being granted appointment to the Medical Staff and/or clinical privileges, and upon any
grant of reappointment and/or renewal of clinical privileges, each Medical Staff member shall
file with the MEC a written statement describing each actual or proposed relationship of that
member, whether economic or otherwise, other than the member's status as a Medical Staff
member, and/or a member of the community, which in any way and to any degree may impact
on the finances or operations of the Hospital or its Medical Staff, or the Hospital's relationship
to the community, including but not limited to each of the following:

@ Any leadership position on another Medical Staff or educational institution that creates
a fiduciary obligation on behalf of the Practitioner, including but not limited to
membership on the governing body, executive committee, or service or department
chairmanship with an entity or facility that competes directly or indirectly with the
Hospital;
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2 Direct or indirect financial interest, actual or proposed, in an entity or facility that
competes directly or indirectly with the Hospital,

3 Direct or indirect financial interest, actual or proposed, in an entity that pursuant to
agreement provides services or supplies to the Hospital; or

(@) Business practices that may adversely affect the Hospital or community.

This disclosure requirement is not a punitive process and is only intended to identify those
conflicts of interest which may affect patient safety or quality of care. This disclosure
requirement is to be construed broadly, and a Medical Staff member should finally determine
the need for all possible disclosures of which he/she is uncertain on the side of disclosure,
including ownership and control of any health care delivery organization that is related to or
competes with the Hospital. This disclosure requirement will not require any action which
would be deemed a breach of any state or federal confidentiality law, but in such circumstances
minimum allowable disclosures should be made.

In addition to the foregoing, a new Medical Staff leader (defined as any member of the Medical
Executive Committee, Chair or Vice-Chair of any department, officer of the Medical Staff,
and/or members of the Medical Staff who are also members of the Hospital’s Board) shall file
the written statement immediately upon being elected or appointed to his/her leadership
position. Between regular disclosure dates, any new relationship of the type described, whether
actual or proposed, shall be disclosed in writing to the MEC by the next regularly scheduled
MEC meeting. The MEC Chairperson or his/her designee will provide each MEC member with
a copy of each leader’s written disclosure at the next MEC meeting following filing by the
leader for review and discussion by the MEC.

Medical Staff leaders shall abstain from voting on any issue in which the Medical Staff leader
has an interest other than as a fiduciary of the Medical Staff. Failure to disclose a conflict as
required by this Section 10.1(i) or failure to abstain from voting on an issue in which the
Medical Staff member has an interest other than as a fiduciary of the Medical Staff may be
grounds for corrective action. In the case of Medical Staff leaders, a breach of these provisions
is deemed sufficient grounds for removal of a breaching leader from his/her leadership position
by the remaining members of the MEC or the Board on majority vote.
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ARTICLE XI
CLINICAL DEPARTMENTS & SERVICES

DEPARTMENTS & SERVICES

11.1(a) There shall be clinical services of medicine, surgery and such other services as may be
established by unanimous vote of the MEC or added by amendment procedures as described in
Avrticle XV of these Bylaws.

DEPARTMENT FUNCTIONS

The primary function of each department is to implement specific review and evaluation activities that
contribute to the preservation and improvement of the quality and efficiency of patient care provided in
the department. To carry out this overall function, each department shall:

11.2(a) Require that patient care evaluations be performed and that appointees exercising privileges
within the department be reviewed on an ongoing basis and upon application for reappointment;

11.2(b) Establish guidelines for the granting of clinical privileges within the department and submit the
recommendations as required under these Bylaws regarding the specific clinical privileges for
applicants and reapplicants for clinical privileges;

11.2(c) Conduct, participate in, and make recommendations regarding the need for continuing
education programs pertinent to changes in current professional practices and standards;

11.2(d) Monitor on an ongoing basis the compliance of its department members with these Bylaws, and
the rules and regulations, policies, procedures and other standards of the Hospital,

11.2(e) Monitor on an ongoing basis the compliance of its department members with applicable
professional standards;

11.2(f) Coordinate the patient care provided by the department’s members with nursing, administrative,
and other non-Medical Staff services;

11.2(g) Foster an atmosphere of professional decorum within the department;

11.2(h) Review all deaths occurring in the Department and all unexpected patient care events and report
findings to the MEC; and

11.2(i) Submit written reports or minutes of department meetings to the MEC on a regular basis
concerning:
(1) Findings of the department’s review and evaluation activities, actions taken thereon, and
the results thereof;
(2) Recommendations for maintaining and improving the quality of care provided in the
department and in the Hospital; and
(3) Such other matters as may be requested from time to time by the MEC.

11.2(j) Make recommendations to the MEC subject to Board approval of the kinds, types, and amounts
of data to be collected and evaluated to allow the Medical Staff to conduct an evidence-based
analysis of the quality of professional practice of its members; and receive regular reports from
department subcommittees regarding all pertinent recommendations and actions by the
subcommittees.
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ARTICLE XII
COMMITTEES & FUNCTIONS

GENERAL PROVISIONS

12.1(a) The Standing Committees and the functions of the Medical Staff are set forth below. The MEC
shall appoint special or ad hoc committees to perform functions that are not within the stated
functions of one (1) of the standing committees.

12.1(b) Each committee shall keep a permanent record of its proceedings and actions. All committee
actions shall be reported to the MEC.

12.1(c) All information pertaining to activities performed by the Medical Staff and its committees and
departments shall be privileged and confidential to the full extent provided by law.

12.1(d) The Executive Director or his/her designee shall serve as an ex-officio member, without vote, of
each standing and special Medical Staff committee.

MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

12.2(a) Composition

Members of the committee shall include the following:

(1) The Chief of Staff, who shall act as Chairperson;

(2) The Chief of Staff Elect/Vice Chief of Staff;

(3) The Immediate Past Chief of Staff;

(4) Two (2) Physician Members at large to be elected by the Medical Staff;
(5) One (1) ex-officio/non-voting AHP Member at large

(6) Credentials Committee Chair

(7) The Executive Director, ex-officio, or his/her designee.

12.2(b) Functions

The committee shall be responsible for governance of the Medical Staff, shall serve as a liaison
mechanism between the Medical Staff, Hospital administration and the Board and shall be
empowered to act for the Medical Staff in the intervals between Medical Staff meetings. All
Active Medical Staff members shall be eligible to serve on the MEC. The authority of the MEC
is outlined in this Section 12.2(b) and additional functions may be delegated or removed
through amendment of this Section 12.2(b). The functions and responsibilities of the MEC shall
include, at least the following:

(1) Receiving and acting upon department and committee reports;
(2) Implementing the approved policies of the Medical Staff;

(3) Recommending to the Board all matters relating to appointments and reappointments, the
delineation of clinical privileges, Medical Staff category and corrective action;

(4) Fulfilling the Medical Staff’s accountability to the Board for the quality of the overall
medical care rendered to the patients in the Hospital,
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(5) Initiating and pursuing corrective action when warranted, in accordance with Medical Staff
Bylaws provisions;

(6) Recommending action to the Executive Director on matters of a medico-administrative
nature;

(7) Developing and implementing programs for continuing medical education for the Medical
Staff;

(8) Developing and implementing programs to inform the Medical Staff about Practitioner
health and recognition of illness and impairment in physicians, and addressing prevention
of physical, emotional and psychological illness;

(9) Assuring regular reporting of performance improvement and other Medical Staff issues to
the MEC and to the Board and communicating findings, conclusions, recommendations
and actions to improve performance to the Board and appropriate Medical Staff members;

(10) Evaluating areas of risk in the clinical aspects of patient care and safety and proposing
plans and recommendations for reducing these risks;

(11) Assuring an annual evaluation of the effectiveness of the Hospital’s performance
improvement program is conducted:;

(12) Informing the Medical Staff of Joint Commission and other accreditation programs and the
accreditation status of the Hospital;

(13) Requesting evaluation of Practitioners in instances where there is doubt about an
applicant’s ability to perform the privileges requested. Initiating an investigation of any
incident, course of conduct, or allegation indicating that an applicant to or Practitioner on
the Medical Staff may not be complying with the Bylaws, may be rendering care below the
standards established for Practitioners to the Medical Staff, or may otherwise not be
qualified for continued enjoyment of Medical Staff appointment or clinical privileges
without limitation, further training, or other safeguards;

(14) Participating in identifying community health needs and in setting Hospital goals and
implementing programs to meet those needs;

(15) Developing and monitoring compliance with these Bylaws, the rules and regulations,
policies and other Hospital standards; and

(16) Making recommendations to the Board regarding the Medical Staff structure and the

mechanisms for review of credentials and delineation of privileges, fair hearing procedures
and the mechanism by which Medical Staff membership may be terminated.

12.2(c) Meetings

The MEC shall meet as needed, but at least monthly and maintain a permanent record of its
proceedings and actions.

12.2(d) Special Meeting of the Medical Executive Committee

A special meeting of the MEC may be called by the Chief of the Medical Staff, when a majority
of the MEC can be convened.
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12.2(e) Removal of MEC Members

The removal process (including the reasons for removal) for those members at large of the MEC
who are elected by the Medical Staff shall be the same as described in Section 10.1(e) with
respect to Medical Staff officers.

All other members of the MEC shall be removed in accordance with the provisions governing
removal from their respective Medical Staff leadership provisions. Officers of the Medical
Staff who are ex officio members of the MEC shall be removed in accordance with the
procedures described in Section 10.1(e).

MEDICAL STAFE FUNCTIONS

12.3(a) Composition of Committees

The MEC shall designate appropriate Medical Staff committees to perform the functions of the
Medical Staff.

12.3(b) Functions

The functions of the Medical Staff are to:

€))

)

®3)
(4)

()
(6)

(7)

(8)

Monitor, evaluate and improve care provided in and develop clinical policy for all areas,
including special care areas, such as intensive or coronary care unit; patient care support
services, such as respiratory therapy, physical medicine and anesthesia; and emergency,
surgical, outpatient, home care and ambulatory care services;

Conduct or coordinate appropriate performance improvement reviews, including review of
invasive procedures, blood and blood component usage, drug usage, medical record and
other appropriate reviews;

Conduct or coordinate utilization review activities;

Assist the Hospital in providing continuing education opportunities responsive to
performance improvement activities, new state-of-the-art developments, services provided
within the Hospital and other perceived needs, and supervise Hospital’s professional
library services;

Develop and maintain surveillance over drug utilization policies and practices;

Investigate and control nosocomial infections and monitor the Hospital’s infection control
program;

Plan for response to fire and other disasters, for Hospital growth and development, and for
the provision of services required to meet the needs of the community;

Direct Medical Staff organizational activities, including Medical Staff Bylaws, review and

revision, Medical Staff officer and committee nominations, liaison with the Board and
Hospital administration, and review and maintenance of Hospital accreditation;
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(9) Provide for appropriate physician involvement in and approval of the multi- disciplinary

plan of care, and provide a mechanism to coordinate the care provided by members of the
Medical Staff with the care provided by the nursing service and with the activities of other
Hospital patient care and administrative services;

(10) Provide as part of the Hospital and Medical Staff’s obligation to protect patients and others

in the organization from harm, a mechanism for addressing the health of all licensed
individual Practitioners including a Practitioner Wellness Policy (attached hereto as
Appendix “B” and incorporated herein by reference). The purpose of this mechanism is to
provide education about Practitioner health, address prevention of physical, psychiatric, or
emotional illness, and facilitate confidential diagnosis, treatment, and rehabilitation of
Practitioners who suffer from a potentially impairing condition. The Practitioner Wellness
Policy affords resources separate from the corrective action process to address Practitioner
health. The policy provides a confidential mechanism for addressing impairment of
Medical Staff members and providing appropriate advice, counseling or referrals.

(11) Provide leadership in activities related to patient safety;

(12) Ensure that the Medical Staff provides leadership for process measurement, assessment

and improvement for the following processes which are dependent on the activities of
individuals with clinical privileges:

(i) medical assessment and treatment of patients;

(if) use of medications, use of blood and blood components;
(iii) use of operative and other procedure(s);

(iv) efficiency of clinical practice patterns; and

(v) significant departure from established patterns of clinical practice.

(13) Ensure that the Medical Staff participates in the measurement, assessment and

improvement of other patient care processes, including, but not limited to, those related to:
(1) education of patients and families;

(i) coordination of care, treatment and services with other Practitioners and
Hospital personnel, as relevant to the care of an individual patient;

(iii)  accurate, timely and legible completion of patients’ medical records including
history and physicals;

(iv) patient satisfaction;
(V) sentinel events; and

(vi) patient safety.

(14) Ensure that when the findings of assessment processes are relevant to an individual’s

performance, the Medical Staff determines their use in peer review or the ongoing
evaluation of a Practitioner’s competence;
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(15) Recommend to the Board policies and procedures which define the circumstances, trends,
indications, deviated expectations or outcomes, or concerns that trigger a focused review of
a Practitioner’s performance and evaluation of a Practitioner’s performance by peers. The
process and procedure for focused professional review shall be substantially in accord with
the Hospital’s Peer Review Policy, Appendix “D” to these Bylaws. The information relied
upon to investigate a Practitioner’s professional conduct and practice may include (among
other items or information): internal or external chart reviews, prospective, concurrent
and/or retrospective monitoring of actual practice, monitoring of clinical practice patterns,
proctoring, and consultations with other physicians, AHPs, assistants, nursing or
Administrative personnel involved in the care of patients;

(16) Make recommendations to the Board regarding the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules &
Regulations, and review same on a regular basis;

(17) Engage in other functions reasonably requested by the MEC and Board or those which are
outlined in the Medical Staff Rules & Regulations, or other policies of the Medical Staff;

(18) Review and evaluate the qualifications, competence and performance of each applicant and
make recommendations for membership and delineation of clinical privileges;

(19) Review, on a periodic basis, applications for reappointment including information
regarding the competence of Medical Staff members; and as a result of such reviews make
recommendations for the granting of privileges and reappointments;

(20) Investigate any breach of ethics that is reported to it;

(21) Review AHP appeals of adverse privilege determinations as provided in Section 5.4(b);
and

(22) To prepare and recommend a slate of nominees for the officers of the Medical Staff.

12.3(c) Meetings

These functions shall be performed as required by state and federal regulatory requirements,
accrediting agencies and as deemed appropriate by the MEC and the Board.

CONFELICT RESOLUTION COMMITTEE

The Conflict Resolution Committee shall provide an ongoing process for managing conflict among
leadership groups. Said Committee shall consist of two members of the Medical Staff who are selected
by the Medical Executive Committee (and may or may not be members of the Board), two non-
physician Board members who are selected by the Board Chair, and the Executive Director. The
Committee shall meet, as needed, specifically when a conflict arises that, if not managed, could
adversely affect patient safety or quality of care. When such a conflict arises, the Committee shall meet
with the involved parties as early as possible to resolve the conflict, gather information regarding the
conflict, work with the parties to manage and when possible, to resolve the conflict, and to protect the
safety and quality of care.
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CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE

12.5(a) Composition

The Credentials Committee shall be composed of three (3) representatives from the Active
Medical Staff as appointed by the Chief of Staff. The Hospital’s Executive Director shall attend
on an ex-officio basis without vote.

12.5(b) Eunctions

The purpose of the Credentials Committee is to review information provided by applicants for
appointment and/or reappointment to the Medical Staff and/or Affiliated Health Professionals,
and for the granting or revising of clinical privileges. The Credentials Committee shall make
recommendations regarding these and other related issues to the MEC for consideration.

12.5(c) Meetings

The Credentials Committee shall meet at least one time per year and on an as needed
basis to allow proper functioning of the business of the Medical Staff.
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ARTICLE X1l
MEETINGS

ANNUAL STAFF MEETING

13.1(a) Meeting Time

The annual Medical Staff meeting shall be held in September, at a date, time and place
determined by the MEC.

13.1(b) Order of Business & Agenda

The order of business at an annual meeting shall be determined by the Chief of Staff. The
agenda shall include:

(1) Reading and accepting the minutes of the last regular and of all special meetings held since
the last regular meeting;

(2) Administrative reports from the Executive Director or his/her designee, the Chief of Staff
and appropriate Service Chiefs;

(3) The election of officers and other officials of the Medical Staff when required by these
Bylaws;

(4) Recommendations for maintenance and improvement of patient care; and
(5) Other old or new business.

REGULAR STAFF MEETINGS

13.2(a) Meeting Frequency & Time

The Medical Staff shall meet quarterly with the last meeting each year to be designated as the
Annual Staff Meeting. The Medical Staff may, by resolution, designate the time for holding
regular meetings and no notice other than such resolution shall then be required. If the date,
hour or place of a regular Medical Staff meeting must be changed for any reason, the notice
procedure in Section 13.3 shall be followed.

13.2(b) Order of Business & Agenda

The order of business at a regular meeting shall be determined by the Chief of Staff.

13.2(c) Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Medical Staff or any committee may be called at any time by the Chief
of Staff or Committee Chairperson and shall be held at the time and place designated in the
meeting notice. No business shall be transacted at any special meeting unless stated in the
meeting notice.

NOTICE OF MEETINGS

The MEC may, by resolution, provide the time for holding regular meetings and no notice other than
such resolution shall be required. If a special meeting is called or if the date, hour and place of a regular
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Medical Staff meeting has not otherwise been announced, the Chairperson of the MEC or his/her
designee shall give written notice stating the place, day and hour of the meeting, delivered either
personally or by mail, to each person entitled to be present there at not less than five (5) days nor more
than thirty (30) days before the date of such meeting. Personal attendance at a meeting shall constitute a
waiver of notice of such meeting.

QUORUM

13.4(a) General Staff Meeting

The voting members of the Active Staff who are present at any Medical Staff meeting shall
constitute a quorum for the transaction of all business at the meeting. Written, signed proxies
will not be permitted in any voting at any meeting.

13.4(b) Committee Meetings

The members of a committee who are present, but not less than two (2) members, shall
constitute a quorum at any meeting of such committee; except that the MEC and Performance
Improvement Committee shall require fifty (50%) percent of members to constitute a quorum.

MANNER OF ACTION

Except as otherwise specified, the action of a majority of the members present and voting at a meeting
at which a quorum is present shall be the action of the group. Action may be taken without a meeting of
the committee, if a unanimous consent in writing setting forth the action to be taken is signed by each
member entitled to vote.

MINUTES

Minutes of all meetings shall be prepared by the secretary of the meeting or his/her designee and shall
include a record of attendance and the vote taken on each matter. Copies of such minutes shall be
signed by the presiding officer, approved by the attendees and forwarded to the MEC. A permanent file
of the minutes of each meeting shall be maintained.

Complete and detailed minutes must be recorded and maintained.

ATTENDANCE

13.7(a) Reqular Attendance

Members of the Medical Staff are encouraged to attend the regular and special meetings of the
Medical Staff as well as the meetings of those departments and committees of which they are
members.

13.7(b) Special Appearance; Cooperation with Medical Executive Committee

Any committee or department of the Medical Staff may request the appearance of a Medical
Staff member at a committee meeting when the committee or department is questioning the
Practitioner’s clinical course of treatment. Such special appearance requirement shall not be
considered an adverse action and shall not constitute a hearing under these Bylaws. Whenever
apparent suspected deviation from standard clinical practice is involved, seven (7) days advance
notice of the time and place of the meeting shall be given to the Practitioner. When such special
notice is given, it shall include a statement of the issue involved and that the Practitioner’s
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appearance is mandatory. Failure of a Practitioner to appear at any meeting with respect to
which he/she was given such special notice and/or failure to comply with any reasonable
directive of the MEC shall, unless excused by the MEC upon a showing of good cause, result in
an automatic suspension of all or such portion of the Practitioner’s clinical privileges as the
MEC may direct. Such suspensions shall remain in effect until the matter is resolved by the
MEC or the Board, or through corrective action, if necessary.
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ARTICLE XIV
GENERAL PROVISIONS

STAFF RULES & REGULATIONS

Subject to approval by the Board, the Medical Staff shall adopt rules and regulations necessary to
implement more specifically the general principles found within these Bylaws. These shall relate to the
proper conduct of Medical Staff organizational activities as well as embody the level of practice that is
required of each Medical Staff member or affiliate in the Hospital. Such rules and regulations shall be
considered a part of these Bylaws, except that they may be amended or repealed at any regular meeting
at which a quorum present and without previous notice, or at any special meeting on notice, by a
majority vote of those present and eligible to vote. Such changes shall become effective when approved
by the Board. The rules and regulations shall be reviewed at least every two (2) years, and shall be
revised as necessary to reflect changes in regulatory requirements, corporate and Hospital policies, and
current practices with respect to Medical Staff organization and functions.

14.1(a) Notice of Proposed Adoption or Amendment

Where the voting members of the Medical Staff propose to adopt a rule, regulation or policy, or
an amendment thereto, they must first communicate the proposal to the MEC.

Where the MEC proposes to adopt a rule or regulation, or an amendment thereto, it must first
communicate the proposal to the Medical Staff. The MEC is not, however, required to
communicate adoption of a policy or an amendment thereto prior to adoption. In such
circumstances, the MEC must promptly thereafter communicate such action to the Medical
Staff.

14.1(b) Provisional Adoption by MEC

In cases of a documented need for urgent amendment to rules and regulations necessary to
comply with law or regulation, the MEC may provisionally adopt, and the Board may
provisionally approve, an urgent amendment without prior notification of the Medical Staff.

In such cases, the Medical Staff shall be immediately notified by the MEC. The Medical Staff
shall have the opportunity for retrospective review of and comment on the provisional
amendment. If there is no conflict between the Medical Staff and the MEC, the provisional
amendment shall stand. If there is conflict over the provisional amendment, the process
described in Section 14.1(c) of this Article shall be implemented.

14.1(c) Management of Medical Stafff MEC Conflicts Related to Rule, Requlation or Policy
Amendments

When conflict arises between the Medical Staff and MEC on issues including, but not limited
to, proposals to adopt a rule, regulation, or policy or an amendment thereto, this process shall
serve as a means by which these groups can recognize and manage such conflict early and with
minimal impact on quality of care and patient safety. Upon notification to the Board Chair of
the existence of a conflict, an ad hoc committee selected by the Board Chair shall meet as
needed with leaders of the Medical Staff and MEC as early as possible to work with the parties
to manage and, when possible, resolve the conflict.

Nothing in the foregoing is intended to prevent Medical Staff members from communicating

with the Board on a rule, regulation, or policy adopted by the Medical Staff or the MEC or to
limit the Board’s final authority as to such issues.
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14.1(d) Einal Authority of the Board

The Board shall have final authority regarding the adoption of any rule, regulation or policy or
amendment thereto and (except in the case of a provisional adoption provided for in Section
14.1(b) of this Article) no such rule, regulation or policy or amendment thereto, shall be
effective until approved by the Board.

PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

Each Practitioner granted clinical privileges in the Hospital shall maintain in force professional liability
insurance in an amount not less than the current minimum state statutory requirement for such insurance
or any future revisions thereto; or, should the state have no minimum statutory requirement, in an
amount not less than $1,000,000.00 per occurrence and $3,000,000.00 in the aggregate. Such insurance
shall be with a carrier reasonably acceptable to the Hospital and shall be on an occurrence basis or, if on
a claim made basis, the Practitioner shall agree to obtain tail coverage covering his/her practice at the
Hospital. Each Practitioner shall also inform the MEC and Executive Director of the details of such
coverage annually. He/She shall also be responsible for advising the MEC and the Executive Director
of any change in such professional liability coverage.

FORMS

Application forms and any other prescribed forms required by these Bylaws for use in connection with
Medical Staff appointments, reappointments, delineation of clinical privileges, corrective action,
notices, recommendations, reports and other matters shall be developed by the Executive Director or
his/her designee, subject to adoption by the Board after considering the advice of the MEC. Such forms
shall meet all applicable legal requirements, including non-discrimination requirements.

CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS & HEADINGS

Words used in these Bylaws shall be read as the masculine or feminine gender and as the singular and
plural, as the context requires. The captions or headings in these Bylaws are for convenience and are
not intended to limit or define the scope or effect of any provision of these Bylaws.

TRANSMITTAL OF REPORTS

Reports and other information which these Bylaws require the Medical Staff to transmit to the Board
shall be deemed so transmitted when delivered to the Executive Director or his/her designee.

CONFIDENTIALITY & IMMUNITY STIPULATIONS & RELEASES

14.6(a) Reports to be Confidential

Information with respect to any Practitioner, including applicants, Medical Staff members or
AHPs, submitted, collected or prepared by any representative of the Hospital including its
Board or Medical Staff, for purposes related to the achievement of quality care or contribution
to clinical research shall, to the fullest extent permitted by the law, be confidential and shall not
be disseminated beyond those who need to know nor used in any way except as provided
herein. Such confidentiality also shall apply to information of like kind provided by third
parties.
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14.6(b) Release from Liability

No representative of the Hospital, including its Board, Executive Director, administrative
employees, Medical Staff or third party shall be liable to a Practitioner or AHP for damages or
other relief by reason of providing information, including otherwise privileged and confidential
information, to a representative of the Hospital including its Board, Executive Director or
his/her designee, or Medical Staff or to any other health care facility or organization, concerning
a Practitioner or AHP who is or has been an applicant to or member of the Medical Staff, or
who has exercised clinical privileges or provided specific services for the Hospital, provided
such disclosure or representation is in good faith and without malice.

14.6 (c) Actions in Good Faith

The representatives of the Hospital, including its Board, Executive Director, administrative
employees and Medical Staff shall not be liable to a Practitioner or AHP for damages or other
relief for any action taken or statement of recommendation made within the scope of such
representative's duties, if such representative acts in good faith and without malice after a
reasonable effort to ascertain the facts and in a reasonable belief that the action, statement or
recommendation is warranted by such facts. Truth shall be a defense in all circumstances.
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ARTICLE XV
ADOPTION & AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

DEVELOPMENT

The Medical Staff shall have the initial responsibility to formulate, adopt and recommend to the Board
the Medical Staff Bylaws and amendments thereto which shall be effective when approved by the
Board. The Medical Staff shall exercise its responsibility in a reasonable, timely and responsible
manner, reflecting the interest of providing patient care of recognized quality and efficiency and of
maintaining a harmony of purpose and effort with the Hospital, the Board, and the community.

ADOPTION, AMENDMENT & REVIEWS

The Bylaws shall be reviewed and revised as needed, but at least every two (2) years. When necessary,
the Bylaws and rules and regulations will be revised to reflect changes in regulatory requirements,
corporate and Hospital policies, and current practices with respect to Medical Staff organization and
functions.

15.2(a) Medical Staff

The Medical Staff Bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of a
two-thirds of the Medical Staff members eligible to vote, who are present and voting at a
meeting at which a quorum is present, provided at least five (5) days written notice,
accompanied by the proposed Bylaws and/or alternatives, has been given of the intention to take
such action. This action requires the approval of the Board.

15.2(b) Board

The Medical Staff Bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of two-
thirds of the Board after receiving the recommendations of the Medical Staff. If the Medical
Staff fails to act within a reasonable time after notice from the Board to such effect, the Board
may resort to its own initiative in formulating or amending Medical Staff Bylaws when
necessary to provide for protection of patient welfare or when necessary to comply with
accreditation standards or applicable law. However, should the Board act upon its own
initiative as provided in this paragraph, it shall consult with the Medical Staff at the next regular
Medical Staff meeting (or at a special called meeting as provided in these Bylaws), and shall
advise the Medical Staff of the basis for its action in this regard.

DOCUMENTATION & DISTRIBUTION OF AMENDMENTS

Amendments to these Bylaws approved as set forth herein shall be documented by either:

15.3(a) Appending to these Bylaws the approved amendment, which shall be dated and signed by the
Chief of Staff, the Executive Director, the Chairperson of the Board and approved by corporate
legal counsel as to form; or

15.3(b) Restating the Bylaws, incorporating the approved amendments and all prior approved
amendments which have been appended to these Bylaws since their last restatement, which
restated Bylaws shall be dated and signed by the Chief of Staff, the Executive Director and the
Chairperson of the Board approved by corporate legal counsel as to form.

Each member of the Medical Staff shall be given a copy of any amendments to these Bylaws in a timely
manner.
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Medical Staff Documents for the
MUSC Health Regional Healthcare Network Unified Medical Staff
December 9, 2022

Requesting Board approval:

* Unified Bylaws

* Credentials Manual.

* Rules and Regulations
* Fair Hearing Plan

One common set of Bylaws, Credentials Manual, Rules and Regulations, and Fair Hearing Plan

* One MEC

* Centralized credentialing - streamlined and standardized requirements

* Standard delineations of privileges across hospitals when possible. Physicians can have
privileges at more than one facility

* Identical policies for peer review, medical record delinquency, physician wellness, and
professional conduct

* Increase efficiencies in approval processes when implementing policies, safety
initiatives, and clinical protocols.

* More efficient sharing of knowledge and innovations among medical staff members

* Better physician on-call coverage for specialties

* Consistency with the move toward accountable care organizations and modern care
delivery systems

* More efficient coordination of emergency preparedness and community health
planning.

RHN Medical Staff Structure Chart is attached.



RHN Medical Staff Structure

MUHA Board

Chiefs of Staff- each hospital (7)
Vice Chiefs of Staff- each hospital _7)
Divisional CMOs (3)

Regional Health Network CPE for RHN (1) {non-voting)
MUSC Chief Quality Officer ( non-voting)
M EC Nurse Executive- (non-voting)

APP Leader ( non-voting)
Divisional CEQ’s (non-voting)

CMO- each hospital
Chief of Staff- each hospital

Midlands Medical Staff Florence Medical Staff Lancaster Medical Staff Vice Chief of Staff- each hospital

Secretary —each hospital

Leadership Committee Leadership Committee Leadership Committee One elected representative from each hospital
Chief Department of Medicine

Chief Department of Surgery

Chief Department of OBGYN/Peds

Elorence Lancaster Chief Department of ED

Divisional Divisional Chief Department of Anesthesia

Credentials Credentials Chief Department of Radiology

. Chief Department of Path/Lab
Committee Committee Chair Peer Review

Plus, non-voting ( Divisional CEOs, CNOs. APPs ,and
Chief Quality Officers)

Divisional
Credentials
Committee

Lancaster Divisional Peer Chair of Peer Review committees appointed by
Review Committee Divisional Medical Staff Leadership Committee

Midlands Divisional Peer
Review Committee

Florence Divisional Peer
Review Committee

_ : Chief of Staff
Each Hospital Medical Each Hospital Medical Each Hospital Medical Vice Chief of Staff
Staff Operating Staff Operating Staff Operating Secretary
Committee Committee Committee 2 at large members
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

DEFINITIONS

“Affiliated Health Professional” or “AHP” means a credentialed individual, other than a physician, dentist,
or podiatrist, who is qualified to render direct or indirect medical or surgical care in collaboration with a
physician who has been afforded Clinical Privileges to provide such care in the Medical Center. For such
purposes of these Medical Staff Bylaws, “AHP” shall be deemed to refer only to advanced practice
professionals who are credentialed as AHPs pursuant to the Medical Staff credentialing process. Such
AHPs shall include, without limitation, physician assistants (“PA-C”), advanced practice registered nurses
(“APRN?”), certified registered nurse anesthetists (“CRNA”), and other such professionals. For purposes
of these Bylaws, “Affiliated Health Professional” shall not be deemed to include those non-credentialed
individuals (“Clinical Assistants” pursuant to applicable Medical Center policy) whose appointment and
competencies are handled outside the Medical Staff process. The authority of an AHP to provide specified
patient care services is established by the Medical Staff based on the professional's qualifications,
licensure, and approved written practice agreement for APRNs or written scope of practice guidelines for
PA-Cs.

“Board” means the Board of Trustees of Medical University Hospital Authority.

“Board Certification” shall mean certification in a member board of the American Board of Medical
Specialties, the American Board of Osteopathic Specialists, or other applicable specialty boards.

“Chief Executive Officer” or “CEQ” means the individual designated by the Board to provide for the overall
management of the Medical Center or his/her designee.

“Chief Medical Officer” or “CMO” means the individual serving as the executive administrative medical
leader of each Medical Center and/or Division or his/her designee.

“Chief of Staff” means the member of the Active Medical Staff who is duly elected in accordance with these
Bylaws to serve as chief officer of the Medical Staff of this Medical Center or his/her designee.

“Clinical Privileges” means the Board's recognition of the Practitioners’ competence and qualifications to
render specific diagnostic, therapeutic, medical, dental, podiatric, chiropractic or surgical services..

“Credentials Policy Manual” means the procedure adopted by the Medical Staff to approve and extend a
Practitioner’s Clinical Privileges at each MUSC Health Medical Center. The Credentials Policy Manual is
incorporated into these Bylaws and is contained in Appendix B hereto.

‘Data Bank” means the National Practitioner Data Bank (or any state designee thereof) established
pursuant to the Health Care Quality Improvement Act of 1986, for the purposes of reporting of adverse
actions and Medical Staff malpractice information.

“Department” means the major clinical departments at each Medical Center as further defined in Article
VIII.

“Designee” means one selected by the CEO, Chief of Staff or other officer to act on his/her behalf with
regard to a particular responsibility or activity as permitted by these Bylaws.

“Division” means a group of Medical Centers in a specific geographic area of the State of South Carolina.
Divisions may be expanded by the addition of new Medical Centers within MUHA or may be decreased
by the subtraction of Medical Centers that cease to be a part of MUHA.

“Ex-Officio” means service as a member of a body by virtue of an office or position held, and unless
otherwise expressly provided, means without voting rights.

“Fair Hearing Plan” means the procedure adopted by the Medical Staff with the approval of the Board to
provide for an evidentiary hearing and appeals procedure when a Practitioner’s Clinical Privileges are
adversely affected by a determination based on the Practitioner’s professional conduct or competence.
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15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

The Fair Hearing Plan is incorporated into these Bylaws and is contained in Appendix A hereto.

“Medical Center” means any of the MUHA hospitals and their provider-based clinics that have opted in to
these Unified Medical Staff Bylaws.

“Medical Executive Committee” or “MEC” means the Executive Committee of the Medical Staff.

“Medical Staff” means the formal organization of practitioners who have been granted Clinical Privileges
by the Board to attend patients in the Medical Center(s).

“Medical Staff Bylaws” or “Bylaws” means the Bylaws of the Medical Staff and the accompanying Rules &
Regulations; Fair Hearing Plan and such other rules and regulations as may be adopted by the Medical
Staff subject to the approval of the Board.

“Medical Staff Leadership Committee” or “MSLC” means the divisional Medical Staff committee further
described in Section 9.03 of these Bylaws.

“Medical Staff Operating Committee” or “MSOC” means the Medical Center committee further described
in Section 9.04 of these Bylaws.

“Medical Staff Rules & Regulations” or “Rules & Regulations” means the MUSC Health Medical Center
Rules & Regulations duly adopted by the Medical Staff and approved by the Board.

“Medical Staff Year” means January 1 through December 31 of the same year.

“Member” means a practitioner who has been granted Medical Staff membership and Clinical Privileges
pursuant to these Bylaws.

“Medical University Hospital Authority” or “MUHA” means the South Carolina state authority that owns and
operates the Medical Centers, clinics, and other health-care related facilities.

“MUSC Health Regional Health Network” means all of the Medical Centers owned and operated by MUHA
other than the MUSC Health University Medical Center in Charleston, South Carolina.

“Peer Review Policy” means the policy and procedure adopted by the Medical Staff with the approval of
the Board to provide evidence of objective monitoring of quality concerns for clinical management and
evaluation of outcomes, provide oversight of the professional performance of all Practitioners with
delineated Clinical Privileges, evaluate the competence of Practitioner performance, establish guidelines
and triggers for referring cases identified or suspected as variations from quality indicators, and facilitate
delivery of quality services that meet professionally recognized standards. This policy is incorporated into
these Bylaws and is contained in Appendix D hereto and can be referenced at
https://musc.policytech.com/docview/?docid=7251.

“Physician” means an individual with a D.O. or M.D. degree who is properly licensed to practice medicine
in South Carolina.

“Practitioner” means an appropriately licensed physician, dentist, podiatrist, Affiliated Health Professional,
including APRN, PA-C and CRNA, or any other individual who exercises independent judgment within
areas of his professional judgment and applicable state practice who has been granted Clinical Privileges
at the Medical Center(s).

“Prerogative” means a participatory right granted by the Medical Staff and exercised subject to the
conditions imposed in these Bylaws and in other Medical Center and Medical Staff policies.

“Unified and Integrated Medical Staff’ means a single Medical Staff formed from a recommendation by the
Board and acceptance by a majority vote of the members of the Medical Staffs at each of the Medical
Centers.



Article . PURPOSE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
Section 1.01 PURPOSE

Provisions shall be made in these Bylaws or by resolution of the Medical Executive Committee, approved
by the Board, either through assignment to Departments, to Medical Staff committees, to Medical Staff
Officers or officials, or to interdisciplinary hospital committees, for the effective performance of the
Medical Staff functions specified in this Section and described in Medical Staff Policies, and such other

Medical Staff functions as the Medical Executive Committee or the Body shall reasonably require.

The purpose of the Unified and Integrated Medical Staff of MUSC Health Regional Health Network is to

bring the professionals, who practice at the Medical Center(s) together into a self-governing cohesive

body, to:

a. Provide oversight of quality of care, treatment, and services to patients of the Medical Centers.

b. To be the organization through which the benefits of membership on the Medical Staff (mutual education,
consultation, and professional support) may be obtained and the obligations of staff membership may be
fulfilled.

C. Determine the mechanism for establishing and enforcing criteria and standards for Medical Staff
membership

d. Determine the mechanism for establishing and enforcing criteria for delegating oversight

responsibilitiesfor non-member practitioners with independent privileges.

e. Review new and on-going privileges of Medical Staff members and Affiliated Health Professionals
who, while not members of the Medical Staff, have Clinical Privileges.

f. Provide a mechanism to ensure that all patients admitted to or treated in any of the facilities or services of
the Medical Centers shall receive a uniform level of appropriate quality care, treatment and services
commensurate with community resources during the length of stay with the organization, by accounting for
and reporting regularly to the Board on patient care evaluation, including monitoring and other Quality

Assessment Performance Improvement (QAPI) activities in accordance with the Medical Centers' QAPI

program.
g. Conduct peer review for Practitioners as defined and outlined in the Peer Review Policy.
h. Approve and amend Medical Staff Bylaws, credential requirements, and Rules and Regulations.

i Provide a mechanism to create a uniform standard of care, treatment, and service.
J- Evaluate and assist in improving the work done by the staff and to provide education and offer advice to the
CEOs of the Medical Centers.

Section 1.02 MEDICAL STAFF RESPONSIBILITIES

The organized Medical Staff is also responsible for:
a. Ongoing evaluation of the competency of Practitioners who are privileged.

b. Delineating the scope of Clinical Privileges that will be granted to Practitioners.
8



C. Providing leadership in performance improvement activities within the organization.

d. Assuring that Practitioners practice only within the scope of their Clinical Privileges.

e. Selecting and removing Medical Staff officers.

f. Developing, adopting, reviewing, amending, monitoring, and enforcing compliance with these Bylaws,
the Medical Staff(s) policies governing medical practices, and other Medical Staff policies necessary
for the proper functioning of the Medical Staff and the integration and coordination of Medical Staff
members with the functions of the Medical Center (s).

g. Communicating with and accounting to the Board for the quality of medical care provided to Medical Center’s
patients, assisting the Board by serving as a professional review body, and cooperating with the Board,
Medical Center administration, and Medical Center staff to resolve conflicts regarding issues of mutual
concern.

h. Accomplishing its goals through appropriate committees, departments, and services.

Section 1.03 MUSC HEALTH FACILITIES ARRANGEMENTS
MUHA owns and operates multiple health care facilities. The unified Medical Staff acknowledges that the difference
in scope of services among these facilities may necessitate adoption of policies, and procedures applicable on a
Medical Center-specific basis. However, wherever possible, the unified desire of the Medical Staff is to consolidate
resources, to standardize policies andprocedures, to minimize unnecessary variance in operations to promote their
maximum efficiency and effectiveness, and to facilitate a comparably high standard of care at all the Medical Centers,

while at the same time accommodating the uniqueness of each Medical Center and its practice culture.

MUHA may enter arrangements with other MUSC Health affiliated clinical entities (e.g., other MUSC Health owned
Medical Centers, surgery centers, or their successor entities.) for the purpose of sharing information relevant to the
activities of the medical staff and individual medical staff members. Such arrangements may include, without
limitation, sharing of credentialing and peer review information between MUSC Health affiliated clinical entities, and
participation in joint committees among MUSC Health affiliated clinical entities to address credentialing, privileging,
peer review, and performance improvement matters. In addition, the Medical Staff may rely on Medical Center
Medical Staff or professional staff support resources to assist in the processing of applications for appointment,
reappointment, and Clinical Privileges. The Medical Staff may collaborate with other MUSC Health affiliated clinical
entities and the Board to develop coordinated, cooperative, or joint corrective action measures as deemed
appropriate to the circumstances. This may include, but is not limited to, giving timely notice of emerging or pending

problems, notice of corrective actions imposed and/or recommended, and coordinated hearings and appeals.



Article Il. BILL OF RIGHTS

Section 2.01 MEDICAL STAFF MEMBER RIGHTS

Members of the Medical Staff are afforded the following rights:

a. Right of Notification- Any matter of performance or conduct that could result in denial, suspension, or
reduction of Clinical Privileges will cause the Department Chief to notify the affected Member before formal
activity commences.

b. Access to Committees - Members of the Medical Staff are entitled to be present at a committee meeting
except during peer review proceedings. Members present for a specific agenda item shall be recognized
by the Chief as time permits. Members can petition the Medical Executive Committee for a specific agenda
item or issue.

C. Right of Information - Activities of the various committees (except for peer review proceedings)may be
reviewed by the Members in the Medical Staff office. The MEC will provide to the active membership all
changes to the Bylaws, Rules & Regulations, Credentials Policy Manual, and the Fair Hearing Plan.

d. Fair Hearing — Members are entitled to a fair hearing as described in the Fair Hearing Plan.

e. Access to Credentials File - Each Member shall be afforded an opportunity to review his/her own credentials
file before submission for approval. This review will occur at the time of initial appointment andat the time
of reappointment as specified in the Credentials Policy Manual.

f. Physician Health and Well-Being - Any Member may call upon the resources of the Medical Staff in
personal, professional, and peer matters to seek help and improvement.

g. Confidentiality - Matters discussed in committee and otherwise undertaken in the performance of Medical
Staff duties and Clinical Privileges are strictly confidential. Violation of this provision is grounds for

expulsion from the Medical Staff.

10



Article lll. MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERSHIP & STRUCTURE

Section 3.01 MEDICAL STAFF APPOINTMENT

Appointment to the MUSC Health Medical Centers Medical Staff is a privilege that shall be extended only to
competent professionals, who continuously meet the qualifications, standards, and requirements set forth in

these Bylaws and associated policies of the MUSC Health Medical Centers.

Section 3.02 QUALIFICATIONS FOR MEMBERSHIP

a. Only physicians with Doctor of Medicine (MD) Doctor of Osteopathy (DO) degrees, or equivalent foreign
medical degree such as MBBS, or Dentists or Podiatrists (DPM) holding a current, valid academic
license or unrestricted license to practice in the State of South Carolina shall be qualified for
appointment to the Medical Staff. Additional requirements include:

i. Documentation of background, experience, training, judgment, individual character and
demonstrated competence, and physical and mental capabilities, with sufficient adequacy to
assure the Medical Staff and Board that any patient treated by them in the Medical Centers will
receive a high quality of patient care,

ii. Demonstrated adherence to the ethics of his/her profession, and ability to work with others

b. No professional may be entitled to membership on the Medical Staff or to the exercise of particular Clinical
Privileges at any MUSC Health Medical Centers merely by virtue of licensure to practice in this or any other
state, or of membership in any professional organization, or of privileges at another Medical Center.

C. Must be free from government sanctions and bans as outlined by Medicare and the Department of Health
and Human Services - Office of the Inspector General (‘DHHS-0OIG”).

: Must meet appointment requirements as specified in the Credentials Policy Manual.
e. After the Effective Date of these Medical Staff Bylaws, any new applicant for MD, DO, MBBS, DPM or

Dentist membership shall be eligible for or have obtained board certification and comply with individual
board requirements in his/her respective medical or dental specialty board at the time of appointment.
Any members of the Medical Staff prior to the Effective Date of these Bylaws shall not be required to meet
this standard. This Board must have been approved by the American Medical Association, the American
Osteopathic Association, or the American Board of Medical Specialties. A five (5) year grace period, or

longer if allowed for the applicant’s specialty as detailed in the ABMS Member Boards Eligibility Periods

and Transition Dates (rev July 2021) may be allowed an applicant from the time of completion of his/her

residency or fellowship to obtain initial board certification, or, if an alternative pathway for board

certification is allowed for the applicant’s specialty, a grace period commensurate with the alternative

pathway timeframe. Board recertification and maintenance certification should be in accordance with the

criteria established by the applicable specialty and/or in accordance with the criteria established by the

applicable specialty and/or subspecialty board. Satisfaction of all maintenance criteria will be assessed

at reappointment. If no criteria applicable, recertification must be obtained within two (2) years following
11



f.

g.

any expiration of certification. Failure to achieve or maintain board certification within the time frames
required herein may be grounds for revocation and/or denial of Medical Staff membership to be determined
by the Medical Executive Committee and Board. In special cases, for recertification, where a need exists,
an exception to these qualifications can be made, only after the applicant has demonstrated competency
to the satisfaction of the Department Chief in the department in which they are assigned, and the
Department Chief has attested either in a written or oral format to the divisional Medical Staff Leadership
Committee and the MEC for approval. Waiver of board certification requirement can be granted when no
board specialty exists, and the Department Chief attests (in written and oral format) to adequacy of training
and competency. Should the practitioner become eligible for board certification, s/he will be required to
attain Board Certification within two (2) years, or reappointment will not be granted. Foreign Board
Certification may be an appropriate substitute for United States Board approval. The Medical Staff
Leadership Committee may choose to accept or reject such certification. In the event the certification is
rejected, the Department Chief may petition the MEC for approval.

Maintain malpractice insurance as specified by the MEC, MUSC Health Medical Centers and Board.

Maintain Federal DEA and State DHEC license/certification where applicable.

Section 3.03 NON-DISCRIMINATION

The MUSC Health Medical Centers will not discriminate in granting staff appointment and/or Clinical Privileges

on the basis of age, sex, race, creed, color, nationality, gender, sexualorientation, or type of procedure or

patient population in which the practitioner specializes.

Section 3.04 CONDITIONS AND DURATION OF APPOINTMENT

Initial appointments and reappointments to the Medical Staff shall be made by the MUHA Board.
The Board shall act on appointments and reappointments only after there has been a recommendation
from the Credentials Committee and MEC as outlined with associated details in theCredentials Policy

Manual.

Appointments to the staff will be for no more than twenty-four (24) calendar months.

Appointment to the Medical Staff shall confer on the appointee only such Clinical Privileges as have been
granted by the Board.

Only those practitioners assigned to the Active Medical Staff have general Medical Staff voting privileges.
Medical Staff membership, Clinical Privileges and Prerogatives will be terminated immediately if the
Practitioner is under government sanctions as listed by the Department of Health and Human Services —

Office of the Inspector General.

Section 3.05 CONTRACT SERVICES

The Clinical Privileges of any Practitioner who has a contractual or employment relationship with an entity other

than MUHA to provide professional services to patients shall be subject to those provisions contained in said

contract regarding the termination of Medical Staff membership and Clinical Privileges upon the expiration, lapse,
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cancellation, or termination of the contract. If no provisions for termination of membership or Clinical Privileges
are contained in the contract, the affected Practitioners’ membership and Clinical Privileges will be terminated at
the time ofthe contract termination, lapse, expiration or cancellation date. The affected Practitioners shall have no

right to a hearing regarding termination of Medical Staff membership or Clinical Privileges.

Section 3.06 PRIVILEGES AND PRACTICE EVALUATION
The privileging process is described as a series of activities designed to collect verify and evaluate data relevant

to a Practitioner’s professional performance and focuses on objective, evidence-based decisions regarding

appointment and reappointment.

a. Initial requests for Clinical Privileges are made simultaneously with the filing of the application for Medical
Staff membership. Following procedures and the associated details stated in the Credentials Policy
Manual, and with a recommendation of the appropriate Department Chief, the Medical Staff organization
will evaluate and make recommendations to the Board. Clinical Privileges will only be granted or renewed,
after applicant meets the criteria related to current licensure, relevant education, training and experience,
demonstrated current competence, physical ability and the clinical ability to perform the requested Clinical
Privileges. For new procedures and at the time of reappointment, Members’ requests for Clinical Privileges
will be subject again to the procedures and associated details outlined in the Credentials Policy Manual.

b. Initial appointment and reappointment and Clinical Privileges shall be granted for a specific period not to
exceed two (2) years upon final approval of the Governing Body.

C. The privilege to admit patients to a Medical Center shall be specifically delineated. Prescribing privileges
shall be limited to the classes of drugs granted to the Applicant by the DEA and the Applicant’s scope of
practice and current competence.

d. When considering Clinical Privileges for a new practitioner, current data should be collected during the
provisionaltime period for those Clinical Privileges selected by the Department Chief.

e. Prior to the granting of a Clinical Privilege, the Department Chief determines the resources needed for
each requested Clinical Privilege and must assure the resources necessary to support the requested
privilege are currently available or define the timeframe for availability. These resources include sufficient
space, equipment, staffing, and financial resources. The Department Chief will work with Medical
Center(s) to ensure resources are available.

f. At the time of appointment and reappointment, each candidate applying for Clinical Privileges will be

evaluated using the following six areas of general competence as a reference:

(i) Patient Care

(ii) Medical/Clinical Knowledge
(iii) Practice-based learning and improvement
(iv) Interpersonal and communication skills
(v) Professionalism
(vi) System-based practices
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()

(ii)

(iif)

A Focused Professional Practice Evaluation (FPPE) allows the medical staff to focus on specific aspects
of a Practitioner’s performance. This evaluation is used when:
A Practitioner has the credentials to suggest competence, but additional information or a period of
evaluation is needed to confirm competence in the organizations’ setting.
Questions arise regarding a Practitioner’s professional practice during the course of the Ongoing
Professional Practice Evaluation

For all initially requested Clinical Privileges
Ongoing Professional Practice Evaluation (OPPE) is designed to continuously evaluate a Practitioner’s

professional performance. It allows potential problems to be identified and fosters a more efficient,
evidence-based privilege renewal process. The type of data to be collected is approved by the organized
Medical Staff but is determined by individual Departments and is uniformly applied to all Members within
the Department. The frequency of data collection is determined by the organized Medical Staff in
collaboration with the Chief Medical Officers (CMOs), APP Best Practice Center and Chief Quality Officers.
Information from ongoing professional practice evaluation is used to determine whether to continue, limit,

or revoke any existing Clinical Privileges.

Section 3.07 TEMPORARY, DISASTER, AND EMERGENCY PRIVILEGES

a.

Temporary Privileges - Important Patient Care Need — Pending Application

Temporary privileges may be granted when there is an important patient care, treatment, or service need
that mandates an immediate authorization to practice, for a limited period of time, to a new applicant with
a fully completed, fully verified application that raises no concerns following review and recommendation
by the Department Chief and pending MEC review and Board approval. “New applicant” includes an
individual applying for Clinical Privileges at the Medical Center for the first time and an individual currently
holding Clinical Privileges who is requesting one or more additional Clinical Privileges. In these cases
only, the CEO or his/her designee, upon recommendation of the Medical Center Chief of Staff may grant
such Clinical Privileges upon establishment of current competence for the Clinical Privileges requested,
completion of the appropriate application, consent, and release, proof of current licensure, DEA
certificate, appropriate malpractice insurance, and completion of the required Data Bank query, and upon
verification that there are no current or prior successful challenges to licensure or registration, that the
Practitioner has not been subject to involuntary termination of medical staff membership at another facility,
and likewise has not been subject to involuntary limitation, reduction, denial, or loss of Clinical Privileges
at another facility. Such privileges may be granted for no more than one hundred twenty (120) days of

service.

b. Temporary Privileges—Important Patient Care Need—No Pending Application

Temporary privileges may be granted by the CEO upon recommendation of the Medical Center Chief of

Staff when there is an important patient care, treatment or service need that mandates an immediate

authorization to practice, for a limited period of time, when no application for Medical Staff membership or

C

linical Privileges is pending. Upon receipt of a written request, an appropriately licensed person who is

14



serving as a substitute for a Member of the Medical Staff during a period of absence for any reason, or a
practitioner temporarily providing services to cover an important patient care, treatment or service need
(which may include care of one (1) specific patient), may, without applying for membership on the staff, be
granted temporary privileges for an initial period not to exceed thirty (30) days. Such privileges may be
renewed for one (1) successive consecutive period not to exceed thirty (30) days (for no more than sixty
(60) consecutive days), but only upon the practitioner establishing his/her qualifications to the satisfaction
of the MEC and the Board and in no event to exceed one hundred and twenty (120) days of service within
a calendar year. All practitioners providing coverage for other practitioners must ensure that all legal
requirements, including billing and reimbursement regulations, are met. The Data Bank query must be
completed prior to any award of temporary privileges pursuant to this section. Further, prior to award of
temporary privileges, due to important patient care need, the applicant must submit a written request for
specific privileges and evidence of current competence to perform them, a photograph, proof of appropriate
malpractice insurance, the consent and release required by these bylaws, copies of the practitioner’s
license to practice medicine, DEA certificate and telephone confirmation of privileges at the practitioner’s
primary hospital. The letter approving temporary privileges shall identify the specific privileges granted.
Members of the Medical Staff seeking to facilitate coverage for their practice via a substitute practitioner
shall, where possible, advise the Medical Center at least thirty (30) days in advance of the identity of the
practitioner and the dates during which the services will be utilized to allow adequate time for appropriate

verification to be completed. Failure to do so without good cause shall be grounds for corrective action.

Temporary and proctoring privileges shall be granted only when the information available reasonably
supports a favorable determination regarding the requesting Practitioner's qualifications, ability and
judgment to exercise the privileges granted. Special requirements of consultation and reporting may be
imposed by the Chief of Staff, including a requirement that the patients of such Practitioner be admitted

upon dual admission with a member of the Active Staff.

Before temporary privileges are granted, the Practitioner must acknowledge in writing that he/she has
received and read the Medical Staff Bylaws, and Rules & Regulations, and that he/she agrees to be bound

by the terms thereof in all matters relating to his/her privileges.

A Practitioner shall not be entitled to the procedural rights afforded by these bylaws because of his/her

inability to obtain temporary privileges or because of any termination or suspension of such privileges.

Proctoring privileges- Upon receipt of a written request, an appropriately licensed person who is serving as
a proctor for a Member of the Medical Staff may, without applying for membership on the staff, be granted
temporary privileges for an initial period not to exceed thirty (30) days. Such privileges may be renewed for
successive periods not to exceed thirty (30) days, but only upon the practitioner establishing his/her
qualifications to the satisfaction of the MEC and the Board and in no event to exceed the period of

proctorship, or a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) days. The Data Bank query must be completed
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prior to any award of proctoring privileges pursuant to this section. Further, prior to award of proctoring
privileges, the applicant must submit a written request for specific privileges and evidence of current
competence to perform them, a photograph, proof of appropriate malpractice insurance, the consent and
release required by these bylaws, copies of the practitioner’s license to practice medicine, DEA certificate
and confirmation of privileges at the practitioner’'s primary hospital. The letter approving proctoring
privileges shall identify the specific privileges granted. In these cases, only, the CEO or his/her designee,
upon recommendation of the Chief Medical Officer or Chief of the Credentials Committee may grant such
privileges upon receipt of the required information.

No term of temporary or proctoring privileges shall exceed a total of one hundred and twenty (120) days.
On the discovery of any information or the occurrence of any event of a professionally questionable nature
concerning a Practitioner's qualifications or ability to exercise any or all of the privileges granted, the CEO
may, after consultation with the Medical Center Chief of Staff terminate any or all of such Practitioner's
temporary privileges.

Disaster Privileges - Disaster privileges may be granted by the Division CEQO, or the Division Chief Medical
Officer, according to Medical Center Policy C-035 Disaster Privileges for Licensed Independent
Practitioners, when the Emergency Management Plan for the Medical Center(s) has been activated and
when the Medical Center(s) cannot handle the needs of patients with just the available credentialed staff.
The Department Chief will be responsible for monitoring the professional performance of volunteer
practitioners with disaster privileges. This monitoring will be accomplished through direct observation, staff
feedback, and when appropriate, medical record review. The Department Chief is responsible for reviewing
the continuation of disaster privileges within 72 hours of granting the disaster privileges.

Emergency Privileges. For the purpose of this section, an “emergency” is defined as a condition in which
serious and permanent harm would result to a patient or in which the life of a patient is in immediate danger
and any delay in administering treatment would add to that danger.

(i) Inthe case of an emergency any practitioner, to the degree permitted by his license and regardless
of Medical Staff status or lack of it, shall be permitted and assigned to do everything possible to
prevent serious and permanent harm or to save the life of a patient, using every facility of the
Medical Center necessary, including calling for any consultation necessary or desirable. When an
emergency situation no longer exists, the practitioner must request the privileges to continue to
treat the patient. In the event such privileges are denied or he does not wish to request such
privileges, the patient shall be assigned to a member of the Medical Staff by the appropriate
Department Chief.

(i) Under conditions of extreme patient risk, the Chief of the Medical Staff, the Division Chief Medical
Officer, the appropriate Department Chief, Credentials Committee Chairperson, or the Division
CEO (or his/her designee) may grant emergency privileges for that patient alone. These conditions
would apply if the physician in question was the only one capable of rendering appropriate
professional services (i.e. no qualified Medical Staff members were available). Such privileges shall

be based on the information then available which may reasonably be relied upon to affirm the
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competency, ethical standing and licensure of the physician who desires such emergency
privileges. In the exercise of such privileges, such physician shall act under the direct supervision

of the Department Chief or his/her designee to which he/she is assigned.

Section 3.08 LEAVE OF ABSENCE
Any Member may apply to the Medical Staff Leadership Committee for a leave of absence not to exceed one (1)

year. Reinstatement of privileges may be requested from the Medical Staff Leadership Committee without formal

re-application. Absence for a period longer than one (1) year will require formal re- application. In some special

cases, (i.e., military service) a Department Chief or Medical Center Chief of Staff through the MSLC can

recommend to the MEC that a leave of absence be extended beyond a year without the necessity for formal

reappointment. At no time can a special circumstance leave of absence extend beyond a two (2) year re-

appointment cycle.

Section 3.09 RESPONSIBILITIES OF MEMBERSHIP

Each Medical Staff Member will:

a.

Pl )

2 Q@

Provide timely, appropriate and continuous care/treatment/services for his/her patients and supervise the
work of any AHP or trainee under his/her direction when appropriate.

Assist the MUSC Health Medical Center(s) in fulfilling its responsibilities by participating in the on-call
coverage of the emergency room and other coverage as determined by the individual Medical Centers’
MSOC.

Assist other Practitioners in the care of his/her patients when asked.

Act in an ethical and professional manner. Acceptance of membership and/or request for Clinical Privileges
on the Medical Staff shall constitute the agreement that they will strictly abide by: all applicable laws and
regulations of the United States and the State of South Carolina, the Principles of Medical Ethics of the
American Medical Association, the Principles of Medical Ethics of the American Osteopathy Association, the
Code of Ethics of the American Podiatric Medical Association, or the Code of Ethics of the American Dental
Association and the Code of Conduct of MUSC Health.

Treat employees, patients, visitors, and other Practitioners in a dignified and courteous manner.
Actively participate in the measurement, assessment, and improvement of patient care processes.
Participate in peer review as appropriate according to the MUSC Health Peer Review Policy.

Abide by the bylaws, rules and regulations, department rules, and other policies and procedures of
MUHA. This includes participating in focused professional practice evaluation (FPPE), performance
monitoring, performance improvement, and ongoing professional practice evaluation (OPPE) as
required by the Medical Staff.

Abide by all standards from regulatory bodies. (i.e., The Joint Commission, DHEC and others)
Participate in continuing education as directed by state licensure and the MEC.

Speak as soon as possible with Medical Center(s) patients who wish to contact the attending about

his/her care in accordance with the South Carolina Lewis Blackman Medical Center Patient Safety
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Act.

When required as a part of the practitioner well-being program, comply with recommended actions.
Discharge such department and committee functions or office for which they are responsible by appointment
or election.

Prepare and complete in a timely and legible manner the medical and other required records for all patients
they admit or otherwise provides care to in a Medical Center.

Section 3.10 RESPONSIBILITIES OF MEMBERSHIP - ATTENDING PHYSICIANS

a.

Hospitalized patients shall be seen by the attending physician or his/her designated credentialed provider at
least daily and more frequently if their status warrants. Attendings will also see patients at the patient’s
request.

Hospitalized surgery patients or out-patients receiving moderate sedation or greater shall be seen by the
attending physician at least once within the first 24 hours post-surgery. Outpatients may be seen by the
attending surgeon during the recovery period.
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Article IV.
Section 4.01
a.
(i)
b.
(i)
(i)
(iii)
(iv)
c.
(i)
(i)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
d.

CATEGORIES OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

ACTIVE CATEGORY

Qualifications — An appointee to this category must:

Be involved on a regular basis in patient care delivery at the MUSC Health Medical Centers and
annually provide the majority of his/her services/activities within the MUSC Health Medical

Centers; or

(ii) Each divisional Chief Medical Officer shall be a Member of the active Medical Staff.

Prerogatives — An appointee to this category may:

Exercise the Clinical Privileges granted without limitation, except as otherwise provided in the

MedicalStaff Rules and Regulations, or by specific Clinical Privilege restriction.

Vote on all matters presented at general and special meetings of the Medical Staff, and of the

Department and Committees on which he is appointed.

Hold office, sit on or be chairperson of any committee, unless otherwise specified elsewhere in
these Bylaws.
Admit patients to the appropriate MUSC Health Medical Center.

Responsibilities - Appointee to this category must:

Contribute to the organizational and administrative affairs of the Medical Staff.

Actively participate in recognized functions of staff appointment, including performance
improvement and other monitoring activities, monitoring initial appointees during his/her
provisional period, and in discharging other staff functions as may be required from time to time.
Accept his/her individual responsibilities in the supervision and training of students and House
Staff members as assigned by his/her respective department, division or section head and
according to Medical Center Policy C-074 Resident Supervision.

Participate in the emergency room and other specialty coverage programs in their primary
Medical Center or Division as set forth in each Medical Center’s on-call policy as approved by
the MSOC, each of which shall be incorporated herein by reference. The Active Staff member
may be required to provide Emergency Department coverage at their primary Medical Center or
Division and to accept assignment of patients that do not have an attending physician.
Participate in focused professional practice evaluations to establish competency for Clinical

Privileges requested as necessary.

Removal - Failure to satisfy the requirements for activity for the MUSC Health Medical Center(s), as

deemed by the MSLC or the MEC during the appointment period will result in automatic transfer to Courtesy

Category.

Section 4.02 COURTESY CATEGORY
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a.
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi
b.
C.

Qualifications — An appointee to this category must:
Participate in the clinical affairs of the MUSC Health Medical Centers
Be involved in the care or treatment of at least six (6) patients of the MUSC Health Medical
Center(s) or clinics during his/her appointment period, or
Refer patients to other physicians or staff of the MUSC Health Medical Center (s) or those
who order diagnostic or therapeutic services at the MUSC Health Medical Center (s).
Do not admit or regularly participate in the care of more than 25 patients in a calendar year.
Should a Practitioner exceed the 25-patient encounter threshold, he/she shall automatically
advance to Active Staff status for the remainder of the calendar year and must abide by the
Prerogatives and responsibilities outlined in Section 4.01
Physicians who meet the following criteria shall not be subject to the aforementioned 25
patient encounter limitation: (i) the physician provides a service that is not otherwise
available at the Medical Center; and (ii) the physician’s primary practice is located outside

of the community.

i) The MSLC may waive the requirement to care for at least six (6) patients during an appointment

period for physicians who are members in good standing with another MUSC Health affiliated
Medical Center and who continue to meet the qualifications for appointment to the Courtesy Staff
dMUSC Health. Additionally, this exception would only occur if physician specific quality and
outcomes information has been provided by the affiliated Medical Center upon request. Such
information shall be sufficient quality and quantity to allow a reappointment and privileging
recommendation by the Credentials Committee.

Prerogatives

(i) An appointee to this category may exercise the Clinical Privileges granted without limitation, except
as otherwise provided in the Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, or by specific privilege exception.

(i) Attend meetings of the Staff and Department to which he/she is appointed and any MUSC Health
education programs.

(iii) Request admitting privileges.

Responsibilities

(i) Discharge the basic responsibilities specified in Section 3.09.

(i) Retain responsibility within his/her area of professional competence for the care and supervision of
each patient in the Medical Center for who he/she is providing service.

(iii) Satisfy the requirements set forth in these Bylaws for attendance at meetings of the Medical Staff
and of the committees of which he/she is a member.

(iv) Participate in the emergency department on-call rotation as directed by the MEC and Board when
there is an inadequate number of current Active Staff members to address an important patient
coverage need, as determined by the MEC and Board. Any unassigned patient encounters incurred
as a result of and while participating on the emergency department on-call rotation as assigned by
the MEC and Board shall not count toward the patient encounter limitation described in Section 4.02
(a.iv).
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d. Removal — Failure to satisfy the requirements for activity for the MUSC Health Medical Centers, as deemed

by the MSLC, during the appointment period will result in automatic transfer to the Consulting category.

Section 4.03 CONSULTING CATEGORY

a. Qualifications: Consulting Staff shall consist of a special category of physicians, dentists, or podiatrists, each
of whom is, because of board certification, training and experience, recognized by the medical community as
an authority within his/her specialty.

b. Prerogatives of a Consulting Staff member shall be to consult on patients within his/her specialty to the extent
he/she holds delineated Clinical Privileges to do so; and attend all meetings of the Medical Staff that he/she
may wish to attend as a non-voting visitor.

c. Consulting Staff members shall not hold office nor be eligible to vote in the Medical Staff organization.
Consulting Staff members must have fewer than fifteen (15) encounters in which they manage direct patient
care.

e. For Consulting Staff members who have their primary practice outside the community, such members may
provide or manage direct patient care, within the scope of their granted Clinical Privileges, in an unlimited
number of cases, where there is, as determined by the Board in consultation with and on the recommendation
of the Medical Executive Committee, an otherwise unfulfilled community need for the services to be provided
by the particular Consulting Staff member.

i. A determination by the Medical Executive Committee and/or Board that there is not an unfulfilled
community need for the services of a particular Consulting Staff member shall not be subject to
appeal nor entitle the member to any of the procedural rights under these Bylaws.

ii. Consulting Staff members whose primary practice is located in the community, and who exceed the
accepted number of encounters referenced above must transfer to Active Staff and meet all the
requirements as outlined in Section 4.01

f. Each member of the Consulting Staff shall assume responsibility for consultation, treatment and appropriate

documentation thereof with regard to his/her patients.

Section 4.04 HONORARY / ADMINISTRATIVE CATEGORY

This category is restricted to those individuals the Medical Staff wishes to honor or to those physicians who have

only administrative positions or administrativeappointments and no Clinical Privileges.

a. Such staff appointees are not eligible to admit patients to the MUSC Health Medical Centers, vote, or
exercise Clinical Privileges. They may, however, attend Medical Staff and department meetings. This
category is exempt from the malpractice insurance requirements and Board Certification requirements,
unless required within his/her position description.

b. Physicians with the MUSC Health Medical Centers whose duties include both administrative and clinical

activities must be members of the Medical Staff and must obtain Clinical Privileges in the same manner
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as any other Medical Staff member. When a contract exists, the contract of the physician who has both
administrative and clinical duties shall clearly define the relationship between termination of the contract

by the MUSC Health Medical Centers and reduction or termination in Clinical Privileges.

Section 4.05 RURAL HEALTH CLINIC (RHC) /AMBULATORY CATEGORY

a. Qualifications - The RHC staff shall consist of physicians, dentists, or podiatrists, who meet the basic
qualifications for Medical Staff membership set forth in these Bylaws and who are currently providers in an
MUSC Health Rural Health Care Clinic.

b. Prerogatives - The RHC member may refer his or her patients for admission to the Medical Center for care by
another physician unless otherwise privileged. The referring physician may visit the patient and provide follow-
up care, exercise such clinical privileges as are granted and may attend meetings of the Medical Staff and any
Medical Staff or Medical Center education programs. Members of this category may not vote unless assigned
to a standing committee and do not have call responsibility.

c. Responsibilities - The RHC Member shall discharge the basic responsibilities of membership and
retain responsibility within his/her area of professional competence for the care and supervision of each patient
in the Rural Health Clinic for who he/she is providing service. The RHC staff participate in performance
improvement and quality activities of the Medical Center sufficient to evaluate outcomes.

Section 4.06 NON-MEMBER CATEGORIES

a. House Staff/Residents -The House Staff consists of those practitioners, who by virtue of a contract, are
in the post-graduate training program at the Medical University of South Carolina. House Staff are not
eligible to hold a Medical Staff office and are not eligible to vote unless otherwise indicated in these
Bylaws. Only practitioners who are graduates of an approved, recognized medical, osteopathic or dental
school, who are legally licensed to practice in the State of South Carolina and who, continue to perform
and develop appropriately in his/her training are qualified for assignment to the House Staff. The Chief of
the House Staff member’s department and the Associate DIO for the respective Division will be responsible

for monitoring performance and will notify the MSLC of any change in status.

b. Professional Staff — Members of the Professional Staff are those AHPs who are not a licensed MD, DO
or Dentist, and who, although not Members of the Medical Staff, are credentialed through the Medical

Staff process as described in the Credentials Manual.

c. Telehealth Practitioners- Any Practitioner who prescribes, renders a diagnosis, or otherwise provides
clinical treatment to a patient at the Medical Center through a telehealth procedure (the “Telehealth
Physician”), must be credentialed and privileged through the Medical Staff pursuant to the credentialing
and privileging procedures described in these Medical Staff Bylaws and associated Credentials Manual.
The Medical Staff shall make recommendations to the Board regarding which clinical services are
appropriately delivered through the medium of telehealth, and the scope of such services. Clinical
services offered through this means shall be provided consistent with commonly accepted quality
standards. An exception is outlined in the Credentials Manual below for those circumstances in which

the Practitioner’s distant-site entity or distant-site hospital is Joint Commission accredited and the Medical
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Center places in the Practitioner’s credentialing file a copy of written documentation confirming such
accreditation.

Section 4.07 MODIFICATION IN STAFF CATEGORIES AND CLINICAL PRIVILEGES
a. The MSLC may recommend to the MEC, and then the MEC may recommend to the Board, that a change

in staff category of a current Medical Staff Member be made in accordance with this Article 4. In the
event the Practitioner is not eligible for any other category, his/her Medical Staff membership shall
automatically terminate.

b. No such transfer or termination shall be subject to the provisions of the Fair Hearing Process.
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Article V. OFFICERS OF MEDICAL CENTER MEDICAL STAFF

Section 5.01 OFFICERS OF THE MEDICAL STAFF

There shall be officers elected at each Medical Center within the MUSC Health Regional Health Network. The officers
shall include:

a. Chief of Staff
b. Vice Chief of Staff
C. Secretary

Section 5.02 QUALIFICATIONS OF OFFICERS
Officers must be members of the Active Medical Staff at thetime of nomination and election and must remain

members in good standing during his/her terms of office.

Officers should possess some Medical Staff administrative experience. In addition, Medical Staff officers must be
committed to put in the required time to assist the functioning of the organized Medical Staff.

Section 5.03 SELECTION OF OFFICERS
A Nominating Committee shall be appointed by the then current Chief of Staff at the meeting prior to biennial

elections to nominate a Secretary or other officers if vacant.

a. The Nominating Committee shall present a list of names for consideration to the Medical Staff at its annual
meeting or at a called meeting.

b. Medical Staff members may submit names for consideration to members of the Nominating Committee.

C. Only Active Staff shall be eligible to vote. A plurality vote of those Active Staff present at the annual

meeting is required.

Section 5.04 TERM OF OFFICE
All officers shall take office on the first day of the calendar year and serve a term of two years. Officers at the time

of the passing of these Bylaws shall serve until the first day of the immediate next calendar year when new officers
are selected as outlined in Section 5.03.

Section 5.05 VACANCIES IN OFFICE
Vacancies in office during the Medical Staff year, except the Chief of Staff, shall be filled by vote of the local

Medical Center Medical Staff. If there is a vacancy in the office of Chief of Staff, the Vice Chief shall serve the
remainder of the term.

Section 5.06 DUTIES OF OFFICERS

a. Chief of Staff -The Chief of Staff shall serve as the chief officer of the Medical Staff and will fulfill the
following duties:
. Aid in coordinating the activities of the Medical Center administration and of nursing and other

non-physician patient care services with those of the Medical Staff;
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. be responsible to the MSLC for the quality and efficiency of clinical services and professional
performance within the Medical Center and for the effectiveness of patient care evaluations
and maintenance functions delegated to the Medical Staff;

. work with the MEC, MSLC and/or Board in implementation of the MEC, MSLC, and/or Board's
quality, performance, efficiency and other standards;

. in concert with the MSLC and Departments, support development and implementation of
methods for credentials review and for delineation of privileges; along with the continuing
medical education programs, utilization review, monitoring functions and patient care
evaluation studies;

. participate in the selection or appointment of Medical Staff representatives to Medical Staff
and Medical Center administration committees;

. report to the MSOC, MSLC, the Division CEO, and Division CMO concerning the opinions,
policies, needs and grievances of the Medical Staff;

. be responsible for enforcement and clarification of Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules &
Regulations, for the implementation of sanctions where indicated, and for the Medical Staff's
compliance with procedural safeguards in all instances where corrective action has been

requested against a Practitioner;

. serve as chairperson of the MSOC;

. serve as liaison for the Medical Center Medical Staff in its external professional and public
relations;

. confer with the Division CEO, CMO, COO, CFO, CNO and Department on at least a quarterly

basis as to whether there exists sufficient space, equipment, staffing, and financial resources
or that the same will be available within a reasonable time to support each Clinical Privilege
requested by applicants to the Medical Staff and report on the same to the MSLC; and
. assist the Department Chiefs as to the types and amounts of data to be collected and
compared in determining and informing the Medical Center Medical Staff of the professional
practice of its Members.
b. Vice Chief of Staff - In the absence of the Chief of Staff, the Vice Chief of Staff shall assume all the duties
and have the authority of the Chief of Staff. He/she shall perform such further duties to assist the Chief of
Staff as the Chief of Staff may, from time-to-time request, including the review and revision of Bylaws as
necessary, supervision of the Medical Center's quality, patient safety, and resource utilization programs,
and serve as the local liaison for medical staff peer review activities. The Vice Chief of Staff will serve as
the Chief of Staff-Elect.
C. Secretary -The secretary shall ensure that the recording, transcription, and communication processes
produce accurate and complete minutes of all Medical Staff meetings. The secretary serves as the Vice
Chief elect.

Section 5.07 REMOVAL FROM OFFICE
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The Medical Staff and/or Board may remove any Medical Staff Officer for failure to fulfill his/her responsibilities,
conduct detrimental to the interests of the MUSC Medical Centers and/or the Medical Staff, or a physical or
mental infirmity to the degree that renders him incapable of fulfilling the duties of the office.

Removal from elected office shall not entitle the Practitioner to procedural rights.

Any Medical Staff Member has the right to initiate a recall election of a Medical Staff Officer. A petition to recall
must be signed by at least 25% of the Members of the Active Medical Staff and be presented to the Medical
Staff Leadership Committee. Upon presentation, the MSLC will schedule a general Medical Staff meeting to
discuss the issue(s) and, if appropriate, entertain a no confidence vote.

Any Medical Staff Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Medical Executive Committee.
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ARTICLE VL. MEDICAL STAFF OFFICERS OF THE DIVISIONAL MEDICAL STAFF
LEADERSHIP COMMITTEE

Section 6.01 OFFICERS
The Officers of each Divisional MSLC shall be:

a. Divisional Chief of Staff
b. Divisional Vice Chief of Staff
c. Divisional Secretary /Vice Chief elect

Section 6.02 QUALIFICATIONS OF DIVISIONAL OFFICERS

Officers must be members of the Active Medical Staff at the time of nomination and election and must remain members
in good standing during his/her terms of office. They must constructively participate in Medical Staff affairs, including
active participation in peer review activities and on Medical Staff committees and demonstrate an interest in
maintaining quality patient care at the Medical Centers

Section 6.03 SELECTION OF DIVISIONAL OFFICERS

The MSLC members shall vote for MSLC Officers nominated from among the current MSLC members. MSLC Officers
shall be elected every other year at a meeting of the MSLC (or via electronic voting if applicable) and shall be confirmed
by the Governing Body.

Section 6.04 TERM OF OFFICE OF DIVISIONAL OFFICERS
All MSLC Officers shall take office on the first day of the calendar year and serve a term of two years.
Section 6.05 VACANCIES IN DIVISIONAL OFFICE

Vacancies in an office during an MSLC Officer’s two (2) year term shall be filled by the vacancies in office during the
Medical Staff year, except the Divisional Chief of Staff shall be filled by vote of the MSLC of the division. If there is a
vacancy in the Office of the Divisional Chief of Staff, the Divisional Vice Chief shall serve the remainder of the term.

Section 6.06  DUTIES OF DIVISONAL OFFICERS

a. Chief of Staff -The Chief of Staff shall serve as the chief administrative officer of the MSLC and will fulfill
the following duties for the MSLC:

i. Aid in coordinating the activities of the Medical Center administration and of nursing and other non-
physician patient care services with those of the Medical Staff;

ii. With the local Medical Center Chiefs of Staff, be responsible to the MSLC for the quality and
efficiency of clinical services and professional performance within the Division Medical Centers
and for the effectiveness of patient care evaluations and maintenance functions delegated to the
Medical Staff;

iii. Work with the MEC, MSLC and/or Board in implementation of the MEC, MSLC, and/or Board's
quality, performance, efficiency and other standards;

iv. In concert with the MSLC, MSOCs, and Departments, support development and implementation
of methods for credentials review and for delineation of privileges; along with the continuing

medical education programs, utilization review, monitoring functions and patient care evaluation
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vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

studies;

Participate in the selection or appointment of Medical Staff representatives to Medical Staff and
Medical Center administration committees;

report to the MSLC, MEC, the Division CEO and Division CMO concerning the opinions, policies,
needs and grievances of the Medical Staff;

be responsible for enforcement and clarification of Medical Staff Bylaws and Rules & Regulations,
for the implementation of sanctions where indicated, and for the Medical Staff's compliance with
procedural safeguards in all instances where corrective action has been requested against a
Practitioner;

serve as chairperson of the MSLC;

serve as liaison for the Medical Center Medical Staff in its external professional and public
relations;

confer with the Division CEO, CFO, COO, CNO and Department on at least a quarterly basis as
to whether there exists sufficient space, equipment, staffing, and financial resources or that the
same will be available within a reasonable time to support each Clinical Privilege requested by
applicants to the Medical Staff and report on the same to the MSLC; and

assist the Department Chiefs as to the types and amounts of data to be collected and compared

in determining and informing the Division Medical Staff of the professional practice of its Members.

Vice Chief of Staff- In the absence of the Chief of Staff, the Vice Chief of Staff shall assume all the duties
and have the authority of the Chief of Staff. He/she shall perform such further duties to assist the Chief of
Staff as the Chief of Staff may, from time-to-time request, including the review and revision of Bylaws as
necessary, supervision of the divisional Medical Centers’ quality, patient safety, and resource utilization
programs. The Vice Chief of Staff will serve as the Chief of Staff-Elect.

Secretary -The Secretary shall ensure that the recording, transcription, and communication processes
produce accurate and complete minutes of all MSLC meetings. The secretary serves as the Vice Chief
elect.

Section 6.07 REMOVAL FROM OFFICE

a.

The Medical Staff of the Division and/or the Board may remove any divisional MSLC officer for failure to
fulfill his/her responsibilities, conduct detrimental to the interests of the MUSC Medical Centers within the
Division and/or the Medical Staff, or a physical or mental infirmity to the degree that renders him incapable
of fulfilling the duties of the office.

Removal from elected office shall not entitle the Practitioner to procedural rights.

Any Medical Staff member within the division has the right to initiate a recall election of a Divisional Medical
Staff Officer. A petition to recall must be signed by at least 25% of the members of the active staff and
presented to the Medical Staff Leadership Committee. Upon presentation, the MSLC will schedule a
general Divisional Medical Staff meeting to discuss the issue(s) and, if appropriate, entertain a no
confidence vote.

Any Divisional MSLC Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Medical Executive
Committee.

28



ARTICLE VII. MEDICAL STAFF OFFICERS OF THE UNIFIED MUSC HEALTH
REGIONAL HEALTH CARE NETWORK

Section 7.01 MEDICAL STAFF OFFICERS OF THE UNIFIED MUSC HEALTH REGIONAL HEALTH CARE
NETWORK

The officers of the MUSC Health Regional Health Care Network Medical Staff (“RHN Officers”) shall be:

a. President
b. Vice President

c. Vice President Elect

Section 7.02 QUALIFICATIONS OF RHN OFFICERS

Officers must be Members of the Active Medical Staff of at least one (1) MUSC Health Medical Center at the time of
nomination and election and must remain members in good standing during his/her terms of office. They must
constructively participate in Medical Staff affairs, including active participation in peer review activities and on Medical
Staff committees and demonstrate an interest in maintaining quality patient care at the Medical Centers.

Section 7.03 SELECTION OF RHN OFFICERS

The Medical Executive Committee shall vote for Medical Staff Officers nominated from among the current Medical
Executive Committee members. Medical Staff Officers shall be elected every other year at a meeting of the Medical
Executive Committee (or via electronic voting if applicable) and shall be confirmed by the Governing Body.

Section 7.04 TERM OF OFFICE OF RHN OFFICERS
All officers shall take office on the first day of the calendar year and serve a term of two years.
Section 7.05 VACANCIES IN RHN OFFICERS

Vacancies in an office during a Medical Staff Officer's two (2) year term shall be filled by the Medical Executive
Committee pursuant to the nomination and voting procedures in Sections 7.02 and 7.03 above. The individual filling
the vacancy shall serve out the remaining term. If there is a vacancy in the office of President, the Vice President shall
serve the remainder of the term.

Section 7.06 DUTIES OF RHN OFFICERS

a. President. The President shall serve as the organized Medical Staff's chief administrative officer and will fulfill
those duties specified in these bylaws, and shall:
i. act in coordination and cooperation with the Chief Medical Officers, the MSLCs and the Medical

Executive Committee members in all matters of mutual concern within the Medical Centers;

ii. call, preside at, and be responsible for the agenda of all Medical Executive Committee meetings;

iii. serve as a voting member on the Medical Executive Committee;

iv. be responsible for the enforcement of these Bylaws, medical staff policies, and associated policies;
for implementation of sanctions where these Bylaws are indicated; and for the Medical Staff's
compliance with procedural safeguards in all instances where remedial action has been requested
against a Staff Member;

V. present the views, policies, needs and grievances of the Medical Staff to the Board and to receive,

and interpret the policies of the Board to the Medical Staff and report to the Board on quality
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improvement review with respect to the Medical Staff's delegated responsibility to provide medical
care;
Vi. ensure that attendance is taken at and accurate and complete minutes are kept of all Medical
Executive Committee meetings
b. Vice President shall:
i be a voting member of the Medical Executive Committee.
ii. in the absence of the President assume all the duties and have the authority of the President.

iii. attend to and perform such other duties as ordinarily pertain to such office.

c. Vice President Elect -The Vice President Elect—shallElect shall ensure that the recording, transcription, and

communication processes produce accurate and complete minutes of all Medical Staff meetings.

Section 7.07 REMOVAL FROM RHN OFFICE

a. The Medical Staff and/or Board may remove any Medical Staff officer for failure to fulfill his/her
responsibilities, conduct detrimental to the interests of the Medical Centers and/or the Medical Staff, or a
physical or mental infirmity to the degree that renders him incapable of fulfilling the duties of the office.

b. Removal from elected office shall not entitle the Practitioner to procedural rights.

C. Any Medical Staff member has the right to initiate a recall election of a Medical Staff Officer. A petition to
recall must be signed by at least 25% of the members of the active staff and presented to the Medical
Executive Committee. Upon presentation, the MEC will schedule a general staff meeting to discuss the
issue(s) and, if appropriate, entertain a no confidence vote.

d. Any Medical Staff Officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Medical Executive

Committee.
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Article VIII. DEPARTMENTS
Section 8.01 ORGANIZATION OF DEPARTMENTS

The Medical Staff at each division shall be organized into departments and/or sections, in a manner as to best assure:

a. The supervision of clinical practices within the Medical Center.

b. The conduct of teaching and training programs for students and House Staff.

C. The discovery of new knowledge.

d. The dissemination of new knowledge.

e. The appropriate administrative activities of the Medical Staff; and an integrated quality management
program to monitor objectively and systematically evaluate the quality and appropriateness of patient
care, including peer review, objectively establish and monitor criteria for the effective utilization of
Medical Center and practitioner services and pursue opportunities to improve patient care and resolve
identified problems.

f. The active involvement in the measurement, assessment and improvement of patient care processes.

Section 8.02 DIVISIONAL DEPARTMENTS

Each Division shall have the following Departments:
a. Department of Medicine
b. Department of Surgery
c. Department of Emergency Medicine
d. Department of Pediatrics
e. Department of Obstetrics/GYN
f. Department of Anesthesia
g. Department of Radiology
h. Department of Pathology/Laboratory

i. Department of Cardiology (Midlands Division only)

Section 8.03 QUALIFICATIONS AND SELECTION OF DEPARTMENT CHIEF
a. Each Department shall have a Chief, who shall be approved by the Board after election by the department

members. Each Chief shall be a Member of the Active Category of the Medical Staff and be well qualified
by training and experience and demonstrated competency for the position. The Chief must be certified in
an appropriate specialty board or have comparable competence that has been affirmatively established

through the credentialing process.

b. A Department Chief must be eligible for privileging within the Department and meet all credentials

requirements within the Division.
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The Department Chief must have the ability to work with and represent all Medical Centers in the Division

and dedicate the time necessary to perform such duties.

Department Chiefs may be removed by affirmative vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Department members as

provided for removal of officers in Section 5.07.

Section 8.04 FUNCTIONS OF DEPARTMENT

Through the Department Chief each department shall:

a.

Recommend to the Medical Staff the objective and evidenced based criteria consistent with the policies of
the Medical Staff and the Board for the granting and renewal of Clinical Privileges related to patient care
provided within the department.

Recommend Clinical Privileges for each member of the Department.

Develop and uniformly apply criteria for a focused time limited professional practice evaluation for all
initially requested Clinical Privileges of practitioners within his/her department.

Develop and uniformly apply criteria for the on-going professional evaluation of all practitioners

within his/her department.

Assure the decision to deny a privilege(s) is objective and evidenced based.

Establish policies and procedures and scope of practice for House Staff supervision. The character of
supervision will depend upon the level of training and demonstrated competence of each House Staff
member.

Each department shall participate in a medical care evaluation program and/or quality improvement

program as required by accrediting bodies, federal regulations and state statutes. This plan shall include

a process that assures active participation in the ongoing measurement, assessment and improvement of
the quality of care and treatment and include quality control processes as appropriate.
Shall establish standards and a recording methodology for the orientation and continuing education of its
members. Participation in the roles of both students and teachers is recognized as the means of
continuously improving the services rendered by the Medical Staff. Such continuing education should:
Represent a balance between intra-institutional and outside activities.
Be based, when applicable, on the findings of the quality improvement effort.
Be appropriate to the Practitioner’s Clinical Privileges and will be considered as part of the
reappointment process.
Coordinate clinical activities of the department and integrate all patient care and clinical activities with
MUSC Health Medical Centers.
Monitor on a continuing basis, departmental activities and compliance with Medical Staff Bylaws and other
accrediting bodies’ standards.
Define the circumstances and implement the process of focused peer review activities within the
department.

Assess and recommend off-site sources for needed patient care, treatment and service when not
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provided by the Department.

m. Conduct administrative duties of the Department when not otherwise provided by the Medical Center.
n. Coordinate and integrate all inter and intra departmental services.
0. Develop and implement Department policies and procedures that guide and support the provision of safe

and quality care, treatment, and services.

p. Recommend sufficient qualified and competent staff to provide care within the Department and work
with Clinical Services and MUSC Health Medical Centers leaders to determine the qualifications and
competencies of non-licensed independent practitioners within the Department who provide patient
care, treatment, and services.

qg. Recommend space and resource needs of the Department.

r. Ensure the timely and appropriate completion of MUSC Health Medical Centers administrative
responsibilities assigned to departmental physicians.

S. Supervise the completion of the assigned responsibilities of departmental members who serve as MUSC

Health Medical Centers Medical Directors.

t. Assess and improve on a continuing basis the quality of care, treatment, and services provided in the
Department.
u. Divisional Departments shall meet at least quarterly and may meet more often, as needed.

Section 8.05 ASSIGNMENT TO DEPARTMENTS

All Members of the Medical Staff shall be assigned to a department as part of the appointment process.
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Article IX. COMMITTEES AND FUNCTIONS

Section 9.01 STRUCTURE OF COMMITTEES

There shall be a single MEC for all MUSC Health Medical Centers and provider-based clinics governed by
these Bylaws. There shall be a Medical Staff Leadership Committee (MSLC) for each Division (Florence,
Lancaster, Midlands). The MSLC will also serve as the Credentials Committee for each division. There shall
be a divisional Peer Review Committee. There shall be a Medical Staff Operating Committee (MSOC) at
each Medical Center within a Division.

Permanent medical staff committees may be established by the MEC. Committees may be established by
the MSLCs for their respective locations. Temporary (ad hoc) committees may be established by the MEC,
MSLCs, or by an individual department or service.

Section 9.02 MEDICAL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (MEC)

a.

Composition: The members of the MEC include:

i. Chief of Staff of each MUSC Health Medical Center — elected by each individual Medical Center
Medical Staff

ii. Vice Chief of Staff of each MUSC Health Medical Center — elected by each individual Medical
Center Medical Staff

iii. CMO’S as voting members with ability to abstain for conflicts
iv. MUSC Chief Quality Officer (non-voting)

V. Chief Physician Executive CPE for Regional Health Network (non-voting)

Vi. Nursing Representative (non-voting)
Vii. Divisional CEOs (or designee) as non-voting members
viii. Advanced Practice Professional leader (non-voting)

Membership for all elected members and appointees will be for a two-year period starting on the first day

of the calendar year.

Officers shall include a President, Vice President, and Vice President-Elect will be elected.
The MEC will be chaired by the President elected by the MEC.

All members unless specified will have voting rights.

If an emergent situation arises between meetings of the MEC that, requires a vote and approval by the
MEC, the MEC President may by written, verbal, or printed notice request a virtual meeting, a vote, or
both. The notice shall include a description/explanation of the matter that requires a vote and a mechanism
for voting. This request for a vote shall be delivered, either personally or by mail, including electronic mail
to each member of the MEC not less than three (3) days before the return deadline for voting. Members

may submit their vote either in person or in writing via internal mail, email, fax, text, or as instructed (i.e.,
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Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Xi.

Xii.

Xiii.

Xiv.

XV.

XVi.
XVii.

electronic survey) to either the office of the MEC President or as designated. A quorum for this voting
would be the majority vote of returned ballots. A record of the official vote will be recorded and maintained
by the MEC office and presented to the MEC at the next scheduled MEC meeting.

Duties-The duties of the MEC shall be to:

Ensure high quality cost-effective patient care across the continuum of the MUSC Health
Medical Centers.

Represent and to act on behalf of the Unified and Integrated Medical Staff

Coordinate the activities and general policies of the Unified and Integrated Medical Staff
Determine and monitor committee structure of the Unified and Integrated Medical Staff

Receive and act upon reports and recommendations from departments, committees, and officers
of the Unified and Integrated Medical Staff.

Implement Medical Staff policies not otherwise the responsibility of the Departments, Medical
Centers, or Divisions.

Provide a liaison between the Unified and Integrated Medical Staff and the Chief Executive of
MUSC Health Medical Centers.

Recommend action to the Chief Executive of the MUSC Health Medical Centers on
medico-administrative matters.

Make recommendations to the Board regarding: the Unified and Integrated Medical

Staff structure, membership, delineated Clinical Privileges, appointments, and
reappointments to the MedicalStaff, and performance improvement activities.

Ensure that no medical staff officer or department chief at the local, divisional or system

level hold two offices during the same time period unless extenuating circumstances

exist and the MEC approves.

Ensure that the Unified and Integrated Medical Staff is kept abreast of the accreditation
program and informed of the accreditation status of the MUSC Health Medical Centers

Fulfill the Medical Staff organization’s accountability to the Board for the medical care of patients
in the MUSC Health Medical Centers.

Take all reasonable steps to ensure professionally ethical conduct and competent clinical
performance for all members with Clinical Privileges.

Conduct such other functions as are necessary for effective operation of the Medical Staff.
Report at each general staff meeting

Ensure that Medical Staff is involved in performance improvement and peer review activities and
Communicate decisions and discussions of the MEC to their respective, department, division,
service line members or employees

The Medical Staff delegates the authority to the MEC the ability to act on its behalf in betweenorganized
meetings of the medical staff. The Medical Staff delegates authority to the MEC to make amendments and
submit directly to the Board for adoption those associated details of processes defined in these bylaws that
reside in the Credentials Manual of the Medical Staff, the Rules and Regulations of the Medical Staff, and
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the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff or other Medical Staff policies. Such detail changes / amendments
shall not require Medical Staff approval prior to submission to the Board. However, the MEC shall notify the

Medical Staff of said changes prior to Board submission.

i. The associated details are defined as those details for the processes of qualifications of the Medical Staff,
appointment and re-appointment to the Medical Staff, credentialing, privileging and re-credentialing/ re-
privileging of licensed independent practitioners and other Practitioners credentialed by the Medical Staff,
the processes and indications for automatic and/or summary suspension of Medical Staff Membership or
Clinical Privileges, the processes or indications for recommending termination or suspension of a Medical
Staff Member and / or termination, suspension or reduction of Clinical Privileges and other processes
contained in these Bylaws where the details reside either in The Rules and Regulations of the Medical
Staff, the Credentials Policy Manual of the Medical Staff, the Fair Hearing Plan, or other Medical staff

policies.

j- The Medical Staff, after notification to the MEC and the Board, by two thirds vote of voting members shall
have the ability to remove this delegated authority of the MEC. The organized medical staff has the ability
to adopt medical staff bylaws, rules and regulations, and policies, and amendments thereto, and to propose
them directly to the governing body after communicating the proposed changes to the Medical Executive

Committee.
k. The authority to amend these bylaws cannot be delegated.

l. Meetings - The MEC shall meet at least six (6) times a year or as often as necessary to fulfill its responsibility
and maintain a permanent record of its proceedings and actions. Meetings can be either in person or

virtual. Special meetings of the MEC may be called at any time by the MEC Chief.

m. Removal from MEC - The Medical Staff and/or the Board may remove any member of the MEC for failure
to fulfill his/her responsibilities, conduct detrimental to the interests of the MUSC Health Medical Centers
and/or the Medical Staff, physical or mental infirmity to the degree that renders him incapable of fulfilling
the duties of the MEC. Any Medical Staff member has the right to initiate a recall of a MEC member. A
petition to recall must be signed by at least 25% of the members of the Active staff and presented to the
MEC or to the Board if the recall is for the majority or all the MEC members. Upon presentation, the MEC
or Board will schedule a general staff meeting to discuss the issue(s) and, if appropriate, entertain a no
confidence vote. Removal of an MEC member shall require a 2/3 majority vote of voting members. Removal

from the MEC shall not entitle the practitioner to procedural rights.

Section 9.03 MEDICAL STAFF LEADERSHIP COMMITTEE
a. Each of the divisions within the Regional Health network will have a MLSC.

b. Composition- The MSLC is a leadership committee consisting of:
i. Divisional Chief Medical Officer
. Chief of Staff- each Medical Center
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vi.
Vii.

viii.

Xi.
Xii.
Xiii.
Xiv.
XV.
XVi.

XVii.

Vice Chief of Staff- each Medical Center

Secretary — each Medical Center

At Large members — one (1) per Medical Center

Chief from the divisional department of Medicine

Chief from the divisional department of Surgery

Chief from the divisional department of OBGYN/Peds

Chief from the divisional department of ED

Chief from the divisional department of Anesthesia

Chief from the divisional department of Radiology

Chief from the divisional department of Path/Lab

Chief from the Midlands divisional department of Cardiology

Chief of Peer Review from the division

Non-voting (CEOs, CNOs, Chief Quality Officers, APPs) for the division
Ad hoc members as demand requires

The MSLC shall elect one of its members to serve as the MSLC Chief to preside over meetings at

its first (15Y) meeting of each new Medical Staff Year.

Duties-The duties of the MSLC are to provide the medical staff leadership forum and coordinating mechanism

for relating medical staff functions to activities of individual Medical Centers, nursing, and administration within

the division, as well as to act on any responsibilities delegated to MSLC by the MEC and/or the Board. This

includes:

vi.

Vii.

viii.

Receiving and act upon reports and recommendations from departments, committees, and officers of

the Medical Staffs within the division.
Serving as the Credentials Committee of the division.

Making recommendations to the MEC regarding the Medical Staff structure, membership, delineated
Clinical Privileges, appointments, and reappointments to the Medical Staff, and performance

improvement activities and peer review activities within the division.

Ensuring that the Medical Staff is kept abreast of the accreditation program and informed of the

accreditation status of the MUSC Health Medical Centers within the division.

Fulfilling the Medical Staff organization’s accountability to the Board for the medical care of patients

within the division.

Taking all reasonable steps to ensure professionally ethical conduct and competent clinical performance

for all members within the division with Clinical Privileges.

Conduct such other functions as are necessary for effective operation of the Medical Staff within the
division.

Communicate decisions and discussions of the MSLC to their respective, department, division, service

line members or care team members.
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iX. Implement Medical Staff policies for Departments, Medical Centers, or Divisions.

X. Provide a liaison between the Medical Staffs of a division and the MEC.

xi. The MSLC may appoint committees as needed
d. Meetings- The MSLC shall meet monthly or as often as necessary to accomplish their assigned functions. A
record of these proceedings shall be kept.
e. Relevantreports shall be made to the MEC, relevant clinical Departments of the Medical Staff, nursing services,

CEO, and relevant Medical Center departments within the division.

Section 9.04 MEDICAL STAFF OPERATING COMMITTEE (MSOC)

Each Medical Center within a Division will have a MSOC.

Members will be the local Chief of Staff, Vice Chief of Staff, and Secretary, as well as two elected
members from the Medical Center medical staff.

Duties will include coordinating Medical Staff activities with the division MSLC.

The MSOC may meet as often as necessary as determined by the Chief of Staff.

Section 9.05 PEER REVIEW COMMITTEES
a. Each division will have a peer review committee appointed by the MSLC or Service Line/Department chiefs

(or a designee) including:
i. Division Chief of Medicine
ii. Division Chief of Surgery
iii. Division Chief of Emergency Medicine
iv. Division Chief of Pediatrics
V. Division Chief of OB/GYN
vi. Division Chief of Cardiology (Midlands Division only)
Vii. Additional At-Large Members as needed
Viii. Division Chief Medical Officer (non-voting)
The Chief is appointed by Division Medical Staff Leadership Committee annually.
Just Culture onboarding is required.

The Peer Review Committee shall follow the procedures set forth in the Peer Review Policy.

® a0 T

All peer review activities, whether conducted as a part of a department quality plan or as a part of a medical
staff committee, will be considered medical staff quality activities and fall under the protection of SC Code
Section 40-71-10 and 40-71-20.

Section 9.06 OTHER FUNCTIONS
a. The accomplishment of the following functions may or may not require the existence of separate, established

committees. The functions consist of collection of relevant information (monitoring),and presentation to the
appropriate Departments, discussion, and action (evaluation and problem solving). Evidence that these
functions are being effectively accomplished at the departmental level is included in departmental reports to

the MSLC and the MEC, and in MEC reports to the Board. These functions can be carried out by a Medical
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Staff Committee, a Medical Center interdisciplinary committee, a responsible group, or individual. These

functions include, but are not limited to:

Vi.

Vii.

viii.

Conduct or coordinate quality, appropriateness, and improvement activities, including but not limited
to operative, invasive, and high-risk procedures review, tissue review, blood usage review, drug usage
review, medical record review, mortality and morbidity review, autopsy review, sentinel event and other
reviews.

Conduct or coordinate utilization activities.

Conduct or coordinate credentials investigations for staff membership and granting of Clinical
Privileges

Provide continuing education opportunities responsive to quality assessment/improvement
activities, new state-of-the-art developments, and other perceived needs.

Develop and maintain surveillance over drug utilization policies and practices.

Investigate and control nosocomial infections and monitor the MUSC Health Medical Centers
infection control program.

Plan for response to fire and other disasters.

Direct Medical Staff organizational activities, including Medical Staff Bylaws, review and revision,
Medical Staff officer andcommittee nominations, liaison with the Board and MUSC Health Medical

Centers administration, and review and maintenance of MUSC Health Medical Centers accreditation

Committees- When committees have been assigned or sanctioned as Medical Staff Committees, the

following will apply:

iv.

These committees shall serve as advisory committees to the MSOC.
Each committee shall prepare minutes or a report of its meetings.

Reports of the committees shall be presented to the MEC upon request.

Any Medical Staff member serving on a committee including the chairperson may be removed by the
Chief Medical Officer of the Division from the committee for failure to remain as a Member of the
Medical Staff in good standing, for failure to attend meetings, for unsatisfactory performance of the
duties assigned to the committee, or by action of the Medical ExecutiveCommittee.
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Article X. HISTORY AND PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS
Section 10.01 COMPREHENSIVE HISTORY AND PHYSICAL

A comprehensive history and physical (H&Ps) shall be completed no later than twenty-four (24) hours after admission
(includes inpatient or observation status) or at the initial visit to an ambulatory clinic, or prior to any operative, invasive,

high-risk diagnostic or therapeutic procedure,or procedures requiring deep sedation or anesthesia regardless of

setting.
Section 10.02 H&P REQUIREMENTS
A complete H&P (except in circumstances allowing a focused H&P) must include (as information isavailable):

a. chief complaint,
b. details of presentillness (history),
C. past history (relevant - includes ilinesses, injuries, and operations),
d. social history,
e. allergies and current medications,
f. family history,
g. review of systems pertinent to the diagnosis,
h. physical examination pertinent to the diagnosis,
i. pertinent normal and abnormal findings,
j. conclusion or a planned course of action.

Section 10.03 FOCUSED HISTORY AND PHYSICAL

For other non-inpatients procedures, a focused history andphysical may be completed based on the

presenting problem. A focused H&P must include at a minimum:

a. presentillness,

b past medical/surgical history,

c medications,

d. allergies,

e focused physical exam to include the presenting problem and mental status.
f. impression and plan including the reason for the procedure.

Section 10.04 PRIMARY CARE CLINICS

H&Ps are required in all provider-based Medical Center clinics. On subsequent primary carevisits and in specialty
clinics, the H&P can be focused, based on the presenting problem(s). The focused H&P must meet the
requirements for a focused H&P.

Section 10.05 H&P NOT PRESENT

When the H&P examination is not on the chart prior to the surgery or high-risk diagnostic or therapeutic procedure,
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the said procedure shall be delayed until the H&P is completed unless it is an emergency.

Section 10.06 UPDATING AN H&P

When using an H&P that was performed within 30 days prior to admission ora procedure, and that H&P is in the
patient’'s medical record, a review of the H&P and a re-examination of the patient must take place as a part of the
H&P update within 24 hours of admission for inpatients or prior to the procedure whichever comes first. Any
changes in the patient’s condition not consistent or otherwise reflected in the H&P must be documented. If there
have been any changes in the patient’s condition that are not consistent with or noted in the history and physical,
those must be documented within twenty-four (24) hours of admission and prior to any surgical procedure or
invasive diagnostic procedure requiring anesthesia by a qualified physician or other licensed Practitioner who has
been credentialed and granted Clinical Privileges to perform a history and physical examination. For all surgeries
and other procedures requiring an H&P, this update may be completed in combination with the pre-anesthesia

assessment.

Section 10.07 H&P RESPONSIBILITY
a. Dentists are responsible for the part of his/her patient’'s H&P that relates to dentistry.
b. Oral and maxillofacial surgeons may perform a medical H&P examination to assess the statusand
risk of the proposed surgery or procedures.
C. Podiatrists are responsible for the part of his/her patient's H&P that relates to podiatry.

d. Optometrists are responsible for the part of his/her patient's H&P that relates to optometry.

Section 10.08 ATTENDING PHYSICIAN

The attending physician is responsible for thecomplete H&P.

a. Residents, appropriately privileged, may complete the H&P with the attending physician’s
countersignature.

b. AHPs, appropriately privileged, may complete the H&P without attending co-signature. This
includes H&P’s completed for in-patients, ED patients, and MUSC Health provider based clinic
patients.

C. The attending physician may complete an additional attestation sheet to confirm or change the

initialhistory and physical.
d. If changes are needed, the attestation must be completed by the attending within 48 hours of

admissionor prior to any procedure requiring H&P’s.
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Article XI. MEDICAL STAFF MEETINGS

Section 11.01 REGULAR MEETINGS

a. The Medical Staff shall meet at least annually or more often, as needed. This meeting can either be in
person or virtual or both. Appropriate action will be takenas indicated.

b. The annual Medical Staff Meeting shall be held during the last quarter of each calendar year. Written
notice of the meeting shall be sent to all Medical Staff members.

C. The primary objective of the meetings shall be to report on the activities of the staff, elect officers if
necessary, and conduct other business as may be on the agenda. Written minutes of all meetings shall
be prepared and recorded.

d. Matters that require a vote and approval by Medical Staff members as determined by the MEC or by
regulation or law throughout the year may be presented to the Medical Staff members by written or printed
notice. The notice will include a description/explanation of the matter that requires a vote and a mechanism
for voting. This request for a vote shall be delivered, either personally or by mail, including electronic mail
to each member of the Active Category of the Medical Staff not less than three (3) days before the return
deadline for voting. Members may submit their vote either in person or in writing via internal mail, email,
fax, text, or as instructed (i.e., electronic survey) to either the office ofthe Chief Medical Officer of each
division or as designated. A quorum for this voting would be the majority vote of returned ballots. A record
of the official vote will be recorded and maintained by the office of the MEC and presented to the MEC at

the next scheduled MEC meeting.

Section 11.02 SPECIAL MEETINGS

The Chief of Staff of any Medical Staff, a Chief Medical Officer, the MSLC, or the MEC may call a special meeting
after receipt of a written request for same signed by not less than five (5) members of the Active, Courtesy, and
Consulting Staff and stating the purpose for such meeting. The President of the Medical Staff shall designate the
time and place of any special meeting. Written or printed notice stating the place, day and hour of any special
meeting of the Medical Staff shall be delivered, either personally or by mail, including electronic mail, to each
member of the Active Category of the Medical Staff not less than three (3) days before the date of such meeting,
by or at the direction of the President of the Medical Staff. If mailed, the notice of the meeting shall be deemed
delivered when deposited in the internal mail addressed to each Medical Staff Member at his/her address as it
appears on the records of the Medical Center. Notice may also be sent to members in other Medical Staff categories
who have so requested. The attendance of a member of the Medical Staff at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of
notice of such meeting. No business shall be transacted at any special meeting except that stated in the notice

calling the meeting.

Section 11.03 QUORUM
The quorum requirements for all meetings shall be those present, either physically or virtually, and voting, unless

otherwise indicated in these Bylaws.
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Section 11.04 ATTENDANCE REQUIREMENTS
a. Although attendance at the annual meeting is encouraged, Medical Staff members are not required to

attend general Medical Staff meetings. Medical Staff meeting attendance will not be used as a

reappointment measurement.

b. Attendance requirements for department meetings are at the discretion of the Department Chief.

C. Members of the MEC, MSLC and Credentials Committee are required to attend fifty percent (50%)
of the committee meetings, either in person or virtually, during each year unless otherwise
excused.

Section 11.05 PARTICIPATION BY EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF THE MUSC HEALTH MEDICAL

CENTERS

The CEO of the MUSC Health Medical Centers or his/her designee may attend any Committee, Department, or
Section meeting of the Medical Staff.

Section11.06 ROBERT’S RULES OF ORDER

The latest edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall prevail at all meetings of the General Medical Staff, MEC, and

Department Meetings unless waived by the Chief or one of the Co-Chairs.

Section 11.07 NOTICE OF MEETINGS

Written notice stating the place, day, and hour of any special meeting or of any regular meeting not held pursuant
to resolution shall be delivered or sent to each member of the committee or department not less than three (3) days
before the time of such meeting by the person or persons calling the meeting. Notices can be delivered by internal
mail, email, text, or in person. The attendance of a member at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such

meeting.

Section 11.08 ACTION OF COMMITTEE/DEPARTMENT

The action of a majority of its members presents at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the action of
a committee or department.

Section 11.09 MINUTES

Minutes of each regular and special meetings of a Committee or Department shall beprepared and shall include
a record of the attendance of members and the vote taken on each matter. The minutes from the Departments
and Credentials Committee Meetings shall be signed, electronically or physically,by the presiding officer and
copies thereof submitted to the MSLC and MEC. The minutes from other committee meetings shall be signed by

the presiding officer and copies thereof submitted to the appropriate departments.
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Article XII. TERMINATION, REDUCTION, AND SUSPENSION OF PRIVILEGES

Section 12.01 SUSPENSION
In the event that an individual Practitioner’s action may pose a danger to patients, other Medical Staff members,

or the Medical Center or its personnel, then either the Medical Center Chief of Staff, Chief Medical Officer or the

Chief of the clinical Department of which the Practitioner is a member, shall each have the authority, as

independent action, to suspend all or any portion of the Clinical Privileges of the Medical Staff member in

question.

a.

Such precautionary suspension does not imply final findings of fact or responsibility for the situation
thatcaused the suspension.

Such precautionary suspension is immediately effective, is immediately reported to all the individuals
named above, and the Medical Staff Office, and remains in effect until a remedy is affected following
theprovision of this Article of the Medical Staff Bylaws.

Immediately upon the imposition of a suspension, the appropriate Department Chief assigns to another
Medical Staff member the responsibility for care of any Medical Center patients of the suspended
individual.

As soon as practical, but in no event later than three (3) days after a precautionary suspension, the MEC
shall convene to review the action. The affected practitioner may request to be present at this meeting,
which is not a hearing and is not to be construed as such. The MEC may continue the suspension or
take another action pursuant to this Article. If the action taken entitles the affected practitioner to a

hearing, then the Hearing and Appeals Procedure of the Fair Hearing Plan shall apply

Section 12.02 EFFECT OF OTHER ACTIONS ON MEDICAL STAFF MEMBERSHIP AND CLINICAL
PRIVILEGES

a.

b.

Failure to Complete Medical Records - All portions of each patient’s medical record shall be completed
within the time period after the patient’s discharge as stated in Medical Staff Rules and Regulations.
Failure to do so (unless there are acceptable extenuating circumstances) automatically results in the
record being defined as delinquent and notification of the practitioner.

i. A temporary suspension in the form of withdrawal of admitting privileges, scheduling of clinic
appointments, or scheduling of elective surgical cases, effective until the medical records are
complete, shall be imposed automatically after warning a member of his/her delinquency and
his/her failure to complete such medical records

i. Having three (3) suspensions in one (1) consecutive 12-month period will be reason for removal
from the Medical Staff. Re-application for reinstatement to the staff is allowed immediately upon
completion of the delinquent record(s).

Failure to Complete Education Requirements — The Medical Staff recognizes the need to mandate certain

education requirements for all Medical Staff to ensure ongoing success of quality improvement.

i. The MEC will regularly review and approve the education requirements, including time
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periods, for Medical Staff members. All education requirements for Medical Staff
members shall be completed within the time period. Failure to do so (unless there are
acceptable extenuating circumstances) automatically results in an education
delinquency and notification to the practitioner of temporary suspension.

ii. A temporary suspension in the form of withdrawal of admitting privileges, scheduling of clinic
appointments, or scheduling of elective surgical cases, effective until the education requirements
are complete, shall be imposed automatically after warning a member of his/her delinquency and
his/her failure to complete such education requirement within a seven (7) day period after delivery
of such warning to him/her either orally or in writing.

iii. Having three (3) suspensions in one (1) consecutive 12-month period will be reason for removal
from the Medical Staff. Re-application for reinstatement to the staff is allowed immediately upon
completion of the delinquent education requirements.

Actions Affecting State License to Practice - If a practitioner’s state license to practice or DEA registration
is revoked, suspended, limited for disciplinary reasons, not renewed by the relevant agency, or voluntarily
relinquished by the individual, then Medical Staff Membership and Clinical Privileges are automatically
revoked, suspended, or limited to at least the same extent, subject to re-application by the practitioner

when or if his/her license or DEA registration is reinstated, or limitations are removed, whatever is the case.

Lapse of Malpractice Coverage - If the MEC and Board have established a requirement forliability
coverage for practitioners with Clinical Privileges, and if a staff member’s malpractice coverage lapses
without renewal, then the practitioner’s Clinical Privileges are automatically suspended until the effective
date of his/her new malpractice coverage, unless otherwise determined by the Board.

Governmental Sanction or Ban - Imposition of governmental sanction or ban as outlined by Medicare and
the DHHS -Office of the Inspector General is cause for immediate loss of all Clinical Privileges.

Felony Conviction - conviction of a felony offense is cause for immediate loss of all Clinical Privileges.
Loss of Faculty Appointment - Loss of faculty appointment with cause shall result in immediate revocation
of Clinical Privileges and appointment to the Medical Staff.

Failure to Meet Application Requirements - Failure to comply with deadlines or other application
requirements will result in loss of appointment and Clinical Privileges as outlined in the Credentials Policy
Manual.
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Article XIlII. CONFLICT MANAGEMENT AND RESOLUTION

Section 13.01 MEC AND MEDICAL STAFF

If a conflict arises between the MEC and the voting members of the Medical Staff regarding issues pertaining to
the Medical Staff including but not limited to proposals for adoption oramendment of bylaws, rules and regulations,
or medical staff policies and when MUSC Health Medical Centers Policy A- 115 Conflict Management does not
apply, the voting members of the Medical Staff by a two-thirds (2/3) vote may appoint aConflict Management Team
consisting of six (6) Active members of the Medical Staff who are not on the MEC. In such an event, the action or
recommendation of the MEC at issue shall not go into effect until thirty (30) days after the appointment of the
Conflict Management Team, during which time the MEC and the Conflict Management Team shall use their best
efforts to resolve or manage the conflict. If the conflict is not resolved, the Medical Staff, by a two-thirds (2/3) vote

of the Active Members may make a recommendation directly to the Board for action.
Section 13.02 MEC AND BOARD

If a conflict arises between the MEC and the Board regarding a matter pertaining to the quality or safety of care or
to the adoption or amendment of MedicalStaff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations, or Medical Staff Policies and when
MUSC Health Medical Centers Policy A-115 Conflict Management does not apply, the Chief Executive of the MUSC
Health Medical Centers may convene an ad-hoc committee of MUSC Health Medical Centers, Board and Medical
Staff leadership to manage or resolve the conflict. This committeeshall meet as early as possible and within thirty
(30) days of its appointment shall report its work and report to the MEC and the Board its recommendations for

resolution or management of the conflict.
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Article XIV. OFFICIAL MEDICAL STAFF DOCUMENTS/ MISCELLANEOUS

Section 14.01 OFFICIAL GOVERNING DOCUMENTS

The official governing documents of the Medical Staff shall be these Bylaws, the Rules and Regulations of the

Medical Staff, the Medical Staff Credentials Manual, the Fair Hearing Plan, the Peer Review Policy and other

Medical Staff policies pursuant to these bylaws. Adoption and amendment of these documents shall be as

provided below.

Section 14.02 BYLAWS

The Medical Staff shall have the responsibility to formulate, review, adopt, and recommend to the Board, Medical

Staff Bylaws and Amendments thereto, which shall be effective when approvedby the Board. Such responsibility

shall be exercised in good faith and in a reasonable, responsible, and timely manner. Neither the Medical Staff nor

the Board may unilaterally amend these bylaws and the authority to adopt or amend them may not be delegated to

any group. If a conflict exists between the Bylaws and other documents as outlined in this section, the Bylaws will

supersede.

Methods of Adoption and Amendment- Adoption of and/or amendments to these Bylaws may be on
recommendation from the MEC approved by the voting members of the Medical Staff or after notification
to the MEC on a proposal directly from a two thirds (2/3) majority of voting Medical Staff to the Board. The
Bylaws may be adopted, amended or revised after submission of the proposed Bylaws or amendment at
least seven (7) calendar days in advance of any regular or special meeting of the Medical Staff or by email
or US mail submission to all Active Medical Staff members. To be adopted, the Bylaws or an amendment
or revisions shall require a majority vote of the voting Active members. Voting can be completed either in
person at a Medical Staff meeting or by electronic ballot vote of those who are eligible to vote on the Bylaws.
Amendments so made shall be effective only when approved by the Board.

The MEC is authorized to make minor changes/corrections when necessary due to spelling,
punctuation and/or grammar.

These Bylaws shall be reviewed at least every two (2) years by the MEC, which can appoint an ad hoc
Bylaws Committee as detailed in Section 7.02(b). Findings shall be reported at a regular meeting of the
Medical Staff or at a special meeting called for such purposeor by email to Active Medical Staff members.

Any recommended changes shall be amended in accordance with these Bylaws.

Section 14.03 UNIFIED BYLAWS

a.

Initial Unification - Each Medical Center’s previously separate medical staff members have voted by majority,
in accordance with the Medical Center’s previous medical staff bylaws, to approve these Bylaws and accept
the Unified Medical Staff structure provided herein.

The Medical Executive Committee shall consider each Medical Center’'s unique circumstances and any
significant differences in patient populations and services offered at each Medical Center. The Medical
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Executive Committee shall establish and implement policies and procedures to make certain the needs and
concerns expressed by Medical Staff Members of each Medical Center are given due consideration and
shall ensure that mechanisms are in place to make certain that issues localized to a particular Medical Center
are duly considered and addressed.

C. Each Medical Center has the right to opt out of the Unified Medical Staff by a majority vote of the Staff
Members with active Clinical Privileges at the applicable Medical Center who are eligible to vote on the
adoption and amendment of Medical Staff Bylaws.

d. Medical Centers may not hold opt out votes more than once every two (2) years, except for voting on the
introduction of the Unified Bylaws, which may be reconsidered for vote during the twelve (12) months
following the initial vote.

Section 14.04 RULES AND REGULATIONS AND OTHER RELATED DOCUMENTS

The MEC will provide to the Board a set of Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, a Credentials Policy Manual, a

Peer Review Policy, and a Fair Hearing Plan that further defines the general policies contained in these Bylaws.

a.

These manuals will be incorporated by reference and become part of these Medical Staff Bylaws. The MEC
has the delegated authority to make amendments to the Rules and Regulations of the Medical Staff,the
Credentials Manual of the Medical Staff, the Fair Hearing Plan, the Peer Review Policy and other Medical
Staff policies.

Alternatively, the Medical Staff may propose an amendment to the Rules and Regulations and other afore
mentioned associated documents directly to the Board. Such a proposal shall require a two-thirds (2/3)

majority vote of the Active Medical Staff and shall require notification to the MEC.

When there is a documented need for an urgent amendment to the Rules and Regulations to comply with
a law or regulation, the voting members of the organized medical staff delegate the authority to the MEC
who by a majority vote of the MEC members provisionally adopt such amendments and seek provisional
Board approval without prior notification to the medical staff. The MEC will immediately notify the Medical
Staff of such provisional approval by the Board. The Medical Staff at its next meeting, at a called meeting,
or through electronic communication will retrospectively review the provisional amendment. If there is no
conflict between the organized medical staff and the MEC regardingthe amendment, the provisional
amendment stands. If there is a conflict over the provisional amendment(s) the Conflict Management
process as outlined in these bylaws will be implemented.

If necessary, a revised amendment is then submitted to the Board for action.

The Rules and Regulations of the Medical Staff, the Credentials Manual, the Fair Hearing Plan, the Peer

Review Policy, and other policies of the Medical Staff are intended to provide the associated details

necessary to implement theseBylaws of the MUSC Medical Staff.

Section 14.05 RULE CHALLENGE

Any Practitioner may raise a challenge to any rule or policy established by the MEC. If a rule,regulation or policy

is felt to be inappropriate, any Practitioner may submit a petition signed by twenty-five percent (25%) of the

members of the Active Staff. When such petition has been received by the MEC, it will either:
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a. Provide the petitions with information clarifying the intent of such rule, regulation, or policy and/or

b. Schedule a meeting with the petitioners to discuss the issue.

Section 14.06 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
Any act or omission that may be considered inconsistent with the provisions set forth in these Medical Staff Bylaws

and/or the Policies Governing Medical Practices, but which was undertaken to comply with applicable federal or state
statutes or regulations, shall not be considered in violation of these Medical Staff Bylaws and/or the Policies Governing
Medical Practices. In the event these Medical Staff Bylaws and/or the Policies Governing Medical Practices are
inconsistent with such statutes or regulations, the MEC shall initiate in a timely manner the applicable amendment

process.

Section 14.07 ELECTRONIC RECORD KEEPING
Whenever these Bylaws call for maintenance of written records, such records may be recorded and/or maintained in

an electronic format.

Section 14.08 HEADINGS
The captions or heading used in these Medical Staff Bylaws are for convenience only and are not intended to limit or

otherwise define the scope of effects of any provisions of these Medical Staff Bylaws.

Section 14.09 IDENTIFICATION
Although the masculine gender and singular are generally used throughout these Bylaws and associated policies for

simplicity, words which import one gender may be applied to any gender and words which import the singular or plural

may be applied to the plural or the singular, all as a sensible construction of the language so requires.

Section 14.10 COUNTING OF DAYS
In any instance in which the counting of days is required in these Bylaws in connection with the giving of a notice or

for any other purpose, the day of the event shall not count, but the day upon which the notice is given shall count. In
any case where the date on which some action is to be taken, notice given or period expired occurs on a holiday, a
Saturday or a Sunday, such action shall be taken, such notice given, or such period extended to the next succeeding
Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday which is not a holiday. For the purposes of this Section, the term

"holiday" shall mean such days as are commonly recognized as holidays by the U.S. Federal Government.

Section 14.11 SEVERABILITY
If any provision of these Bylaws shall be determined to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the validity, enforceability

of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired by such a determination.

Section 14.12 INDEMNIFICATION
Any individuals acting in good faith for and on behalf of the Medical Center(s) in discharging their responsibilities and

participating in Professional Review Activities and Professional Review Actions pursuant to these Bylaws, including,

but not limited to, all Governing Body members, Medical Staff committee members, Medical Staff Officers, Department
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Chiefs, Section Chairpersons, and other Staff Members or Medical Center employees and/or agents, shall be
indemnified when acting in those capacities, to the fullest extent permitted by law. In furtherance of the foregoing, each
Applicant shall, upon request of any Medical Center(s), execute releases in favor of Medical Center representatives
and third parties from whom information has been requested by the Medical Center(s) or an authorized Medical Center

representative.
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Credentialing Process

The credentialing process involves the following: 1) assessment of the professional and
personal background of each Practitioner seeking privileges; 2) assignment of privileges
appropriate for the clinician’s training and experience; 3) ongoing monitoring of the
professional activities of each Member, and 4) periodic reappointment to the Medical or
Professional staff on the basis of objectively measured performance.

A. Purpose

To define the policies and procedures used in the appointment, reappointment, and
privileging of all licensed independent practitioners or allied health professionals who
provide patient care services at each MUSC Health Regional Health Network Medical
Center and other designated clinical facilities. Credentialing is the process of determining
whether an applicant for appointment is qualified for membership and/or clinical privileges
based on established professional criteria. Credentialing involves a series of activities
designed to verify and evaluate data relevant to a practitioner’s professional performance.
These activities serve as the foundation for objective, evidence-based decisions regarding
appointment to membership on the Medical or Professional staff, and /or
recommendations to grant or deny initial or renewed privileges.

B. Scope

Although appointment or reappointment and the granting or renewal of clinical privileges
generally happen at the same time, they are two different activities of the credentials
process. Applicants to some categories of the Medical Staff may not necessarily requestor
be granted privileges, and applicants for privileges need not necessarily be members of
the Medical Staff. Therefore, the MUSC Health Regional Health Network Medical Center
Credentialing Policy and Procedure Manual applies to all Medical Staff members with or
without delineated clinical privileges as well as other licensed independent practitioners
and allied health professionals, who while not Medical Staff members, are considered
Professional Staff appointees and are credentialed through the organized Medical Staff
credentials process.

C. Credentials Committee

1. Purpose

To review requests for initial appointments and reappointments to the Medical and
Professional Staff and to review all requests for initial or renewed clinical privileges.
The Credentials Committee reviews completed applications for appointment and
reappointment and for any clinical privilege request after approval by the appropriate
Department Chief. The Credentials Committee may make recommendations to
approve/deny or delay appointments, reappointments and/or privileges.




2. Membership

The Medical Staff Leadership Committee/MSLC of each Regional Health Network
division shall serve as the Credentials Committee for the division. The Chairperson of
the Credentials Committee is appointed by the Divisional Chief Medical Officer. The
appointment for Chairperson shall be for a three (3) year term with eligibility for
reappointment for two additional terms. Members of the Credentials Committee shall
serve a term concurrent with their membership on the Division MSLC.

3. Reporting Channels

The Credentials Committee reports to and makes credentials recommendations directly
to the Medical Executive Committee.

4. Meetings
The Credentials Committee meets monthly or at the request of the Chairperson.
5. Minutes

The Credentials Committee shall document meetings with minutes. Minutes of the
meeting are reported to the Medical Executive Committee.

D. Confidentiality

Access to credentials files is limited to the following: appropriate Medical Staff Office
("MSQ”) staff, members of the Credentials Committee, members of the Medical Executive
Committee, MUSC legal counsel, Medical Center Risk Management, Department/Division
Chiefs of physician's specialty, the CEO of the Division, the CEO of MUSC Health, the
Divisional Chief Medical Officer and others who may be otherwise authorized. These files
shall be privileged pursuant to Medical Staff credentials files and are the property of the
MUSC Medical Center.

[I. CLASSIFICATION OF APPOINTED PRACTITIONERS

A. Conditions and Requirements for Appointment to the Medical Staff

Appointment to the Medical Staff of MUSC Medical Center is a prerogative that shall be
extended only to competent professionals, who continuously meet the qualifications,
standards, and requirements set forth in the Bylaws, this Credentialing Manual, and
associated policies of the MUSC Health Regional Health Network Medical Staff.

B. Qualifications for Medical Staff Membership




Only physicians with Doctor of Medicine (MD) Doctor of Osteopathy (DO) degrees, or
equivalent foreign medical degree such as MBBS, or Dentists or Podiatrists (DPM)
holding a current, valid academic license or unrestricted license to practice in the State
of South Carolina shall be qualified for appointment to the Medical Staff. To be
considered for appointment and clinical privileges at each MUSC Health Regional
Health Network Medical Center, an applicant must meet all of the following criteria:

e Have a valid and unrestricted license to practice in the State of South Carolina;

e After the Effective Date of the unified Medical Staff Bylaws, any new applicant for MD,
DO, MBBS, DPM or Dentist membership shall be eligible for or have obtained board
certification and comply with individual board requirements in his/her respective
medical or dental specialty board at the time of appointment. This Board must have
been approved by the American Medical Association, the American Osteopathic
Association, or the American Board of Medical Specialties. A five (5) year grace
period, or longer if allowed for the applicant’s specialty as detailed in the ABMS
Member Boards Eligibility Periods and Transition Dates (rev July 2021) may be
allowed an applicant from the time of completion of his/her residency or fellowship to
obtain initial board certification, or, if an alternative pathway for board certification is
allowed for the applicant’s specialty, a grace period commensurate with the alternative
pathway timeframe. Board recertification and maintenance certification should be in
accordance with the criteria established by the applicable specialty and/or in
accordance with the criteria established by the applicable specialty and/or subspecialty
board. Satisfaction of all maintenance criteria will be assessed at reappointment. If no
criteria applicable, recertification must be obtained within two (2) years following any
expiration of certification. Failure to achieve or maintain board certification within the
time frames required herein may be grounds for revocation and/or denial of Medical
Staff membership to be determined by the Medical Executive Committee and Board..
In special cases, for recertification, where a need exists, an exception to these
qualifications can be made, only after the applicant has demonstrated competency to
the satisfaction of the Department Chief in the department in which they are assigned,
and the Department Chief has attested either in a written or oral format to the
divisional Medical Staff Leadership Committee and the MEC for approval. Waiver of
board certification requirement can be granted when no board specialty exists, and the
Department Chief attests (in written and oral format) to adequacy of training and
competency. Should the practitioner become eligible for board certification, s/he will be
required to attain Board Certification within two (2) years, or reappointment will not be
granted. Foreign Board Certification may be an appropriate substitute for United States
Board approval. The Medical Staff Leadership Committee may choose to accept or
reject such certification. In the event the certification is rejected, the Department Chief
may petition the MEC for approval

e Maintain a Federal DEA number and State DHEC License/Certification where
applicable;

e Provide satisfactory evidence of appropriate training, education, and competency inthe
designated specialty;

e Hold current professional malpractice insurance at levels acceptable to the Medical




Center(s).
C. Medical Staff Appointment with Privileges

1. Active Medical Staff

The Active Medical Staff shall consist of full-time and part-time practitioners with
Doctor of Medicine (MD), Doctor of Osteopathy (DO), Doctor of Dental Surgery (DDS),
or Doctor of Dental Medicine (DMD) degrees who are professionally responsible for
specific patient care and/or education and/or research activities in the healthcare
system and who assume all the functions and responsibilities of membership on the
active staff.

Prerogatives: Members of the active medical staff shall be appointed to a specific

department or service line with the following prerogatives:

e Exercise the privileges granted without limitation, except as otherwise provided in
the Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and Regulations and Credentials Manual of the
Medical Staff or by specific privilege restriction.

e Vote on all matters presented at general and special meetings of the Medical Staff,
and of the Department and Committees on which he/she is appointed.

e Hold office, sit on or be Chairperson of any committee, unless otherwise specified
elsewhere in Medical Staff Bylaws.

e May request admitting privileges. Dentists are not eligible for admittingprivileges.

Responsibilities: Appointees to this category must:

e Contribute to the organizational and administrative affairs of the Medical Staff.

e Actively participate in recognized functions of staff appointment, including
professional practice evaluation, performance improvement and other monitoring
activities.

e Monitor practitioners with new privileges during a focused review period.

e Participate in the emergency room and other specialty coverage programs as
scheduled or as required by the MEC,MSLC or Department Chief.

Removal: Failure to satisfy the requirements for activity for the MUSC Medical
Center, as deemed by the Department Chief, during the appointment period will result
in automatic transfer to Courtesy Category. The Practitioner shall have the rights
afforded by Article XII and the Fair Hearing Plan of the Medical Staff Bylaws.

2. Courtesy Medical Staff

Members of the Courtesy Medical Staff shall meet the following criteria:
e Participate in the clinical affairs of the MUSC Health Medical Centers
e Be involved in the care or treatment of at least six (6) patients of the MUSC Health
Medical Center(s) or clinics during his/her appointment period, or
e Refer patients to other physicians or staff of the MUSC Health Medical Center (s) or
those who order diagnostic or therapeutic services at the MUSC Health Medical Center




(s).

e Not admit or regularly participate in the care of more than 25 patients in a calendar
year. Should a Practitioner exceed the 25-patient encounter threshold, he/she shall
automatically advance to Active Staff status for the remainder of the calendar year and
must abide by the Prerogatives and responsibilities outlined in Section 4.01

o Physicians who meet the following criteria shall not be subject to the
aforementioned 25 patient encounter limitation: (i) the physician provides a
service that is not otherwise available at the Medical Center; and (ii) the
physician’s primary practice is located outside of the community.

o The MSLC may waive the requirement to care for at least six (6) patients during
an appointment period for physicians who are members in good standing with
another MUSC Health affiliated Medical Center and who continue to meet the
qualifications for appointment to the Courtesy Staff of MUSC Health.
Additionally, this exception would only occur if physician specific quality and
outcomes information has been provided by the affiliated Medical Center upon
request. Such information shall be sufficient quality and quantity to allow a
reappointment and privileging recommendation by the Credentials Committee.

Prerogatives: Members of the courtesy medical staff shall be appointed to a specific
department or service line with the following prerogatives:

An appointee to this category may exercise the Clinical Privileges granted without
limitation, except as otherwise provided in the Medical Staff Rules and Regulations, or by
specific privilege exception.

Attend meetings of the Medical Staff and Department to which he/she is appointed and
any MUSC Health education programs.

Request admitting privileges.

Responsibilities: Appointees to this category must:

Discharge the basic responsibilities specified in Section 3.09.

Retain responsibility within his/her area of professional competence for the care and
supervision of each patient in the Medical Center for who he/she is providing service.
Satisfy the requirements set forth in the Bylaws for attendance at meetings of the Medical
Staff and of the committees of which he/she is a member.

Participate in the emergency department on-call rotation as directed by the MEC and
Board when there is an inadequate number of current Active Staff members to address an
important patient coverage need, as determined by the MEC and Board. Any unassigned
patient encounters incurred as a result of and while participating on the emergency
department on-call rotation as assigned by the MEC and Board shall not count toward the
patient encounter limitation described in Section 4.02 (a.iv) of the Bylaws.

Removal: Failure to satisfy the requirements for activity for the MUSC Health Medical
Centers, as deemed by the MSLC, during the appointment period will result in automatic
transfer to the Consulting category.




3. Consulting Medical Staff

Qualifications: Consulting Staff shall consist of a special category of physicians,
dentists, or podiatrists, each of whom is, because of board certification, training and
experience, recognized by the medical community as an authority within his/her specialty.

Prerogatives: Members of the Consulting Staff may consult on patients within his/her
specialty to the extent he/she holds delineated Clinical Privileges to do so; and attend all
meetings of the Medical Staff that he/she may wish to attend as a non-voting visitor.

Responsibilities: Appointees to this category must follow these conditions:

Consulting Staff members shall not hold office nor be eligible to vote in the Medical Staff
organization.

Consulting Staff members must have fewer than fifteen (15) encounters in which they
manage direct patient care.

For Consulting Staff members who have their primary practice outside the community,
such members may provide or manage direct patient care, within the scope of their
granted Clinical Privileges, in an unlimited number of cases, where there is, as
determined by the Board in consultation with and on the recommendation of the Medical
Executive Committee, an otherwise unfulfilled community need for the services to be
provided by the particular Consulting Staff member.

0 A determination by the Medical Executive Committee and/or Board that there is
not an unfulfilled community need for the services of a particular Consulting Staff
member shall not be subject to appeal nor entitle the member to any of the
procedural rights under these Bylaws.

o Consulting Staff members whose primary practice is located in the community,
and who exceed the accepted number of encounters referenced above must
transfer to Active Staff and meet all the requirements as outlined in Section 4.01
of the Bylaws.

Each member of the Consulting Staff shall assume responsibility for consultation,
treatment and appropriate documentation thereof with regard to his/her patients.

4. Rural Health Clinic (RHC) / Ambulatory Category

a. Qualifications- The RHC staff shall consist of physicians, dentists, or podiatrists, who

meet the basic qualifications for Medical Staff membership set forth in these Bylaws
currently providers in an MUSC Health Rural Health Care Clinic.




Prerogatives- The RHC member may refer his or her patients for admission to the
Medical Center for care by another physician unless otherwise privileged. The referring
physician may visit the patient and provide follow-up care, exercise such clinical
privileges as are granted and may attend meetings of the Medical Staff and any Medical
Staff or Medical Center education programs. Members of this category may not vote
unless assigned to a standing committee and do not have call responsibility.

Responsibilities- The RHC Member shall discharge the basic responsibilities of
membership and retain responsibility within his/her area of professional competence for
the care and supervision of each patient in the Rural Health Clinic for who he/she is
providing service. The RHC staff participate in performance improvement and quality
activities of the Medical Center sufficient to evaluate outcomes.

D. Medical Staff Appointment Without Privileges

1. Honorary/Administrative Members

This category is restricted to those individuals the Medical Staff wishes to honor or to
those physicians who have only administrative positions or administrative appointments
and no Clinical Privileges.

0 Such staff appointees are not eligible to admit patients to the MUSC Health
Medical Centers, vote, or exercise Clinical Privileges. They may, however, attend
Medical Staff and Department meetings. This category is exempt from the
malpractice insurance requirements and Board Certification requirements, unless
required within his/her position description.

o Physicians with the MUSC Health Medical Centers whose duties include both
administrative and clinical activities must be members of the Medical Staff and
must obtain Clinical Privileges in the same manner as any other Medical Staff
member. When a contract exists, the contract of the physician who has both
administrative and clinical duties shall clearly define the relationship between
termination of the contract by the MUSC Health Medical Centers and reduction or
termination in Clinical Privileges.

E. Privileges without Membership

1. Allied Health Professionals

Allied Health Professionals are those health professionals who:

e Are licensed in the state with a doctorate in psychology, or are licensed as advanced
practice nurses, physician assistants, optometrists, podiatrists, oracupuncturists;

e Are others who are appropriately licensed or certified and are designated as Allied
Health Professionals by the Board;




e Are subject to licensure requirements or other legal limitations, exercise independent

judgment within areas of their professional competence; and

e Are qualified to render direct or indirect care as delineated in their respective scopes

of practice, job descriptions, or privileging forms.

All matters relating to delineated clinical privileges, supervision agreements, and
responsibilities of these individuals shall be in accordance with information in this
manual.

These physician extenders must be privileged through the Medical Staff credentials
process. These physician extenders are qualified to render direct or indirect care only as
delineated in their respective scopes of practice, job descriptions, or privileging forms.

2. Telehealth Practitioners

Telehealth Practitioner-Any Practitioner who prescribes, renders a diagnosis,
or otherwise provides clinical treatment to a patient at the Medical Center
through a telehealth procedure (the “Telehealth Physician”), must be
credentialed and privileged through the Medical Staff pursuant to the
credentialing and privileging procedures described in this Credentials Manual
and Medical Staff Bylaws. An exception is outlined below for those
circumstances in which the Practitioner’s distant-site entity or distant-site
hospital is Joint Commission accredited and the Medical Center places in the
Practitioner’s credentialing file a copy of written documentation confirming
such accreditation.

Scope of Privileges--The Medical Staff shall make recommendations to the
Board regarding which clinical services are appropriately delivered through
the medium of telehealth, and the scope of such services. Clinical services
offered through this means shall be provided consistent with commonly
accepted quality standards.

In circumstances in which the distant-site entity or hospital is Joint
Commission accredited, the Medical Staff and Board may rely on the
Telehealth Practitioner’s credentialing information from the distant-site entity
or distant-hospital to credential and privilege the telehealth physician ONLY if
the Medical Center has ensured through a written agreement with the distant-
site entity or distant-site hospital that all the following provisions are met:

o The distant-site entity or distant-site hospital meets the requirements of
42 CFR § 482.12(a)(1)- (7), regarding the distant-site entity’s or distant-
site hospital’s physicians and practitioners providing telehealth services.

o The distant-site entity, if not a distant-site hospital, is a contractor of
services to the Medical Center and as such, in accordance with 42 CFR
§ 482.12(e), furnishes the contracted services in a manner that permits
the Medical Center to comply with all applicable federal regulations for




the contracted services.

0 The distant-site organization is either a Medicare-participating hospital
or a distant-site telehealth entity with medical staff credentialing and
privileging processes and standards that at least meet the standards
set forth in the CMS Hospital Conditions of Participation and the Joint
Commission Medical Staff (MS) chapter for hospitals or ambulatory
care organizations, as applicable.

o0 The Telehealth Practitioner is privileged at the distant-site entity or
distant-site hospital providing the telehealth services, and the distant-
site entity or distant-site hospital provides the Hospital with a current list
of the Telehealth Practitioner’s privileges at the distant-site entity or
distant-site hospital.

o The Telehealth Practitioner holds a license issued or recognized by the
State of South Carolina; and

o The Medical Center has evidence, or will collect evidence, of an internal
review of the Telehealth Practitioner’s performance of telehealth
privileges at the Medical Center and shall send the distant-site entity or
distant-site hospital such performance information (including, at a
minimum, all adverse events that result from telehealth services
provided by the Telehealth Practitioner and all complaints the Medical
Center has received about the Telehealth Practitioner) for use in the
periodic appraisal of the Telehealth Practitioner by the distant-site entity
or distant-site hospital.

For the purposes of this Section, the term “distant-site entity” shall mean an
entity that: (1) provides telehealth services; (2) is not a Medicare-participating
hospital; (3) is Joint Commission accredited; and (4) provides contracted
services in a manner that enables a hospital using its services to meet all
applicable CMS Hospital Conditions of Participation, particularly those related
to the credentialing and privileging of physicians providing telehealth services.
For the purposes of this Section, the term “distant-site hospital” shall mean a
Medicare-participating and Joint Commission accredited hospital that provides
telehealth services. If the Telehealth Practitioner’s site is also accredited by
Joint Commission, and the Telehealth Practitioner is privileged to perform the
services and procedures for which privileges are being sought in the Medical
Center, then the Telehealth Practitioner’s credentialing information from that
site may be relied upon to credential the Telehealth Practitioner in the Medical
Center. However, this Medical Center will remain responsible for primary
source verification of licensure, professional liability insurance,
Medicare/Medicaid eligibility and for the query of the Data Bank.

lI. Initial Appointment Application
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A. Nature of the Application

Each applicant shall complete the online application provided by the Medical Staff Office
via the Credentials Verification Office (CVO).

B. Application Requirements

The initial application shall include:

Information pertaining to professional licensure including a request for information
regarding previously successful or currently pending challenges, if any, to anylicensure
or registration or whether any of the following license or registration has ever been
voluntarily or involuntarily revoked, suspended, reduced, denied, relinquished, or not
renewed:

= Board certification

= License to practice

= State DHEC and federal DEA license or certification;

State DHEC and federal DEA license or certification, if applicable;

Specialty board certification/eligibility;

Professional education, training, and experience;

Information pertaining to malpractice coverage and claims history including currentand
past liability insurance coverage in amounts that may be determined from time to time
and at any time by the Board with relevant Medical Executive Committee input, and
about current and past liability malpractice judgments, suits, claims, settlements and
any pending liability action as well as any evidence of an unusual pattern or excessive
number of professional liability actions resulting in a final action against theapplicant;

Statement of current health status by the applicant that includes the ability to performthe
requested privileges, any history of alcohol or substance abuse or conviction forDUI, and
a current PPD;

Information regarding any negative action by a governmental agency or conviction ofa
felony or a crime involving moral turpitude;

Information about the applicant’s loss, revocation, voluntary or involuntary
relinquishment of clinical privileges at other institutions Information as to whether the
applicant’s membership status and/or clinical privileges have ever been voluntarily or
involuntarily revoked, suspended, reduced, denied, relinquished, challenged, or not
renewed at any other hospital or health care institution;

Membership in professional societies;

Documentation of faculty appointment (applicants for medical staff appointmentonly);
Peer recommendations: Names and complete addresses of three (3) professional
references from colleagues who have knowledge of current clinical abilities;

Practice history: Any gaps exceeding 6 months will be reviewed and clarified either
verbally or in writing. Lapses in service greater than 60 days may prompt review and
request for additional information;

Request for Medical Staff or Professional Staff membership category and/or clinical
privileges;
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e Release form; and

¢ Any additional information required by the Medical Executive Committee, relevant
clinical department, Credentials Committee, and/or Board, to adequately evaluate the
applicant. Failure by the applicant to provide truthful, accurate and complete information
may in itself be grounds for denial or revocation of staff membership/appointment and
clinical privileges.

C. Applicant's Responsibility for Producing Information:

The applicant shall have the burden of producing adequate information for a proper
evaluation of his/her competence, character, ethics, ability to work with other professionals
and non-professionals in the Medical Center, and other qualifications, and for resolving any
doubts about such qualifications. This could include:

e Current copy of South Carolina license and DEA certificate;

e Copies of certificates showing evidence of completion of education and training, if
available;

e Copy of Board Certification certificate, if applicable;

e Current and dated curriculum vitae (month/year format) outlining education and practice
history with written explanations of gaps greater than thirty (30) days;

e Copy of certificate evidencing professional liability insurance coverage;

e A valid state identification card, drivers license, or passport photograph of self;

e Any additional information required in response to questions on the application form; and

e A statement as to the correctness and completeness of the application and a signed
attestation of the penalty for misrepresenting, falsifying or concealinginformation.

D. Applicant’s Agreement

The following is required of all applicants for appointment and/or initial privileges, for
reappointment and/or renewal of privileges and when requesting an increase in privileges:

e That he/she has received, has read, and agrees to be bound by the Medical Staff
bylaws, rules and regulations, Credentials manual and related policies;

e That he/she is willing to appear for an interview as part of the application process;

e That he/she is responsible for truth, accuracy and completeness of information provided;

e That he/she is responsible for conducting adequate medical/professional activity as
determined by each Department to allow for evaluation by the Medical Executive
Committee;

e That he/she is bound to the continuous care of patients under his/her care;

e That he/she will attest to their qualifications to perform the clinical privilegesrequested;

e That he/she will not practice outside the scope of his/her granted privileges including the
settings in which such privileges may be practiced;

e That he/she will provide supervision and oversight of house staff and others forwhom
he/she has responsibility;

e That he/she will adhere to all Medical Center policies and proceduresthat govern
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clinical practice; and
e That he/ she will adhere to the MUSC Health Standards of Behavior.

Release: In connection with the application, applicants agree to release from liability the
Medical University Hospital Authority, its employees, agents, Trustees, Medical Staff, and
their representatives, for their acts performed in good faith and without malice, in connection
with evaluating and making recommendations and decisions based upon their application,
credentials, and qualifications for staff membership and clinical privileges. In addition, the
applicant shall:

e Consent to inspection by Medical Center of all records and documents it may deem
material to the evaluation of his/her qualifications and competence to carry outthe
privileges he/she is seeking, physical and mental health status, and professional and
ethical qualifications;

e Release from any liability all authorized individuals and organizations who provide
requested information to Medical Center or its representative concerning his/her
competence, professional ethics, character, physical and mental health, quality of care,
and other qualifications for appointment and/or privileges; and

e Authorize and consent to Medical Center representatives providing other authorized
organizations, including managed care organizations, surveyors, and auditors,
information concerning his/her professional competence, ethics, character and other
qualifications, only as necessary to complete accreditation, contracting, and/or
utilization reviews or as otherwise required by law. Such organizations will be required
to hold the information as privileged and confidential (as defined in SC State Law) and
such information may not be further released or utilized in any othermanner.

. Applicant's Rights Regarding Information:
The applicant for membership and/or privileges has the following rights:

e The right to review any information he/she submitted with the application for
appointment, reappointment, or clinical privileges. If requested, the practitioner may be
provided a summary of information gathered in the credentialing process without
identifying the source unless required to be released by law. Information may only be
viewed in the Medical Staff Office under the supervision of an authorized representative
of the MSO staff;

e The right to correct erroneous information;

e The right, upon request, to be informed of the status of his/her credentialing application.

. Verification Process:

After receipt of the completed application for membership, the Medical Staff Office via the
Credentials Verification Organization (CVO) will collect and verify the references, licensure
and other qualification evidence submitted. Primary source verification will be conducted
regarding current licensure, relevant training, and current competence. When collection
and verification is completed, the CVO will promptly transmit the application and supporting
material to the department in which the applicant seeks clinical privileges.
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Verification will include the following:

e Verification of South Carolina license directly with the State Licensing Board, and other
state licenses by receipt of information from either the appropriate State Licensing Board
or the Federation of State Medical Boards;

e Verification of graduation from medical school (for Medical Staff appointees only);

e Verification of postgraduate professional training;

e Verification of board certification through the use of the Directory of the American Board
of Medical Specialties, directly with the appropriate specialty board or via internet, where
applicable (for Medical Staff appointees, only);

o Verification and status of past and current hospital affiliations;

e Group practice affiliations during the past seven years, if applicable;

e Current and past malpractice insurance information from malpractice carriers concerning
coverage, claims, suits, and settlements during the past five years;

¢ Information from the National Practitioner Data Bank;

e Evidence of Medicare/Medicaid sanctions or investigations from websites of the Office of
the Inspector General and Excluded Parties Listing System;

e Three peer references that are able to provide information about the applicant's current
clinical competence, relationship with colleagues, and conduct. Professional references
will include an assessment of medical/clinical knowledge, technical and clinical skills,
clinical judgment, interpersonal skills, communication skills, and professionalism.
Reference letters of an ambiguous or noncommittal nature may be acceptable grounds
for refusal to grant Medical or Professional Staff membership or clinical privileges;

e Relevant practitioner specific data compared to aggregate when available including
mortality and morbidity data; and,

e Any other relevant information requested from any person, organization, or society that
has knowledge of the applicant's clinical ability, ethical character, and ability to work with
others.

. Inability to Obtain Information:

The practitioner has the burden of producing any information requested by the Medical
Center or its authorized representatives that is reasonably necessary, in the sole discretion
of the Medical Center, to evaluate whether or not the practitioner meets the criteria for
Medical or Professional Staff membership or privileges.

If there is delay in obtaining such required information, or if the Medical Center requires
clarification of such information, the MSO or CVO will request the applicant’s assistance.
Under these circumstances, the medical staff may modify its usual and customary time
periods for processing the application or reapplication. The Medical Center has sole
discretion for determining what constitutes an adequate response.

If, during the process of initial application or reapplication, the applicant fails to respond
adequately within 15 days to a request for information or assistance, the Medical Center will
deem the application or reapplication as being withdrawn voluntarily. The result of the
withdrawal is automatic termination of the application or reapplication process. The Medical
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Center will not consider the termination an adverse action. Therefore, the applicant or re-
applicant is not entitled to a fair hearing or appeal consistent with the Medical Staff’s fair
hearing plan. The Medical Center will not report the action to any external agency. The
applicant shall be notified in writing that the application has been deemed a voluntary
withdrawal.

When trying to verify the information supplied by the applicant, if a particular entry has
closed or ceased to operate and information cannot be verified because the source no
longer exists, and after all avenues have been thoroughly tried, the verification will be
deemed complete. Due diligence is defined as the Medical Staff Office and/or the CVO
attempting to obtain the verification at least three times. The file will be presented to the
Department Chief for review and approval with the unverified item noted.

V. Initial Appointment and Privileging Process

A. Review/Approval Process

All initial appointments and requests for initial privileges will be reviewed as outlined below.
Final approval rests with the Board. The time from the date of application attestation to final
Board decision, including all the steps outlined in the appointment or privileging process,
cannot exceed 180 days.

B. Departmental Chief Review

Once all required application documentation has been received and processed by the
Medical Staff Office and/or the CVO, and all verifications and references confirmed, the
Chief of the applicable Department shall then review the application, and, at his/her
discretion, conduct a personal interview. Upon completion of this review, the Chief shall
make a recommendation as to the extent of clinical privileges and the proposed category
of the Medical Staff or Professional Staff. The application with his/her recommendation
shall then be returned to the Medical Staff Office or CVO for transmission to the
Credentials Committee.

C. Credentials Committee Review

Following review by the appropriate Department Chief, the Credentials Committee shall
review the application and supporting documentation, including all written documentation,
along with the recommendations made to the Credentials Committee by the Department
Chief. The Credentials Committee then either defers action or prepares a written report for
the Medical Executive Committee for consideration at its next regularly scheduled
meeting. The written report will contain recommendations for approval or denial, or any
special limitations on staff appointment, category of staff membership and prerogatives,
clinical service affiliation, and/or scope of clinical privileges. If the Credentials Committee
requires further information about an applicant, it may request the applicant to appear
before the committee. Notification by the Credentials Committee Chief or the Chief
Medical Officer through the Medical Staff Office shall be promptly given to the applicant if
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the Credentials Committee requires further information about the applicant.

D. Medical Executive Committee Action

The Medical Executive Committee, at its next regular meeting, reviews the application, the
supporting documentation, the reports and recommendations from the Department Chief
and Credentials Committee, and any other relevant information available to it. The Medical
Executive Committee defers action on the application or prepares a written report with
recommendations for approval or denial, or any special limitations on staff appointment,
category of staff membership and prerogatives, departmental affiliation, and/or scope of
clinical privileges.

Effect of Medical Executive Committee Action

1. Deferral
Action by the Medical Executive Committee to defer the application for further
consideration must be followed up in a timely manner with subsequent
recommendations as to approval or denial of, or any special limitations on Staff
appointment, category of Staff membership and prerogatives, department affiliation, and
scope and setting of clinical privileges. The Division CEO or the Division Chief Medical
Officer through the Medical Staff Office promptly sends the applicant written notice of an
action to defer.

2. Recommendation for Approval
When the Medical Executive Committee's recommendation is favorable to the applicant
in all respects, the Medical Executive Committee promptly forwards it, together with
supporting documentation, to the Board for review at the next scheduled Board Meeting.

3. Adverse Recommendation
When the Medical Executive Committee's recommendation to the Board is adverse to
the applicant, the Division CEO or the Division Chief Medical Officer or their designee
through the Medical Staff Office, so informs the applicant within 30 days by special
notice with return receipt or written attestation required, and the applicant is then
entitled to the procedural rights as provided in Article Xl and the Fair Hearing Plan of
the Bylaws. An "adverse recommendation” by the Medical Executive Committee is
defined as a recommendation to deny, in full or in part, appointment, membership,
requested staff category, requested departmental assignment, and/or requested clinical
privileges. No such adverse recommendation needs to be forwarded to the Board until
after the practitioner has exercised his procedural rights or has been deemed to have
waived his/her right to a hearing as provided in the Bylaws. The fact that the adverse
decision is held in abeyance shall not be deemed to confer privileges where none
existed before.

E. Board Action

The Board may adopt or reject, in whole or in part, a recommendation of the Medical

16




Executive Committee or refer the recommendation back to the Medical Executive
Committee.

Effect of Board Action

1. Deferral
The Board may send a recommendation back to the Medical Executive Committee. Any
such referral back, shall state the reasons therefore, shall set a time within thirty (30)
days in which a subsequent recommendation to the Board shall be made, and may
include a directive that a hearing be conducted to clarify issues which are in doubt. At
its next regular meeting within ten (10) days after receipt of such subsequent
recommendation and new evidence in the matter, if any, the Board shall make a
decision either to provisionally appoint the practitioner to the staff or to reject him/herfor
staff membership.

2. Approval
When the Board has reached a favorable decision, the Division CEO or the Division
Chief Medical Officer or their designee through the Medical Staff Office, by written
notice, will inform the applicant of that decision within 10 days. Notice of the Board's
decision is also given through the Medical Staff Office to the Medical Executive
Committee, and to the Chief of the respective department.

A decision and notice to appoint includes:

a) The Staff category to which the applicant is appointed (if applicable);
b) The clinical department to which he is assigned;

c) The clinical privileges he may exercise; and

d) Any special conditions attached to the appointment.

3. Adverse Action
“Adverse action” by the Board means action to deny, in full or in part, appointment,
membership, requested staff category, requested departmental assignment, and/or
requested clinical privileges.

If the Board's decision is adverse to the applicant, the Chief Executive Office or the
Chief Medical Officer or their designee through the Medical Staff Office, within 10 days
so informs the applicant by special notice, with return receipt or written attestation
required, and the applicant is then entitled to the procedural rights as provided in Article
Xl 'and the Fair Hearing Plan of the Bylaws. The fact that the adverse decision is held
in abeyance shall not be deemed to confer privileges where none existed before.

Report of adverse Board action shall be given by the Division CEO or the Division
Chief Medical Officer through the Medical Staff Office to the National Practitioner Data
Bank.

4. Expedited Action

To expedite appointment, reappointment, or renewal or modification of clinical privileges,
the governing body may delegate the authority to render those decisions to an ad hoc
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committee consisting of at least two governing body members.

Following a recommendation for approval from the Medical Executive Committee on an
application, the committee of the governing body shall review and evaluate the
qualifications and competency of the practitioner applying for appointment,
reappointment, or renewal or modification of clinical privileges and render its decision.
An approval by the committee will result in the status or privileges requested. The
committee shall meet as often as necessary as determined by its Chairperson. The full
governing body shall consider and, if appropriate, ratify all committee approvals at its
next regularly scheduled meeting. If the committee’s decision is adverse to an applicant,
the matter is referred back to the Medical Executive Committee for further evaluation.

An applicant will be ineligible for the expedited process if at the time of appointment or
reappointment, any of the following have occurred:

The applicant submits an incomplete application;

The Medical Executive Committee makes a final recommendation that is adverse or
with limitation;

There is a current challenge or a previously successful challenge to licensure or
registration;

The applicant has received an involuntary termination of medical staff membershipat

another organization;

The applicant has received involuntary limitation, reduction, denial, or loss of clinical
privileges; or

When there has been an unusual pattern or excessive number of professional liability
actions resulting in a final judgment against the applicant.

F. Initial Privileges

For all newly appointed practitioners or for all newly approved privileges, this provisional
period shall include an initial period of focused professional practice evaluation. Criteria for
the focused evaluation of all practitioners requesting new privileges shall be determined by
the Department Chief or their designee. The focused evaluation will include a monitoring
plan specific to the requested privileges, the duration of the monitoring plan, and
circumstances under which monitoring by an external source is required. Focused
evaluation may be conducted by using chart review, direct observation, monitoring of
diagnostic or treatment techniques, feedback from other professionals involved in patient
care or other methodology determined by the Department. All new appointees must
complete a focused evaluation during the initial year; however, the focused evaluation
period will be for a time frame determined by the Department Chief or their designee. If at
the end of the focused evaluation period, a decision is made to deny privileges to the
practitioner, the practitioner is afforded the rights outlined in the Fair Hearing Plan of the
MUSC Health Regional Health Network.
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V. Reappointment/Renewal of Privileges Application
A. Nature of the Application

Each applicant for reappointment and/or renewal of privileges shall complete and
electronically sign the online application provided by the Medical Staff Office via the CVO.

B. Review/Approval Process

Reappointments to the Medical and Professional Staffs shall be for a period not to exceed
two years. Reappointments and/or the renewal of privileges are not automatic and shall be
based on information concerning the individual’s performance, ability to work with other
professionals at the Medical Center, judgment, quality of care, and clinical skills. The
reappointment/renewal process from time of application attestation to final Board decision
cannot exceed 180 days.

C. Application for Reappointment Requirements

The application for reappointment is completed online and electronically signed. The
application and supporting information will include:

e Current copy of license and, if applicable, State DHEC and Federal DEA certificate or
license;

e Certificate of professional liability coverage;
e Request for clinical privileges;

e Information pertaining to malpractice claims activity including malpractice claims
pending, or judgments or settlements made, as well as any evidence of an unusual
pattern or excessive number of professional liability actions resulting in a final action
against the applicant;

e CME: In accordance with South Carolina Medical Board guidelines (40 hours every 2
years are required for renewal of South Carolina Medical License). The predominant
number of hours must be related to the clinician’s specialty. Professional staff will be
required to complete the number of hours dictated by their respective license;

e Peer Recommendations: Medical staff are required to submit two (2) peer references
from practitioners in the applicant’s field with knowledge of their clinical abilities. These
recommendations must include an assessment of current competence, health status
and any relevant training or experience as well as the six general competencies.
Professional staff are required to submit three (3) references: two (2) from current peers
and one (1) from the current supervising physician (as applicable);

e Health status relative to ability to perform the clinical privilegesrequested;
e Current PPD;
e Chief Recommendation: Evaluation form electronically completed by Chief

recommending privileges including documentation o